Public Document Pack

Cabinet
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held at The Forum, Towcester, NN12
6AF on Tuesday 14th September 2021

Agenda
Public Session
1.

Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members

2.

Declarations of Interest
Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.

3.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 14)
To confirm the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 13th July 2021

4.

Chairman's Announcements
To receive communications from the Chairman.

5.

Urgent Business
The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business
being admitted to the agenda.

6.

Quarter 1 Revenue Monitoring Report for the Financial Year 2021-22 (Pages 15 42)

7.

Q1 Capital Monitoring Report 2021-22 (Pages 43 - 68)

8.

Corporate Plan Performance Report - 2021-22 Q1 (Pages 69 - 80)

West Northamptonshire Council
www.westnorthants.gov.uk

Page 1

9.

Quarter 1 Transformation Update (Pages 81 - 86)

10.

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Report Analysis 202021 (Pages 87 - 94)

11.

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and
Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme (Pages 95 - 196)

12.

A422 Farthinghoe Bypass (Pages 197 - 206)

13.

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 (Pages 207 - 252)

14.

Hellidon Conservation area, Spratton Conservation area, Article 4(1) Directions
for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore, Everdon, Little Everdon,
Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford (2021) (Pages 253 - 264)

15.

Innovative Flood Resilience Project (Pages 265 - 276)

16.

New secondary free school for northern Northampton (Pages 277 - 298)

17.

Re-procurement of facilities management contracts (Pages 299 - 304)

18.

Extension of 78 Derngate Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum – Northampton
Towns Fund (Pages 305 - 434)

19.

Variation to Agreement to Lease of Stable Block at Delapre Abbey (Pages 435 440)

20.

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022-23 (Pages 441 - 446)

21.

Proposal for Capital Funding to replace the Library Management System and
associated hardware (Pages 447 - 452)

22.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

Page 2

The following report(s) contain exempt information as defined in the following
paragraph(s) of Part 1, Schedule 12A of Local Government Act 1972.
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority holding that information).
Members are reminded that whilst the following item(s) have been marked as exempt,
it is for the meeting to decide whether or not to consider each of them in private or in
public. In making the decision, members should balance the interests of individuals or
the Council itself in having access to the information. In considering their discretion
members should also be mindful of the advice of Council Officers.
Should Members decide not to make a decision in public, they are recommended to
resolve as follows:
“That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and press be
excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that, if
the public and press were present, it would be likely that exempt information falling
under the provisions of Schedule 12A, Part I, Paragraph 3 would be disclosed to
them, and that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.”

Private Session
23.

Proposal for Capital Funding to replace the Library Management System and
associated hardware - Appendix A

Catherine Whitehead
Proper Officer
6 September 2021
Cabinet Members:
Councillor Jonathan Nunn (Chair)

Councillor Adam Brown (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Fiona Baker

Councillor Lizzy Bowen

Councillor Rebecca Breese

Councillor Matt Golby

Councillor Mike Hallam

Councillor Phil Larratt

Councillor Malcolm Longley

Councillor David Smith

Information about this Agenda

Page 3

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.

Declarations of Interest
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start
of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts &
Supplementary Estimates
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax.

Evacuation Procedure
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.

Access to Meetings
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as
possible before the meeting.

Mobile Phones
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off.

Queries Regarding this Agenda
If you have any queries about this agenda please contact via the following:
Email: democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
Or by writing to:
West Northamptonshire Council
One Angel Square
Angel Street
Northampton
NN1 1ED

Page 4

Agenda Item 3

Cabinet
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at The Forum, Towcester, NN12 6AF on
Tuesday 13 July 2021 at 6.00 pm.
Present

Substitute
Members:
Also
Present:
Apologies
for
Absence:
Officers
1.

Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Chairman's Announcements

4.

Minutes

West Northamptonshire Council
Cabinet Minutes
8 June 2021
Cabinet Members Present:
Jonathan Nunn
Phil Larratt
Rebecca Breese
Mike Hallam
Malcolm Longley

Adam Brown
David Smith
Matt Golby
Fiona Baker

Other West Northamptonshire Council Members Present:
Julie Davenport
Gareth Eales
Dennis Meredith
Emma Roberts
Sam Rumens
John Shephard
West Northamptonshire Council Officers Present:

Page 5

Cabinet - 13 July 2021

Ed Bostock
Jane Carr
Anna Earnshaw
Paul Hanson
Martin Henry
Stuart Lackenby
Sofia NealGonzalez
Rebecca Peck
Sarah Reed
Stuart Timmiss
Catherine
Whitehead
Lucy Wightman

Democracy Officer
Transformation Director
Chief Executive
Democratic Services Manager
Chief Finance Officer
Executive Director for Adults, Communities and Wellbeing
Democracy Officer (minutes)
Assistant Chief Executive
Corporate Executive Director
Executive Director of Place & Economy
Monitoring Officer
Director of Public Health

1. APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE:
Lizzy Bowen sent apologies
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none
3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 MARCH 2021
RESOLVED: That the Cabinet approved the minutes from the Shadow Executive
meeting of the 20th April and signed as a true and accurate record.

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS

There were none.
5. Corporate Plan
The Chairman presented the report, copies of which had been previously circulated.
He invited comments from the members who were present
 It was noted that the report was well presented but the question of whether the
Plan could be more ambitious was raised.
 The re-opening of the London to Bedford Rail line was mentioned as
something that would be positive for Northampton, as well as improving travel
to London.
 It was noted that the closure of sure start centres had had an adverse effect
on vulnerable children and families.
 It was noted that the construction of a new secondary school in Daventry had
drawn concerns with regard to the use of green space. It was asked why more
work had not been done with the current schools in the area, instead of
constructing a new one.
 Concern was raised regarding how long care plans took to be provided for
Adults returning home after a stay in the hospital.

Page 6

Cabinet - 13 July 2021







It was suggested that a supplementary document detailing the journey of the
new Council would be helpful.
It was suggested there was a crisis with regards to housing with many poorer
families living in overcrowded conditions.
It was asked whether the Heritage Board would be restarted.
The Social Value Act 2013 was discussed, with emphasis placed on how the
Council could benefit from it.
It was noted that lack of parking for students had increased the amount of
students parking in the side roads of Far Cotton and this had become an issue
for residents. It was asked whether Section 106 could be used to mitigate
these issues.

The following responses were issues by the relevant Cabinet members.
 Consultation had and would be occurring regarding the re-opening of rail lines
and the Council would continue to be a part of the East–West rail consortium.
It was agreed that Northampton’s rail connectivity could be improved.
 The Cabinet was informed that the Mayor or Bedford had asked for the
Council to be involved in supporting the re-opening of the Northampton to
Bedford Rail Line. The Council had written in support of this.
 It was agreed that the closure of the sure start centres had had an impact on
troubled families. It was noted that the Council had been awarded grants to
help with this, which was being looked in to.
 A new Assistant Director would be starting in July and would review school
place sufficiency.
 The points relating to a shortage of suitable housing were noted.
 With regards to the anti-poverty strategy it was noted that it was important to
find a way to engage with all Councillors on this issue.
The Chairman advised that the Heritage board had been paused due to Covid-19,
but there was due to be a meeting very soon.
RESOLVED: That Cabinet;
1. Approved the Corporate Plan subject to further review, consultation and
stakeholder engagement on the detailed implementation of the priorities
within the services, and
2. Delegated to the Chief Executive final approval in Consultation with the
Leader

6. Future Northants Transformation Task and Finish Group.
At the Chairman’s invitation Councillor Golby presented the report, copies of which
had been previously circulated. The task and finish group had started work about a
year ago with a wide review of the Councils future transformation. There had been an
early review conducted alongside North Northants Council with good partnership
collaboration and good value for money. It was advised that there had been an added
focus on long term growth and transparency. Councillor Golby thanked Jane Carr
and her team for all their hard work.
The Chairman agreed that the Task and Finish Group had undertaken a vital piece of
work.

Page 7

Cabinet - 13 July 2021

RESOLVED: That Cabinet;
1. Endorse the agreed Transformation Priority Plan timeline to
disaggregate the hosted services between North Northamptonshire
Council and West Northamptonshire Council.
2. Endorse the principles of transformation as laid out in section 4.5 (a) to
(I), inclusive.
7. School Minor Works Budget 2021-22
At the Chairman’s invitation Councillor Baker presented the report, copies of which
had been previously circulated. Approval was requested to use the school condition
funding; it was advised that this money had been a grant from the Department of
Education to the Council for this use. The report advised that 8 schools would be
surveyed and repaired.
RESOLVED: That Cabinet;
1. Approved the 2021/22 ‘School Minor Works’ budget to rectify condition
issues in WNC maintained schools, ensuring the Council continues to
fulfil its statutory obligation of maintaining its school estate;
2 Noted that WNC’s allocation of ‘School Condition Allocation’ funding
for 2021/22 had been confirmed by the DfE at £1,629,546 and agreed that
this grant funding would be utilised as WNC’s ‘School Minor Works’
budget for 2021/22;
3. Noted that any works undertaken under the ‘Schools Minor Works’
budget would be delivered as part of a rolling programme of conditions
surveys at maintained schools in the Local Authority;
8. Commissioning Residential and Nursing Care Services for Older People
At the Chairman’s invitation Councillor Golby presented the report, copies of which
had been previously circulated. The Committee was informed that the current
contract ends on the 31st August 2021 with no option to extend, and that there will be
a new Interim DPS framework put into place.
Councillors made the following comments.






It was asked whether there were any council run care homes. There had been
2 in Daventry but both had been closed down. It was noted that there had
been an increase in the cost to families and the council during this time.
It was suggested that there was a lack of space for Dementia patients which
then required them to remain in hospital when not necessary.
It was asked why the associated risk had been noted as red and what that
entailed.
There had been no mention of the ethical care charter which ensured that
those who worked within the care sector followed the required procedures.

Councillor Golby advised that scrutiny was welcomed which could help to add value.
Stuart Lackenby the Executive Director for Adults, Communities and Wellbeing made
the following comments.

Page 8

Cabinet - 13 July 2021





The goal was to enable people to continue to live in their own homes as much
as possible.
Providers could be added or removed depending on which services were
required.
It was noted that this was a long term approach and that some fee levels were
not in line with the Council’s needs. The Council needed to be confident that
the fee rates match up to the care provided.

RESOLVED: That Cabinet;
1. Noted the commissioning activity to date along with ongoing intentions
to commission and procure residential and nursing care services for the
future.
2. Approved for delegated authority be given to the Executive Director for
Adults Communities and Wellbeing to undertake a procurement exercise
to secure and implement an interim Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS)
framework to commence the 1 September 2021 for a period of 12months.
3. Approved the proposed fee rate inflationary uplift of 2.65% for 202122 to support market delivery cost pressures.
9. National Bus Strategy
At the Chairman’s invitation Councillor Larratt presented the report copies of which
had been previously circulated. The report advised that the funding for some bus
services was coming to an end. The Government published the ‘Bus Back Better’ bus
strategy, which had dispersed £3billion of funding in order to help the bus industry
recover. In order to access this funding it would be necessary for the council to
establish partnerships with bus strategies, this commitment needs to be made by the
end of June, with the bus service improvement plan published by the end of October.
The Government expects this to then be delivered by January 2022.
Councillors made the following comments.
 It was asked whether having a council run service could be considered.
 It was asked whether the current bus station would have the necessary
capacity for extra services.
 A cross party working group to try and realise this project was suggested.
Councillor Larratt advised that he would be happy to consider a cross-party working
group, and noted that the idea of franchising had been dealt within the report, but, it
was felt that it would be unsuitable for West Northants.
The Executive Director of Place & Economy, Stuart Timmins made the following
comments.
 Franchising had been looked at with regards to scale and capacity, it was
advised that nothing was off the table regarding this possibility.
 The Government had been clear on the required partnership. It would,
however, be up to the council to determine what that would look like going
forward.
RESOLVED: That Cabinet;

Page 9

Cabinet - 13 July 2021

1. Noted the challenges faced by the bus industry due to COVID-19 and the
funding that is being provided by the Government and Council to ensure
that bus services continue to operate, as set out in Section 5 of this
report;
2. Noted the publication of Bus Back Better, the National Bus Strategy for
England, as summarised in Section 6 of this report;
3. Committed to the formation of an Enhanced Partnership under the Bus
Service Act 2017, for the reasons set out in Section 7 of this report; and
4. Agreed that delegated authority be given to
the Executive Director for Place, Economy and Environment, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Transport, Highways & Waste
Services to prepare an Enhanced Partnership and Bus Service
Improvement Plan to be brought back to Cabinet for approval
10. Proposed redevelopment of the former Avenue Campus to provide
affordable housing
At the Chairman’s invitation Councillor Brown presented the report, copies of which
had been previously circulated. The Avenue Campus housing project had been a
legacy issue, Northampton Borough Council proposed purchasing the site, but this
had not concluded before vesting day. It had been proposed that this purchase
should occur through the housing accounts and using New Homes England Funding.
It was advised that 170 new homes were planned for this site, and that a significant
amount of legal due diligence work was underway. The team in charge of this project
had developed financial appraisals of the scheme.
The Cabinet then resolved to hold part of the meeting in private in order to discuss
the appendix attached to the report, the content of which was exempt from
publication.
RESOLVED: “That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the
grounds that if the public were present it would be likely that exempt
information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act would be
disclosed to them”.
RESOLVED: That Cabinet;
Delegate to the Executive Director for Place, Economy and the Environment, in
consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance and Cabinet
Portfolio Holder for Culture, Leisure and Housing, the completion of the
acquisition of the University of Northampton’s Avenue Campus in St George’s
Avenue, Northampton Avenue Campus excluding the Newton Building to
enable development to be taken forward as described in this report
Item 11 – Updates to the Constitution

Page 10

Cabinet - 13 July 2021

At the Chairman’s invitation Councillor Brown presented the report, copies of which
had been previously circulated. Cllr Brown proposed that the second
recommendation be altered to remove the approval of changes under Part 8,
paragraph 7, in order to maintain consistency with the discussion that had taken
place at t Full Council.
RESOLVED:
1. The changes to the Constitution already made by the Monitoring Officer
under her delegated power be noted.
2. The proposed changes to the Constitution set out in Appendix 1 be
agreed, aside from the changes under Part 8, paragraph 7.
3. Delegated power be granted to the Monitoring Officer to amend the
Constitution to give effect to the agreements for joint arrangements with
LGSS (Cambridgeshire, Bedford, Milton Keynes) Northampton
Partnership Homes and North Northamptonshire Council.
4. A further review of the Constitution and Member Officer Protocol be
carried out by the Democracy and Standards Committee and referred to
a future meeting of Council.
Item 12 – Appointments to Partnership Organisations
The Chairman presented the report and in lieu of a report read out the
recommendations which were then agreed by Cabinet.
RESOLVED: That In lieu of a report, Cabinet was asked to note that the Leader
will inform Democratic Services of the Appointments to Partnership
Organisations.

Item 13 – North West Relief Road
At the Chairman’s invitation Councillor Larratt presented the report, copies of which
had been previously circulated. The report stated that the scheme would provide the
necessary infrastructure for new residents in the areas and lessen any travel time.
The business case for the proposal had been strong.
Councillors made the following comments;

It was suggested that travel times may not be
helped by this road. It could make travel worse and as such would be of no
benefit to Northampton.

It was suggested that the Council had been backed
into a corner over this issue, considering that the project had gone £20 million
over budget and could possibly be more.

It was noted that there was a need for an orbital
road but that this road should be viewed as an access road, and as such
should not be part of the orbital road project.

Page 11

Cabinet - 13 July 2021








Clarification was requested with regards to where
the section 106 money had been taken from. If money had been borrowed this
would be a concern for residents, and could impact the Council’s budget.
It was advised that there had been some confusion
from residents as to purpose of the road.
It was unclear how some residents would use part
of the route.
It was hoped that Audit and/or Scrutiny would take
a look at this item and include it in their work plan.
It was asked whether any money had been
signposted to go into the neighbouring communities.

Councillor Larratt made the following comments in response.

It was advised that there was a requirement to
deliver the relevant housing to the area and as such the project was needed.

The air quality and amount of congestion and
pollution had been taken into account.

It was noted that a bid was being put forward. If the
bid were not not be successful then a report would come back to Cabinet for
further discussion.

He had been informed that the relief road was
essential to the development of Dallington Grange.
Stuart Timmis Executive Director of Place and Economy made the following
comments.

Section 106 funding had been agreed and was
assigned for this project, with a fair level of committement.

If the development was over a certain number of
houses then the Council would get funding for this.

Scrutiny of the project was welcomed.

Going forward, work would be undertaken with The
Executive Director of Finance and his team in order to look at what further
plans could be put into place.

The priority of the orbital road development was
noted with regard to infrastructure.
RESOLVED: That Cabinet;
1. Noted continued progress to deliver the Northampton North West Relief
Road;
2. Supported the capital investment required to complete this scheme as
set out in Section 6.1 of this report and required to proceed to
construction including forward funding against future S106 and
Community Infrastructure Levy payments;
3. Agreed to progress a bid to the Levelling Up Fund for £20 million;

Page 12

Cabinet - 13 July 2021

4. Noted SEMLEP’s proposed conditions on the continued financial
support from the Local Growth Fund as set out in Section 5.2

URGENT ITEMS:
There were none.
There being no further business, the meeting ended at 8:00pm
5.

Environmental Principles and Framework

6.

Integrated Care across Northamptonshire (ICAN) Procurement

7.

Appointments to Outside Bodies

8.

MHCLG's Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme funding

9.

Various Freehold and Leasehold Asset Disposals

10.

West Midlands Rail Ltd - Changes to Collaboration Agreement

11.

OPUS - Governance and Delivery

12.

Variation of school admission arrangements for 2021/2022 and 2022/2023 due
to the requirements of the new 2021 School Admissions Code

13.

Shared Service Arrangements

14.

Northampton Market Square Redevelopment

15.

Urgent Business

16.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

17.

Northampton Towns Fund

18.

Highways Contract Update

19.

Exempt Appendix to Item 8

The meeting closed at Time Not Specified

Chairman:
Date:

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder for Finance – Councillor Malcolm Longley
Report Title
Report Author

Quarter 1 Revenue monitoring report for the financial year 202122
Martin Henry, Executive Director (Finance)
Martin.henry@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West MO

Catherine Whitehead

West S151

Martin Henry

West Communications team

Becky Hutson

Legal

Edwina Adefehinti

Portfolio Owner Approval

Cllr Malcolm Longley

Email approval obtained and retained,
01/09/2021
Email approval obtained and retained,
01/09/2021
Email approval obtained and retained,
02/09/2021
Email approval obtained and retained,
02/09/2021
Email approval obtained and retained,
03/09/2021

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Provisional Outturn 2020-21 for Legacy Councils within West
Northamptonshire
Appendix B – Northamptonshire County Council’s Reserves Disaggregation principles
Appendix C – Quarter 1 2021-22 Revenue Forecast Outturn by Directorate
Appendix D – Budget Savings Tracker

Page 15

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

This report sets out the provisional revenue outturn position 2020-21 for all legacy Councils
within West Northamptonshire, including an up-to-date assessment of the estimated levels of
reserves and balances expected to be brought forward and transferred to West
Northamptonshire Council. This position is provisional, as it is subject to the annual statutory
audit.

1.2.

The report also provides an assessment of the Council’s financial performance against its
approved 2021-22 budget, incorporating key financial risks, issues and opportunities identified
since 1st April 2021 for General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

1.3.

It is important to note that budgets for the new organisation’s General Fund revenue budgets
are complex and still settling, as they are a combination of disaggregated County Council budgets
and an aggregation of District and Borough budgets from West Northamptonshire, and approved
before the majority of service redesigns and staffing structures were implemented for the new
council. The HRA budget is not subject to disaggregation and aggregation issues.

1.4.

Therefore, the detailed general fund budgets are subject to continual review and challenge. Since
the 1st April, Directorates and Finance have worked together, reviewing budgets, prioritised by
risk, to zero base and ensure they are sufficient to cover West Northamptonshire Council’s
commitments, and adequately fund new service designs and ways of working. This report, sets
out the financial implications of the detailed zero base budgeting work completed to date.

2.

Executive Summary

2.1.

West Northamptonshire Council provides a range of services to residents and businesses across
the area including care to vulnerable adults and children, education, the collection and disposal
of waste, household waste recycling, leisure and community wellbeing, highways, planning,
economic development, collection of council tax and business rates, housing benefit, council tax
support, housing and support for the homeless.

2.2.

The creation of a new Council does present a number of opportunities, such as the financial
benefits of economies of scale both from amalgamating four councils into one and from the
consolidation of contracts, assets and the redesign of processes. However, there remains a
significant amount of financial risk, such as the nationally recognised budget pressures for local
government, not only from the longer-term impact of COVID-19 on costs and income, but also
from demand led and other cost pressures which pre-date the pandemic.

2.3.

The 2021-22 budget was the very first budget created for this authority. While significant due
diligence was undertaken to create the baseline budgets transferring from the legacy Councils,
there are some inherent financial risks associated with the demand for services in the first year
of the new organisation as a result of the unprecedented impacts of the pandemic, and the
‘actual’ level of demand for services, which we would only be able to properly understand after
the commencement of the new financial year.

Page 16

2.4.

A ‘zero-based budgeting’ (ZBB) costing exercise is being undertaken to review and validate
staffing budgets against staffing establishments, test disaggregated and aggregated budget
envelopes, review demand led budget allocations and ensure legacy decisions are fully funded.
This exercise continues, and any emerging issues identified as part of the exercise will be
highlighted in future reports.

2.5.

The table below summarises the revenue forecast currently being estimated for this financial
year. It highlights some identified service pressure which will seek to be managed within the year.

Table One: Forecast Outturn 2021-22 by Directorate
Net Budget
Directorate
£'000
Corporate Services
Chief Executive Office
Children's Services
Adults, Communities & Wellbeing
Place, Economy and Environment
Finance Directorate
Technical / Centrally Controlled Budgets
Total budgeted expenditure
Less funding
Net Position 2021-22
Less budget contingency
Overall Net Position 2021-22

20,837
1,757
73,701
108,862
80,060
10,359
30,994
326,570
(326,570)
0

Forecast Net
Spend at
31/03/22
£'000
21,407
2,090
73,701
109,466
80,316
10,220
30,994
328,194
(326,570)
1,624
(1,624)
0

Forecast
Variance
at 31/03/22
£'000
570
333
0
604
256
(139)
0
1,624
0
1,624
(1,624)
0

% Forecast
Variance
against
budget
3%
19%
0%
1%
0.3%
-1%
0%
0.5%
0%

2.6.

The forecast outturn position for 2021-22 is an overspend of £1.6m, which is 0.5% of the net
budget, before the application of the contingency budget.

2.7.

The budget proposals included a general contingency of £5m to deal with any unexpected budget
pressures that emerged in year, particularly as the levels of demand, and the true cost of service
design could not be fully known until the new financial year commenced for the new
organisation. The contingency is being held centrally within ‘Centrally Controlled Budgets’ and
will be allocated to services at the discretion of the Executive Director of Finance and the portfolio
holder for Finance.

2.8.

However, there is an expectation that the service pressures highlighted above, will be mitigated
in the year, through cost efficiencies and release of brought forward budgets deemed surplus to
requirements. In the event, that full mitigation is not possible, then the contingency will be drawn
down for the purpose it was intended.

2.9.

The table above notionally assumes £2m of centrally held Waste contingency specifically set
aside, will be released to address disaggregation pressures that emerged late in the budget
setting process.

Page 17

2.10. The HRA forecast outturn at the end of the first quarter is as follows:
Table Two - HRA
Net Budget
Other Funds - HRA
£'000
Income (Rent & Services charges)
Repairs & Maintenance
General Management
Special Services
Rents, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges
Bad Debt Provision Charge
Recharges from the General Fund
Interest & Financing Costs
Revenue Contributions to Capital
Depreciation
Contribution to / (from) Reserves
Net Position 2021-22

(54,735)
13,954
8,959
4,854
302
400
2,650
7,186
642
15,150
639
0

Forecast Net
Spend at
31/03/22
£'000
(54,307)
13,954
8,959
4,854
302
400
2,650
7,186
642
15,150
211
0

Forecast
Variance
at 31/03/22
£'000
428
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(428)
0

% Forecast
Variance
against
budget
0.78%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

2.11. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) new build programme suffered significant re-phasing of
capital expenditure from 2020-21 into 2021-22 and beyond. Following a review of the current
and future years’ delivery programme for new build properties coming on stream, it is anticipated
that there will be a pressure on rental and service charge income of £0.4m in the current year.
This pressure will be mitigated by reducing the anticipated contribution to reserves that was
anticipated during the year.
3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet;
a) Note the final outturn 2020-21 for all legacy Councils within West
Northamptonshire in Appendix A;
b) Note the estimated reserves and balances brought forward from each legacy
Council within West Northamptonshire in section 5;
c) Note the early review of 2021-22 financial progress and associated financial risks by
Directorate;
d) Note the deliverability assessment of West Northamptonshire Council savings
requirement for 2021-22 and 2022-23 in Appendix D.
e) Agree to the virement that transfers £2.0m from the central contingency budget to
the Place directorate budgets that require this funding.

4.

Reason for Recommendations:
 To ensure that the Authority complies with its financial regulations

Page 18

5.

Report Background

5.1

It is good practice that authorities are required to submit outturn information, outlining their
financial performance against approved budgets. This report shows the closing position for each
of the legacy authorities for both the General Fund (GF) and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

5.2

The Council’s budget for 2021-22 is £326.6m and was approved on 23 February 2021, the budget
includes £13.4m of savings proposals. This report includes an early analysis of the deliverability
of these savings proposals, and the in-year variations to budgeted assumptions.

5.3

The Coronavirus (Covid-19) has had considerable impact on the way services are provided by the
Council and its partners, as well as presenting significant financial challenges due to the Council’s
crisis response. The implementation of nationwide lockdown has meant that the financial impact
of the virus will continue to be felt on the 2021-22 budget and the medium term financial outlook.

5.4

However, it should be noted that this authority and the predecessor authorities have received
COVID funding to assist in dealing with these pressures, as set out in Section 7.

5.5

This report provides a detailed commentary on the anticipated spending pressures and loss of
income as a result of the Coronavirus, as well as the utilisation of government grant funding.

6.

Provisional Outturn 2020-21 - General Fund

6.1

The latest outturn 2020-21 for each legacy West Northamptonshire authority is set out below in
Table Three.
Table Three
Legacy Authority

Net
Budget
£'000

Forecast Net
Spend at
31/03/2021
£'000

Provisional
Outturn
Position
£'000

% Variance
to budget
at
31/03/2021

Northamptonshire County
445,705
439,297
(6,408)
-1%
Council
Northampton Borough
30,835
30,170
(665)
-2%
Council
Daventry District Council
18,316
17,851
(466)
-3%
South Northamptonshire
15,524
(427)
-3%
15,951
Council
Total
510,807
502,841
(7,966)
-2%
The outturn position shown above excludes underspend specifically relating to Business Rates
funding as this will be transferred to the Business Rates reserve.

Page 19

6.2

It is important to note that the above information and carried forward balances, reflects all
known actual expenditure and income for 2020-21, and the latest intelligence of accounting
requirements through discussions with external auditors as part of the closure of accounts
process. Until the 2020-21 accounts have been signed off as ‘true and fair’ the final balances
cannot be confirmed. Any adjustments, and changes to the outturn position as a result of the
audit will be set out in the final outturn report in due course.

6.3

The table above shows an £8m underspend across West Northamptonshire Districts and
Boroughs and the County Council. The District and Borough underspends will be added to West
Northamptonshire’s General Balance. The £6.4m County Council underspend represents 100%
of the Country Council’s position; and will be disaggregated across West and North Northants on
a set of disaggregation principles agreed with each council, which are detailed in the Appendix B.

6.4

A detailed breakdown of this underspend is contained in Appendix A.

6.5

Reserves Summary

6.6

When the budget was set it was estimated the level of balances expected to transfer to West
Northamptonshire would be £40m General fund balances and £55m Earmarked reserves.

6.7

The table below shows that General Fund reserves are now expected to be £42m and earmarked
reserves are expected to be £106m. This figure does not include the unspent amounts of COVID
funding which are contained in the bottom section of the table below.

Table Four

General Fund Balance
Earmarked Reserves:
Budget Delivery Reserve
Public Health Reserve
Insurance reserve
LGSS reserves
Business Rates Reserve
Business Rates S31 grant
Service specific reserves
MTFP cash flow reserve
Environmental Services capital financing
reserve
Sixfields recovery reserve
Enterprise zone reserve

Total
NCC
NCC
West
£’000
£'000
26,889 14,227

7,478
17,383
2,830
692
14,045
809
2,874

NBC

DDC

£’000 £’000
4,000 21,900

3,957
8,935
1,415
803
366
770 6,098
7,709 19,793
439 2,202
1,520 2,899
4700
270
3549

SNC
£’000
2,212

171

158

9,031
7,808
674

1,335
4,056

Grand
Total
£'000
42,339

3,957
8,935
2,547
366
17,234
39,366
3,315
4,419
4,700
270
Page3,549
20

Council tax income guarantee reserve
Other Earmarked reserves
Total Earmarked Reserves
COVID-19 Funding
Unringfenced general covid grant
COMF and Test & Trace
Other covid funding
Total Covid-19 Funding
Grand Total

200

79
8144

279
17,514

49,391 26,171 40,514 25,995 13,772

106,452

3,279

1059

8311

22,061 11,137

936

1,227

0

13,300

13,186 6,656
1,814
916
37,061 18,709

323
120
1,379

0
0
1,227

0
201
201

6,979
1,237
21,516

113,341 59,107 45,893 49,122 16,185

170,307

6.8

However, it should be noted that £39.4m of the earmarked reserve balances of £106m
specifically relates to Business Rates S31 grant which was not included in the final budget report
figures as this is a grant that was received last year but had to be carried forward into this year
to deal with the collection fund deficits arising as a result of the impact of COVID. Essentially, this
was a receipt in advance from the Government and therefore was not included in the budget
report.

6.9

As a result, the figure comparable to the estimated reserves set out in the budget report is as
follows:
Table Five

Estimated Reserves
General Fund Reserves
Earmarked reserves (Excluding Business Rates S31
Grant)
Grand Total

Final
Budget
£m
40
55
95

Increase
in
Provisional estimated
Outturn
reserves
£m
£m
42
2
67
109

12
14

6.10

The above analysis demonstrates that a prudent approach was taken in estimating the level of
reserves when the budget was originally set in February 2021 and characterises the approach
that West Northamptonshire are seeking to take in relation to financial management.

6.11

The County Council Reserves have been disaggregated across West and North Northants on a set
of disaggregation principles agreed with each council, and are detailed in the Appendix B.

6.12

Statutory Accounts

6.13

The completion of the prior year statutory accounts for the legacy Councils of West
Page 21
Northamptonshire is a key element of the transition from four Councils to one. Once external

auditors have approved the accounts this will enable the Council to have confirmation of its
brought forward balances and assets and liabilities.
6.14

To this end the Statement of Accounts for Northamptonshire County Council and Northampton
Borough Council for 2019-20 is expected to be approved by the Audit Committee meeting on 29
September 2021. This is dependent on the completion of work by the external auditors, EY. It is
anticipated that following this, four sets of accounts for 2020-21 will be reviewed by the external
auditors for each legacy council with approval taking place at Audit Committee meetings from
September to early 2022. From 2021-22 there will be a single Statement of Accounts for West
Northamptonshire Council.

7.

Financial Overview by Directorate

7.1

This section of the report provides an update on progress on the zero based budgeting process
(ZBB); the forecast variations against 2021-22 budget (BAU) and the anticipated financial
implications of Covid-19 pandemic by directorate. A more detailed breakdown of the 2021-22
forecast is included in Appendix C.

7.2

Corporate Services
Net Budget £20.8m
Forecast Outturn £21.4m
Forecast overspend £0.6m
Variance percentage 3%

7.3

The Corporate Services directorate includes a number of support services such as IT, HR and Legal
Services. The budgets for these services require further review and restructuring, as the previous
council budgets were structured in different ways to reflect differing service delivery models
across the former predecessor councils. Some stabilisation issues have also emerged across the
council since vesting day, which teams within Corporate Services have been working to resolve.
From an initial review of budgets for some elements of these services, there is historical shortfalls
in service provision, e.g. in IT services, with regard to Cyber security; and capital recharge
budgets, resulting in an estimated in year net shortfall of £0.4m.

7.4

In addition, following the transfer and consolidation of resource budgets there is an identified
shortfall in budget, which will impact the delivery of the Service Aggregation savings proposal,
resulting in an in year pressure of £0.2m.

7.5

Chief Executive Services
Net Budget £1.8m
Forecast Outturn £2.1m
Forecast overspend £0.3m

Page 22

Variance percentage 19%
7.6

The budget for Chief Executive Services is £1.8m and includes both Chief Executive and Assistant
Chief Executive Services. Following a review of the budgets within the Directorate, as part of the
‘zero-basing’ exercise, a shortfall of £0.5m mainly attributable to staffing budgets has been
identified. The Service Aggregation Savings proposal allocated to this budget is £1m, and does
not fully match the budgets that were mapped across from the four legacy authorities. There are
in year vacancies which partially mitigate this overspend of £0.2m, resulting in a net forecast
variance of £0.3m.

7.7

Services within the Directorate are in the process of restructuring and further savings are
envisaged as a result, which will further mitigate the budget shortfall.

7.8

Children’s Services (including the Children’s Trust)
Net Budget £73.7m
Forecast Outturn £73.7m
Forecast under/overspend £0
Variance percentage 0%

7.9

The Children’s Directorate is made up of Council services which deliver statutory education
functions across approximately 200 duties as set out in various Education and Children Acts, and
regulations including but not limited to school quality assurance and intervention, pupil place
planning and admissions, early years and special educational needs.

7.10

The Northamptonshire Children’s Trust (NCT), was established as a company limited by
guarantee on 1st November 2020, and from 1st April 2021 is wholly owned by West and North
Northamptonshire Councils. NCT deliver children’s social care and targeted early help services
on behalf of the Councils including front door and safeguarding services, support and placements
for children in care and disabled children, and in house fostering and residential provisions. The
provision of these services is set out in a contractual arrangement between NCT as the provider,
and the Councils which retain statutory responsibility for these services.

7.11

Following a review of the budgets within the Education Service, as part of the ‘zero-basing’
exercise, there are no general fund financial implications at this current stage. Staffing budgets
have been realigned across the Service within the existing resources and the additional costs of
disaggregation are in line with the budgeted sum of £0.3m. Base budget pressures of £0.2m due
to previously un-ring fenced grant income being removed and £0.1m tribunal legal costs have

Page 23

been offset by other non-pay budgets identified across the Directorate as no longer required and
budgets realigned accordingly.
7.12

During the Covid-19 pandemic, there have been significant changes and challenges across
Children and Education Services in meeting statutory duties, and in adapting delivery to best
support children, young people and families.

7.13

As Covid-19 restrictions have been lifting, the Directorate and NCT have been focussed on
understanding the impact on the flow of work and demand following the pandemic, to maintain
effective service delivery and anticipate possible trends as a result of the additional challenges
faced, increase in demand, complexity and uncertainty.
Education

7.14

Nationally, the area of SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability) has a high profile with
significant parent and legal advisor focus on the implementation and delivery of the Children and
Families Act 2014. There is a likely requirement for additional capacity in the Education and
Healthcare (EHC) statutory team which manages the assessment and educational placements of
children and young people, to manage increasing workloads whilst ensuring timeliness of
assessments is in line with Department for Education expectations and in comparison with
regional authorities.

7.15

Linked to the likely additional resource requirement in the EHC team following the increasing
demand in this area, there have been delays in receiving statutory advice from the Educational
Psychology team due to staff vacancies. There is a national shortage of professionals in the area
and there is some reliance on agency Educational Psychologists to cover these vacant posts – the
cost of which is offset by underspends due to staffing vacancies. Due to the focus on completing
statutory work, there is a resultant impact on the ability to do traded work, which in turn poses
a risk to meeting budgeted income targets.

7.16

Managing these risks across the whole Directorate financial position is under continuous review
and the financial implications will be reported to future Cabinet meetings.
Northamptonshire Children’s Trust

7.17

NCT was established from 1st November 2020 to deliver early help and social care services for
children and families on behalf of NCC until 31st March 2021; with ownership then transferring
to the two new unitary authorities thereafter.

Page 24

7.18

The initial NCT contract sum spans a 17-month period (1st November 2020 to 31st March 2022).
The part year impact of the core budget for the Northamptonshire Children’s Trust was
determined largely based on 5 months of the annual 2020-21 approved budget for in scope
services (with the exception of legal and transport budgets which are for 6 months based on the
profile of demand forecasts), plus the 2021-22 approved full year budget, plus the material
additional costs of running a Trust (additional management costs and pensions deficit
contribution). The contract sum also includes notional sums for the buyback of property, support
services and insurance which continue to be provided by the Councils and collectively are termed
as “other agreements”.

7.19

The savings targets as identified in the Councils’ MTFPs are incorporated into the initial 17 month
Northamptonshire Children’s Trust budget and financial performance is monitored through the
Finance Mechanism. A monthly financial monitoring report is presented at the Operational
Commissioning Group, including a review of the delivery of the transformation and savings
programme.

7.20

NCT are currently forecasting nil variance to the agreed contract sum across both West and North
Northamptonshire Councils. The forecast outturn position for 2021-22, is an initial overspend of
£0.3m against the approved budget of £123.4m. The Trust is reporting a balanced budget
position and drawing down from the £1.1m reserve, to offset the forecast overspend position.

7.21

Adults, Communities & Wellbeing
Net Budget £108.9m
Forecast Outturn £109.5m
Forecast overspend £0.6m
Variance percentage 0.5%

7.22

The Adults, Communities and Wellbeing Directorate consists of Adult Social care services that
provides support to older people or those living with disabilities or with mental or physical illness,
under the Care Act, to promote their independence and improve their well-being. This support
enables them to manage their needs and live life to the fullest regardless of the challenges they
may face as a result of their circumstances. The directorate also has responsibility for housing,
sport and leisure and a range of community services alongside responsibility for public health.

7.23

The Adults, Communities and Wellbeing Directorate are forecasting an overall £0.6m pressure
against budget for 2021-22. There are a number of areas of pressure that have been identified

Page 25

through the zero basing exercise post vesting day, most notably emerging pressures within
Independent Care and the continued impact of the Covid 19 pandemic.
7.24

A forecast pressure of £0.9m against Independent Care budgets is being driven by a combination
of increased referrals across client groups and cost pressures in the market. There are a
combination of drivers that include significant pressures on hospital discharge, capacity amongst
independent care market due to inability to recruit staff and quality concerns raised of some
providers.

7.25

Following the budget review £0.1m of pressure has been identified within Adult Social Care
comparing the staffing establishment to base budget. In addition, this review has also evidenced
a shortfall in base budget of £0.1m from the disaggregation of Library Services.

7.26

Forecast underspends of £0.5m are being driven against staffing budgets within Adult Social Care
services due to the increasing difficulty of recruitment to the number of vacancies across both
provider services and locality teams.

7.27

Following review of in year budgets across Housing and Communities; the service are forecasting
one off underspends to mitigate the £0.4m pressure of the non deliverable saving for service
aggregation. These forecast underspends have been identified from a number of service areas,
from in depth review of both staffing and non staffing budgets with budget managers.

7.28

There is an additional in year budget pressure across the Housing & Communities service
associated with agency costs and unachievable vacancy factor targets. The service is seeking to
manage these pressures during the financial year.
Covid Pressures

7.29

It is expected that £0.1m of MTFP savings will not be delivered this year from the delayed opening
of the new specialist centre for step down care for Mental Health and Acquired Brain injury. This
project has been significantly delayed due to the impact of the pandemic, and is expected to
open in the Autumn.

7.30

Additionally, there are a number of pressures across the service that are of a direct result of the
continued Covid pandemic. This includes an in year pressure on income targets across the Library
Service of £0.1m where income levels have currently been forecast at 50% of target. There is
also a risk in the delivery of Civil Penalty Income in the Private Sector Housing service where it is
currently anticipated that there will be an in year pressure against target income of £0.4m.
Despite being impacted by Covid 19, there is a number of other risks associated with issuing Civil
Penalty Notices. These risks include, the debt taking longer than expected to recover and

Page 26

spanning financial years, and also the amount of actual debt recovery following First Tier Tribunal
(FTT) hearings.
7.31

Whilst the Covid 19 pandemic continues to have an impact it is anticipated that support
payments to Leisure Centres across South Northants and Daventry will continue to providers
totalling £0.7m. In addition to this, it is not expected income from Leisure Centre providers will
be achieved, resulting in a further budget pressure of £0.5m.

7.32

A £1.5m forecast pressure has been identified against Learning Disability Independent care
budgets. This is as a direct result of the pandemic over the last 18 months, where vulnerable
clients have not accessed services and have had heavy reliance on family carers and now require
services in a crisis.

7.33

There is also a £1.0m pressure on independent care budgets as a result of the inability to deliver
base budget savings from the Admissions Avoidance project. This was a cost avoidance scheme
to reduce hospital admissions by placing social care resource at the front door of the hospitals.
In 2020-21 no savings were delivered against this scheme due to Covid 19 and these savings were
carried forward into 2021-22 budgets.

7.34

The Directorate will be mitigating the above Covid pressures through the use of non ring-fenced
Covid grant.

7.35

Place and Economy
Net Budget £80.1m
Forecast Outturn £80.3m
Forecast overspend £0.3m
Variance percentage 0.3%

7.36

Cabinet are asked to approve a virement of £2.0m, currently centrally held in contingency to
specifically address known disaggregation issues in the Highways & Waste area that emerged late
during the budget setting process.

7.37

Overall the Place & Economy Directorate will be reporting a pressure of £0.3m, which is made
up of the following variances within the Place & Economy Directorate:

Page 27

7.38

The Highways & Waste area is reporting a pressure of £0.2m. This includes a £0.2m pressure
resulting from demobilisation costs of the existing Highways contract, which is partially offset by
a number of smaller over and underspends.

7.39

The Assets & Environment area is reporting a pressure of £0.2m. This is made up of structural
budget pressures of £0.2m, mainly related to expected insurance rebates being less than
budgeted in the Schools PFI area; and a number of smaller in-year variances.

7.40

The Regulatory Services area is reporting an overall pressure of £0.1m. This includes £0.1m of
structural budget pressures (mainly around staffing budgets); and other minor in-year variances.

7.41

The Growth, Climate & Regeneration area is reporting an overall underspend of £0.3m. This
includes £0.3m of forecast in-year underspends against staffing due to vacant posts having not
yet been filled. This is partially offset by a structural budget issue on staffing of £0.1m.
Covid Pressures

7.42

Within Place & Economy directorate, there are various pressures associated with continuing to
deliver services during the COVID pandemic, these include: £0.8m in Highways & Waste; £0.1m
in Regulatory Services area due to lost income from Licensing. Additionally, there are significant
COVID pressures of £2m in Assets & Environment area due to loss of income from car parks,
estates management, catering and others, and additional costs including extra cleaning costs.
However, it is assumed that these COVID pressures will be offset against the non-ring fenced
COVID grant.

7.43

Finance
Net Budget £10.4m
Forecast Outturn £10.2m
Forecast underspend £0.1m
Variance percentage -1%

7.44

Following a review of the budgets within the Directorate, a shortfall of £0.1m has been identified
within the Procurement Service, mainly attributable to a historical now non-achievable income
stream, and additional licensing costs. Additional one off income will be received this year that
will mitigate this budget shortfall.

7.45

Further areas of potential risk are the Lead Authority Support Services (former LGSS), which are
undergoing a charging review.

Page 28

7.46

The Finance function has several vacancies and as such is reporting an in year underspend of
£0.1m.

7.47

Technical/Centrally Held Items
Net Budget £40m
Forecast Outturn £40m
Forecast under/overspend £0m
Variance percentage 0%

7.48

Technical and centrally controlled budgets include the pension deficit contribution payments for
West Northants, and the contingency budgets which cover identified risks such as Covid impact,
budget disaggregation.

7.49

The Council is currently reviewing its Minimum Revenue Provision charge, following the external
audit review work for Northamptonshire County Council and Northampton Borough Council as
part of the ongoing statutory closure of accounts work. West Northamptonshire will then have
one consolidated charge in order to repay its debt, the financial implications of this review will
be presented in future reports.

8.

Covid Summary

8.1

There are continuing pressures associated with the delivery of services during the COVID
pandemic as detailed in the directorate sections. The table below details the forecast position as
at the end of first quarter; Covid grant available to utilise, and forecast cost pressures:

Table Six

Directorate

Savings
undelivered
due to
covid
£'000

Funding Balances (B/fwd. reserve £13.3m as
set out in Table Four; and £6.7m in the
2021-22 budget)
Corporate Services
Chief Executive Office
Children's Including Trust
Adults, Communities & Wellbeing
Place, Economy and Environment
Finance Directorate
Technical / Centrally Controlled Budgets
Total Covid pressures
Less: Assumed use of Non ring-fenced Covid grant
Net position

Other
covid
related
pressures
£'000

Total
Pressure
forecast
as at Q1
£'000

Unringfenced
General
Covid Grant
Available
£’000
19,981

0
0
0
94
0
0
0

0
0
0
4,030
2,833
0
0

0
0
0
4,124
2,833
0
0
6,957
(6,957)
0

(6,957)
13,024

Page 29

8.2

The balance of unringfenced Covid funding received from the government by legacy Councils,
brought forward and available to utilise in 2021-22 totals £13.3m. Alongside this there is
additional funding within the 2021-22 budget of £6.7m, resulting in a total available funding of
£20m.

9.

Summary of Savings Delivery 2021-22 and 2022-23

9.1

The Council has a savings requirement within its 2021-22 budget of £13.4m, and an expectation
of savings to be delivered of £6.9m in 2022-23, within its medium term financial plan.

9.2

Finance and Service Directors have undertaken an early BRAG analysis of each saving proposal,
with the summary risk position reported in the table below:

Table Seven
Directorate
Blue
Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing
(2,622)
Chief Executive Office
0
Children's Directorate
(5)
Children's Trust
0
Corporate Services
0
Finance Directorate
0
Place, Economy and
Environment
(1,445)
Finance - Technical Adjustment
(230)
Total
(4,302)
% Total Savings
32%
Key: Blue = Delivered and Confirmed
Green = Deliverable, on target
Amber = Deliverable, with risks
Red = Unlikely to be delivered

2021-22 Savings Proposals
£'000
BRAG Analysis
Green
Amber
Red

Total

(71)
(458)
0
(1,489)
(761)
(296)

(2,376)
0
0
(385)
(451)
(113)

(506)
(523)
0
0
(128)
0

(5,575)
(981)
(5)
(1,874)
(1,340)
(409)

(113)
0
(3,188)
24%

(1,392)
0
(4,717)
35%

0
0
(1,157)
9%

(2,950)
(230)
(13,364)

9.3

Overall, there are only four savings target for 2021-22 that are considered to be ‘red’ and are at
high risk of not being delivered by the end of the financial year. This is set out in the directorate
section.

9.4

The savings targets highlighted as ‘red’ in the above analysis have also been included as a
pressure in the budget monitoring figures contained in the report.

9.5

There are a significant number of savings still classified as ‘amber’. This is because budget holders
are still getting to grips with some aspects of their budgets and therefore feel they cannot finally
confirm delivery of some savings until they have reached the end of this exercise and a Page
number30

of proposals still subject to risk. It is expected that as the year progresses they will gain more
confidence in their budgets and therefore the deliverability of savings contained within them and
we would expect that the savings classified as amber will be moved into the ‘green’ category.
9.6

A detailed assessment of the individual savings proposals is set out in Appendix D.

10.

Implications (including financial implications)

10.1

Resources and Financial

10.2

The resource and financial implications of the West Northamptonshire Council are set out in the
body of, and appendices to, this report.

10.3

Legal

10.4

There are no legal implications arising from the proposals. The report has been cleared by Legal
Services

10.5

Financial Risks

10.6

This report sets out the financial forecast and risks identified following the Quarter 1 review of
the council’s budgets.

10.7

Consultation

10.8

All 2021-22 Budget proposals were consulted on prior to the budget being approved by Full
Council in February 2021.

10.9

Any management interventions that require a policy change will be subject to a consultation
before any decision is taken.

10.10 Where consultation is necessary, full details will be presented to Cabinet separately. Cabinet can
only make a decision after taking careful account of the results of such consultation in order to
reach an informed decision.
11.

Background Papers

11.1

The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and have been
relied upon in preparing the report:


Previous reports to West Northamptonshire Shadow Executive, 23 February 2021:
Meeting of West Northamptonshire Shadow Authority on Tuesday 23rd February 2021 West Northamptonshire Council (moderngov.co.uk)

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A – Provisional Outturn 2020-21 for Legacy Councils within West Northamptonshire

Details on Movement since reported position to Cabinet
Northamptonshire County
Council

Position reported to NCC Cabinet in February 2021

Position
Reported to
Cabinet
£000
(7,133)

Increase in Doubtful Debt Provision within the Technical Finance budgets of
£4.2m, based on a risk analysis of the current aged debt.

(7,133)
4,247

4,247

(379)

(379)

(1,021)

(1,021)

An increased underspend within Corporate Services. Key movements include
additional external audit fees in relation to the 2018-19 audit (£0.4m), offset by
an increase in the Lead Authority Service share of the underspend (0.35m);
the Occupation Health Services contract (£0.2m); and increased underspend
on transformation costs due to the full funding of LGR costs (£0.2m)

(537)

(537)

An increase in Adult Social Care underspend. Key movements include an
overall £1.1m pressure on client contribution budgets where lower numbers of
clients have driven a reduction in income. This pressure has been offset by
increases in the underspend position on independent care budgets of £0.8m;
£0.9m of care home support grants to offset staffing costs within in house
provider services during covid; £0.8m of transport savings for both staff and
clients; and £0.4m favourable balance from the closure of Olympus Care
Services

(1,447)

(1,447)

(138)

(138)

725

(6,408)

Favourable movement in Children’s Services following reassessment of high
cost placements.
An increase underspend position in Place Services with a favourable
movement across a number of areas, most significantly Strategic Assets
(£0.4m), Waste (£0.4m) and Asset, Traffic Management and Regulations
(£0.4m).

Other minor variances
Net Position – NCC
Northampton Borough
Council

Provisional
Outturn
£000

Movement
£000

Position reported to NBC Cabinet at 03 March 2021
Increased underspend in the Economy, Assets & Culture area. £0.125m of this
is in the Property Maintenance area due to works being delayed as a result of
Covid
Improvement in the debt financing and Minimum Revenue Provision year end
position.

(7,133)
(278)

Decreased overspend in the Housing & Wellbeing area due to reduced
pressure on temporary accommodation; and associated reduced bad debt
provision requirement, in the Housing Options & Advice area
Increased overspend in the Chief Finance Officer area. This increased
overspend is mainly in the Revenues & Benefits area.
Other smaller variances across the rest of Northampton Borough Council

(278)
(185)

(185)

(161)

(161)

(129)

(129)

251

251

(163)

(163)

(387)

(665)

0

Net Position – NBC
Daventry District Council

Position reported to DDC Portfolio Holders meeting on 29 January 2021
Reduced income from Planning fees from applications for new developments
Reduced costs and increased income on the Waste Management Contract
with West Northamptonshire Norse
Reduced costs and increased income on the Investment Portfolio
Additional income from service charge review
Reduced costs/pressures on covid monies
Reduced costs elsewhere in the outturn
Net Position – DDC
South Northamptonshire
Council

Position reported South Northamptonshire Council’s Cabinet BPM on 29
March 2021
Increased Leisure Centre reopening costs £0.11m, reduction in Planning
Application and Building Control Fee income £0.14m and a reduction in the
cost of Legal & professional fees £0.12m

(278)
241

241

Provision for overtime claim
Clearance of a residual balance

Grand Total:

75

75

(130)

(130)

(161)
(115)
(250)

(161)
(115)
(250)

(125)

(125)

(707)

(466)

(342)

Decreased recycling tonnages and street cleansing £0.047m, a reduction in
interest received £0.016m and a reduction in other minor overspends £0.067m

Net Position – SNC

241

(342)
37

37

(130)

(130)

6
2
(342)

(85)

6
2
0
(427)

(7,512)

(454)

(7,966)

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B - Northamptonshire County Council Reserves Disaggregation Principles
Allocation %
Reserve

Disaggregation Principle

West Northants

North
Northants

General Fund

Disaggregated NCC 2020/21 Budget Baseline

52.90%

47.10%

Insurance Reserve

Split 50/50 pending confirmation of actuarial assessment of insurance
liabilities

50.00%

50.00%

Budget Delivery Reserve

Disaggregated NCC savings in the MTFP

52.90%

47.10%

LGSS Central Management

Disaggregated NCC 2020/21 Budget Baseline

52.90%

47.10%

Carry Forward

Estimated based on individual carry forward

Business Rates Retention Reserve

Based on allocation of S31 grant October Pooling Return

55.00%

45.00%

Public Health Reserves

Public Health grant formula

51.40%

48.60%

COVID 19

COVID Relative Needs Formula

50.50%

49.50%

Children's Trust Ring-fenced Reserves

Children's Trust Reserves - client function managed in North
Northants

0.00%

100.00%

Other Reserves*

Disaggregated NCC 2020/21 Budget Baseline

52.90%

47.10%

*Within the Other reserves, earmarked reserves relating to specific items have been allocated to the host authority,
and the remaining balance disaggregated based upon above principles.

Allocation based on individual
carry forward

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C: Quarter 1 2021-22 Revenue Forecast Outturn by Directorate
Quarter 1
£000
Corporate
Services

Savings Delivery Pressure (£1,340k savings target):
Shortfall on service aggregation savings

128
128

In-Year Budget Variations – Overspends:
ZBB budget pressures on staffing budgets - IT
ZBB budget pressures on staffing budgets due to non achievable staff capital recharge
ZBB budget pressures on staffing budgets - Corporate Management

200
200
42
442

Covid pressures
No variances to report

0
0

In-Year Budget Variations – Underspends:
No variances to report

0
0

Management Actions:
Assumed use of Non ring-fenced Covid grant

0
0

Net Position – Corporate Services
Chief
Executive
Services

570

Savings Delivery Pressure (£982k savings target):
Shortfall on service aggregation savings

523
523

In-Year Budget Variations – Overspends:
No variances to report

0
0

Covid pressures
No variances to report
In Year Budget Variations – Underspends:
Staff vacancies

0
0
(190)
(190)

Management Actions:
Assumed use of Non ring-fenced Covid grant

0
0

Net Position – Chief Executive Services

333

Savings Delivery Pressure (£1,879k savings target):
Children's
Including Trust No variances to report

0
0

In-Year Budget Variations – Overspends:
No variances to report

0
0

Covid pressures
No variances to report

0
0

In Year Budget Variations – Underspends:
No variances to report

0
0

Management Actions:
Assumed use of Non ring-fenced Covid grant

0
0

Net Position – Children's

0

Adults,
Communities & Savings Delivery Pressure (£5,575k savings target):
Wellbeing

Housing and Communities service aggregation pressures – the transformation changes are planned for later in the financial year so are
18-001-16 Specialist centre for – Step down Care Mental Health and Acquired brain injury
In-Year Budget Variations – Overspends:
Adult Social Care - ZBB review - Structural budget pressure across services
Adult Social Care Independent care budget pressure driven by cost pressures in the market
Housing & Communities - ZBB Review - Disaggregation of Libraries service
Covid pressures
Housing & Communities - Libraries Income pressure due to Covid
Housing & Communities - Private Sector Housing Civil Penalty Income due to Covid
Housing & Communities - Leisure Centre Support Payments & Loss of Income due to Covid
Adult Social Care - Learning Disability Independent care budget pressure due to Covid
Rapid response falls & admission avoidance service 20-21 brought forward saving delivery continues to be delayed by covid
In Year Budget Variations – Underspends:
Housing and Communities – Forecast one off underspends across services identified to mitigate service aggregation pressure
Adult Social Care - Forecast underspend due to in year vacancies across care teams
Adult Social Care - Forecast underspend within Provider services

412
94
506
121
922

85
1,128
55
353

1,197
1,467
958
4,030
(412)
(441)
(83)
(936)

Management Actions:
Use of Non ring-fenced Covid grant

(4,124)
(4,124)

Net Position – Adults

604

Page 37

Appendix C: Quarter 1 2021-22 Revenue Forecast Outturn by Directorate
Quarter 1
£000
Corporate
Place,
Services
Economy and
Environment

Savings Delivery Pressure (£2,950k savings target):
No variances to report

0

0
In year variations - overspend:
Regulatory Services - structural budget pressures - predominantly staffing
Regulatory Services - various small variances
Highways & Waste - mainly demobilisation of highways contract (£243k), partially offset by smaller underspends elsewhere.
Assets & Environment - structural budget pressures - mainly on schools PFI
Growth, Climate & Regen - structural budget pressures - staffing

142
2
180
238
65

627
Covid pressures
Regulatory Services - COVID income pressure - Licencing
Highways & Waste - COVID pressures
Assets & Environment - COVID pressures - including loss of income from car parks, estates management, catering and others, and

52
770
2,011

2,833
In year variations - underspend:
Growth, Climate & Regen - underspends due to vacancies remaining unfilled.
Assets & Environment - various smaller items

(328)
(43)

(371)
Management Actions:
Assumed use of Non ring-fenced Covid grant

(2,833)
(2,833)

Net Position – Place
Finance
Directorate

256

Savings Delivery Pressure (£409k savings target):
No variances to report

0
0

In year variations - overspend:
ZBB budget pressures due to unachievable historic income target and new license costs in Procurement
In year variations - underspend:
One off income from additional Highways procurement work
Staffing vacancies within Finance

52
52
(50)
(141)
(191)

Management mitigation:
No variances to report
Net Position – Finance Directorate

0
0
(139)

Savings Delivery Pressure (£230k savings target):
Technical
/Centrally Held No variances to report
Budgets

0
0

In year variations - overspend:
No variances to report

0
0

Management Actions:
No variances to report

Total WNC:

0
0

Net Position – Technical/ Centrally held budgets

0

Less: Funding

0

1,624

Page 38

West Northamptonshire Council - Budget Proposals 2021/22 to 2024/25 - Savings and Efficiencies as at Q1
2021/22 Delivery RAG Rating

Blue

Directorate

Proposal Title

Proposal Description and service impact

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(241)

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(412)

Strengths based working

Continued transformation of adult social care pathways and
processes to ensure focus on client outcomes, increased
independence, better decision making and best practice
approaches to reduce delays, crisis decision making and
long term care spend.

Admission avoidance service

Business rate pilot funded -A new service provided between
health and Care within the frailty assessment unit is
hospitals - providing support following falls in the home and
reduced hospital admissions and likelihood of long term
social care support being required.

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Learning Disability Provider Framework efficiencies

Business rate pilot funded -Review activity to support
progression for people with a Learning Disability, including
implementation of new provider framework with improved
pricing strategy, outcomes and incentivised step down

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

2021/22 £k

Green

2021/22 Delivered to
date

Red

2021/22 Forecast to
Year End

Blue

2022/23 £k

0

(241)

0

0

(241)

0

0

0

0

(412)

0

(412)

0

(2,467)

(2,070)

0

(397)

0

(2,070)

(2,467)

(1,763)

(119)

0

(1,644)

0

(119)

(193)

(193)

0

0

0

Moray Lodge development by Northampton Borough
Specialist centre for – Step down Care Mental Health Council and Northampton Partnership Homes to provide
and Acquired brain injury
specialist and step down supported living for people with an
acquired brain Injury and mental health support needs.

(188)

0

0

(94)

The new adult social care Target Operating Model has
resulted in the decision to not renew historic contracts
(following their termination dates expiring). These services
will now be delivered through an overarching approach to
service delivery.

(175)

(175)

0

0

Contract cessation and redesign

0

Amber

2022/23 Delivery RAG Rating

Green

0

Amber

Red

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(2,467)

0

0

(2,467)

0

(1,763)

(594)

0

0

(594)

0

(193)

(193)

0

0

0

0

0

(94)

0

(188)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(175)

(175)

0

0

0

0

0

Page 39

2021/22 Delivery RAG Rating

Blue

Directorate

Proposal Title

Proposal Description and service impact

2021/22 £k

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Library Services Savings

Reduction in budget for book supplies to reflect move to online resources and removal of budget for agency staff only
required during reorganisation.

(71)

0

Adults, Communities &
Wellbeing

Sheltered Housing Contracts cessation/redesign

The new adult social care Target Operating Model has
resulted in the decision to not renew historic contracts
(following their termination dates expiring). These services
will now be delivered through an overarching approach to
service delivery.

(65)

(65)

Chief Executive Office

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(956)

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

Green

Amber

2022/23 Delivery RAG Rating

2021/22 Delivered to
date

Red

2021/22 Forecast to
Year End

Blue

2022/23 £k

Green

Amber

Red

(71)

0

0

0

(71)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(65)

(65)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(433)

0

(523)

0

(956)

0

0

0

0

0

(25)

0

(25)

0

0

0

(25)

0

0

0

0

0

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(5)

(5)

0

0

0

(5)

(5)

0

0

0

0

0

Improvement in capacity building in foster care

Ensuring that adolescents are not placed in residential home
settings due to lack of in house fostering capacity, skill and
abilities through the development of an in house specialist
fostering service. Positive impact on children placed in a
family setting, and savings will be delivered through reduced
reliance on residential placements.

(606)

0

(606)

0

0

0

(606)

(213)

0

0

(213)

0

Improved children's outcomes

Ensuring that only children and young people who need to
be in public care are placed, as a result of improved 'edge of
care' support and intervention with families. Working
towards minimising the amount of time a child is in care
before they are united with their parents.

(399)

0

(237)

(162)

0

0

(399)

(519)

0

(519)

0

0

Children's Trust

Reducing reliance on agency staff

Business rate pilot funded -A proposal to increase the
proportion of permanent staffing within the Children's
Trust, reducing reliance on agency staff, through a refreshed
Workforce Strategy and Quality Assurance Framework that
creates a stable and effective workforce.

(135)

0

(135)

0

0

0

(135)

(290)

0

0

(290)

0

Children's Trust

Northamptonshire Children's Trust contract savings

Savings included as part of the Northamptonshire Children's
Trust contract as a result of continued transformation of
Early Help and Social Care services.

(734)

0

(511)

(223)

0

0

(734)

(711)

0

0

(711)

0

Corporate Services

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(269)

0

0

(141)

(128)

0

(269)

0

0

0

0

0

Chief Executive Office

Children's Directorate

Children's Trust

Children's Trust

Page 40

2021/22 Delivery RAG Rating

Directorate

Blue

Corporate Services

Service Aggregation savings

(310)

0

0

(310)

0

0

(310)

0

0

0

0

0

Corporate Services

Elections Base Budgets

Removal of existing base budgets as elections for 2021 and
2025 will be funded through the already established
Elections reserves held across West Northants.

(761)

0

(761)

0

0

0

(761)

0

0

0

0

0

Finance Directorate

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(180)

0

(67)

(113)

0

0

(180)

0

0

0

0

0

Finance Directorate

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(229)

0

(229)

0

0

0

(229)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(231)

0

0

(231)

0

0

(231)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Service Aggregation savings

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

(886)

0

0

(886)

0

0

(886)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Additional Green Waste Income from Northampton
Borough Residents

Increased income reflecting increased take up of Green
Waste collection service in Northampton

(750)

(750)

0

0

0

(750)

(750)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Environmental Services Savings

Reductions in the costs of Environmental Services to West
Northamptonshire

(695)

(695)

0

0

0

(695)

(695)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Removal of one-off budget for externally
commissioned Employment Appraisal

One off budget not required in 2021/22

(200)

0

0

(200)

0

0

(200)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Removal of one-off budgets for Council Offices

Fitting of solar panels and safety works scheduled to be
completed in 2020/21. This is a one off budget that is not
required in 2021/22

(113)

0

(113)

0

0

0

(113)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Environmental Services Savings

Adjustment to budget to reflect actual charges from Veolia
to NBC in 2020/21

(75)

0

0

(75)

0

0

(75)

0

0

0

0

0

Place, Economy and
Environment

Exploitation of Superfast Broadband

Increase the optimisation of Superfast Broadband to over
50%, which will trigger further sharing of one off benefits in
2022-23.

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(560)

0

0

(560)

0

Finance - Technical
Adjustment

Reductions in Technical Finance Budgets

Removal of base budget relating to the cost of
Commissioners at NCC.

(230)

0

0

0

(230)

(230)

0

0

0

0

0

Finance - Technical
Adjustment

Other Business Rate Pilot Savings

Target for other LGR savings through the transformation of
IT systems, reduction in costs and renegotiation on third
party contracts.

0

0

0

0

0

0

(1,530)

0

0

0

(1,530)

(3,188)

(4,717)

(1,157)

(4,302)

(13,364)

(6,884)

(519)

(4,835)

(1,530)

(13,364)

(4,302)

Red

Blue

Savings as a result of the merging of four councils into one,
including reduced senior management costs and other
aggregation savings. To be allocated to Directorates
following recruitment and implementation of new structure.

0

Amber

2021/22 Forecast to
Year End

Proposal Description and service impact

(230)

Green

2021/22 Delivered to
date

Proposal Title

Net Position

2021/22 £k

2022/23 Delivery RAG Rating

2022/23 £k

Green

0

Amber

Red

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
TUESDAY 14TH SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder For Finance: Councillor Malcolm Longley
Report Title

Q1 Capital Monitoring Report 2021-22

Report Author

Sharon Gregory, Senior Finance Business Partner,
Sharon.gregory@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West MO

Catherine Whitehead

3rd September 2021

West S151 (for West
and joint papers)
Communication Lead

Martin Henry

27th August 2021

Craig Forsyth

6th September

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Carry forward requests General Fund capital programme
Appendix B – Carry forward requests HRA capital programme
Appendix C – Revised General Fund capital programme
Appendix D – Revised HRA capital programme

Page 43

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

This report sets out the provisional capital outturn position for 2020-21 for all legacy West
Northamptonshire Council (WNC) authorities, and the subsequent carry forward requests from
each authority due to the rephasing of scheme expenditure profiles.

1.2.

The report also sets out the latest revised capital programme for 2021-25 for WNC for both the
General Fund (GF) and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) incorporating the latest capital
scheme information, including new schemes which have been approved since 1 April 2021, or
are in the process of being approved.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet:
a) Note the provisional capital outturn position from all legacy WNC authorities for the
financial year 2020-21
b) Note the proposed capital carry forwards for the GF and HRA capital programmes as
detailed in appendices A and B
c) Note the latest capital budget and Medium Term Financial Plan for the GF and HRA
d) Note the new schemes that have been approved since 1st April 2021 or are in the process
of being approved.

2.2

Reason for recommendations  This in accordance with the policy of the Council and constitution

3.

Report Background

3.1

This report sets out the provisional 2020-21 outturn for each of the legacy authorities’ capital
programmes. The position is provisional as the annual statutory audit of accounts for each legacy
organisation is still ongoing. As part of the outturn process, the Council has identified which
capital schemes are still active and, as a result, will carry forward into the new authority for
completion.

3.2

The WNC capital budget was approved at Shadow Executive on 23 February 2021. As part of the
budget setting process, the Shadow Authority gave the Executive Director – Finance (S151
Officer), in consultation with the portfolio holder for Finance, the delegated authority to amend
the capital programme, so that it accurately reflects the changes arising from each legacy
authorities capital programme prior to the start of the new financial year.

4.

Governance and process

4.1

A robust approval and monitoring process for the capital programme have now been set up for
the Council, which is in line with the constitution and the approved capital strategy. This
governance will ensure the Council has financial rigour and strict management controls in place
to manage the programme effectively.

Page 44

4.2

The approved Capital Programme is managed through defined groups / Boards as detailed below.




Executive Leadership Team (ELT)
ELT will have first sight of all budget proposals / capital bids and will undertake an initial
scrutiny and challenge process before any schemes are submitted to the Capital and Assets
Board for approval (see below). There is an expectation that before any proposal is
considered by ELT that is has already received the relevant portfolio holder’s support.
Capital and Assets Board (CAB)
This is an officer and councillor group, chaired by the S151 Officer. The purpose of this
Board is to review and challenge capital schemes prior to their submission to Cabinet / Full
Council for final approval, in line with the limits outlined in the Capital Strategy. The group
will also monitor and challenge active projects, holding project managers to account for
specific project performance.
Individual Project Board Groups



Specific Project Board Groups must be set up for high risk / high value projects which should meet
regularly. CAB will identify the need for a specific Project Board as part of its approval process for
each scheme. These groups will be concerned with the management of a specific project,

including contract details, contractor performance, value for money and publication /
communication of progress.
4.3

All elements of proposed, and active schemes will be robustly challenged and monitored
throughout the project lifetime, and in some cases will be subject to a ‘lessons learned’ review
on completion.

4.4

All schemes will be in line with Council objectives, and must have clear, measurable deliverables
/ outcomes. Applications must show how projects will deliver value for money, assess and
mitigate risk and manage resource capacity issues.

4.5

The governance process for scheme approval and review is set within diagram 1.

Page 45

Diagram 1 – West Northamptonshire capital governance process

Executive Leadership Team (ELT)


Will have first sight of all budget proposals
and new capital bids
Will undertake initial scrutiny and challenge
before schemes are submitted to CAB
The relevant portfolio holder must be aware
and in support of the proposal before it is
considered by ELT




Capital and Assets Board (CAB)





Officer and councillor group
Assess and challenge capital bids and
recommend to Cabinet / Full Council for
approval
Monitor performance of approved projects.
Approve fully funded schemes or determine
if further approval is required

Cabinet




Reviews and challenges budget proposals,
new capital requests and the Capital
Monitoring Report
Approves and recommends to Full Council
new schemes and variations over £100k
Gives final approval for schemes valued at
under £100k

Full Council




4.6

Approves final capital budget
Approves new in-year schemes in excess
of £100k

It should be noted that when the final budget for 2021-22 was set by full council delegated
authority was granted to the Executive Director – Finance in consultation with the finance
portfolio holder to amend the capital programme as required throughout the year. However, as
is the case in this report, any amendments to the Capital Programme will be reported through
to Cabinet for information and major new schemes will continue to be reported to Cabinet for
approval before amendment of the Capital Programme.

Page 46

5.

Provisional Capital Outturn from Legacy Authorities 2020-21

5.1

Table 1 sets out the provisional capital programme outturn for 2020-21 (subject to audit) for the
legacy West Northamptonshire authorities, and Table 2 sets out the sources of funding.

5.2

To demonstrate a robust audit trail, Table 1 shows the movements between the previously
reported capital expenditure by the legacy West Northamptonshire authorities and the
provisional outturn position.

5.3

Legacy authorities last reported their 2020-21 capital expenditure at the following meetings:
 Daventry District Council – Portfolio Holders meeting in January 2021
 Northampton Borough Council – Cabinet meeting in March 2021
 South Northamptonshire Council – Cabinet BPM meeting in March 2021
 Northamptonshire County Council – Cabinet meeting in February 2021

Table 1 – Provisional outturn position 2020-21

Previously
reported
capital
New
Authority expenditure
Schemes
(to legacy
authority’s
Executive)
£k

£k

£k

Approved
Budget
increase

Overspend

Underspend

£k

£k

£k

Latest
capital
Rephasing
expenditure
(Outturn)

£k

£k

General Fund
DDC
17,323
0
0
0
0
-3,898
13,425
NBC
19,283
1,025
1,174
1,295
0
-8,795
13,982
SNC
3,396
0
0
128
0
-743
2,781
NCC*
75,391
0
0
0
0
-11,103
64,288
HRA
NBC
62,298
0
230
0
-19
-13,966
48,543
*The figures shown above for NCC relate to the whole County and have not been disaggregated at this
stage.
5.4

Key movements between previously reported capital expenditure and the provisional outturn
position for each legacy authority are shown in Table 2

Table 2 – Key movements between previously reported position and provisional outturn.

Legacy
Scheme Name
authority
DDC
Homelessness Temporary
Accommodation
Town Centre Vision

Type of
change
Rephasing
Rephasing

£k

Reason for change

-993 Timing re unitary
-971 Covid

Page 47

NBC

NCC

5.5

Northampton Leisure Trust
Asbestos removal 41-45 Abington
St
Vulcan Works

Rephasing
Rephasing

-1,687 Planned rephasing
-974 Planned rephasing

Budget
increase and
rephasing

North West Relief Road

New scheme

Kier main capital highways works

Rephasing

Schools minor works 2020-21

Rephasing

Superfast broadband

Rephasing

-968 Budget increased to
reflect original
Cabinet approval.
Planned rephasing
1,025 Final tranche of
Cabinet approved
expenditure
-4,237 Works have not
progressed in line
with original plan.
-1,176 Works have not
progressed as quickly
as previously forecast
with planned works at
4 specific primary
schools making up
£845k of the
rephasing and £250k
being work plans still
being finalised.
-1,100 Milestone not
achieved by 31st
March in the contract.
Payments are linked
to the achievement of
milestones related to
the number of
connections achieved
in the contract and
are renewed
quarterly.

Table 3 sets out the sources of funding for the provisional capital outturn.

Table 3 – Funding of the capital expenditure (provisional outturn)
Borrowing

Capital
Receipts

£k

£k

2,586*

9,655

Authority

General Fund
DDC

Grants and
other
contributions
£k

S106
and CIL

692

492

£k

Major
Repairs
Reserve
£k

Revenue
Financing
Reserve
£k

0

0

Total

£k
13,425

Page 48

NBC
8,196
811
3,316
1,659
0
0
13,982
SNC
0
1,685
868
228
0
0
2,781
NCC
6,901
887
46,000
10,500
0
0
64,288
HRA
NBC
21,856
5,565
1,800
0
13,209
6,115
48,545
*Internal borrowing was funding taken from the Strategic Infrastructure Fund revenue earmarked reserve. This
will be repaid when the s.106 and CIL for the Leisure Centre come in to reimburse that reserve.

5.6

The General Fund expenditure rephasing / carry forwards are shown in appendix A.

5.7

The HRA rephasing / carry forwards are shown in appendix B.

6.

Revised General Fund Capital Programme 2021-2025

6.1

The full updated General Fund capital programme is shown in Appendix C. The revised capital
programme includes carry forwards due to scheme rephasing, new funding announcements and
scheme cost changes from legacy authorities.

Table 4 – Changes to the approved GF capital programme (Feb 21)
West Northants GF Capital Budget
Approved Budget 2021-22
New scheme approvals
Changes to existing scheme budgets
approved by legacy councils
Scheme rephasing
Total
Movement from February 2021
capital programme

2021-22
£k
52,256
23,659

2022-23
£k
21,815
27,659

2023-24
£k
6,630
2,262

2024-25
£k
3,522
3,865

Total
£k
84,223
57,445

526
25,483
101,924

-333
0
49,141

-170
0
8,722

246
0
7,633

269
25,483
167,420

49,668

27,326

2,092

4,111

83,197

Table 5 – Revised WNC General Fund capital programme by Directorate.
Revised WN Capital Programme
as at July 21

Adults, Communities and
Wellbeing
Children's Service
Corporate
Finance

Approved
Capital
Programme as
at Feb 2021

New
scheme
approvals

Changes to
existing
scheme
budgets
approved by
legacy
councils

Rephasing

Total
2021-22
to 202425

£k

£k

£k

£k

£k

13,754
14,740
1,380
568

254
5,779
0
0

-747
1,762
641
0

4,969
565
715
164

18,230
22,846
2,736
732
Page

49

Place
Total

53,781
84,223

31,565
37,598

18,460
20,116

19,070
25,483

122,876
167,420

2024-25
£k

Total
£k

Table 6 – Funding for the revised WNC capital programme (General Fund).
WN Revised Capital Financing

2021-22
£k
4,707
22,281
2,364
29,670
3,487
38,340
119
411
545
101,924

Capital receipts
Prudential Borrowing
Internal Borrowing
S106**
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)**
Grant Funding
Funded from Reserve
Revenue Funding
External Funding
Total Funding

2022-23
£k
146
2,933
727
14,563
100
30,444
0
128
100
49,141

2023-24
£k
115
2,406
667
869
100
4,465
0
0
100
8,722

85
0
684
110
0
6,654
0
0
100
7,633

5,053
27,620
4,442
45,212
3,687
79,905
119
539
845
167,420

** Some of the s.106 and CIL funding will be received several years after the completion of the project in some cases.
Those schemes will be forward funded with Discretionary funding, which will be repaid when the relevant CIL and s.106
are received. The funding table shows the eventual funding source for these, rather than the forward funding.
The two main schemes to which this applies are the Northampton North West Relief Road, and the A45 Daventry
Development Link.

New General Fund Capital Scheme Approvals
6.2

Table 5 shows £37.6m of new schemes added to the programme since the WNC General Fund
capital budget was set in February 2021. This figure is comprised of new approvals made by
legacy authorities between February 2021 and 31 March 2021 and new schemes approved by
West Northamptonshire after 1 April 2021

6.3

There are four new schemes which have been added to the capital programme since 1 April 2021.
These schemes have been approved in accordance with the WNC capital approval process.

Table 7 - Additions to the General Fund capital programme since 1st April 2021.
Scheme

Northampton Market
Square.
Redevelopment of the
square including the
creation of an event
space.

Place

2021-22
£K

2022-23
£k

2023-24
£k

2024-25
onwards
£k

822

6,742

864

0

Total
£k

8,428

Funding
Source

Grant

Page 50

24 Guildhall Road,
Northampton.
Addition to existing
programme to carry out
renovation works to
create artist studios and
art gallery.
The total budget
£1,560k (includes £385k
in 20-21, some of which
will carry forward into
the current year)
Northamptonshire
Holistic Flood
Resilience.
Delivery of a series of
interventions and
measures to improve
holistic flood resilience
from multiple sources.
North West Relief Road.
The final aspects
relating to the NWRR
were approved by
Cabinet in June 2021.
The additional funding
requirement will be met
by grant.
Total

Place

1,175

0

0

0

1,175

Grant

Place

334

805

1,198

3,865

6,202

Grant

20,000

Grant

Place

20,000

2,331

27,547

2,062

3,865

35,805

Additional General Fund Capital Schemes
6.4

There is one additional scheme which is currently going through the approval process but have
yet to receive final approval from Cabinet / Council.


Northamptonshire Libraries Management System
o Joint scheme with North Northamptonshire to upgrade the library management system
to ensure a robust, efficient and up to date system which complies with GDPR.
o Total value of the scheme is £203k.
o A separate report on the scheme will be presented to Cabinet at the September meeting.

7.

Revised 2021-25 Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme

7.1

The full HRA capital programme is shown in Appendix D. As highlighted above it includes
Page 51
rephasing carry forwards schemes from the last financial year.

Table 8 – Changes to the approved HRA capital programme 2021-22 to 2024-25
Approved
capital
programme
2021-22 to
2024-25 as
at Feb 2021

External Improvements
Internal Works
Structural Works &
Compliance
Disabled Adaptations
Environmental
Improvements
IT Development
New Build Programme /
Major Projects
Buyback and Spot
Purchases
Next Steps
Accommodation
Programme (NSAP)
Total

£k
47,000
11,800

New
scheme
approvals
/
deletions

£k

Changes to
existing
scheme
budgets
approved
by legacy
councils
£k
3,000

Approve
d Virements

1,800
2,600

Rephasing

Total
2021-22
to 202425

150
-450

£k
2,610
-299

£k
52,760
11,051

300

29
-521

1,829
2,379

-1,748
56

10,252
1,152

32,137

155,401

1,518

11,518

1,725
35,507

283
246,625

£k

12,000
1,096
132,589

-9,325

10,000

218,885

-1,442
-10,767

3,000

0

2023-24

2024-25

Table 9 – Summary revised WNC HRA capital programme

Revised capital
programme summary
External Improvements
Internal Works
Structural Works &
Compliance
Disabled Adaptations
Environmental
Improvements
IT Development

2021-22

2022-23

Total

£k
18,808
2,300

£k
12,150
2,250

£k
12,102
2,250

£k
9,700
4,251

£k
52,760
11,051

479

450

450

450

1,829

429

650

650

650

2,379

2,752

1,500

3,000

3,000

10,252

332

315

260

245

1,152

Page 52

New Build
Programme/Major
Projects
Buyback and Spot
Purchases
Next Steps
Accommodation
Programme (NSAP)
Total

34,725

58,433

41,343

20,900

155,401

10,018

500

500

500

11,518

283

0

0

0

283

70,126

76,248

60,555

39,695

246,625

Table 10 – Funding for the revised WNC HRA capital programme.
2021-22
Major Repairs Reserve/Depreciation
Capital Receipts - RTB (excl 1-4-1)
Capital Receipts - RTB 1-4-1 Receipts
Capital Receipts - Grant Funding
Revenue/Earmarked Reserve
Borrowing / CFR
Total Funding

£k
18,588
2,912
6,270
16,022
642
25,692
70,126

8.

Implications (including financial implications)

8.1

Resources and Financial


8.2

£k
14,850
2,912
6,050
1,992
3,217
47,227
76,248

2023-24
£k
14,802
2,912
3,640
3,787
5,408
30,006
60,555

2024-25
£k
14,401
2,912
3,640
3,787
9,657
5,299
39,695

Total
£k
62,641
11,648
19,600
25,588
18,924
108,224
246,625

This report informs Cabinet of the provisional capital outturn position 2020-21 for all legacy
West Northamptonshire authorities, for both the general fund and HRA. Carry forwards
and sources of funding have been identified and will transfer from legacy authorities. The
latest capital programme outlined in this report is fully funded, either through borrowing,
internal resources or external funding arrangements. Ongoing expenditure relating to
these projects will be robustly challenged and monitored by Finance and the Capital and
Assets Board.

Legal


8.3

2022-23

There are no legal implications arising from the proposals.

Risk


There are a number of processes in place to robustly challenge new schemes and progress
for existing schemes such as through ELT, CAB and in reports to Cabinet. Where required,
completed projects will be subject to a ‘lessons learned’ exercise. Funding for allPage
capital53

schemes has been identified, and progress against budgets will be closely monitored to
Cabinet on a regular basis
9.

Background Papers

9.1

Final Capital Budget to West Northants Shadow Executive – February 2021.

Page 54

Q1 Capital Monitoring Report 2021-22 Appendix A - General Fund Carry Forwards.
Legacy
authority
DDC
NBC

2021-22
Funding Source
£k
2,681 s106 / capital receipts
2,580 Grant / borrowing

Homelessness Temporary Accommodations

DDC

1,994 Capital receipts

Disabled Facilities Grant
Northampton Leisure Trust
Asbestos removal 41-45 Abington Street
Daventry to Braunston Cycle Track
Watermeadows Development
Vehicle Replacement Programme
S106 Former Timken, Main Rd Duston,
Northampton
Leisure Centre East

NBC
NBC
NBC
DDC
SNC
SNC

1,847
1,687
1,003
709
700
492

S106 - Silverstone Circuit Silverstone (file 264)

Town Centre Vision - Cinema Site 1
Vulcan works

Grant
Borrowing
Grant
CIL
Grant / external funding
Grant / borrowing

NCC

454 s106

DDC

425 s106 and CIL (forward funding needed)

NCC

416 s106

NCC

415 Grant

NCC
SNC
SNC
NBC
NCC
NBC
NCC
NBC
NCC
NBC
NCC
DDC

414
408
392
358
342
330
311
268
255
254
243
239

NCC

206 s106

SNC

200 CIL

NBC

193 Borrowing

DDC

188 CIL

NCC
NBC

171 Borrowing
170 Capital Receipt

Revenues and Benefits Capital Investments

NBC

164 Borrowing

PHASE Housing in Northampton
IT Infrastructure
Towcester Toilets
Racecourse Improvements
S106 - Wootton Fields Ph3 (file 449)
S106 Radstone Fields, Brackley

NCC
NBC
SNC
NBC
NCC
NCC

Capital support to routine maintenance 202021
Towcester South Primary School
Disabled Facilities Grants
IT Transition to Unitary Authority
Central Museum Development

Property Minor Works 2019-20
Guildhall Boilers
s106 Buckton Fields Northampton
24 Guildhall Road Block
s106 Wood Burcote Court Towcester
St Michaels Lift Refurbishment
S106 Monksmoor Daventry
Grants to Aid Voluntary Services
UU Sailsbury Landscape Boughton Road
Moulton
Improvements to Sports Centre Facilities
Parks/Allotments/Cemeteries Enhancements
Improvements to Athletics facilities Stefan Hill
Sports Park
Long Buckby Flood Management
Environmental Service Vehicles

Page 55

150
149
140
138
134
132

s106
Grant
Borrowing / capital receipts
Capital Receipt
Borrowing
Borrowing
s106
Borrowing
s106
Capital Receipt
s106
s106

Borrowing
Capital Receipt
s106 / capital receipts
Grant / borrowing
s106
s106
\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix A GF Carry Forwards, GF Carry forwards

S106 Harlestone Rd Northampton
Operational Buildings Enhancements
Community Youth Provision
S106 West Station Rd Long Buck
S106 land at Brackmills (Bedford Rd Roxhill)
Npt

Legacy
authority
NCC
NBC
DDC
NCC

2021-22
£k

Funding Source
131
131
127
116

s106
Borrowing
External contributions / capital receipts
s106

102 s106

Country Park Improvements (s106 funded)

DDC

99 S.106

Public toilets refurbishment
Community Library Prog - Roade
Capita ONE to Cloud
Parks Allotments and Cemeteries s106 / grant
funded
Smart Commuters
Car Park Extension St John´s Square and
Chapel Lane
New Rehabilitation Building
Refurbishment of Paved Areas
Heartlands commercial new build
Monksmoor Primary School
Upton County Park
Community and District Initiatives
Installation of Bin Holders in Laybys
S106 Buckton Fields West
S106 Apex Park
Corporate Asbestos Surveys
Rainsbrook Crematorium enhancements
Middlemore cycle track ph2
S106 - Bective Sch Whiston Rd, Kingsthorpe
Npt (file 431)
EPC Certification & compliance works
Affordable housing at Gouldens View
s106 Ashton Road (pianoforte) Roade
Lodge Farm Community Centre
Northampton Secondary Capacity Kingsthorpe College bulge capacity
S106 Cary Close Moulton (DWH)
Discretionary Grants - Emergency assist
Heartlands completion works
Elizabeth Woodville School S106
Climate Change Initiatives
Refurbishment of paths and structures for
open spaces
Barrack Road Educational Facilities
Capital Works 68 & 68a High Street
s106 Booth Rise North Npt
Heritage Gateway
5 Yr Rolling ICT Replacement Programme
Billing Road Cemetery
Community Library Prog - Long Buckby

DDC
NCC
NCC

98 Capital receipts
96 Borrowing
96 Borrowing

NBC

92 s106

Page 56

NCC

NCC

92 Borrowing

DDC

89 Capital receipts

DDC
DDC
DDC
DDC
NBC
DDC
DDC
NCC
NCC
SNC
DDC
DDC

87
86
84
79
78
77
74
73
73
72
72
71

NCC

67 s106

SNC
DDC
NCC
NBC

65
65
62
60

NCC

59 Grant

NCC
SNC
DDC
NCC
SNC

55
50
50
49
46

DDC

45 Capital receipts

NCC
DDC
NCC
NBC
SNC
NBC
NCC

43
43
41
40
40
40
40

Capital receipts
Capital receipts
Capital receipts
s.106 / revenue earmarked reserve
s106
Capital receipts
Capital receipts
S106
s106
Municipal Building Reserve
Capital receipts
Capital receipts

Borrowing
S.106
s106
Borrowing

s106
Borrowing
Capital receipts
s106
CIL

Borrowing
Capital receipts
s106
s106
Grant
s106
Borrowing
\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix A GF Carry Forwards, GF Carry forwards

S106 Camp Hill Bugbrooke

Legacy
authority
NCC

2021-22
£k

Funding Source
40 s106

NCC

39 Borrowing

Lodge Road Fire Risk Assessment
Middleton Cheney Church Yards
Corporate Fire Risk Assessments

DDC
SNC
SNC

37 Capital receipts
37 Borrowing
37 Municipal Building Reserve

Community Library Prog - Brackley Library

NCC

37 Borrowing

Computer Hardware/Software
s106 Overstone Leys (SUE) Overstone
S106 Overthorpe Rd M40 Banbury
Former Co-op Site Purchase and Enhanceme
S106 Foxhills Brackley
S106 Towcester Vale SUE
S106 Emmanuel Church Sc. Site, Billing Brook
Road
S106 Chaplins Yd Stratford Road Roade
s106 Wootton Fields Northampton (335)
S106 - Peace Hill Bugbrooke (file 343)
Kings Sutton Flood Aleviation
S106 Summerhouse Rd Moulton Park
S106 Old Greens Norton Rd Tow
Wootton Library
Middlemore minor works
TCV 1 & 5
s106 Nth of Ford - Royal Oak Way South,
Daventry

DDC
NCC
NCC
SNC
NCC
NCC

35
33
33
32
31
31

NCC

30 s106

NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
DDC
DDC

29
26
26
25
25
24
23
22
20

NCC

20 s106

Npton Parks and open spaces (additional)

NBC

20 Borrowing

Academy Electronic Document Management S
Towcester Town Centre Regen
Elgar Centre M&E
S106 Npt Lane Moulton
S106 Site 7 Edgar Mobbs Npt
S106 Watford Lodge Watford
DCP Refurbishment Programme
Catesby Tunnel Aero Research
WA0003 Closed Landfill Sites
DCOb DIRFT 3, Hilmorton
S106 Towcester Rd Old Stratford
Guildhall Roof Architect Fees
Corporate Water Hygiene Legionella Asses
S106 Banbury Lane KingsSutton
Borough Hill Car Park Works

SNC
SNC
NBC
NCC
NCC
NCC
DDC
DDC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NBC
SNC
NCC
DDC

16
15
15
15
15
15
13
12
12
10
10
10
10
9
8

Overclad roofing Austin Way & Humber Close

DDC

8 Capital receipts

S106 Former Allotments N-P Rd
S106 Dockham Way Crick
s106 Byfield Road, Woodford Halse (306)
Lodge Road CCTV works

NCC
NCC
NCC
DDC

6
6
5
5

Page 57

Community Library Prog - Middleton Cheney

Capital receipts
s106
s106
Capital Receipts
s106
s106

s106
s106
s106
Borrowing
s106
s106
Borrowing
Capital receipts
Capital receipts

Borrowing
Borrowing
s106
s106
s106
s106
Capital receipts
Capital receipts
Borrowing
s106
s106
Borrowing
Municipal Building Reserve
s106
Capital receipts

s106
s106
s106
Capital receipts
\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix A GF Carry Forwards, GF Carry forwards

S106 Danes Camp Way Northampton
Domestic Recycling Waste Bins
Mayorhold Drainage works retention
Lodge Road Electric Vehicle Point

Legacy
authority
NCC
DDC
NBC
DDC

2021-22
£k

Funding Source
5
5
4
4

s106
Capital receipts
Borrowing
Capital receipts

Timken to Railway Line Cycle Track/Footpath

DDC

3 Capital receipts

Passport Replacements and IP addressing

NCC

3 Borrowing

Leisure Facilities Contract

DDC

3 Capital receipts

Middlemore Infrastructure Completion Works

DDC

3 Capital receipts

Abington Park Middle Lake Retention
S106 65 Byfield Rd Woodford Ha
Burgage Wall
Lodge Road Offices Cycle Storage

NBC
NCC
DDC
DDC

3
2
2
2

Flood measures the Haystack / Highlands Drive

DDC

2 Capital receipts

S106 GlebeFm Yelvertoft WindFm
DCP Café Refurbishments
S106 Groses QueensPark Kingsth
ST241 : Gayton Lf Leachate Remediation

NCC
DDC
NCC
NCC

2
2
2
1

Country Parks Pay & Display Equipment

NCC

Borrowing
s106
Capital receipts
Capital receipts

s106
Capital receipts
s106
s106

1 Borrowing

Page 58
\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix A GF Carry Forwards, GF Carry forwards

Q1 Capital Monitoring Report 2021-22 Appendix B HRA Carry Forwards
Original LA

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

Rephasing
from 20/21

£k

NPH0011 Berkeley House & St. Marys House
(Roof Gardens)
NPH0052 Fraser Road, Thorplands
NPH0053 Riverside House
NPH0054 Beaumount House
NPH0055 Belgrave House / Clock House, Town
Centre
NPH0082 Avenue Campus
Old Lion Court
External Improvements
New Build - Conversions
Street Acquisitions (£10m)
New Build - Duston
NSAP - 3 x 5 bed HMO's
New Build - Town Centre
New Build - Briar Hill
NPH0060 Moray Lodge
NSAP - 15 x 1 bed accommodation
NPH0064 Tanners Pub Site
New Build - Abington
New Build - Lumbertubs
New Build - Lings
New Build - Eastfield
New Build - Goldings
NPH0083 Montague Crescent, Duston
NPH0059 Oak Tree Rise (Billing Brook Road)

NBC

2,925

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

287
531
29
230

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

10,296
7,226
2,610
1,796
1,518
1,126
1,104
990
794
731
621
586
567
516
449
432
399
342
329

New Build - St. James
New Build - Blackthorn
New Build - Dallington
New Build - Wootton
New Build - Kingsthorpe
New Build - Delapre
New Build - Lakeview
IT Development
Structural Works and Compliance
New Build - Kings Heath
Internal Works
Disabled Adaptations
Environmental Improvements

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

319
301
297
242
147
132
99
56
29
18
-299
-521
-1,748

Page 59
\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix B HRA Carry forwards, HRA carry forwards

This page is intentionally left blank

WNC GF Capital Programme
Updated August 21

Legacy
authority

2021-22

2022-23

2023-24

2024-25 onwards

Total
2021/22
2025/26

Adults
Disabled Facilities Grant

NBC/DDC/
SNC
DDC

2,843,509

NBC
NCC
DDC
DDC

1,847,450
1,409,000
155,000
162,397

Disabled Facilities Grant
Grants to aid voluntary servies
Improvements to Sports Centre Facilities

SNC
DDC
SNC

407,867
239,150
200,000

PHASE Housing in Northampton
Discretionary Grants - Emergency
Assistance
Leisure Facilities Contract
Homelessness Reduction Act
Implementation
Choice Based letting
Warm Homes Project

NCC
SNC

150,000
100,000

50,000

0

0

150,000
150,000

DDC
DDC

33,239
10,000

30,000
10,000

30,000
10,000

22,500
0

115,739
30,000

DDC
SNC

5,000
16,000

5,000
0

5,000
0

5,000
0

20,000
16,000

9,572,764

2,924,981

2,874,981

2,857,481

18,230,207

Homelessness Temporary
Accommodations
Disabled Facilities Grant
Community Equipment
Home Repair Assistance Grants
Grants - Community & District Initiatives

Total Adults

2,589,981

2,589,981

2,589,981

1,994,152

10,613,452
1,994,152

0
155,000
85,000

0
155,000
85,000

0
155,000
85,000

1,847,450
1,409,000
620,000
417,397
407,867
239,150
200,000

Children
Towcester South Primary School
Northampton School for Girls Extension

NCC
NCC

7,284,028
2,750,000

123,716
0

0
0

0
0

7,407,744
2,750,000

Magdelen College School Extension
Moulton School and Science College
Extension
School Condition Allocation
High Needs Provision
Schools Minor Works 2020-21
Guilsborough School
Parker ECT Academy
Devolved Capital Formula
Campion School Improvements
Northampton Secondary School Capacity

NCC
NCC

1,735,555
1,791,187

209,901
55,286

200,000
0

0
0

2,145,456
1,846,473

NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC

1,629,546
1,409,370
1,360,536
817,335
480,224
409,556
398,930
345,691

Headlands Primary School ASD Unit
Expansion
Southfield Primary ASD Unit
Schools Strategic Maintenance - PFI
Blinds
Homes to support fostering
Npton Secondary Schools Capacity Duston Bulge
Malcolm Arnold School S106 Works
Npton Secondary Schools Capacity - NSG

NCC

Northampton Secondary Capacity Kingsthorpe College bulge capacity
Elizabeth Woodville School S106
Barrack Road Educational Facilities

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

1,629,546
1,409,370
1,360,536
817,335
480,224
409,556
398,930
345,691

325,570

0

0

0

325,570

NCC
NCC

324,136
269,009

0
0

0
0

0
0

324,136
269,009

NCC
NCC

248,340
200,000

248,340
200,000

NCC
NCC

180,745
146,835

180,745
146,835

NCC

58,880

58,880

NCC
NCC

48,560
43,340

48,560
43,340

Total Children

Page 61

22,257,373

388,903

200,000

0

22,846,276

940,858

0

0

0

940,858

Corporate
Social Care Replacement System
(Eclipse)

NCC

\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix C revised GF capital programme, Updatcap prog detail July 21

WNC GF Capital Programme
Updated August 21

Legacy
authority

2021-22

IT Infrastructure
IT Transition to Unitary Authority
ICT Hardware Replacement
Capita ONE to Cloud
IT Security Solutions
Office 365 Implementation
5 year rolling ICT replacement programme

NBC
SNC
DDC
NCC
NCC
NCC
SNC

298,910
392,000
42,000
95,805
85,000
80,818
80,000

Sharepoint 2007 Migration
Ncloud Server replacements
Libraries Self Service Terminals
Computer Hardware / Software
Express Signature Verification Software

NCC
NCC
NCC
DDC
DDC

79,000
76,352
58,720
34,841
5,000

Tablets for Electoral Canvass
Passport Replacements and IP addressing

DDC
NCC

Total Corporate

2022-23

2023-24

2024-25 onwards

Total
2021/22
2025/26

150,000

150,000

0

42,000

42,000

42,000

0

0

0

598,910
392,000
168,000
95,805
85,000
80,818
80,000
79,000
76,352
58,720
34,841
22,000

5,500

5,500

6,000

10,000
3,278

10,000

0

0

20,000
3,278

2,282,582

207,500

197,500

48,000

2,735,582

410,663
178,480

128,000
14,900

0
0

0
0

538,663
193,380

589,143

142,900

0

0

732,043

12,038,103
822,157
4,157,091

14,140,000
6,741,689
1,885,720

0
863,779
1,394,000

110,000
0

26,288,103
8,427,625
7,436,811

334,000

805,000

1,198,000

3,865,000

6,202,000

Finance
IFRS16 Right of Use Assets
Revenues and Benefits Capital
Investments

DDC
NBC

Total Finance
Place
Northampton North West Relief Road
Northampton Market Square
Northamptonshire Superfast Broadband

NCC
NCC

Northamptonshire Holistic Flood Resilience
NCC

4,742,000

0

0

0

4,742,000

NCC
NCC

4,741,000
4,396,477

0
298,161

0
0

0
0

4,741,000
4,694,638

DDC
NBC
NCC
NBC
NCC
NBC
NCC

2,681,279
2,580,450
1,918,091
1,687,310
1,550,000
1,443,327
1,185,000

NCC
NCC
NCC

1,066,280
184,804
1,017,162

NBC

1,003,885

Vehicle Replacement Programme

SNC

968,680

0

0

0

968,680

Parks/Allotments/Cemeteries
Enhancements
Environmental Services
Operational Buildings - Enhancements
Capitalised Staff Salaries
Daventry to Braunston Cycle Track
Watermeadows Development
Vulcan Works fit out

NBC

443,180

250,000

250,000

0

943,180

NBC
NBC
DDC
DDC
SNC
NBC

360,670
380,540
198,000
709,022
700,543
670,000

262,200
250,000
202,000

262,200
250,000
210,000

0
0
214,000

885,070
880,540
824,000
709,022
700,543
670,000

Page 62

Highways Maintenance Block needs
element
Pothole Fund (incl advance payment)
Northampton Growth Management Phase
1
Town Centre Vision - Cinema Site 1
Vulcan works
A45 Daventry Development Link Road
Northampton Leisure Trust
Integrated Transport Block
24 Guildhall Road Block
Highways Maintenance Block incentive
element
Active Travel tranche 2
HCA Upton Remedial Works
National Productivity Fund - Cliftonville
Road
Asbestos removal 41-45 Abington Street

100,000

100,000

0

294,000
0

97,196
0

484,000
0

2,681,279
2,580,450
2,118,091
1,687,310
1,550,000
1,443,327
1,185,000
1,066,280
1,060,000
1,017,162
1,003,885

\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix C revised GF capital programme, Updatcap prog detail July 21

WNC GF Capital Programme
Updated August 21

Legacy
authority

2021-22

2022-23

2023-24

2024-25 onwards

Total
2021/22
2025/26

NCC
NCC

663,066
657,447

663,066
657,447

Challenge Fund Schemes 2020-21
DFT Highways 2020-21 Further Works
A43 Northampton to Kettering Phase 1b

NCC
NCC
NCC

618,343
612,258
60,790

618,343
612,258
602,790

Property Minor Works 2020-21
Vulcan Works roof works
Hardingstone Bike Park
A43 Moulton Phase 2
S106 Former Timken, Main Rd Duston,
Northampton
Leisure Centre East
S106 - Silverstone Circuit Silverstone (file
264)
Capital support to routine maintenance
2020-21
Central Museum Development
4-14 High March Refurbishment
Highway Maintenance - LTP 2020-21
Schools Minor Works 2019-20
Property Minor Works 2019-20
Guildhall Boilers
s106 Buckton Fields Northampton
Pothole Machinery
s106 Wood Burcote Court Towcester
St Michaels Lift Refurbishment
S106 Monksmoor Daventry
Extension & Surfacing of Eastern Way Car
Park
Middlemore Infrastructure Completion &
Additional Works
UU Sailsbury Landscape Boughton Road
Moulton
Improvements to Athletics facilities Stefan
Hill Sports Park
Long Buckby Flood Management
Wheelie Bins
Flore s.106 Traffic Calming
Capital Improvements - Regeneration
Areas
Commercial Landlord Responsibilities
Towcester Toilets
Racecourse Improvements
S106 - Wootton Fields Ph3 (file 449)
S106 Radstone Fields, Brackley
S106 Harlestone Rd Northampton
Community Youth Provision
S106 Overstone Leys
S106 West Station Rd Long Buck
S106 land at Brackmills (Bedford Rd
Roxhill) Npt
Country Park Improvements (S106 funded)

NCC
NBC
NBC
NCC
NCC

500,000
500,000
500,000
350,930
454,249

DDC
NCC

425,411
415,852

425,411
415,852

NCC

414,549

414,549

NBC
DDC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NBC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NBC
NCC
DDC

357,590
350,000
346,273
344,925
342,060
329,510
311,206
256,074
255,118
253,830
242,521
240,000

DDC

237,945

NCC

205,800

205,800

DDC

187,718

187,718

NCC
DDC
NCC
NBC

170,808
40,000
153,632
50,000

NBC
SNC
NBC
NCC
NCC
NCC
DDC
NCC
NCC
NCC

50,000
140,000
138,300
133,803
132,282
130,794
126,700
120,420
115,584
101,535

DDC

99,423

99,423

Public toilets refurbishment
Community Library Prog - Roade
Parks Allotments and Cemeteries s106 /
grant funded
Smart Commuters
Car Park Extension St John´s Square and
Chapel Lane
New Rehabilitiation Building

DDC
NCC
NBC

98,000
96,069
92,420

98,000
96,069
92,420

NCC
DDC

91,744
88,600

91,744
88,600

DDC

86,590

86,590

Page 63

HS2 Road Safety Fund
LTP Integrated Transport Block 2020-21

2,000

0

540,000

129,369

0

0

500,000
500,000
500,000
480,299
454,249

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

357,590
350,000
346,273
344,925
342,060
329,510
311,206
256,074
255,118
253,830
242,521
240,000

0

0

0

237,945

40,000
0
50,000

40,000
0
50,000

40,000
0
0

50,000

50,000

0

170,808
160,000
153,632
150,000
150,000
140,000
138,300
133,803
132,282
130,794
126,700
120,420
115,584
101,535

\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix C revised GF capital programme, Updatcap prog detail July 21

WNC GF Capital Programme
Updated August 21

Legacy
authority

2021-22

2022-23

2023-24

2024-25 onwards

Total
2021/22
2025/26

DDC
DDC
DDC
NBC
DDC
NCC
NCC
SNC
DDC

86,000
83,672
78,793
78,000
74,000
73,340
72,570
72,000
71,500

Middlemore cycle track ph2
Household Waste Recycling Centres
Sinking Fund
S106 - Bective Sch Whiston Rd,
Kingsthorpe Npt (file 431)
Affordable housing at Gouldens View
EPC Certification & Compliance works
s106 Ashton Road (pianoforte) Roade
Lodge Farm Community Centre
S106 Cary Close Moulton (DWH)
Heartlands completion works
Climate Change initiatives
Refurbishment of paths and structures for
open spaces
Capital Works 68 & 68a High Street
s106 Booth Rise North Npt
Hertiage Gateway
Billing Road Cemetery
Car Park Machines
Country Park - Capital Costs
Community Library Prog - Long Buckby

DDC
NCC

71,000
35,061

NCC

67,253

67,253

DDC
SNC
NCC
NBC
NCC
DDC
SNC
DDC

65,000
65,000
61,978
60,000
55,473
50,000
46,334
45,000

65,000
65,000
61,978
60,000
55,473
50,000
46,334
45,000

DDC
NCC
NBC
NBC
NBC
DDC
NCC

43,217
40,712
40,410
40,000
20,000
10,000
39,997

43,217
40,712
40,410
40,000
40,000
40,000
39,997

S106 Camp Hill Bugbrooke
Community Library Prog - Middleton
Cheney
Lodge Road Fire Risk Assessment
Middleton Cheney Church Yards
Corporate Fire Risk Assessments
Community Library Prog - Brackley Library

NCC
NCC

39,589
39,483

39,589
39,483

DDC
SNC
SNC
NCC

37,475
37,000
37,000
36,562

37,475
37,000
37,000
36,562

Site 3 and 6 Development
s106 Overstone Leys (SUE) Overstone

DDC
NCC

35,000
32,911

S106 Overthorpe Rd M40 Banbury
Former Co-op Site Purchase and
Enhanceme
S106 Foxhills Brackley
Middlemore Landscape Completion Works

NCC
SNC

32,575
31,609

NCC
DDC

31,207
13,000

S106 Towcester Vale SUE
S106 Emmanuel Church Sc. Site, Billing
Brook Road
S106 Chaplins Yd Stratford Road Roade

NCC
NCC

30,648
29,717

30,648
29,717

NCC

29,069

29,069

s106 Wootton Fields Northampton (335)

NCC

26,272

26,272

S106 - Peace Hill Bugbrooke (file 343)
Kings Sutton Flood Aleviation
S106 Summerhouse Rd Moulton Park
S106 Old Greens Norton Rd Tow
Country Park Minor Developments
Wootton Library
Middlemore minor works

NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
DDC

26,095
24,858
24,500
23,919
22,875
22,546
21,500

26,095
24,858
24,500
23,919
22,875
22,546
21,500

Page 64

Refurbishment of Paved Areas
Heartlands commercial new build
Monksmoor Primary School
Upton Country Park
Installation of bin holders in lay bys
S106 Buckton Fields West
S106 Apex Park
Corporate Asbestos Surveys
Rainsbrook Crematorium enhancements

86,000
83,672
78,793
78,000
74,000
73,340
72,570
72,000
71,500
71,000
70,121

35,060

20,000
10,000

0

0
10,000

0

0
10,000

0

35,000
32,911
32,575
31,609

18,000

0

0

0

0

0

31,207
31,000

\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix C revised GF capital programme, Updatcap prog detail July 21

WNC GF Capital Programme
Updated August 21

Legacy
authority

2021-22

2022-23

2023-24

2024-25 onwards

Total
2021/22
2025/26

TCV 1 & 5
s106 Nth of Ford - Royal Oak Way South,
Daventry
Public Offices - Improvements, Plant &
Equip.
Npton Parks and open spaces (additional)

DDC
NCC

20,282
20,097

DDC

5,000

NBC

19,665

Middlemore Landscaping Phase 6
Academy Electronic Document
Management S
Elgar Centre M&E
Towcester Town Centre Regeneration
S106 Npt Lane Moulton
S106 Site 7 Edgar Mobbs Npt
S106 Watford Lodge Watford
DCP refurbishment programme
Catesby Tunnel Aero Research
WA0003 Closed Landfill Sites
DCOb DIRFT 3, Hilmorton
S106 Towcester Rd Old Stratford
Guildhall Roof Architect Fees
Corporate Water Hygiene Legionella
Asses
S106 Banbury Lane KingsSutton
Borough Hill Car Park Work
Overclad roofing Austin Way & Humber
Close
S106 Former Allotments N-P Rd
S106 Dockham Way Crick
s106 Byfield Road, Woodford Halse (306)

DDC
SNC

0
16,326

NBC
SNC
NCC
NCC
NCC
DDC
DDC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NBC
SNC

15,000
15,000
15,000
14,910
14,700
13,176
12,367
11,880
10,456
10,359
10,330
10,000

15,000
15,000
15,000
14,910
14,700
13,176
12,367
11,880
10,456
10,359
10,330
10,000

NCC
DDC
DDC

8,776
8,309
8,000

8,776
8,309
8,000

NCC
NCC
NCC

5,916
5,650
5,297

5,916
5,650
5,297

Lodge Road CCTV works
S106 Danes Camp Way Northampton
Domestic Recycling Waste Bins
Mayorhold Drainage works Retention
Lodge Road Electric Vehicle Point
Timken to Railway Line Cycle
Track/Footpath
Abington Park Middle Lake retention
S106 65 Byfield Rd Woodford Ha
Burgage Wall
Lodge Road Offices Cycle Storage
Flood measures the Haystack / Highlands
Drive
S106 GlebeFm Yelvertoft WindFm
DCP Café Refurbishments
S106 Groses QueensPark Kingsth
ST241 : Gayton Lf Leachate Remediation

DDC
NCC
DDC
NBC
DDC
DDC

5,000
4,976
4,606
3,837
3,645
3,319

5,000
4,976
4,606
3,837
3,645
3,319

NBC
NCC
DDC
DDC
DDC

2,870
2,571
2,324
2,016
2,000

2,870
2,571
2,324
2,016
2,000

NCC
DDC
NCC
NCC

1,979
1,678
1,542
1,318

1,979
1,678
1,542
1,318

Country Parks Pay & Display Equipment

NCC

877

877

Total Place
Total

20,282
20,097
5,000

5,000

5,000

20,000
19,665

18,000

0

0

18,000
16,326

67,221,994

25,476,830

5,449,544

4,728,000

102,876,368

101,923,856

29,141,114

8,722,025

7,633,481

147,420,476

Page 65
\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix C revised GF capital programme, Updatcap prog detail July 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Q1 Capital Monitoring Report 2021-22 Appendix D - Revised HRA Capital Budget

Legacy
Authority

2021/22
£k

2022/23
£k

2023/24
£k

2024/25
£k

Total
2021/22
2024/25
£k

Housing Revenue Account
(HRA)
NBC
NBC
NBC

651
0
1,305

20
0
6,858

0
0
4,619

0
0
0

671
0
12,782

NBC
NBC
NBC

9
57
18

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

9
57
18

NPH0016 Pendle Road, Duston
NPH0017 Swale Drive, Kings Heath
NPH0018 Orchard Close, Wootton
NPH0019 Norman Road, Abington
NPH0021 Longueville Court, Lumbertubs
NPH0023 Harold Street, Town Centre
NPH0024 Blakesley Close, Kingsthorpe
NPH0025 Margaret Street, Town Centre
NPH0026 Baukewell, Preston & Nethermead,
Lumbertubs
NPH0028 Connaught Street, Town Centre
NPH0029 Swansea Crescent, Spencer
NPH0030 Fullerburn Court, Lumbertubs
NPH0031 Nursery Lane, Kingsthorpe
NPH0032 Stockley Street, Town Centre
NPH0033 Tyes Court 2 (G7-17), Lings
NPH0034 Keswick Drive, Lakeview
NPH0036 Old Barn Court, Lings
NPH0037 Grange Court, Eastfield
NPH0038 Limehurst Close & Newton Road,
Duston
NPH0039 Gloucester Avenue (1) (G8-41),
Delapre
NPH0040 Cardigan & Brook Lane, Dallington

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

8
65
264
446
264
225
385
0
197

0
2
0
13
13
9
22
9
15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

8
67
264
460
277
234
407
9
212

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

144
30
9
0
21
145
9
12
7
10

66
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

210
30
9
0
21
145
9
12
7
10

NBC

13

0

0

0

13

NBC

81

0

0

0

81

NPH0044 Gloucester Avenue (2) (G1-7),
Delapre
NPH0045 Prentice 3 & Overleys, Goldings
NPH0046 Shadowfax, Prentice 2 & Marshleys,
Goldings
NPH0047 Medway Drive, Kings Heath
NPH0048 Tyes Court 1 (18-21G), Lings
NPH0049 Thirlmere Ave, Eastfields

NBC

161

0

0

0

161

NBC
NBC

107
20

6
0

0
0

0
0

113
20

NBC
NBC
NBC

16
12
6

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

16
12
6

Page 67

NPH Pell Court, Lumbertubs
NPH0006 1-10 Camborne Close
NPH0011 Berkeley House & St. Marys House
(Roof Gardens)
NPH0012 Smyth Court, Lumbertubs
NPH0014 St Davids & Hinton, Kingsthorpe
NPH0015 Fieldway & James Lewis, Abington

\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix D Revised HRA capital programme V2, Appendix E Revised HRA cap prog

NBC

487

18

0

0

504

NPH0051 Derwent Drive, Kings Heath
NPH0052 Fraser Road, Thorplands
NPH0053 Riverside House
NPH0054 Beaumount House
NPH0055 Belgrave House / Clock House, Town
Centre
NPH0056 Blackthorn Group 1 (Phase 1)
NPH0057 Toms Close, Collingtree
NPH0058 Churchill & Windermere Way,
Lakeview
NPH0059 Oak Tree Rise (Billing Brook Road)

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

102
684
2,897
3,767
2,240

998
17,904
1,882
0
8,081

0
3,102
165
0
2,608

0
0
0
0
0

1,100
21,690
4,944
3,767
12,929

NBC
NBC
NBC

174
66
105

0
0
11

0
0
0

0
0
0

174
66
116

NBC

517

0

0

0

517

NPH0060 Moray Lodge
NPH0061 Valley Road, Little Billing
NPH0062 Glebeland Road, Dallington
NPH0063 Stenson Road, St James
NPH0064 Tanners Pub Site
NPH0066 Prentice Court (4), Goldings
NPH0067 Prentice Court (5), Goldings
NPH0068 Ringway (3), Briar Hill
NPH0069 Northfield Road (2), Duston
NPH0071 The Bungalows, Lings
NPH0072 Hinton Community Hub, Kingsthorpe

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

973
0
181
74
164
84
101
760
0
130
122

97
0
200
214
0
409
481
1,006
10
15
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,070
0
381
289
164
493
582
1,765
10
145
122

NPH0073 Woodstock Roof Extension
NPH0074 Dover Court Roof Extension
NPH0076 New Southbridge Road
NPH0077 Paddock Mill Court, Blackthorn (G8994)
NPH0078 Hopmeadow Court, Blackthorn
NPH0079 Maidencastle (4) Garages 19-22,
Blackthorn
NPH0080 Pikemead Court, Blackthorn
NPH0082 Avenue Campus
NPH0083 Montague Crescent, Duston
NPH0084 Bouverie Road, Hardingstone
NPH0085 Colwyn Road, Town Centre
NPH0091 East Oval, Kings Heath
New Build Pool
Old Lion Court
Buybacks and Spot Purchases
NSAP - 15 x 1 bed accommodation
NSAP - 3 x 5 bed HMO's
Street Acquisitions (£10m)
External Improvements
Internal Works
Structural Works and Compliance
Disabled Adaptations
Environmental Improvements
IT Development

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

1,182
1,247
1,606
343

0
0
1,969
8

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

1,182
1,247
3,575
351

NBC
NBC

130
202

-30
5

8
0

0
0

107
208

NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC
NBC

56
10,302
751
312
270
0
0
0
500
283
0
9,518
18,808
2,300
480
429
2,752
331

3
15,015
1,541
942
379
241
0
0
500
0
0
0
12,150
2,250
450
650
1,500
315

0
14,361
0
0
0
111
16,371
0
500
0
0
0
12,102
2,250
450
650
3,000
260

0
0
0
0
0
0
20,900
0
500
0
0
0
9,700
4,250
450
650
3,000
245

59
39,678
2,291
1,254
649
352
37,271
0
2,000
283
0
9,518
52,760
11,050
1,830
2,379
10,252
1,151

70,127

76,247

60,555

39,695

246,623

Page 68

NPH0050 East Paddock Ct (Hayeswood), Lings

Total HRA

\\fs-01-005\users$\Home6\SNeal-Gonzalez\Downloads\Appendix D Revised HRA capital programme V2, Appendix E Revised HRA cap prog

Agenda Item 8

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th SEPTEMBER 2021
Councillor Leader and Portfolio Holder for Strategy - Councillor Jonathan
Nunn
Report Title

Corporate Plan Performance Report – 2021-22 Q1

Report Author

Richard Corless,
Business Intelligence, Policy & Performance
richard.corless@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West MO
West S151
Other Director/SME
Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Catherine Whitehead
Martin Henry
Anna Earnshaw
Rebecca Peck

31st August 2021
31st August 2021
31st August 2021
31st August 2021

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Corporate Plan Report – 2021-22 Q1
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

The attached appendix provides the first update to Council on West Northamptonshire
performance metrics for the current year and set against the priorities set out in the Corporate
Plan.

2.

Executive Summary

1.2.

This report provides an overview of performance for West Northamptonshire Council for the
period of April 2021 to end of June 2021 (Qtr 1). The performance indicators includedPage
in the69

report have been subject to review, challenge and approval by both the Cabinet and the
Executive Leadership Team with our aim being to create a meaningful dashboard of measures
that provide members and officers with good insight into the Councils performance.
1.3.

There have been many changes to teams, services and systems as part of creating the new
Council and therefore some indicators will need to be developed in order to provide a complete
unitary view and move away from the old district and borough boundaries. This is also
exacerbated where we have different delivery vehicles or contracts for services, for example in
Revenues and Benefits where the services are run in three different contracts and models.

1.4.

Due to the timing of for this first Corporate Performance Report, some indicators are also not yet
in a position to be reported. Further editions will include updates and additions of metrics when
appropriate.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:
a) Note of the content of the appendix covering the 1st quarter of 2021-22

4.

Reason for Recommendations

4.1

This report is for information and discussion only, there are no direct decisions to be made
following the report.

5.

Report Background

5.1

It is important that the Council is clear and transparent on its performance and that there are
clear action plans where our performance falls below target or other benchmark authorities.

5.2

The Council monitors performance across all services areas and against hundreds of national and
contract metrics to ensure that services are performing well and identified priorities are
monitored and delivered against. These are monitored within services and reported in line with
national cycles or as required to Scrutiny and other Committees.

5.3

This performance report provides the first overall high level summary of the key metrics that
underpin our stated corporate priorities and sets out the proposed other metrics that we will be
developing and monitoring for this quarterly report and in addition to the wider overall
performance framework we have in place.

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

This is a report for information and therefore there are no choices to be made.

Page 70

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 There are no direct financial implications from the report. However, services need to consider
the implications of under or over performance and identify what resources may need to be
reallocated to address these.
7.1.2

Financial indicators included within the performance report can be found in greater detail within
the finance reports that are presented to Cabinet.

7.2

Legal

7.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report or recommendations.
7.3

Risk

7.3.1 There are no significant risks directly arising from the proposed recommendations in this report.
7.4

Consultation

7.4.1 The metrics included in this report have been chosen based upon the priorities identified within
the corporate plan and consultation with Cabinet and Executive Leadership Team (ELT)
7.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.5.1 Relevant performance data will be provided to overview and scrutiny committees as required to
support their agreed work plans.
7.6

Climate Impact

7.6.1 There are no direct implications on climate/environmental impact from this report, it does
however provide an update on the delivery of the corporate plan which includes commitments
to be Carbon Neutral by 2030. This quarterly report will provide updates on the council’s
progress to this aim as appropriate.
7.7

Community Impact

7.7.1 Managing our performance is key to ensuring we are making a positive impact on our
communities, celebrating our successes and addressing our challenges.
7.8

Communications

7.8.1 We will take an open and transparent approach to publishing our performance data alongside
our corporate plan and will proactively share performance information through our
communications campaigns, in press releases and through social media to enhance trust and
accountability.
Page 71

8.

Background Papers

8.1

The West Northamptonshire Council Corporate Plan 2021-25 provides the basis for the data and
project updates that are provided within this quarterly report.

Page 72

Corporate Plan
202-21 Quarter 1 Report
Last Updated: 2nd September 2021
Page 73

Introduction

Welcome to the first update on delivery of the West Northamptonshire Council Corporate Plan with data and project updates covering the 1st
quarter of the year broken down into monthly information where that is available. The metrics included in this report have been chosen based
upon the priorities identified within the corporate plan and consultation with both the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and Cabinet
members. This report will be continually developed over the next 3-6 months to ensure that relevant information on the delivery of the
corporate plan is included.
Quarterly Update content
The data elements that are provided in this report will include a monthly breakdown of the current quarter, where the information is available
to that level as well as an overall quarterly position. In addition to this there will be a quarterly trend and an overall YTD position. Where
there is externally published information available we will also benchmark that data to the appropriate benchmarking group – this group will
change as depending on the service being reported against the relevant authorities to benchmark against will change – for example not all
authorities that provide housing support will also provide adult social care.
In addition to data there will also be narrative updates for those projects/ programmes of work that have been included within the priorities of
the corporate plan. Some of these areas are long term projects and therefore there will not always be an update to that narrative each
quarter, we will provide an update each quarter assuming that there has been progress or something has changed since the previous
report. For this first quarters report some of the programmes of work are yet to commence or are in their early planning phase and therefore
there is no detail to provide at this stage.
This report is the first iteration of the performance report and this will develop over the next quarter to include trend charts, once there is

Page 74

more than one quarter of data available, and comparator groups are confirmed for benchmarking purposes. In addition to this the service
plans are currently being written and associated targets being agreed, again these will be updated in the next quarter.

Priority 1 – Green and Clean
Environment & Wellbeing

Number of council owned parks and green spaces that have Green Flag accreditation
April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

5

5

-

Benchmark

Net Tree's Planted
April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

-

-

-

49

-

-

Benchmark

Project narratives
Project: Council Carbon Footprint
A series of targeted climate summit events are planned for September/October 2021 covering key themes including:
 Climate Networks
 Business
 Transport
 Agriculture and Rural Environment
 Housing
 Children and Young People
Page 75

The events will be used to co-design a Climate strategy for WNC to be released in time for COP26 in November, helping to
maximize public interest and engagement. A detailed action plan will be developed following approval of the strategy to
ensure we can monitor progress.

Priority 2 – Improved Life Chances
Health, Social Care & Families
Children's Trust - Percentage of all referrals with a decision within 2 working days
(West & North areas)

Children's Trust - Percentage of referrals with a previous referral within 12 months

April

May

Jun

Qrtly Trend

Target

April

May

Jun

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

97%

94%

88%

-

85%

30.7%

32.1%

31.7%

-

23%

Children's Trust - Percentage of children that became the subject of a Child Protection Plan for
the second or subsequent time

Children's Trust - Percentage of Single Assessments authorised within 45 days
April

May

Jun

Qrtly Trend

Target

April

May

Jun

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

99.4%

99.3%

96.9%

-

85%

24.4%

9.7%

34.5%

-

22%

Children's Trust - Percentage of children in care who were placed for adoption within 12
months of an agency decision that they should be adopted (West & North areas)
April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

61%

100%

64%

64%

64%

-

74%

Number of homeless preventions
April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

3

7

2

12

12

-

n/a

Project narratives

Page 76

Children's Trust Performance:
The metrics reported above represent some of the key indicators that the Children's Trust is contractually measured against. Not all measures have
benchmarks for statistical neighbours but all KPIs are within the contract tolerances set.
Adults:
The national reporting cycle for adults national outcomes framework (ASCOF) means that the next full set of KPIs will be completed in October 21 and
will look back on the previous years performance.

Priority 2 – Improved Life Chances
Health, Social Care & Families

Page 77

Priority 3, 4 and 5

Number of defects repaired in the road network

Number of charging points

April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

2,900

2,271

1,790

6,961

6,961

-

Benchmark

April

May

Jun

* Northampton information not available at
time of publication

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

11*

11*

-

Benchmark

Percentage of defects repaired within timescale (P1-P4)
April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

98.41%

97.49%

96.54%

97.63%

97.63%

-

Number of new council homes built
April

May

Jun

Benchmark

Number of successful appeals to planning applications

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

8

8

-

Benchmark

Q1 - Total
Appeals

Q1 Successful

Q1 - %
Successful

YTD - Total
Appeals

YTD Successful

Qrtly Trend

29

9

31.03%

29

9

-

Note: Q1 had 1 appeal withdrawn

Percentage of people (aged 16-64) who are in employment
April

May

Number of apprentices employed in substantive roles

Page 78

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

83.0%

83.0%

83.0%

-

79.6%

April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

44

44

-

Benchmark

Benchmark

Priority 6 – Robust Resource Management
Transparency & Financial Probity

Net Revenue budget delivery - Projected surplus/ deficit (£m)

Number of Employee's - Full Time Equivalent (FTE)

Q1 - Nil variance currently being forecast
Please refer to the Sept Cabinet Q1 finance report for full details.

April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

2,410.3

2,396.5

2,388.5

-

2,388.5

-

-

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

2,949

-

Amount of debt owed to the council that is overdue by at least 90 days (£)
Current Position

April

May

Jun

£ 30.2m

2,988

2,923

2,949

Total debt overdue by 90+ days (£)
How much is Adult Social Care (% of total)

Number of Employee's - Headcount
Q1

77% (£23.2m)

Average number of days lost due to sickness (predicted outturn)

Note: the debt level shown here is a combination of all the 3 district councils (DDC, NBC &
SNC) and also all NCC - which includes debt for West & North authorities as West Northants
Council is acting as the collection agent for all legacy NCC debt raised prior to 1st April
2021.

April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

-

-

-

8.32

8.32

-

8.1

Council Tax collection rate
April

May

Jun

Q1

10.85%

19.81%

29.02%

29.02%

YTD
29.02%

Rolling Annual Staff Turnover
Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

-

29.73%

16.0%

14.0%

14.1%

14.1%

14.1%

-

12.9%

Business Rates (NNDR) collection rate
April

May

Jun

Q1

YTD

Qrtly Trend

Benchmark

7.46%

16.28%

20.99%

20.99%

20.99%

-

28.74%

Page 79

Indicators currently in development
This section outlines the indicators which have been agreed for inclusion in the corporate scorecard but they are not yet available to be reported against, this could be for a number of reasons as outlined
below;
•
•
•

They are entirely new and they need defining and collection methods setup
The method / system for collection is in process of being setup before reporting is possible
Reliant in whole or partly on data from outside of the authority which is not currently available, or in some cases has been paused during covid19 pandemic and not yet re-started or is not yet available
at a West Northamptonshire boundary area level.

Page 80

The indicators included in the scorecard which are not yet reportable are as follows:
• Priority 1
• Net trees planted this year, including those planted on council land (included in this report is tree’s planted, but more detail is required to complete this metric)
• KG of Co2 Emissions in the council estate
• Percentage of household waste sent for re-use, recycling or composting
• Percentage of waste from HWRCs diverted from landfill
• Proportion of council vehicles that are electric or hybrid
• Priority 2
• Progress 8 Score
• Percentage of children achieving grade 9-4 in English & Maths
• Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed
• Proportion of people that return to their normal place of residence after discharge from hospital
• Proportion of young people (aged 16-18) who are not in employment, education or training (NEET)
• Proportion of older people (65+) offered reablement services following discharge from hospital
• Proportion of older people (65+) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services.
• Priority 3
• Broadband gigabit connectivity
• Rural Broadband Coverage
• Percentage of customers who are satisfied and very satisfied with the service received from the Customer Service Centre
• Percentage of contacts received within Customer Services resolved at the first point of contact
• Priority 4
• Visitor Economy - Number of visitors
• Overall reduction in Crime and ASB
• Priority 5
• Number of businesses supported
• Percentage of council spend with local businesses
• Priority 6
• Additional external funding achieved
• Percentage of SMEs that are paid within 30 days of receipt of invoice

Agenda Item 9

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th September 2021
Portfolio Holder for Strategy- Councillor Jonathan Nunn
Report Title

Quarter 1 Transformation Update

Report Author

Jane Carr

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West MO
West S151
Other Director/SME
Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Catherine Whitehead
Martin Henry
Jane Carr
Becky Hutson

17th August 2021
6th August 2021
20th August 2021
24th August 2021

List of Appendices
None
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

To provide a quarterly update on transformation in West Northamptonshire Council

2.

Executive Summary

2.1. This report is intended to update Cabinet on the transformation work being carried out across
the Council.
3.

Recommendations

3.1

That the Cabinet note the contents of the report.

Page 81

4.

Reason for Recommendations


Update paper for information only no decisions required

5.

Report Background

5.1

This is the first of these quarterly reports that update Cabinet of the work of the Transformation
Team

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1 Transformation Team supporting the Council’s Improvement Agenda
The Transformation Team was formed as part of the new unitary West Northamptonshire Council which
came into being on the 1st April 2021. The Transformation Team is headed by the Director of
Transformation and three Heads of Service: Head of Transformation Strategy, Partnerships and Design;
Head of Transformation Delivery; and Head of Quality, Assurance and Support.
Since the 1 April 2021 the Team has been engaging with the directorates and services to understand the
opportunities and challenges service areas face to begin building strong strategic relationships and to
maximise the added value the team can offer and to help deliver the key evolving transformation
priorities for the council.
These early engagement activities have included:









6.2

Working with the Executive Directors to understand key priorities and transformation
opportunities
Visiting each Directorate’s Management Team to make contact and begin relationship
building
Developing and implementing a transformation business partnership model using the Team’s
Change and Engagement Managers
Briefing and engaging with assistant directors at a regular weekly meeting
Working with services to develop a set of transformation principles
Developing and introducing the team’s approach to communication, engagement and change
management
Working with assistant directors to identify transformation priorities, and identifying
pipeline projects prioritisation before assigning to project managers for fact checks
Working with IT colleagues to identify key areas for I.T reviews.

Transformation Governance

To underpin and ensure successful delivery of Transformation across the organisation, key governance
arrangements have been put into place.

Page 82

A Transformation Board has been established to develop, coordinate and monitor transformation
activity for West Northamptonshire Council. This will ensure service improvements and savings are
delivered in line with the corporate priorities, within budget and to the required quality standards. The
Board provides strategic direction, leadership and alignment with West Northamptonshire Council’s
vision and values.
The Transformation Board is chaired by the Chief Executive and its membership includes all executive
directors and assistant directors of the key enabling services. The Transformation Board met for the first
time on 24th June 2021 and meets monthly thereafter. The Transformation Board receives the monthly
Transformation Performance Report, business cases requiring review and approval, and inform the
strategic development of transformation across the organisation and with partners.
Alongside the Transformation Board, joint governance arrangements with North Northamptonshire
Council have been put in place. These arrangements include a Joint Officer Board (Shared Services) and
a Joint Committee (Shared Services). Both these governing bodies have representation from West
Northamptonshire Council and North Northamptonshire Council. These bodies will steer activities that
affect both organisations including the completion of the Inter Authority Agreements (IAAs), monitoring
the performance of the IAAs and the disaggregation of the hosted services.
A transformation project pipeline is being developed. This has been initially populated by transformation
and improvements projects that were already in-flight in former sovereign councils at vesting day, the
disaggregation and aggregation of services, budget savings and other transformation and improvement
opportunities that have been identified on an ongoing basis. This list has been compiled with services
and work is now underway to prioritise these opportunities.
To enable the accurate monitoring of transformation activity a monthly transformation performance
report has been developed and introduced. Early focus of this monitoring is on those savings budgeted
in 2021/22. Development of this transformation performance report is now looking to include wider
transformation projects and the tracking of non-financial benefits.
New electronic project management software Monday.com has been procured jointly with NNC, and is
currently being designed and built, with implementation expected in September 2021.

6.3

Hosted Services

The Team has supported work around hosted services. This includes:
6.3.1 Inter Authority Agreements (IAAs)
Key performance indicators and budgetary information needs to be included in the IAAs post Vesting
Day and will be a key element of the governance of the shared services. A joint working group has been
set up to oversee delivery with appropriate NNC/WNC leads in place. A pilot is underway to jointly
validate the information gathering approach and ensure necessary support is provided to service areas.
Joint performance reporting arrangements and ownership are being agreed, to prevent duplication of
effort and ensure most efficient processes for performance reporting in place. Communications and
engagement with services is underway to ensure consistent messages are given.
Page 83

6.3.2 Disaggregation of hosted services
The Team has been supporting services to assess at a high level if the member task and finish timeline is
viable via performing the fact checks in collaboration with colleagues from NNC. Where the high-level
fact check recommendations allude to a change to the timeline, those recommendations will go through
the joint governance arrangements for decision. There is a plan in place for the first service to
disaggregate, along with a checklist for the services to ensure that each area has the relevant policies
and processes in place for the safe and legal transfer to the respective council.
6.4

Stabilisation

The team has provided support to services to enable them to stabilise following vesting day. These
include:
6.4.1 Member Accommodation
A one-off solution for the accommodation of the inaugural full council meetings for both North and West
councils, taking place in May 2021 was delivered. One Angel Square has been selected as the short to
mid-term option for a suitable internal space for the full Council meeting in July and ongoing. The
Chamber at The Forum in Towcester has been selected as the short to mid-term option for a suitable
internal space for the Cabinet meeting in July and ongoing. Existing provision at Northampton County
Hall has been selected for Group Members. Existing provision in Towcester, Daventry and Northampton
has been proposed for general Members rooms although this has not yet been confirmed.
6.4.2 WNC Boards Review Paper
A Boards Review Paper was produced to provide clarity on legacy Boards (continued from legacy
councils) which are set to continue, those legacy Boards set to end, and any new Boards set to be
established. A guidance document has been produced to help clarify when decisions are required by
the various Boards across the organisation.
6.4.3 Future Ways of Working
The Future Ways of Working project has completed an initial consultation with a cross section of services
and staff to identify how our workforce is currently working, what assets are available and the possible
categorisation of job roles against the identified worker types. The findings from the consultation are
currently being considered before all services are engaged in the fact-finding activities over the coming
weeks. The insight and intelligence obtained through this analytical undertaking, can then be utilised by
all enabler services to aid decision making. This analysis will support:




Prioritisation and immediate return of key staff, who’s service offering, or performance has been
impacted due to the COVID-19 pandemic
Agreement and rollout of the future ways of working model
Future planning in relation to office location following aggregation of services

Page 84

6.4.4 Customer Relationship Management (CRM)
Initial discovery work is being undertaken to understand the current arrangements for Customer Service
functions, the systems in use and any barriers to having to work with different ones. Understanding of
what is currently spent on existing CRMs will feed into the development of the business case for the
replacement and use of a single CRM system across all customer service functions.
6.4.5 Restructure Projects
A business case has been prepared for the Executive Support Restructure and is due to be considered
by the Transformation Board on 22 July 2021. This project will seek to align the structure of the Executive
Support service to that of the new organisation and to deliver financial savings. If the business case is
approved the paper will be presented to the Trade Unions on 17 August 2021 for their input. A separate
Redundancy and Redeployment Business Case has been produced and should the Trade Unions agree
with the proposals set out, consultation will begin, with the anticipated duration of 45 days.
Preparatory work to design the new structure for another two service teams is underway prior to the
production of the business cases for approval by the Transformation Board.
6.4.6 Home to School Transport
In Education, key areas of service delivery supported by the Team are streamlined process
improvements to home to school transport applications in time for September, with enhanced
performance monitoring in place designed to improve customer access.
6.4.7 Integrated Care Across Northamptonshire (ICAN)
In response to national guidance and requirements, to further enable the integration of Adult Social and
Health to form an integrated care system (ICS). This will utilise health funding to support the realisation
of benefits across health and social care to achieve improved outcomes for residents, reduce operating
costs and reduce reliance on acute hospital care. These proposals are planned ahead of winter 2021 in
order to secure early benefits and changes in ways of working before the anticipated increase in demand
in hospitals is experienced and to reduce the associated risk of poorer outcomes.
6.4.8 Internal Audit Service
Examination of the provision of Internal Audit Services that is currently supplied by Milton Keynes
Council through a Lead Authority arrangement. The nature of this service is not well suited to a Lead
Authority model of delivery which also makes resource and charging particularly complicated. The
project is delivering the implementation of an in-house internal audit service as determined by Cabinet
in July 2021.
6.4.9 Revenues and Benefits
A range of service delivery models for revenues and benefits currently exists across the council as a result
of the formation of the single unitary council in West Northamptonshire. Cabinet agreed that the service

Page 85

should be brought in house in order to have just one operating model instead of three and to seek to
improve performance in Revenues and Benefits across the area.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 There are no resource or financial implications to be considered as a result of this update
7.2

Legal

7.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from the update.
7.3

Risk

7.3.1 There are no significant risks to share as part of this update.
7.4

Consultation

7.4.1 No consultation required
7.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.5.1 No
7.6

Climate Impact

7.6.1 No Climate Impact identified
7.7

Community Impact

7.7.1 No Community Impact identified
8.

Background Papers

8.1

None to note

Page 86

Agenda Item 10

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder for HR and Corporate Services – Councillor Mike Hallam
Report Title
Report Author

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Report
Analysis 202-21
Luiza Morris-Warren,
Assistant Director for Customer Services,
Luiza.Morris-Warren@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/ Checkers/ Approvers
West MO
West S151
Other Director/SME
Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Catherine Whitehead
James Smith on behalf of
Martin Henry
Sarah Reed
Claire Hughes

23.08.2021
20.08.2021
23.08.2021
20.08.2021

List of Appendices
None
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the findings of the Local Government and Social
Care Ombudsman’s (LGSCO) annual review into enquiries and complaints received about
Northamptonshire County Council, Northampton Borough Council, South Northants Council and
Daventry District Council between the 1st of April 2020 and the 31 st of March 2021.

Page 87

2. Executive Summary
2.1. Overall numbers of contacts received by the LGSCO, by sovereign authority:
Daventry District Council
Northampton Borough Council
Northamptonshire County Council
South Northamptonshire District Council
TOTAL

11
31
61
9
112

2.2. Overall numbers received, by area of service, across all sovereign authorities:
3. Adult Care Services
26
Benefits & Tax
6
Corporate & Other Services
4
Education & Childrens Services
27
Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation
12
Highways & Transport
5
Housing
10
Planning & Development
21
Other
1
TOTAL
112

Received - by service
Other

Planning &
Development
Highways &
Transport

Adult Care
Services
Benefits & Tax

Environmental
Services & Public
Protection &
Regulation

Education &
Childrens Services

Corporate & Other
Services

Fig. 1: LGSCO contacts received, by service area
2.3 Headlines from the National Review:
 67% of complaints upheld, compared to 61% previous year
 Recommendations to remedy an injustice were up 2% on previous year
 Children’s Services cases make up the largest proportion of workload – LGSCO is now
upholding 77% of those complaints nationally

Page 88

 The uphold rate increased across all categories of complaint, except Environmental
Services
‘I am concerned about the general erosion to the visibility, capacity, and status of complaint
functions within councils. These concerns are not new and cannot be wholly attributed to the
trials of the pandemic’ Mike King, Ombudsman
 The increasing percentage of upheld complaints is a sustained trend
 The LGSCO believes that 10 years’ worth of cuts have had a significant impact on the
customer experience, and fears that the customer’s voice is getting ‘lost’
 The pandemic hasn’t created new themes of complaint, but has magnified existing
issues
 The main cause for upheld complaints is a failing of basic administration functions
 There needs to be an increased focus on ‘getting the boring stuff right’
 He has commented on Complaints Teams struggling to get purchase within authorities
and the importance of not seeing complaints as a ‘negative’; Local Government culture
really needs to support this function.
3. Recommendations
It is recommended that Cabinet note the content and recommendations of the Ombudsman’s reports.
4. Reason for Recommendations
It is good practice to note the findings and recommendations of the Ombudsman and support their
implementation across Council services, in order to improve customer experience, value for money
and outcomes for residents.
5. Report Background
5.1. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) notes that from the 1 April 2021
Northamptonshire County Council was abolished and its functions absorbed by the newly formed West
Northamptonshire Council and North Northamptonshire Council. This data relates to 2020-21 and
separate review letters were issued in respect of each authority as they existed during that year.
5.2. It should be noted that due to the COVID pandemic the LGSCO suspended all casework between
March 2020 and late June.

Page 89

6. Issues and Choices
6.1 NCC - Key performance data extracted from Annual Review letter:
61 contacts in relation to Northamptonshire County Council, of which:
 23 detailed investigations compared to 29 (2019-20)
 15 upheld decisions compared to 22 upheld decisions (2019-20)
 65% Uphold rate has decreased from 76% (2019-20)

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations
N/A

No recommendations were due
for compliance in this period

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority
0%
In 0% of upheld cases we found
the authority had provided a
satisfactory remedy before the
complaint reached the
Ombudsman.

0 satisfactory remedy decisions
Statistics are based on a total of
23 detailed investigations for
the period between 1 April
2020 to 31 March 2021

This compares to an average of
8% in similar authorities.

6.2 NBC - Key performance data extracted from Annual Review letter:
31 contacts in relation to Northampton Borough Council, of which:
 6 detailed investigations compared to 11 (2019-20)
 5 upheld decisions compared to 7 upheld decisions (2019-20)
 83% Uphold rate has increased from 64% (2019-20)

Page 90

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations
N/A

This refers to cases where we
No recommendations were due
were satisfied the authority had for compliance in this period
successfully implemented our
recommendations.

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority
20%
In 20% of upheld cases we
found the authority had
provided a satisfactory remedy
before the complaint reached
the Ombudsman.

1 satisfactory remedy decisions
Statistics are based on a total of
6 detailed investigations for the
period between 1 April 2020 to
31 March 2021

This compares to an average of
16% in similar authorities.

6.3 SNC - Key performance data extracted from Annual Review letter:
9 contacts received in relation to South Northants District Council, of which:
 6 detailed investigations compared to 1 in (2019-20)
 4 upheld decisions compared to 1 upheld decision (2019-20)
 67% Uphold rate has decreased from 100% (2019-20)

Page 91

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations
N/A

This refers to cases where we
No recommendations were due
were satisfied the authority had for compliance in this period
successfully implemented our
recommendations.

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority
50%
In 50% of upheld cases we
found the authority had
provided a satisfactory remedy
before the complaint reached
the Ombudsman.

2 satisfactory remedy decisions
Statistics are based on a total of
6 detailed investigations for the
period between 1 April 2020 to
31 March 2021

This compares to an average of
16% in similar authorities.
6.4 DDC - Key performance data extracted from Annual Review letter:
11 contacts in relation to Daventry District Council, of which:
 3 detailed investigations compared to 10 (2019-20)
 2 upheld decisions compared to 5 upheld decisions (2019-20)
 67% Uphold rate has increased from 50% (2019-20)

Page 92

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations
N/A

This refers to cases where we
No recommendations were due
were satisfied the authority had for compliance in this period
successfully implemented our
recommendations.

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority
0%
In 0% of upheld cases we found
the authority had provided a
satisfactory remedy before the
complaint reached the
Ombudsman.

0 satisfactory remedy decisions
Statistics are based on a total of
3 detailed investigations for the
period between 1 April 2020 to
31 March 2021

This compares to an average of
16% in similar authorities.
7 Implications (including financial implications)
a. Resources and Financial
It is important to note that failure to implement and maintain high practice standards in the
management of complaints, in line with LGSCO recommendations, can cost the Authority in remedies,
reparation and also officer time. Failure to implement Ombudsman recommendations can also result in
higher compensation and remedy payments.
b. Legal
There is a requirement for the Monitoring Officer to be sighted to cases where maladministration is
identified. This is achieved through a process in place which ensures that there is communication
between the Complaints Manager and the Monitoring Officer.

Page 93

c. Risk
Failure to implement the recommendations and best practice promoted by the Ombudsman increases
a number of corporate risks for the Council: reputational damage; un-forecasted financial pressure;
increase in customer contacts and officer caseload; increase in the numbers of complaints raised.
d. Consultation
There are no public consultation requirements arising from the proposals.

e. Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny
This public document was considered by the WNC Executive Leadership Team.
f. Climate Impact
N/A
g. Community Impact
N/A
h. Communications
The Ombudsman’s annual review is a published report and as such a public document. It is important
to note that this year’s review recognises the above average performance of the legacy councils,
despite difficult operating conditions (pandemic, local government reorganisation).
7. Background Papers
National Review: Review of Local Government Complaints 2020_21
Your Council’s Performance: West Northamptonshire Council - Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman

Page 94

Agenda Item 11

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th September 2021
Portfolio Holder for Planning, Built Environment and Rural Affairs Councillor Rebecca Breese,
Report Title

Report Author

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options
Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and
West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme
Colin Staves, Principal Spatial Planner,
colin.staves@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
Monitoring Officer
West S151
Other Director/SME
Legal (solicitor)
Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Geoff Wild
Martin Henry
Stuart Timmiss
Theresa Boyd
Craig Forsyth

25th August 2021
24th August 2021
26th August 2021
25th August 2021
19th August 2021

List of Appendices
Appendix A – West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation Paper
Appendix B – West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme
Appendix C – West Northamptonshire Statement of Community Involvement
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

To seek approval for:
a) the publication of the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation
Paper for the purposes of public consultation;
b) a new Local Development Scheme which sets out the timetable for plan preparation;
c) and a new Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) which sets out how the strategic plan
will be consulted upon.
Page 95

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

The three predecessor councils agreed to the prepare a new local plan, known as the West
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan (WNSP), to review and replace the strategic policies in the West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (Local Plan Part 1), which was adopted in December
2014. A consultation on the scope of the WNSP and the issues it should address was undertaken
between August and October 2019. A consultation on potential spatial options is the next stage
in the preparation of the WNSP. A spatial options consultation paper (Appendix A) has been
prepared which sets out a spatial vision for West Northamptonshire and a number of strategic
objectives to support the delivery of this vision. A number of potential spatial options are then
presented which could meet the housing and economic development needs of West
Northamptonshire over a plan period up to 2050.

2.2

Local Planning Authorities are required to produce, and keep up to date, a local development
scheme (LDS) which sets out and timetables the local plans they will prepare to plan for
development in their area. Approval is required for a new local development scheme for West
Northamptonshire which sets out the timetable for the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan
and the remaining stages leading to the adoption of the Northampton Local Plan (Part 2)
(Appendix B).

2.3

Each of the three predecessor councils have produced statements of community involvement,
but these were focused on their part 2 plans and other planning matters. A need was identified
to produce a SCI which specifically dealt with engagement on the forthcoming strategic plan.
Consultation has been undertaken on the SCI (by the former three authorities working together).
This report sets out the responses received, suggests changes to the SCI as a result of those
comments and requests adoption of the amended SCI. If adopted, it would sit alongside the
existing SCIs produced by the predecessor councils. As resources permit these will also be
reviewed, to provide a single SCI for all planning matters across the area.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:
a) Approves the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation Paper
(Appendix A) for the purposes of public consultation as set out in this report.
b) Approves the West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme (Appendix B) which is to
have effect upon expiry of the call-in period for Cabinet decisions.
c) Notes the responses to the consultation on the draft Statement of Community Involvement
and adopts the Statement of Community Involvement with the amendments set out in
Appendix C.
d) Delegates to the Assistant Director: Growth, Climate and Regeneration, in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder for Planning, Built Environment and Rural Affairs, authority to
make minor editorial and presentational changes to the above documents in their final
published form.

Page 96

4.

Reason for Recommendations

4.1

The development plan (or local plan) is central to the planning system with a requirement in law
that planning decisions must be taken in line with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. Each local planning authority must identify their strategic
priorities and have policies to address these in their local plans. It is essential that plans are in
place and up to date. The preparation of the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan is required
to ensure that the new council has an up to date development plan, and the spatial options
consultation is the key next step in the preparation of the plan.

4.2

An LDS is required which sets out the Local Plans, which when prepared, will comprise part of
the development plan for the area. The LDS must be made available publicly and kept up to date.
For West Northamptonshire a new LDS is needed to set out the revised timetable for the West
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan and also for the remaining stages of the Northampton Local
Plan (Part 2).

4.3

Local authorities are also required to have in place an up to date SCI. Consultation has been
undertaken on the SCI. This report sets out the responses received during the consultation and
proposes changes in response to the representations. If adopted it would set out how the
Strategic Plan will be consulted upon, at the various stages of preparation.

5.

Report Background
West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation Paper

5.1

The three predecessor councils agreed to the prepare a new local plan, known as the West
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan (WNSP), to review and replace the strategic policies in the West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (Local Plan Part 1), which was adopted in December 2014.
A joint local development scheme, setting out the timetable for the WNSP was agreed and
published in October 2018.

5.2

An issues consultation on the scope of the WNSP and the issues it should address was undertaken
between August and October 2019. The responses received to the Issues Consultation were
reported to the West Northamptonshire Joint Planning and Infrastructure Board in January 2020.

5.3

Since the beginning of 2020 technical work has continued to support the preparation of the plan
and to support the next stage of consultation on potential spatial options. This work has included
a housing and economic needs assessment which assesses future development needs for housing
(both market and affordable) and employment over the period 2020-2050. Work has also
progressed on the preparation of a strategic land availability assessment (SLAA). The SLAA
provides an assessment of land availability to help identify a future supply of land which is
suitable, available and achievable for housing and economic development over the plan period
covered by the WNSP. The SLAA is a key element of the evidence base for the plan.

5.4

Using the technical work that has been completed, the Strategic Plan Project Team has produced
a Spatial Options Consultation Paper which is attached as Appendix A to this report. The
consultation paper sets out a proposed spatial vision for West Northamptonshire which outlines
Page 97

the ambition for West Northamptonshire’s economy, people and environment in 2050. Place
based visions are also included for Northampton, Daventry, Brackley, Towcester and the rural
areas. The vision has been informed by responses received to the Issues consultation and has
been further developed through engagement with members and senior officers. It also seeks to
reflect key elements of the recently approved corporate plan.
5.5

The spatial vision is supported by 16 strategic objectives which are grouped under five of the
priorities set out in the corporate plan. Whilst the basis for these objectives lies in the existing
Joint Core Strategy they have been reviewed and updated to reflect the responses received to
the Issues consultation and changing circumstances. The consultation paper is seeking the views
of stakeholders and the community as to whether the vision and objectives are appropriate for
West Northamptonshire.

5.6

The consultation paper then provides details of the scale of housing and employment growth
that may be required over the plan period to 2050 as identified in the Housing and Economic
Needs Assessment. From the technical work undertaken to date a range of potential spatial
options to meet the housing and economic needs of the area is presented. These options include
potential growth at Northampton, Daventry, Brackley, and Towcester, together with options to
the north-west of Milton Keynes and to the south of Long Buckby. Commentary is also included
on the scale of growth that may be acceptable in the rural areas of West Northamptonshire.
Potential options for strategic employment growth are presented, principally focussed on the M1
corridor.

5.7

All of the options in the consultation paper are being presented as potential options rather than
preferred options at this stage. In all cases further technical work is required before the preferred
spatial options are agreed. One such piece of work is a study of the potential for new settlements
in West Northamptonshire which has not yet been completed. The findings of this study and any
potential new settlement options arising from it will be subject to consultation at the next stage
of plan preparation.

5.8

The purpose of the consultation is to seek the views of our community and stakeholders and
ensure that they play a key role is determining the preferred spatial strategy. Respondents to the
consultation will be able to suggest alternative options and a further opportunity will be provided
to submit new site proposals through a reopened ‘call for sites’.

5.9

Subject to Cabinet approval, the spatial options consultation paper will be published for an eightweek consultation period starting in October. The final details of the consultation strategy are
being agreed with the corporate consultation and communication teams.
West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme

5.10

As indicated above local authorities are required to publish a local development scheme (LDS)
setting out details of the Local Plans they intend to prepare and ensure that this is kept up to
date. The joint LDS prepared in 2018 is now out of date and needs to be updated to reflect the
current timetable for the strategic plan. It also needs to include the completion of the remaining
stages of the Northampton Local Plan (Part 2) given that the LDS now applies to the new council.

Page 98

Local authorities are required to specify the date that LDSs will be effective from, it is suggested
that this is upon expiry of the call-in period for cabinet decisions.
5.11

An LDS (attached as Appendix B) has been prepared setting out the anticipated timetable for the
preparation of the WNSP and the examination and adoption stages of the Northampton Local
Plan (Part 2). The LDS anticipates that the WNSP would be submitted for examination in April
2023 with adoption in March 2024. The timing of the examination hearings for the Northampton
Part 2 Plan has not yet been settled, however given the progress made in preparing for the
examination it is possible that they could take place between October and December this year
and subject to the examination Inspectors’ findings the plan could be adopted by April or May
2022.
West Northamptonshire Statement of Community Involvement

5.12

All local authorities are required to have in place an up to date SCI. Each of the predecessor
councils produced SCIs (of various dates), which remain in place. However, they deal largely with
the part 2 plans and other planning matters. They do not provide a single co-ordinated approach
to inform plan making across West Northamptonshire and are not therefore fit for purpose for
the forthcoming strategic plan.

5.13

A draft SCI was produced and agreed for consultation by the three predecessor councils.
Consultation took place towards the end of 2020. A copy of the consultation draft version can
be seen here.

5.14

Appendix C sets out the responses received and suggests changes to the SCI as a result.
Responses were received from a variety of sources including organisations, parish councils,
statutory consultees and residents. The majority were largely supportive of the approach, whilst
some suggested changes. The changes are relatively minor but add useful clarity to various parts
of the document.

5.15

Some further editorial changes will also be required to reflect the fact that the document will be
in its final form, as opposed to a consultation draft, and it will be a document of the West
Northamptonshire Council rather than the three predecessor councils.

5.16

The existing SCI’s produced by the former sovereign councils will remain in place, however as
resources permit, they will be updated and replaced with a single SCI for all planning matters in
West Northamptonshire.
Editorial and Presentational Changes

5.17

The spatial options document and LDS set out in the appendices are presented in a draft word
document format. There will be a need to make further editorial and presentational changes to
the final published versions of the documents and delegated authority is sought for these. For
example, the communications team is working on the final publication version of the spatial
options consultation paper to make it more attractive and accessible to the community. Some
further editorial changes will also be required to the SCI to reflect the fact that the document will

Page 99

be in its final form, as opposed to a consultation draft, and it will be a document of the West
Northamptonshire Council rather than the predecessor councils.

6.

Issues and Choices
West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation Paper

6.1

The preparation of the WNSP is an important priority for West Northamptonshire Council and it
is essential that the council has an up to date development plan that identifies the strategic
priorities for the area and provides a policy framework to ensure the delivery of those priorities.
The recently adopted part 2 local plans covering the Daventry and South Northamptonshire areas
and the emerging part 2 local plan for Northampton, will provide the Council with a set of up to
date development management policies. However, the existing part 1 local plan (i.e. the JCS)
was adopted at the end of 2014 and needs to be reviewed and updated for a number of reasons,
including changes in national policy and to respond to new challenges and opportunities such as
those associated with the Oxford-Cambridge Arc and the emerging Spatial Framework.

6.2

The spatial options consultation is a key stage in the process of preparing the WNSP and an
important step in ensuring that the council has an up to date part 1 plan at the earliest
opportunity. Cabinet could choose not to agree the spatial options consultation at this stage, but
this would risk delays in the timetable.

6.3

The proposed consultation will provide an important opportunity for our community, statutory
bodies, and other stakeholders to inform the development of the preferred spatial strategy and
strategic development options at a relatively early stage in the process. At this stage all of the
options are presented as having potential, rather than being preferred and as such it will be a
genuinely open consultation.

6.4

When the plan reaches the examination stage, the council will be expected to show that it has
considered all reasonable alternatives in the development of its spatial strategy. The Spatial
Options consultation will help the council to demonstrate that it has done just that.
West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme

6.5

The LDS presented at Appendix B sets out a reasonable timetable for the preparation of the
WNSP and the completion of the remaining stages of the Northampton Local Plan (Part 2) based
on the resources currently available. It is a statutory requirement for the council to publish an
LDS and ensure that it is up to date, and as such failing to approve an LDS is not an option.

6.6

Cabinet could consider options for preparing the WNSP more quickly, but this would necessitate
additional resources, and may also run the risk that the plan would not be thoroughly prepared
and could be found to be unsound at examination.

Page 100

West Northamptonshire Statement of Community Involvement
6.7

The cabinet could choose to accept the suggested changes as a result of consultation, in their
current or an amended form.

6.8

The cabinet could choose to adopt or not the SCI. If it chose not to it would not have an SCI in
place that deal with engagement on the strategic plan, this could prove to be an issue when the
plan comes forward for examination in due course, as the examiners will want to be assured that
proper processes are in place and have been followed in order to find the plan sound.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 The spatial options consultation, the implementation of the SCI and the examination and
adoption of the Northampton Part 2 Local Plan can all be met from existing resources. Further
consideration of the budget required to deliver the strategic plan may be required in future years.
7.2

Legal

7.2.1 The strategic plan will form part of the statutory development plan for West Northamptonshire
and as such it is being prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012.
7.2.2 It is a statutory requirement (Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) to
publish a local development scheme and ensure that it is kept up to date.
7.2.3 It is a statutory requirement that the council prepares a statement of community involvement
and engages stakeholders when preparing new planning policy.
7.3

Risk

7.3.1 Failure to prepare an up to date development plan for the area would mean that the council runs
the risk of not being able to effectively manage development in its area, and to secure benefits
associated with such development such as contributions to infrastructure. There would be an
increased risk of speculative applications and planning by appeal.
7.3.2 Failure to maintain an up to date LDS would be criticised by the independent examiner of the
strategic plan and could lead to the plan failing the legal tests.
7.3.3 Not having an SCI in place would introduce a risk that the independent examiner of the
strategic plan is not satisfied that appropriate processes for engagement were in place.

Page 101

7.4

Consultation

7.4.1 A comprehensive consultation strategy is being prepared in cooperation with the council’s
consultation and communications teams to ensure that the spatial options consultation meets
the requirements of the SCI and is as effective as possible.
7.4.2 The main body of the report deals with consultation on the draft SCI.
7.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.5.1 Not applicable.
7.6

Climate Impact

7.6.1 One of the objectives included in the spatial options consultation relates to climate change. The
WNSP will include policies in respect of climate change and is expected to make a key
contribution to the council’s ambitions in this respect.
7.7

Community Impact

7.7.1 At this stage the proposals in the spatial options are in draft form and as such do not have a direct
impact on communities. The next consultation stage will set out preferred options and draft
policies which will be subject to a full equalities impact assessment.
7.7.2 The LDS provides information to the community on the timetable for the preparation of Local
Plans and the opportunities for the community to be involved.
7.7.3 The SCI sets out how communities will be engaged with in preparing the Strategic Plan.
7.8

Communications

7.8.1 See 7.4.1 above
8.

Background Papers

8.1
8.2
8.3

West Northamptonshire Housing and Economic Needs Assessment
West Northamptonshire Strategic Land Availability Assessments
Responses to the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan Issues Consultation, ‘Call for Sites, and
SA Scoping Report.

Page 102

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan – Spatial Options Consultation – Draft for
Cabinet 14.09.21
Introduction
West Northamptonshire Council (WNC) is preparing a new strategic plan for the area. The
West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan (WNSP) will set out a spatial vision for the area
extended up to 2050. To address the key strategic priorities for West Northamptonshire the
scope of the plan includes:











The spatial strategy for the distribution of development.
Climate change resilience – as a cross cutting theme that runs through the plan’s
strategy and policies.
Place-shaping / sustainable development – Key principles to ensure quality
development and sustainable places.
Natural and built environment - the protection and enhancement of natural/built
and historic assets and achieving net biodiversity gain.
The housing requirement – the number and type of new homes to be provided
across West Northamptonshire and the proportion of the overall housing requirement
that should be affordable.
Economic growth – Targets for the provision of jobs and employment land in West
Northamptonshire and guidance on the strategic locations for new employment land
to meet the jobs requirement. New policy guidance for town centres and retail
development.
Strategic infrastructure – The key primary infrastructure projects that are
required to deliver the strategy such as strategic transport schemes, utility networks
and community facilities.
Health - ensuring people can lead active lifestyles, including access to good quality
open space, natural and semi natural greenspace and enjoy cleaner air.
Strategic development locations and opportunities – Key strategic sites that
are crucial to the delivery of the spatial strategy will be identified in the Plan.

The West Northamptonshire area is already covered by a joint plan. The West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) was adopted in December 2014 and covers the
period up to 2029. The WNSP will review and, where appropriate, replace the strategic
policies in the JCS covering an extended plan-period up to 2050.
Work on the WNSP was started by the predecessor councils and an issues consultation was
held between August and October 2019 to establish the scope of the plan and the key issues
it should address.
This spatial options consultation is the second stage in preparing the WNSP and the scope of
the consultation includes:
 The spatial vision setting out the plan’s ambition for our economy, our
communities and our environment.
 A set of spatial objectives to help achieve the vision.
 The housing and economic needs that we need to plan for
 A menu of potential spatial options that could be considered as part of the
development strategy for the area.

Page 103

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
We want to engage with stakeholders and communities across the area and work together
to ensure that we prepare the best plan possible for a sustainable future. We are still at an
early stage in plan preparation and the options being presented are potential rather than
preferred, so this is a genuine opportunity to influence the outcome of the plan. Please get
involved and sign up to be kept informed at all key stages of the process.
A Spatial Vision for West Northamptonshire
The spatial vision is central to the strategic plan and it sets out the ambition for our
economy, our communities and our environment. Place based visions are included for
Northampton, Daventry, Brackley and our rural areas. The vision has been informed by
feedback received during the issues consultation including consultation responses and
workshops with stakeholders. It also reflects the context provided by West
Northamptonshire Council’s Corporate Plan and the collective vision for making West
Northants a great place to live, work, visit and thrive.
Spatial Vision
‘In 2050 West Northamptonshire will have played a leading role in the success of the
Oxford-Cambridge Arc. We have a thriving economy with increased productivity. There has
been significant growth in innovation and high value sectors, but we also have a balanced
economy that provides jobs for all our residents.
Our people live in vibrant and sustainable communities with ready access to the services
and facilities they need. Quality housing is available to meet the needs of everyone. Our
residents have improved educational attainment and have the skill levels necessary to adapt
to a changing economy. Health outcomes have improved for all and the take-up of active
and healthy lifestyles is widespread. Everyone benefits from living in one of the bestconnected places in the UK.
Our environment has been enhanced by sustainable growth with a net gain in biodiversity,
enhanced natural capital, and green space that is accessible to all. Our valued landscapes
have been preserved and enhanced and high quality design has delivered neighbourhoods
that people are proud to live in. Above all West Northamptonshire has led the way in the
transition to a low carbon economy, has achieved net zero targets, is resilient and continues
to adapt to climate change.’
Northampton will be the principal urban area at the heart of West Northamptonshire and a
key centre in the Oxford-Cambridge Arc. The town will continue to be the focus for
sustainable housing and economic growth which is supported by infrastructure to ensure a
high-quality environment for residents and visitors. As a leading centre for culture,
commerce, leisure, education and health it will be a place where history, innovation and
regeneration go hand in hand.
Whilst retaining its roots as an historic market town, Daventry will be a sub-regional centre
of growing importance, with a successful town centre and strong commercial core. Local
economic strengths in engineering and sustainable construction will have developed and
innovative start-up businesses will thrive. Daventry will be well-connected, community
focussed and benefit from an accessible green network integrated into the fabric of the
town.

Page 104

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
The rural service centres of Brackley and Towcester continue to prosper providing
services, facilities and employment opportunities for the wider rural area. Whilst continuing
to accommodate sustainable growth the distinctive character of the towns and their heritage
and environmental assets will be protected and enhanced.
Our rural areas will provide a network of vibrant, well-connected villages supporting a
wider choice of homes, employment opportunities, and services at a scale consistent with
local needs. The countryside will support a thriving rural economy, with enhanced natural
capital and distinctive local landscapes.’
Consultation Question:
1. Is this vision appropriate for guiding development and growth in West
Northamptonshire up to 2050? Are there any changes you would like to
see?
Spatial Objectives
To ensure our vision is realised, the following 16 spatial objectives have been identified.
These have been shaped by the responses received to the issues consultation but also
reflect the priorities set out in the council’s corporate plan. The objectives have been
grouped under the priority which they most closely relate to. WNC’s corporate plan has 6
priorities, 5 of which are directly relevant to the strategic plan.
Corporate Plan Priority - Green and Clean – Environment and Wellbeing
Strategic Plan Objectives:
Objective 1 - Climate Change
To support the transition of West Northamptonshire to a net zero carbon area, and deliver
effective adaptation to and mitigation for the impacts of climate change by:






Securing radical reductions in carbon emissions
Promoting sustainable design and construction in all new development
Ensuring strategic development allocations are located and designed so as to be
resilient to future climate change and the risk of flooding
Encouraging renewable and low-carbon energy production in appropriate locations
Ensuring new development promotes the use of sustainable travel modes

Objective 2 - Green Infrastructure and Natural Capital
To conserve natural habitats and species, provide net gains in biodiversity and enhance
West Northamptonshire’s network of natural capital and green infrastructure by improving
existing areas and designing green and blue infrastructure into development.
Objective 3 - Landscape
To protect and enhance West Northamptonshire’s distinctive landscape character especially
those valued landscapes which have been designated as special landscape areas.

Page 105

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Objective 4 – Heritage
To conserve and where possible enhance West Northamptonshire’s heritage assets and their
settings, recognising their contribution to local distinctiveness, a sense of place, quality of
life and economic success.
Corporate Plan Priority: Improved Life Chances – Health, Social Care and
Families
Strategic Plan Objectives:
Objective 5 – Education and Skills
To raise educational achievement and the skills base of our communities through supporting
the development of our learning infrastructure and strengthening links between local
businesses and local schools, Moulton and Northampton Colleges, the University of
Northampton and Silverstone University Technical College
Objective 6 – Health and Well-being
To promote health and wellbeing through high quality development which supports
independence, encourages active and healthy lifestyles, supports social interaction and
creates inclusive and safe communities.
Objective 7 - Infrastructure and Development
To protect and enhance local services and to ensure social, physical, green and
technological infrastructure is adequately provided to meet the needs of people and
business in a timely and sustainable manner in response to regeneration and new
development in West Northamptonshire.

Corporate Plan Priority - Connected Communities – Transport and Connectivity
Strategic Plan Objectives:
Objective 8 - Connections
To reduce the need to travel, shorten travel distances and prioritise sustainable travel as an
attractive option across West Northamptonshire by maximising and promoting the use of
alternative travel modes. To facilitate the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles, combat
congestion, reduce carbon emissions and address social exclusion for those who do not have
access to a private car. To support the improvement of strategic public transport
connections across the area.
Objective 9 - Protecting and Building Urban Communities
To ensure new development in urban areas actively supports and links new and existing
communities physically and socially, to achieve social cohesion, maintain or improve the
existing residential amenity and address the areas of deprivation.

Page 106

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Corporate Plan Priority - Thriving Villages and Towns – Place Shaping and Homes
Strategic Plan Objectives:
Objective 10: Supporting Town Centres
To support the regeneration of our Town Centres responding positively to their distinctive
character, heritage and environmental assets to create attractive centres that are resilient
and provide a range of functions such as leisure, culture, the visitor economy and high
quality urban living.
Objective 11: Housing
To provide an appropriate range of housing in sustainable locations, of high quality
environmental and design standards, including those relating to designing out crime, to
meet the needs of all sections of our changing population, including affordable, housing for
the younger generation and housing for older persons, vulnerable people and those with
specialist housing needs.
Objective 12: Supporting Rural Communities
To protect and support rural communities to ensure they thrive and remain vital.

Corporate Plan Priority: Economic Development – Growth and Prosperity.
Strategic Plan Objectives:
Objective 13: Economic Advantage
To strengthen and diversify West Northamptonshire’s economy by taking advantage of our
internationally well-placed location, strategic transport network and proximity to London and
Birmingham. To maximise the opportunities for sustainable economic growth and
investment offered by our strategic location in the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.
Objective 14: Specialist Business Development
To support and develop opportunities for specialist employment clusters and business
development focused on a low carbon economy and new technologies.
Objective 15: Rural Diversification and Employment
To support rural diversification and rural employment opportunities, in particular those
related to agriculture, horticulture, forestry, and other forms of economic development
which are appropriate in scale and nature to their location.
Objective 16: The Visitor Economy
To facilitate tourism and leisure related growth creating a distinct offer within West
Northamptonshire building on our rich heritage.

Page 107

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Consultation Question:
2. Are the above spatial objectives appropriate for guiding development and
growth in West Northamptonshire? What changes or other objectives
would you like to see?
Housing and Economic Development Requirements
A Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA) has been undertaken which sets out
the number of dwellings and the amount of employment land to be provided up to 2050.
This document is available here;
West Northamptonshire Housing and Economic Needs Assessment
The identified needs are set out in the tables below;
Employment
Employment Land
Demand-Supply
Balance 20202050 (Ha)
Supply/demand
balance
Office Total Supply
Office Total
Recommended
Needs
Office (Need) /
Surplus

Daventry

Northampton

South
Northants

West
Northants

N/A
Included in
Industrial

10.60
11.40

81.5
10.6

92.10
22.00

Included
in
Industrial
55.69

-0.80

70.90

70.10

Industrial Total
36.40
63.70
Supply
Industrial Total
82.30
59.60
61.50
Recommended
Needs
Industrial (Need) -26.62
-23.20
2.20
/ Surplus
Table 1 Employment Needs and Supply, GL Hearn Housing and Economic
2021

155.79
203.40
-47.62
Needs Assessment

For West Northamptonshire as a whole the HENA identifies an unmet need for industrial
land of around 48 hectares. However, the HENA recognises that there is uncertainty about
strategic warehousing demand which may require additional provision above the 48ha
shortfall identified in the study. Having regard to the length of the plan period i.e. up to
2050, the HENA recommends that the requirements for strategic warehousing are revisited
through a separate study or plan update which incorporates wider sub-regional issues of
logistics demand and supply. Further explanation of employment needs is provided in the
Employment background paper. LINK

Page 108

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Housing

Total Need (per
annum)
Plan period Need
(2020-2050)

Daventry

Northampton
1288

South
Northants
503

West
Northants
2,139

348
10,440

38,640

15,090

64,170

Table 2 Housing Needs, GL Hearn Housing and Economic Needs Assessment 2021
Using the standard method prescribed by national policy the HENA identifies an annual
housing need of 2,139 dwellings for West Northamptonshire. Over a plan period of 20202050 this would equate to 64,170 dwellings. The HENA also looks at the relationship
between housing need and economic growth to establish whether housing growth above the
standard method would be justified to support economic growth potential. In this respect
the HENA concludes that the standard method housing requirement id the preferred housing
need figure as there is not a clear economic need to increase above this.
Alongside the housing need identified in the HENA, it is also important to consider existing
commitments. This is factored into the employment needs above. For housing, as at 1st April
2021, approximately 33,860 dwellings are expected to come forward by 2050. This figure
comprises sites allocated in the adopted JCS, part 2 local plans for Daventry and South
Northamptonshire, and the emerging part 2 local plan for Northampton, and other
commitments consisting of planning permissions and windfalls. This is explained in more
detail in the housing background paper LINK however the WNSP needs to make provision
for approximately 30,310 dwellings.
Much of the work undertaken on the HENA was completed in 2020. Revised affordability
ratios were published earlier in 2021, which when applied to the standard method for
calculating local housing need, result in a marginal increase in the annual need figure of 33
dwellings per annum from 2139 to 2172. This is not considered to materially affect the key
findings of the HENA.
Consultation Question:
3. Do you agree that the findings of the HENA housing and/or economic
needs of the area?
Yes/No
If not, please provide evidence as to what you think the housing and
economic needs of the area should be.

Spatial Strategy Options
At this stage in the plan preparation process, we are not identifying individual spatial
strategy options that can necessarily accommodate all of West Northamptonshire’s growth
over the next 30 years. Nor is any one of the options identified likely, in isolation, to form
the eventual long-term spatial strategy for the area. The preferred spatial strategy is likely
to comprise elements of one or more of the options presented in this consultation which,

Page 109

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
when combined together, will most effectively deliver the required housing and jobs growth
set against the priorities of the plan and its spatial vision for West Northamptonshire to
2050.
All of the options in this consultation paper are being presented as potential options rather
than preferred options at this stage. In all cases further technical work is required before the
preferred spatial options are agreed. The feedback received to the spatial options
consultation will play a key role in the eventual choice of the preferred spatial strategy.
Each of the spatial options has been subject to a sustainability appraisal to consider their
potential environmental, social and economic effects. The findings of the appraisal can be
viewed here LINK.

Spatial Option 1 - Growth at Northampton as the Principal Urban Area
This option would continue to focus further growth at Northampton in a continuation of the
existing development strategy for West Northamptonshire and in recognition of
Northampton’s current categorisation as the principal urban area.
Northampton, as the former county town, is by far the largest town in West
Northamptonshire with a population of 224,610 (2019) which equates to approximately 55%
of the total population in the new council area. The town is the area’s main centre for
employment, housing, retail, leisure and services.
The location of the town, in the centre of England, with excellent connectivity to the
strategic road network and rail connections via the Northampton loop, have aided its growth
as an important economic centre including high performance engineering and high-end shoe
manufacture. Other economic sectors that are well represented in the town include business
administrative and support services, financial and insurance activities, storage and
distribution and manufacturing. The importance of the town as a focus for economic growth
can be expected to increase in the context of the government’s ambitions for the OxfordCambridge Arc.
Northampton has experienced significant housing growth, particularly since its designation
as a New Town in 1965. This planned expansion has increased the population to over
200,000 and the town continues to grow through the strategic urban extensions and other
allocated sites which are identified in existing and emerging local plans.
The existing JCS directs approximately two-thirds of the total planned growth to the
principal urban area of Northampton (including the Northampton Related Development
Area). Whilst it is recognised that some of the planned growth has not come forward as
quickly as anticipated, looking over a plan period up to 2050 it is reasonable to consider the
potential for further growth at Northampton in recognition of its status as the principal
urban area and a sustainable location for growth.
The focus of this option would be further strategic scale housing growth at Northampton
principally in the form of new sustainable urban extensions. Such development has
previously been justified as it would continue to focus growth in Northampton as the
location with the highest concentration of jobs, housing need, services and sustainable

Page 110

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
transport connectivity, to ensure that development helps to meet the needs of existing and
future communities in a sustainable manner.
The emphasis would be on growing existing communities and those locations previously
determined to be the most sustainable locations for strategic scale growth. Clearly,
assessment would be required to identify the scale of what might be appropriate in each
location.
In terms of meeting employment needs a number of sites are being promoted along the M1
corridor in close proximity to Northampton. Based on an initial assessment of these sites
through the SLAA, three potential options are included in this consultation paper at M1
junctions 15, 15A and 16.
In seeking to meet development needs, opportunities to reuse suitable previously developed
land and vacant and under used buildings within the existing urban area Northampton would
continue to be maximised without undermining the quality of the environment. High quality
urban design and sensitive regeneration could have the potential to support higher densities
in appropriate locations. The potential for town centre living as part of a vibrant mix of uses
in the central area of Northampton and other local centres will be further explored. Based on
past trends it is currently expected that windfall development in the urban area will
contribute around 300 dwellings per annum up to 2029. If this rate were to continue for the
remainder of the plan-period then around 6,000 additional dwellings would be delivered in
the existing urban area.
It is recognised that there are a number of constraints to further growth at Northampton
which will require further consideration and investigation as part of the development of the
preferred spatial strategy, these include:




The capacity of existing infrastructure networks, particularly the local and strategic
highway networks;
The impact of growth of the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area.
The impact of growth on the landscape fringe and the character of adjoining villages,
particularly in those areas identified as being of high to medium landscape
sensitivity.

Page 111

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 1a - Northampton North – North of Buckton Fields - Residential

An area situated to the north of the Buckton Fields sustainable urban extension (SUE) and
east of the A508 Harborough Road with the potential to deliver approximately 2000
dwellings. Part of the site may also be suitable for local employment uses. The principal
access for the area would be from the A508.
Strengths
The area is located close to the principal urban area of Northampton and immediately to the
north of the Buckton Fields SUE, with the potential to connect new communities to the
established services and facilities in Northampton and would be of a scale to provide local
facilities on site to meet the needs of future residents. The area is well located in relation to
employment opportunities at Moulton Park and planned employment provision at Kings
Heath.
The area could benefit from a cycle link to Northampton and is close to established and
regular bus services particularly along the A508. Options to improve public transport services
could be explored.
Development in this area could support the delivery of the Northampton Northern Orbital, a
new road linking the A5199 and the North West Relief Road between Kingsthorpe and
Chapel Brampton with the A43 north of Moulton. The new road would also provide improved
access to the Moulton Park employment area.

Page 112

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
Heritage constraints could affect the capacity of this option and would require careful
assessment and mitigation. These include a scheduled monument known as Boughton Bowl
Barrow, and the Boughton conservation area to the east of the A508 which includes the
registered park and garden of Boughton Hall.
The potential impact of development on the character and setting of the villages of
Boughton and Chapel Brampton would require careful consideration to avoid physical and
visual coalescence. The area has also been identified as having a medium to high landscape
sensitivity and as such careful consideration would be needed of the design and location of
development.
As with all options at Northampton further consideration will be required regarding the
potential impacts of development on the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits SPA, including
potential mitigation of the loss of functionally linked land.
The area includes the Boughton Quarry site which now operates as a hardcore recycling
facility. The suitability of this part of the option for redevelopment would require further
investigation.
The proposed route of the northern orbital road could also affect the capacity of this option
with the expectation that development would be contained within the line of the preferred
route.

Page 113

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 1b - Northampton North – East of Boughton - Residential

An area situated to the east of Boughton and north of the A5076 with the potential to
deliver approximately 1500 dwellings. The principal access for the area would be from the
A5076 Holly Lodge Drive with secondary access from Moulton Lane.
Strengths
The area is located adjacent to the principal urban area of Northampton with the potential
to connect new communities to the established services and facilities in Northampton and
would be of a scale to provide local facilities on site to meet the needs of future residents.
The area is well located in relation to employment opportunities at Moulton Park.
There is potential to improve public transport and cycle connectivity into Northampton,
Development in this area could support the delivery of the Northampton Northern Orbital, a
new road linking the A5199 and the North West Relief Road between Kingsthorpe and
Chapel Brampton with the A43 north of Moulton. The new road would also provide improved
access to the Moulton Park employment area.
Weaknesses
Heritage constraints could affect the capacity of this option and would require careful
consideration and mitigation. Boughton conservation area lies to the west of the option
which includes the registered park and garden of Boughton Hall. The scheduled monument
of the Church of St John the Baptist also falls within the area.

Page 114

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Two areas of local green space lie to the west of the option and Boughton Green local green
space falls within the option. These spaces would need to be retained and protected.
The potential impact of development on the character and setting of the village of Boughton
would require careful consideration and would need to demonstrate how the separate
identity of the village could be safeguarded. Part of this option is designated as a green
wedge in the Daventry Settlements and Countryside Local Plan Part 2 which requires
proposals to maintain the physical and visual separation between settlements.
The area has also been identified as having a medium to high landscape sensitivity and as
such careful consideration would be needed of the design and location of development.
As with all options at Northampton further consideration will be required regarding the
potential impacts of development on the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits SPA, including
potential mitigation of the loss of functionally linked land.
A small area of the option falls within flood zone 3 which would constrain the extent of the
area to be developed and appropriate flood risk management measures would be required
The proposed route of the northern orbital road, specifically the proposed spur to Moulton
Park could affect the capacity of this option.
Spatial Option 1c- Northampton North – West of Moulton - Residential

Page 115

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
An area situated to the west of Moulton, north of Boughton Lane and south of Pitsford Road
with the potential to deliver approximately 3000 dwellings. There are a number of potential
access points for this option including Boughton Lane, Boughton Road and Pitsford Road.
Strengths
The area is located adjacent to the principal urban area of Northampton with the potential
to connect new communities to the established services and facilities in Northampton and
would be of a scale to provide local facilities on site to meet the needs of future residents.
The area is well located in relation to employment opportunities at Moulton Park.
There is potential to improve public transport and cycle connectivity into Northampton,
Development in this area could support the delivery of the Northampton Northern Orbital, a
new road linking the A5199 and the North West Relief Road between Kingsthorpe and
Chapel Brampton with the A43 north of Moulton. The new road would also provide improved
access to the Moulton Park employment area.
This option has the potential to support improvements to the educational facilities offered by
Moulton College and the delivery of new sports and leisure facilities for the local community.
Weaknesses
Heritage constraints would require careful consideration, specifically Holly Lodge, which is a
listed building within the option together with nearby assets such as Moulton conservation
area, and the remains of the Church of St John the Baptist which is a scheduled monument.
Two areas of local green space lie adjacent to the option. These spaces would need to be
retained and protected.
The potential impact of development on the character and setting of the village of Moulton
would require careful consideration and would need to demonstrate how the separate
identity of the village could be safeguarded. Part of this option is designated as a green
wedge in the Daventry Settlements and Countryside Local Plan Part2 which requires
proposals to maintain the physical and visual separation between settlements.
The area has also been identified as having a medium to high landscape sensitivity and as
such careful consideration would be needed of the design and location of development.
As with all options in Northampton further consideration will be required regarding the
potential impacts of development on the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits SPA including
potential mitigation of the loss of functionally linked land.
A relatively small area of the option falls within flood zones 2 and 3 which would constrain
the extent of the area to be developed and appropriate flood risk management measures
would be required.
Current access opportunities are from relatively minor roads on the local road network. The
provision of the Northampton Northern Orbital and the proposed spur to Moulton Park would
improve the accessibility of the option. Conversely, the proposed route of the proposed spur
to Moulton Park could affect the capacity of this option.

Page 116

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 1d - Northampton North – North of Moulton - Residential

An area situated to the north east of Moulton and west of the A43with the potential to
deliver approximately 1600 dwellings. The principal access to the option would be from the
A43 Kettering Road.
Strengths
The area is located adjacent to the north-west of Moulton village and as such it is not
immediately adjacent to the principal urban area of Northampton. The A43 provides a
strategic road connection to Northampton and the option could be seen as a potential
extension of the Northampton North SUE which is located to the east of the A43. The option
has the potential to connect new communities to the established services and facilities in
Northampton and those planned in the Northampton North SUE. Development of this option
could be of a scale to provide local facilities on site to meet the needs of future residents.
The area is well located in relation to employment opportunities at Moulton Park and Round
Spinney.
There is potential to improve public transport and cycle connectivity into Northampton.
Development in this area could support the delivery of the Northampton Northern Orbital, a
new road linking the A5199 and the North West Relief Road between Kingsthorpe and
Chapel Brampton with the A43 north of Moulton. The new road would also provide improved
access to the Moulton Park employment area.

Page 117

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
As the site is located to the north of Moulton village it is more remote from the existing
Northampton urban area than other options. The potential impact of development on the
character and setting of the village of Moulton would require careful consideration and
would need to demonstrate how the separate identity of the village could be safeguarded.
The area has also been identified as having a medium to high landscape sensitivity and as
such careful consideration would be needed of the design and location of development.
There are no on-site heritage designations, but Moulton conservation area is close to the
south-western edge of this option and as such the impact of development on the setting of
the conservation area would need to be assessed.
As with all options at Northampton further consideration will be required regarding the
potential impacts of development on the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits SPA, including
potential mitigation of the loss of functionally linked land.
A relatively small area of the option (approximately 10%) falls within flood zones 2 and 3
which would constrain the extent of the area to be developed and appropriate flood risk
management measures would be required.
The proposed route of the northern orbital road could affect the capacity of this option with
the expectation that development would be contained within the line of the preferred route.
Spatial Option 1e - Northampton South-East - Residential

Page 118

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
An area situated to the south-east of the existing Northampton urban area adjoining Grange
Park and Wootton with the potential to deliver approximately 3000 dwellings. Key access
points for this option would be from the Newport Pagnell Road for the northern and central
area, and from the Wootton Road for the central and southern area. The southern area of
the option could also gain access from the Quinton Road.
Strengths
The area is located adjacent to principal urban area of Northampton with the potential to
connect new communities to the established services and facilities in Northampton and
would be of a scale to provide local facilities on site to meet the needs of future residents.
The area is well located in relation to employment opportunities at Brackmills, Grange Park
and the consented Northampton Gateway strategic rail freight interchange.
The option presents opportunities to deliver net biodiversity gain and through an appropriate
landscape framework present a more sensitive edge to the countryside in this part of
Northampton. Development would need to retain and enhance existing open spaces such as
Foxfield country park.
There are no overriding physical or environmental constraints that would prevent
development. The option is being actively promoted by landowners and developers and
would be deliverable in the plan period.
Weaknesses
Parts of the option fall within flood zones 2 and 3 which would constrain the extent of the
area to be developed and appropriate flood risk management measures would be required.
The design of development would also need to acknowledge the presence of 2 high
pressure gas pipelines which cross the area.
Further consideration will be required on the impacts of development on the capacity of
both the local road network and the strategic road network especially the A45.
As with all options at Northampton further consideration will be required regarding the
potential impacts of development on the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits SPA, including
potential mitigation of the loss of functionally linked land.

Page 119

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 1f - South of M1 Junction 15 - Employment

An area situated to the south of Junction 15 of the M1 and Grange Park on the southern
edge of the Northampton urban area. The area could come forward for employment use
across an area of approximately 68ha. Access could be gained from the A508 to the west of
the site taking advantage of the highway improvements related to the adjoining
Northampton Gateway development.
Strengths
The area benefits from access to the M1 at Junction 15 and is located in a strategically
significant position for logistics with connectivity to the UK’s motorway network.
The area is in close proximity to the existing employment site at Grange Park to the north of
the M1 and adjoins the consented Northampton Gateway strategic rail freight interchange
immediately to the west. Development of this area could be seen as a logical expansion of
existing and proposed employment development in this area.
The option is close to the Northampton Related Development Area including planned
residential development at the Northampton South and Northampton South of Brackmills
SUEs and therefore has ready access to a potential labour market.

Page 120

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
The option is close to the grade II listed Courteenhall historic park & garden which lies to
the south, and the impact of large scale employment development on the setting of this
important heritage asset would require careful consideration.
A portion of the area (approx. 10%) falls within flood zone 2 and parts of the site may also
be affected by surface water flooding. This could reduce the capacity of the site and would
need to be thoroughly assessed and effective flood risk management measures will be
required.
Public rights of way that cross the area will need to be retained (diverted) and the impact on
them mitigated.
Spatial Option 1g - South M1 Junction 15a – Employment

An area situated to the south of junction 15a of the M1 and to the east and west of the A43.
The option has the potential for employment development across an area of approximately
65 hectares. Access could be gained via the existing roundabout on the A43 to the south of
the junction with the M1 and would necessitate improvements to the existing junction
arrangements.
Strengths
The area benefits from access to the M1 at Junction 15a and is located in a strategically
significant position for logistics with connectivity to the UK’s motorway network.

Page 121

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
The area is in close proximity to the existing employment site at Swan Valley to the north of
the M1.
The option is close to the Northampton Related Development Area including planned
residential development at the Northampton South SUE and therefore has ready access to a
potential labour market.
Weaknesses
The western portion of this option is in close proximity to the village of Rothersthorpe, whilst
the eastern portion is near to Milton Malsor. Both villages have designated conservation
areas and the design and layout of any development would need to be carefully considered
to reduce the potential of physical and visual coalescence with the villages and to avoid any
adverse impacts on the conservation areas. The Grand Union canal runs through the
western part of this option. The canal is also designated as a conservation area and is also
identified as a local wildlife site. Development would have the potential to impact on the
significance and setting of the designated heritage asset.
A portion of the area (approx. 25%) falls within Flood Risk Zone 3 and parts of the site may
also be affected by surface water flooding. This could reduce the capacity of the site and
would need to be thoroughly assessed and effective flood risk management measures will
be required.
Public rights of way that cross the area will need to be retained (diverted) and the impact on
them mitigated.

Page 122

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 1h - Land at M1 Junction 16 - Employment

An area situated to the north of the A4500 Weedon Road and junction 16 of the M1 which
has potential for employment development of around 55 hectares. Access could be gained
from the A4500 utilising the recently constructed roundabout which serves the Panattoni
Park employment area.
Strengths
The area benefits from access to the M1 at Junction 16 and is located in a strategically
significant position for logistics with connectivity to the UK’s motorway network.
The area is in close proximity to the strategic employment site known as Panattoni Park
which is currently under construction to the south of the A4500. This option could be seen
as a logical extension to this strategic employment area.
The option is close to the Northampton Related Development Area including planned
residential development at the SUEs to the west and south-west of Northampton and
therefore has ready access to a potential labour market.
There is potential to improve existing bus services along the A4500 to ensure that the option
is well served by public transport.

Page 123

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
The option is within a special landscape area as identified in the South Northamptonshire
Local Plan (Part 2) and employment development, which would inevitably involve large
buildings, could have an adverse impact on the landscape character of the area. It is noted
that the Planning Inspector who held the examination of the West Northamptonshire Joint
Core Strategy concluded that development north of the A4500 ‘… would have a significantly
detrimental impact on the local landscape.’
The village of Harpole is relatively close to the north east of this option and development
could be harmful to the rural setting of the village, part of which is designated as a
conservation area.
Public rights of way that cross and adjoin the area will need to be retained (diverted) and
the impact on them mitigated.
Northampton East
Three parcels of land situated on the eastern edge of Northampton, between the town and
the village of Ecton have been promoted previously through the call for sites process.
Although the sites adjoin the urban area of Northampton they are located entirely within
North Northamptonshire Council’s area.
In consultation with North Northamptonshire Council a technical assessment of the sites has
been undertaken as part of the SLAA. The SLAA concludes that one of the sites, that is
detached from Northampton and directly adjacent to Ecton village, is not an appropriate
location for housing. Two of the sites are considered to be potentially developable, but it
recognised that there are constraints which would need further consideration, particularly
coalescence with Ecton and the impact on the character and setting of the village, part of
which is designated as a conservation area.
As the sites are within North Northamptonshire it will be for North Northamptonshire Council
to decide whether they wish to take these sites forward through the update of their existing
Joint Core Strategy (North Northamptonshire Strategic Plan). Any future consideration of
these sites would be subject to further discussion with North Northamptonshire Council as
part of the duty to cooperate.
Consultation Questions:
4. Do you agree that there is potential for directing further development at
Northampton, as the principal urban area, as part of the spatial strategy
for West Northamptonshire?
Yes/No
Please provide comments to support your answer.
5. Please provide any specific comments on the potential spatial options
identified for Northampton ( Options 1a to 1h)
Spatial Option 2 - Growth at Daventry
Located towards the west of Northamptonshire close to its border with Warwickshire,
Daventry is a traditional market town which functions as a sub-regional centre for its rural

Page 124

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
hinterland. It has excellent road links with Rugby and Northampton via the A45 and A4500,
and further afield to other centres in the East and West Midlands via the motorway network.
Rail services are accessible from Long Buckby, which is located on the Northampton loop of
the West Coast Mainline.
Daventry has a strong economic base, with well-defined employment areas on the western
and north western sides of the town and a smaller area at the south eastern gateway. The
Daventry country park is a popular and very accessible recreational facility, being located
north east of the town centre. The town is further characterised by a well-defined network
of green infrastructure.
The town centre offers a range of convenience stores and local independent shops and
services within its historic centre, with a small retail park located to the east of the town
centre. The site of the former Daventry library is currently being redeveloped for leisure
uses which will feature a cinema as its heart.
The town is relatively compact and has experienced modest growth in recent years with new
employment development to the north west and housing growth to the north which has
expanded the town outside its natural bowl of hills. Further growth is planned to the north
east which will extend the town beyond the country park towards the A5, through an
allocation for a sustainable urban extension in the JCS of around 4000 dwellings. Additional
allocations of approximately 1200 dwellings to the south west and expansion of an existing
commitment to the north amounting to around 250 dwellings, were made in the Daventry
Settlements and Countryside Local Plan. Further small-scale development will take place
within the town to consolidate existing employment sites with expansion planned to the
north west and the south eastern gateway to the town, which is a focus for regeneration.
Having regard to the landscape and historic assets constraints affecting the Town the most
feasible option for further strategic scale growth at Daventry is in the form of housing to the
north of an existing residential area and expansion of employment areas north and west of
the town. If this option was pursued, it would bring more development to a location that is
already a focus for growth within West Northamptonshire. Proximity to existing residential
and employment areas, relative ease of extending existing infrastructure and access to
existing and planned services and facilities justify the consideration of this location as an
option.
The option would result in further expansion of Daventry at the urban fringe, extending it
beyond an already well-defined edge, eroding the largely rural character and reducing the
gap between Daventry and Braunston. The landscape is a particular consideration as the
land falls away to the west and North and this, which would require furthermore detailed
assessment to establish the impact and form of development. There are additional heritage
considerations for the housing element of the option owing to the proximity to the Canal
and other important assets.

Page 125

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 2a - North of Daventry - Residential

An area situated to the north of Daventry town with the potential capacity for approximately
1200 dwellings. The option would be accessed via the A361 and could potentially be served
by access arrangements presently being implemented for the adjacent Micklewell Park site.
Strengths
The area is located adjacent to an existing residential area with a small number of services
and facilities and also a fairly extensive employment estate. Further infrastructure (a primary
school and local centre) is planned at Micklewell Park, which development in this location
could access although it would be expected to provide some on-site infrastructure including
primary education.
Development in this area would also benefit from a cycle link to Daventry town centre (and in
the short term also to Braunston) via the former railway line and canal providing access to
the services and facilities in the town by sustainable modes. Related to this the site could
also access a network of green infrastructure situated on the northern edge of
Daventry. This part of Daventry has a regular bus service that could serve development in
this area.
Weaknesses
The Canal conservation area (situated on the line of the Braunston Tunnel) is a significant
constraint that could impact the capacity of development and the routing of any internal
infrastructure. Furthermore, the west entrance to the tunnel is grade 2 listed.

Page 126

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
A further important constraint to development in this area is the topography, with the land
falling away from the town where there is a relatively well-defined edge and this is likely to
increase the visual impact of development on the local landscape and the views from
Braunston. Development of this area could reduce the gap between Daventry and
Braunston, and thus potentially contribute to coalescence with Braunston. Part of this area is
identified as a green wedge in the Daventry part 2 local plan which requires proposals to
maintain the physical and visual separation between settlements.
Middlemore Gorse, is an undesignated group of trees which may need to be retained.
Spatial Option 2b - North and West of Daventry – Employment

An area situated to the north and west of Daventry which lies to the north of Drayton Fields
industrial estate and to the west of Royal Oak industrial estate, this option would be
accessed via the A361 and the A45. The area is promoted for employment by multiple
landowners with a potential capacity of approximately 90 hectares.
Strengths
The area is adjacent to existing industrial estates and therefore can link to existing
infrastructure which includes public transport. There is a cycle link to Daventry town centre
(and in the short term also to Braunston) via the former railway line.

Page 127

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
Regarding heritage, there is a potential impact on the setting of All Saints Church in
Braunston.
A further constraint is the topography of the area – the land falls away from the town
where there is a relatively well-defined edge and this is likely to increase the visual impact of
the site on the local landscape and the views from Braunston and also long distance views
to the west where Kentle Wood, a local green space, currently defines the western edge of
Daventry and provides a strong landscape feature because it is on the top of a slope.
Furthermore, development of this area could reduce the gap and result in coalescence with
Braunston (part of site identified as green wedge in Daventry part 2 local plan)
The topography could have impact on format of buildings in this option which could further
increase the landscape impact.
A local wildlife site is situated to the south (not within site boundary) and the southern
corner of the area forms part of the special landscape area.
There is a public right of way running through the western part of the option which also
includes the Jurassic Way long distance footpath, its enjoyment would likely be
affected by the development of this site.
Consultation Questions:
6. Do you agree that there is potential for directing further development at
Daventry, as sub regional centre, as part of the spatial strategy for West
Northamptonshire?
Yes/No
Please provide comments to support your answer.
7. Please provide any specific comments on the potential spatial options
identified for Northampton (Options 2a and 2b)
Spatial Option 3 – Employment Options at M1 Junction 18
This location is strategically located at the heart of the road and rail network and is well
placed in relation to the logistics “golden triangle”. Daventry International Rail Freight
Terminal (DIRFT), recognised as being of international significance, has continued to expand
and Phase 3 is currently under-construction. As a consequence of the strategic importance
of this location it warrants further consideration as a potential area for growth, both in terms
of specific expansion at DIRFT but also smaller scale expansion to help serve DIRFT and
utilise the specific geographical strengths of the area in terms of the road and rail network.
Furthermore, evidence undertaken for the Daventry Settlements and Countryside Part 2 Plan
identified the potential for longer-term needs in this location as DIRFT phase 3 is built out
which is further justification for exploring the potential for economic development in this
area.

Page 128

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 3a - Land to the East of DIRFT – Employment

An option situated to the east of DIRFT with the capacity for approximately 106 ha of
employment. The area would seek to connecting to the existing and infrastructure at
DIRFT including the planned rail-freight terminal associated with DIRFT 3 and would
require a new bridge crossing over the M1.
Strengths
The proximity to the existing DIRFT industrial area and the existing and planned rail-freight
terminal will provide access to non-road logistics infrastructure. Proximity to DIRFT also
enables further on-site infrastructure e.g. lorry parks, training centre etc to be accessed.
Furthermore, proximity to the M1 and A5 allows for road-based connectivity.
The proximity to Rugby, including the Houlton SUE and Crick provide access to services and
facilities.
There is the potential opportunity to extend the existing Lilbourne Meadows to provide
further natural habitat/biodiversity enrichment in this area.
Weaknesses
The potential impact on setting of surrounding villages, particularly Lilbourne, Yelvertoft and
Crick and the impact on the local landscape are important constraints that this option will
need to address.

Page 129

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
The proximity to the labour market may also need further consideration but this could be
addressed through further enhancements to infrastructure e.g. bus connectivity to
Daventry, Northampton and Rugby.
Spatial Option 3b - Land at M1 Junction 18- Employment

Areas of land near to Junction 18 of the M1 and to the south of DIRFT which could come
forward for employment use with a total capacity of approximately 63 ha. The various parts
of the option would be accessed via the A5 and A428 respectively.
Strengths
The area benefits from good access to the strategic road network, A5, A14, M45, M6 and
M1. There is also potential to access the DIRFT rail freight terminal.
The option is close to Rugby (including the new Houlton SUE), Kilsby and Crick which
provide a potential labour market.
The areas within this option are also well-related to existing employment areas so could help
support their expansion.
Weaknesses
Depending on building height and format there is potential for development to impact on
the setting of Kilsby for the southern-most area. Although this area is self-contained,

Page 130

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
it could be perceived as a southern extension of DIRFT which at the moment is wholly to the
north of the freight line. There could result in issues of physical and visual coalescence with
Kilsby. The southern end of this area is close to the listed Kilsby tunnel entrance.
Development would have the potential to impact on the significance and setting of the
designated heritage asset.
The area to the West of the M1 is adjacent to a scheduled monument which could affect the
capacity of this area. This area is also an important buffer to help screen DIRFT from Crick
and development will need to be concentrated adjacent to the A458.
Public Rights of Way that cross the area will need to be retained (diverted) and the impact
on them mitigated.
Consultation Questions:
8. Do you agree that there is potential for directing further employment
development at M1 Junction18 as part of the spatial strategy for West
Northamptonshire?
Yes/No
Please provide comments to support your answer.
9. Please provide any specific comments on the potential spatial options
identified at M1 Junction 18 (Options 3a and 3b)
Spatial Option 4 - Growth at the Market Towns – Brackley and Towcester
This option would distribute further growth at the historic market towns of Brackley and
Towcester in a continuation of the existing development strategy for West Northamptonshire
and in recognition of these towns’ current categorisation as rural service centres.
Located in the south western corner of Northamptonshire on its border with
Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire, Brackley has excellent road links to the urban centres of
Northampton, Banbury, Bicester, Oxford and Milton Keynes and has experienced significant
growth in recent years with allocations for over 1,700 dwellings made in the JCS to the
north and east of the town along with complementary retail, employment uses and health
care infrastructure. The town has a limited range of shops and services proportionate to its
size.
Located 6 miles south east of Northampton and 7 miles north of Milton Keynes on the A5
and A43 like Brackley Towcester has also experienced significant growth over the last 20
years, most recently in the form of the Towcester South SUE which will see some 2,750
homes built to the south of the town. With local plan allocations in place for up to 67
hectares of mixed-use employment generating development to the north of the town. Like
Brackley, Towcester currently offers a range of shops and services proportionate to its size.
The focus of this option would see further strategic scale housing growth at Brackley and
Towcester and if this were pursued as an option, it would bring more development to
locations already receiving a high level of growth and constitute an extension of the existing
local plan strategies. Such development has previously been justified as it would continue to
focus rural growth to locations with the highest concentration of jobs, affordable housing

Page 131

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
need and sustainable transport connectivity, to ensure that development helps to meet the
needs of existing and future communities in a sustainable manner.
The emphasis would be on growing existing communities and those locations previously
determined to be the most sustainable locations for strategic scale growth. Further
assessment would be required to identify the scale of what might be appropriate in each
location.
This option could result in further expansion of Brackley and Towcester at the urban fringe,
with potential impacts on rural character and the relationship with the surrounding
countryside and further detailed assessment would be required prior to taking this option
forward.
It is known that implemented and committed growth at both towns has already taken us to
the limits of what is acceptable in some situations in terms of constraints and current
infrastructure capacity. Further work is needed when considering this option to ensure that
those constraints and infrastructure requirements and the ability of the towns and their
hinterlands to absorb further growth is understood and any future growth to the existing
market towns is appropriate.
Spatial Option 4a - Brackley North West Expansion - Residential

An area extending to the north west of Brackley, including the current Brackley North SUE
(Radstone Fields), these sites have been promoted as having a potential capacity to

Page 132

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
deliver up to 3,000 dwellings and associated services including a potential ‘sports hub’ for
Brackley.
Primary vehicular accesses could potentially be from the A422 as well as the Halse Road.
Strengths
By virtue of its association with the rural service centre of Brackley this option provides
potential sustainable access to key services that exist in the town along with existing
employment opportunities in this rural service centre, albeit becoming increasingly remote
from the town’s core service and employment areas.
The expansion of the town to the north-west is unconstrained by specific heritage or
landscape designations either on or in close proximity to it.
The opportunity exists for incorporating a sports hub within the wider scheme, providing
improved leisure and wellbeing opportunities for residents of Brackley and the surrounding
area, albeit remote from the existing core. The sports hub is identified as having potential
for football or rugby union, tennis, squash, cricket and bowls facilities.
Weaknesses
There are known secondary education and health service capacity constraints associated
with the continued expansion of Brackley. The associated provision of these improvements
would be required in conjunction with any further expansion to the town.
To enable vehicular access to the local road network (and full access to the strategic road
network), the proposal is reliant on the provision of appropriate highway infrastructure
on Halse Road, a rural country lane which is unlit and has no footpaths or road markings.
Potential highway capacity constraints additionally exist on Banbury Road, Humphries
Drive, Poppyfields Road and Radstone Road as well as other locations within Brackley, which
will require appropriate remediation if suitable access to local services is to be achieved.
Whilst physically associated with the town of Brackley, further north-westerly expansion
is increasingly remote from the town’s core service and employment areas, adversely
impacting upon the potential accessibility of these areas by sustainable modes, including
walking and cycling. Expansion to the north west of Brackley could create an increased
sense of coalescence with the hamlet of Halse.
The site includes a local wildlife site at its south western extent and a potential wildlife site
to the north-west of the site. Consequently, ecological impacts are likely and would require
appropriate mitigation.
Public footpaths and a bridleway traverse the site and would require retention within the
overall scheme design, impacting on their existing use and enjoyment.

Page 133

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Spatial Option 4b - Towcester South and Racecourse Expansion - Residential

Sweeping around the south-westerly and southern extents of the existing Towcester South
SUE and across to the eastern side of the town, incorporating Towcester Racecourse and
its surrounds, these sites have been promoted as having a potential capacity to deliver up
to 4,250 dwellings and associated services.
Primary vehicular accesses could potentially be from the Towcester Southern Relief
Road (under construction and scheduled for completion in 2023), as well as the A5.
Strengths
There would be a good relationship with the existing expansion of Towcester, which would
form a natural continuation to it, whilst providing the potential for access to a range of key
services along with existing and proposed employment opportunities that exist in this rural
service centre, albeit increasingly remote from the town’s historical core.
There is an opportunity to build on existing planning policy to create a coherent long-term
sustainable future for Towcester Racecourse; thereby assisting in creating a legacy and
quality of space and place that is environmentally, culturally, socially and economically
unique and could bring associated benefits to the town.

Page 134

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
The topography of the site will culminate in much of this possible expansion of Towcester
being raised above the existing town, impacting on long distance views and an increased
sense of built form within the open countryside, which could exacerbate the landscape
impact. Further landscape work is needed to ensure that the sensitivities can be
understood.
Whilst enabling access to the site, the Towcester southern relief road could additionally
adversely impact the potential permeability of much of the proposed expansion with the rest
of the town, especially by walking and cycling.
The area includes a local wildlife site and an ancient woodland and is situated in proximity
to further local and potential wildlife sites and ancient woodland. Consequently, ecological
impacts are likely and would require appropriate mitigation.
The racecourse site falls within a grade II* registered park and garden and includes a
grade I listed building, whilst additionally impacting upon the setting of the Towcester and
Easton Neston conservation areas, as well as further listed buildings. Proposals would
therefore need to ensure these heritage assets (along with archaeological and nondesignated heritage assets) and their settings are appropriately considered.
The Grafton Way and network of public footpaths and bridleways traverse the site and
would require retainment within the overall scheme design, impacting on their existing use
and enjoyment.
Consultation Questions:
10. Do you agree that there is potential for directing further development at
Brackley and Towcester, as rural service centres, as part of the spatial
strategy for West Northamptonshire?
Yes/No
Please provide comments to support your answer.
11. Please provide any specific comments on the potential spatial options
identified for Brackley and Towcester (Options 4a and 4b)
Spatial Option 5 - New Settlements
The options identified below at Long Buckby and north west of Milton Keynes have the
potential to come forward as new settlements. In addition to these options the council is
aware of further new settlement proposals that have been put forward through the previous
call for sites and assessed in the SLAA. However, the council is also mindful that there might
be additional new settlement options in the area that have not yet been identified that could
contribute to meeting the housing needs of West Northamptonshire in a sustainable way.
Furthermore, it is acknowledged that there are complexities relating to bringing new
settlements forward and the need to assess all reasonable options. In this context the
council have commissioned AECOM to undertake a specific study to look at new settlements
in more detail.

Page 135

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
The study features a number of stages, firstly establishing appropriate areas of search for
new settlements, then agreeing an appropriate framework for assessing those new
settlement options before undertaking a comprehensive assessment of options for delivering
sustainable growth through one or more new settlements. The study is progressing well but
will not be finalised in time to support this spatial options consultation. If any potential new
settlement options beyond those identified in this document are identified in the study as
realistic new settlement options, including those promoted and identified in the SLAA, then
these will be subject to further consultation as part of an additional regulation 18
consultation which could take place in early 2022.
Spatial Option 5a – Growth at Long Buckby
Long Buckby is one of the larger rural settlements where land has been promoted for
residential development. The presence of the railway station, which sits on the Northampton
loop of the West Coast Mainline, allows access to nearby main towns, including
Northampton, by sustainable modes.
Whilst further work on a specific new settlement study is underway and could be further
consulted on in the future, the uniqueness of this location by virtue of the railway station,
when compared to any other promoted new settlement, means that further large scale
residential-led development warrants consideration at this stage as part of the spatial
options for West Northamptonshire.

Page 136

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Land to South of Long Buckby - Residential

An area of land to the south of Long Buckby with a potential capacity of between 1280 to
5000 dwellings. The option would be accessed off Three Bridges Road however
improvements would be needed to bridges under the M1, West Coast Mainline and
Northampton loop line at Long Buckby Wharf. Further along the Three Bridges Road there
might be improvements needed to the A5 junction.
Within Long Buckby, due to the historic street pattern further traffic management measures
might be needed however this will need to be informed by transport assessment work.
There is a daily bus service to Daventry that runs past the option that would need to be
improved.
Strengths
A key strength is the proximity to the railway station with direct routes into Northampton,
Rugby, Coventry, Birmingham, Milton Keynes and London and would encourage modal
shift.
Long Buckby is a primary service village and therefore benefits from a good range of
services which would be accessible by walking and cycling however subject to its scale the
option would be expected to provide a range of services and facilities to complement those
in Long Buckby. Furthermore, the option is relatively close to Daventry which has a range of
services, facilities and employment.

Page 137

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
Depending on the scale of the option, an option at the lower capacity indicated might have
limited ability to deliver associated infrastructure including that to be located on site, such as
education but also the identified off-site highway works.
The option is likely to have an impact on the form and character of Long Buckby, the historic
centre of which is designated as a conservation area.
The southern edge of the site is flood zone 3 which may affect layout and capacity of the
site.
Spatial Option 5b - Growth at Milton Keynes North West/ Old Stratford
This option would distribute a substantial level of growth to the south east of West
Northamptonshire adjacent to the boundary with the Borough of Milton Keynes.
Whilst the option would see development on green field sites remote from West
Northamptonshire’s principal urban centres the council recognise the proximity of Milton
Keynes and the economic, social and physical links that exist across the formal
administrative boundaries and the strong functional relationship between the
city and this part of our district and the wider area.
At the centre of the Oxford-Cambridge Arc and with a population planned to be in excess
of 335,000 by 2031, Milton Keynes is a regional centre which shares a boundary with West
Northamptonshire in the area of Cosgrove and Old Stratford. Many people travel across
West Northamptonshire and into Milton Keynes on a daily basis for access to work, shops,
leisure, services, transport and other infrastructure that the city provides.
This relationship is a matter considered by Milton Keynes Council in their recently published
Strategy for 2050, a document that whilst recognising that it cannot allocate development
outside of its boundaries, considers how development might work best across boundaries,
especially when thinking about how people move around for work and their day-to-day
needs today and in the coming decades.
In 2017, a National Infrastructure Commission study of the Oxford-Cambridge Arc suggested
that Milton Keynes could be re-established as “a development location of national
significance, through the intensification and expansion of the town to a population of at
least 500,000”. The strategy for 2050 develops this and identifies the area around Cosgrove
and Old Stratford as a potential green city gateway to Milton Keynes providing
a sustainable development location accessed by sustainable transport measures, including a
mass rapid transit network with potential infrastructure improvements.
West Northamptonshire Council will consider this and through this options consultation
explore further the consequences of development in this location and the opportunities and
constraints that present themselves and which cut across council boundaries, exploring the
creation of high quality development and joined up infrastructure and services to benefit the
residents of West Northamptonshire.
When considering development in this area further consideration will need to be given to the
implication of growth on the A5 corridor, the A508 and A422 including their intersection at

Page 138

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
the Old Stratford roundabout, along with its relationship to and potential impact on the
nearby villages of West Northamptonshire including, Cosgrove, Deanshanger, Old
Stratford, Passenham, Potterspury and Wicken and the infrastructure and services that exist
in the area.
Milton Keynes North West (Old Stratford) Expansion - Residential

Situated to the south east of West Northamptonshire in proximity to Old Stratford and the
boundary with the Borough of Milton Keynes these sites have been promoted as having
a potential capacity to deliver up to approximately 6,000 dwellings and associated services.
Vehicular access could be provided from the adjacent strategically connected highway
network.
Strengths
There would be a good functional relationship with Milton Keynes and the broad range of
services this regional centre provides, whilst acknowledging the functional relationship that
this part of West Northamptonshire has with adjacent authority areas and potentially linking
with possible long-term aspirations for a mass rapid transport network, as part of a greater
Milton Keynes.

Page 139

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Weaknesses
The A5 trunk road, which constitutes part of England’s strategic road network bisects the
site. This, coupled with the site being bounded by the A422 and A508 at an existing
strategic highway network pinch-point (Old Stratford roundabout which
would require substantial upgrading), could result in barriers to permeability by walking and
cycling with the consequence of the development and the surrounding area becoming
vehicle-dominated.
Whilst having a good functional relationship with Milton Keynes, the proposed development
is of disproportionate scale to the surrounding West Northamptonshire settlements, whose
housing needs it will be required to serve, whilst creating a sense of built form and sense of
coalescence with nearby villages including, Cosgrove, Deanshanger, Old Stratford,
Passenham, Potterspury and Wicken, that are currently located within a rural extremity of
West Northamptonshire.
The setting of grade II* listed buildings at Furtho as well as the character and setting of
nearby conservation areas could be affected and appropriate mitigation would be required.
The site includes a potential wildlife site in proximity to Knotwood Fields Farm and abuts a
potential wildlife site along part of its northern boundary. Therefore, ecological impacts are
likely and would require appropriate mitigation.
A strategic oil pipeline (Buncefield to Blisworth) as well as flood zones are present within the
site. These would require associated assessment and could impact upon achieving a
desirable development density.
Public footpaths and bridleways run through the site, which would require retention within
the overall scheme design and would impact on their use and enjoyment.
Consultation Questions:
12 Do you agree that new settlements have a potential role in delivering
growth as part of the spatial strategy for West Northamptonshire?
Yes/No
Please provide comments to support your answer.
13 Please provide any specific comments on the potential spatial options
identified for Long Buckby and Milton Keynes North West (Old Stratford)
(Options 5a and 5b)
Spatial Option 6 - Rural Areas
A significant part of West Northamptonshire is rural in nature with a dispersed network of
over 190 settlements ranging from larger, primary service villages (defined as the largest
category of village in respective part 2 local plans) to significantly smaller scale hamlets.
This area, and the settlements within it, play an important role in how the area functions,
contributing to the wider health and wellbeing of the area, the rural economy
and provides access to important local services and facilities. Furthermore, the rural
areas contain a number of natural and cultural assets which include biodiversity,
landscape and heritage, including a number of buildings and areas that are of national

Page 140

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
importance. All of these assets play a key role in contributing to what is locally distinct and
special about West Northamptonshire. Local communities are playing a crucial role in
shaping their surroundings with a number of ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans, reflecting the
complex planning issues facing these areas.
Looking forward to 2050, it is important that these areas can continue to thrive through
appropriate levels of growth, particularly given the affordability issues experienced across
large parts of the area and to ensure local needs are met. However, the level of growth also
needs to recognise the need to protect and enhance the special environmental and social
characteristics of the rural area. It will also be important that the level of growth in the rural
areas is supported by appropriate levels of infrastructure to ensure that communities
continue to thrive and are sustainable locations for existing and future residents.
Turning to the level of growth, given how closely aligned the overall housing requirements
are under the standard method to the requirements in the existing JCS, one approach is to
apply this level of growth going forward. For the Daventry and South Northamptonshire
areas the requirement was 2,360 dwellings in total which equates to 131 per annum over
the period 2011 to 2029. Moving forward over a 30-year period this equates to 3,930
dwellings for each of the Daventry and South Northamptonshire rural areas, 7,860 dwellings
in total.
For context, looking at past trends, i.e. housing completions, over the period 2011 to 2021
the Daventry area had 2,733 completions, 273 dwellings per annum and in South
Northamptonshire 2,335 completions took place over the same period, 235 dwellings per
annum. Over a 30-year period this would equate to 8,190 dwellings for the former Daventry
area and 7,050 dwellings for former South Northamptonshire, 15,240 dwellings, almost half
of the total Local Housing Need for the period to 2050.
However, some of these houses have been delivered on sites that came forward as a result
of a lack of 5 year housing land supply, which may not have been supporting a plan-led
approach and therefore the past completions rate is likely to be somewhat misleading as to
what would be an appropriate level of growth. In establishing appropriate levels of growth
for the rural areas it is acknowledged that they have performed very strongly, delivering
more and at a faster rate than at Daventry and Towcester. However, we have seen with the
JCS that this level of growth has been undermining the overall spatial strategy. It will be
important that the level of growth in rural areas supports the overall spatial strategy to
ensure any large-scale options pursued at the main towns are delivered. Furthermore, there
is the potential to consider the role of new settlements to address some of the requirements
for housing and economic development.
In deciding on an appropriate level of growth for the rural areas it will also be important to
look at the implications of the HENA (Housing and Economic Needs Assessment) in terms of
identified needs at a former district level and also local housing needs at a parish level. The
NPPF (para 66) sets out that housing requirements for designated neighbourhood areas
should be set out, which reflects the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of
development and any relevant allocations. The method for calculating such a figure has not
yet been determined but will be consulted on in the future as the plan develops further.

Page 141

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
Consultation Question:
14 Please provide your comments on the approach the WNSP should take to
development in the rural areas.
Land to the South of Market Harborough
An area of land situated to the South of Market Harborough has been promoted previously
through the call for sites process with a potential capacity of approximately 2000 dwellings.
Whilst the site is well-related to Market Harborough and would enable access for sustainable
travel modes it does feature some notable constraints, part of the area is identified as
special landscape area and it is relatively close to nearby scheduled monuments. Further
historic assets exist in East Farndon and any development would need to protect against
coalescence.
Given the relationship of the area with Market Harborough, it is acknowledged that
development in this location could help to meet the housing needs of Harborough
District. As part of fulfilling requirements related to the duty to cooperate, discussions have
taken place with officers at Harborough District Council and at present, given they are in the
formative stages of updating their local plan it is not possible to establish at this time
whether there is a need for land in this area to come forward. However, mindful that the
WNSP covers the period to 2050 it felt appropriate to acknowledge the long-term
development potential in this area and the need to maintain constructive dialogue with
Harborough District Council moving forward.
Consultation Questions:
15 Are there any other spatial options that we should be considering? If so
please provide details.
16 Are there any other comments you wish to make at this stage?
Call for Sites
The development of the spatial options consultation has been informed by suggestions for
strategic development locations submitted through a ‘call for sites’ held as part of the issues
consultation in 2019. The ‘call for sites’ is being re-opened as part of the spatial options
consultation. Whilst the focus of this plan remains on strategic sites, we will accept
submissions in respect of any site of 0.5ha or more for either housing or employment. If you
have any suggestions for new development locations, which were not previously submitted,
then please submit these using the ‘call for sites’ form which is available on our website: LINK
How to comment
Comments on the spatial options can be made from Monday 4th October to midnight on
Monday 29th November 2021. Your views are important and will help shape the next
stage of the plan.
You can make comments in a number of different ways, although the best way is likely to be
online. Our consultation website has an interactive questionnaire that that you can use to
submit your comments at:

Page 142

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community
Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – Appendix A
www.westnorthantsplan.inconsult.uk
If you would prefer to send us your written comments you can download a comment form
from the website and return it by email or post to the following addresses:
By email:
strategicplan@westnorthants.gov.uk
By post:
Strategic Plan
West Northamptonshire Council
The Guildhall
St Giles Square
Northampton
NN1 1DE
Next Steps
The next stage in plan preparation will be to produce a full draft plan for consultation, which
will include the preferred spatial strategy, strategic site allocations and policies to address
the strategic priorities for the area. We are aiming to carry out the draft plan consultation in
summer 2022. For further details of the stages in plan preparation and the expected
timetable please view the local development scheme here LINK

Page 143

This page is intentionally left blank

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement
of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme
– Appendix B

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT SCHEME
SEPTEMBER 2021

Page 145

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

1.0

WHAT IS A LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME

1.1

A Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out and timetables the key
planning policy documents that local planning authorities (LPAs) will
prepare to plan for development in their area. Its main purpose is to
ensure that local communities, businesses, developers, service and
infrastructure providers and other interested organisations know when
they will be able to participate. It is a requirement of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by Section 111 of the
Localism Act (2011)) that LPAs prepare and maintain an LDS.

1.2

The LDS must specify:


The local development documents which are to be development plan
documents;



The subject matter and geographical area to which each
development plan document is to relate;



Which development plan documents (if any) are to be prepared jointly
with one or more other local planning authorities;



Any matter or area in respect of which the authority have agreed (or
propose to agree) to the constitution of a joint committee;



The timetable for the preparation and revision of the development
plan documents; and



Such other matters as are prescribed.

1.3

Development plan documents must be prepared in accordance with the
LDS.

1.4

This LDS is the first to be prepared by West Northamptonshire Council
It sets out the programme for the production of the following local plans:
a) the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan which it is intended will
review and replace the policies that address the strategic priorities of
the area in the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (adopted
in December 2014); and
b) the Northampton Local Plan (Part 2) which will provide detailed
planning policies to manage and guide development across the
former borough council area.

Page 146

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

2.

THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN CONTEXT IN WEST
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE

2.1

The statutory development plan is a suite of documents that set out a
local authority's policies and proposals for the development and use of
land in their area.

2.2

Development plan documents (DPDs) must be written to be in general
conformity with government guidance, in particular the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF).
Development plan documents include:

2.3



Local plans for a council area (or for more than one council area if
working together). Preparation of a local plan is a statutory
requirement. A local plan may be a single document or a suite of
documents with some covering specific policy matters or specific
geographical areas.



Neighbourhood development plans can be produced by town or
parish councils or other relevant bodies to set out policies (however
expressed) in relation to the development and use of land in the
whole or any part of a particular, specified neighbourhood area. They
are not prepared by the local planning authorities but are submitted
to them ahead of independent examination and referendum.
Neighbourhood development plans are not legally defined as
development plan documents but do become part of the statutory
development plan upon their adoption.

West Northamptonshire Council was established on 1st April 2021 and
encompasses the former administrative areas of Daventry District,
Northampton Borough and South Northamptonshire Councils. For the
purposes of Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, on publication of this LDS in September 2021 the Development
Plan for West Northamptonshire comprises:







West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1)
– Adopted December 2014;
Settlements and Countryside Local Plan (Part 2) for Daventry
District 2011-2029 – Adopted February 2020;
South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) 2011-2029 – Adopted
July 2020
Saved policies of the Northampton Local Plan – Adopted June
1997;
Northampton Central Area Action Plan – Adopted January 2013;
and
Northamptonshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan – Adopted July
2017.

Page 147

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

2.4

The Development Plan also includes all the neighbourhood
development plans which have been formally ‘made’ by West
Northamptonshire Council and the predecessor authorities1
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1)
(JCS)

2.5

The JCS sets out the long-term vision and objectives for the whole of
the West Northamptonshire area for the plan period up to 2029, including
strategic policies for steering and shaping development. The Plan
includes overall targets for the provision of homes and jobs and identifies
specific locations for new strategic housing and employment together
with the transport and other infrastructure required to support
development.

2.6

The JCS provided a strategic framework to guide the preparation of the
Part 2 Local Plans for Daventry District, Northampton Borough and
South Northamptonshire. These Plans provide more detailed planning
policies and site allocations for each of the former council areas.
Settlements and Countryside Local Plan (Part 2) for Daventry
District 2011-2029

2.7

The part 2 local plan for the Daventry area was adopted in February
2021. The Plan sets out clear local policies, standards and criteria
against which all proposals for development and change of use of land
and buildings in the Daventry Area will be assessed and to inform
planning decisions in the period to 2029. The Plan also includes a
settlement hierarchy and allocations of land to meet development needs
identified in the JCS including policies, standards and criteria related to
sites for gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople.
South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) 2011-2029

2.8

The part 2 local plan for the South Northamptonshire area was adopted
in July 2020 and includes the following key components:
 Village and town confines;
 Designation of local green space;
 Establishing a settlement hierarchy;
 Provision of new and extended employment sites;
 Historic conservation, open space, landscape and nature
conservation policies and designations;
 Day to day development management policies;
 Urban and rural non-strategic employment allocations; and
 Policies map

1

Further information on Neighbourhood Plans is available via the following links: Daventry Area
Northampton Area South Northamptonshire Area

Page 148

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

Saved Policies from the 1997 Northampton Local Plan
2.9

A number of policies from the 1997 Northampton Local Plan were saved
in 2007 to ensure that they remained part of the development plan until
they could be replaced by subsequent local plans. Some of these
policies were subsequently replaced by the West Northamptonshire
Joint Core Strategy and the Northampton Central Area Action Plan but
a number of saved policies remain (see Appendix 2 – Remaining
Northampton Local Plan Saved Policies). These remaining policies will
be replaced by the Northampton Local Plan (Part 2) when it is adopted.
Northampton Central Area Action Plan (CAAP)

2.10

The CAAP was adopted in January 2013 and provides specific planning
policy and guidance for Northampton town centre and adjoining areas
where significant regeneration or investment is proposed in the period
up to 2026. The continuing regeneration and growth of Northampton’s
central area, coupled with planning reforms, such as the prior notification
system for changes of use from business to residential, means that it is
necessary to review the CAAP’s policies and proposals. The
Northampton Local Plan Part 2 will include those policies which remain
up to date and any CAAP policies which need updating. Once adopted,
the part 2 local plan will replace the CAAP.
Northamptonshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan

2.11

Northamptonshire County Council was responsible for the preparation
of the Minerals and Waste Plan which sets out the strategy, policy and
locations for minerals and waste development. The Minerals and Waste
Plan update, which concentrated on reviewing the sites and allocations
in the previously adopted 2014 Local Plan, was adopted in July 2017. It
provides planning policies and site allocations for minerals and waste
development in the whole of Northamptonshire. Future reviews of the
Minerals and Waste Plan will be the responsibility of West
Northamptonshire Council and will be set out in a separate minerals and
waste development scheme.

3.

THE FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

3.1

This section sets out the development plan documents which will be
prepared over the three-year period from September 2021 to September
2024.
Northampton Local Plan Part 2

3.2

This part 2 Local plan will cover the former administrative area of
Northampton Borough Council including the Northampton central area
and will be consistent with the JCS. The plan will cover the period up to
2029 and its main scope will be as follows:

Page 149

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021







3.4

Site specific allocations including residential and employment uses;
Detailed development management policies against which planning
applications will be determined;
Identification, phasing and implementation of local infrastructure;
Boundaries of retail centres;
Historic conservation, open space and nature conservation policies
and designations; and
Policies map

Preparation of the plan is well-advanced and adoption is anticipated in
April / May 2022. The timetable for completing the remaining stages of
plan preparation is set out in Section 5.
West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan

3.7

This plan will review and where appropriate replace the policies that
address the strategic priorities for the area in the adopted West
Northamptonshire Joint Core strategy Local Plan (Part 1).

3.8

The scope of the plan will focus on strategic matters which will, as a
minimum, meet the requirements of the revised NPPF for authorities to
have a plan that addresses the strategic priorities for their areas. The
plan will respond to the challenges and opportunities presented by the
government’s ambitious growth proposals for the Oxford – Cambridge
Arc. There will be a particular emphasis on place making for our
communities to ensure that development and associated infrastructure
is delivered through a plan led approach which ensures development of
the right quality, in the right place and at the right time.

3.9

To address the key strategic priorities for the area the scope of the plan
will comprise:









The spatial strategy for the distribution of development.
Climate change resilience – as a cross cutting theme that runs through
the plan’s strategy and policies.
Place-shaping / sustainable development – Key principles to ensure
quality development and sustainable places.
Natural and built environment - the protection and enhancement of
natural/built and historic assets and achieving net biodiversity gain.
The housing requirement – the number and type of new homes to be
provided across West Northamptonshire and the proportion of the
overall housing requirement that should be affordable.
Economic growth – Targets for the provision of jobs and employment
land in West Northamptonshire and guidance on the strategic locations
for new employment land to meet the jobs requirement. New policy
guidance for town centres and retail development.
Strategic infrastructure – The key primary infrastructure projects that
are required to deliver the strategy such as strategic transport schemes
utility networks and community facilities.

Page 150

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021




Health - ensuring people can lead active lifestyles, including access to
good quality open space, natural and semi natural greenspace and enjoy
cleaner air.
Strategic development locations and opportunities – Key strategic
sites that are crucial to the delivery of the spatial strategy will be
identified in the Plan.

3.10 The spatial vision will be extended up to 2050, the statutory plan period
will be 2021-2050 to ensure consistency with the anticipated OxfordCambridge Arc spatial framework.
Stages of Plan Preparation
3.11 The various stages of development plan document preparation, as
prescribed by regulations, are summarised below:









Commencement/ early tasks – This stage involves gathering evidence,
including the views of local communities. It also involves initial
consultation on the sustainability appraisal technical report.
Pre-submission (Regulation 18) – The council will consult on the
issues to be addressed by the plan followed by a consultation on the
options to address these issues. Engagement with stakeholders and the
community will continue throughout the pre-submission stage and is
expected to include a consultation on a full draft of the plan.
Proposed Submission Consultation or Publication Stage
(Regulation 19) – This stage involves a formal consultation on the final
version of the local plan, when the council will invite all interested parties
to submit representations.
Submission (Regulation 22) – The council will formally submit the local
plan to the Secretary of State for independent examination.
Examination – Interested parties can make representations to an
independent Planning Inspector. Following the examination the
Inspector will produce a report and may recommend changes.
Adoption – This is the process whereby the council will adopt the local
plan as part of the statutory development plan for the area.

3.12

The programme for preparing the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan
is set out in the schedule in section 5 and the LDS timetable in Appendix
1 at the end of this document. The council is expected to progress the
preparation of the Plan in accordance with the schedule and progress
on meeting the programme will be reported annually in the authority
monitoring report. If significant changes occur the LDS will be reviewed.

4.0

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS

4.1

This section outlines the range of supporting documents which will sit
alongside the proposed Northampton Local Plan Part 2 and the West
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan.

Page 151

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment
4.2

Under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 the
sustainability appraisal of development plans is mandatory. For the
development plan it is also necessary to conduct an environmental
assessment in accordance with the requirements of the Strategic
Environmental Assessment Directive (European Directive 2001/42/EC).
Therefore, it is a legal requirement for local plans to be subject to SA and
SEA throughout its preparation. The requirements to carry out SA and
SEA are distinct, although it is possible to satisfy both using a single
appraisal process. The aim of the process is to appraise the social,
environmental and economic effects of plan strategies and policies and
ensure that they accord with the objectives of sustainable development.

4.3

The SA, incorporating the SEA, is being undertaken as an integral part
of preparing the Local Plan and will help arrangements for monitoring
and implementation. The SA process has the following five stages:


Stage A: Setting the context and objectives, establishing the baseline
and deciding on the scope



Stage B: Developing and refining alternatives and assessing effects



Stage C: Prepare the sustainability appraisal report



Stage D: Seek representations on the sustainability appraisal report
from consultation bodies and the public



Stage E: Post adoption reporting and monitoring

4.4

Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as
amended) a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is required for any
proposed plan or project which may have a significant effect on one or
more European sites and which is not necessary for the management of
those sites. The purpose of the HRA is to determine whether or not
significant effects are likely and to suggest ways in which they could be
avoided. The first stage is to carry out a screening process to establish
if the local plan might have any likely significant effects on any European
site and therefore to determine whether a full HRA would be required for
the Plan. The screening will be undertaken at the same time as the
issues and options stage (Regulation 18 of the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012) of the plan’s
preparation.

4.5

Further details of how the SA and HRA processes relate to the local plan
preparation stages are set out in the diagram below:

Page 152

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

Policies Map
4.2

A comprehensive West Northamptonshire policies and proposals map
will geographically express the adopted local plan policies for West
Northamptonshire as a whole. In accordance with regulation 9(1) of

Page 153

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

the regulations, a submission policies and proposals map will
accompany the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan and the
Northampton Local Plan Part 2 to illustrate the geographical application
of their policies. The adopted policies and proposals map will be
revised as each new local plan is adopted, to ensure that it always
reflects the up-to-date local plan policies for the West Northamptonshire
area.
Authority Monitoring Report
4.3

Following its approval, the LDS will be monitored on an annual basis in
the West Northamptonshire Authority Monitoring Report (AMR).
Statement of Community Involvement

4.4

The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how the council
will engage communities and stakeholders in the preparation of planning
documents and the determination of planning applications. The
predecessor councils of Daventry District, Northampton Borough and
South Northamptonshire Councils have all produced SCIs.2 A new SCI
has been produced specifically to deal with engagement on the strategic
plan and it is expected that this will be adopted on 14 th September, The
consultation and engagement to be undertaken in the preparation of the
strategic plan will accord with the new SCI.
Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedules

4.5

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a statutory way of collecting
developer contributions to help fund infrastructure projects such as
transport schemes and community facilities, to support new
development in the area. Under the CIL arrangements local authorities
can charge a locally set rate per square metre on many types of new
development. The predecessor councils worked together on the
proposals for CIL across West Northamptonshire, but each borough and
district council retained its individual identity as a charging and collecting
authority and retained control over the spending of CIL receipts.

4.6

During 2015 each of the predecessor councils approved CIL charging
schedules and CIL charges have been operative across the whole of the
West Northamptonshire area since April 2016. West Northamptonshire
Council will consider whether a review of the CIL charging schedules is
necessary having regard to the evidence base produced for the strategic
plan.

5.0

PROGRAMME FOR PLAN PREPARATION

2

Daventry District Council - Statement of Community Involvement ; Northampton Statement of
Community Involvement ; and South Northamptonshire Council - Statement of Community
Involvement

Page 154

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

5.1

The programme for the preparation of the Northampton Local Plan Part
2 and the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan is set out in the
schedules below.

Schedule 1 - Northampton Local Plan Part 2
Subject Matter

To set out site specific allocations for the former
Northampton borough area including residential and
employment uses. It will include policies against which
planning applications for the development, management
and use of land and buildings will be considered. It will
include the identification, phasing and implementation of
local infrastructure for sites. As an example the policy
content will include boundaries of retail centres, historic
conservation, open space and nature conservation policies
and designations, highway issues and car parking. It will
replace the Central Area Action Plan and saved policies
from the 1997 Local Plan.

Geographical Area

Former Northampton Borough Area

Status

Development Plan Document

Timetable for Production and Conformity with Appropriate Regulations
Formal Commencement of Preparation/
September – October ‘15
Consultation on the Scope of the Local Plan Part 2/
Call for Sites (Regulation 18)
Issues Consultation (Regulation 18)

April - June ‘16

Options Consultation (Regulation 18)

September – November ‘16

Sites Consultation (Regulation 18)

October - November ‘17

Publication of Draft Plan and Consultation
(Regulation 19)

May ’19 – June ‘19

Round 2 Publication of Draft Plan and Consultation
(Regulation 19)

July ’20 - September ‘20

Submission (Regulation 22)

February ‘21

Examination (Regulation 24) (To be Confirmed)

October / December ‘21

Adoption (Regulation 26)

April / May ‘22

Management
Arrangements

Assistant Director: Economic Growth and Regeneration
and Head of Planning and Climate Change Policy. Regular
reports to Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Built
Environment and Rural Affairs and Assistant Cabinet
Members for Planning.

Resources Required

Planning and Climate Change Policy team; input from
other Council services, neighbouring authorities,
consultees, Programme Officer and Planning Inspectorate.

Page 155

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

Monitoring and
Review Mechanisms

Authority Monitoring Report

Schedule 2 – West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan
To address the key strategic priorities for the area
Subject Matter
including:
 The spatial strategy for the distribution of
development.
 Climate change resilience – as a cross cutting
theme that runs through the plan’s strategy and
policies.
 Place-shaping / sustainable development – Key
principles to ensure quality development and
sustainable places.
 Natural and built environment - the protection and
enhancement of natural/built and historic assets
and achieving net biodiversity gain.
 The housing requirement – the number and type
of new homes to be provided across West
Northamptonshire and the proportion of the overall
housing requirement that should be affordable.
 Economic growth – Targets for the provision of
jobs
and
employment
land
in
West
Northamptonshire and guidance on the strategic
locations for new employment land to meet the jobs
requirement. New policy guidance for town centres
and retail development.
 Strategic infrastructure – The key primary
infrastructure projects that are required to deliver
the strategy such as strategic transport schemes
utility networks and community facilities.
 Health - ensuring people can lead active lifestyles,
including access to good quality open space,
natural and semi natural greenspace and enjoy
cleaner air.
 Strategic
development
locations
and
opportunities – Key strategic sites that are crucial
to the delivery of the spatial strategy will be
identified in the Plan.
Status

Development Plan Document (Local Plan)

Geographical Area

The whole of West Northamptonshire

Timetable for Production and Conformity with Appropriate Regulations
Formal Commencement of Preparation/
October 2018 – June 2019
Consultation on the Scope of the Local Plan Part 2/
Call for Sites (Regulation 18)
Issues Consultation (Regulation 18)

August – October ‘19

Page 156

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

Options Consultation (Regulation 18)

October – November ‘21

Draft Plan Consultation (Regulation 18)

June ‘22

Publication of Draft Plan and Consultation
(Regulation 19)

December ‘22

Submission (Regulation 22)

April ‘23

Examination (Regulation 24)

October ‘23

Adoption (Regulation 26)

March ‘24

Management
Arrangements

Assistant Director: Economic Growth and Regeneration
and Head of Planning and Climate Change Policy. Regular
reports to Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Built
Environment and Rural Affairs and Assistant Cabinet
Members for Planning.

Resources Required

Planning and Climate Change Policy Team, input from
other Council services, neighbouring authorities,
consultees, Programme Officer and Planning Inspectorate.

Monitoring and
Review Mechanisms

Authority Monitoring Report

Page 157

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

APPENDIX 1 – LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME TIMETABLE
West
Northamptonshire
LDS timetable

2021

S

Northampton Local
Plan Part 2
West
Northamptonshire
Strategic Plan

O
E

2022

N

D

J

F

M

A

M

J

J

2023

A

S

O

N

D

J

F

M

A

M

J

J

2024

A

S

O

N

D

J

F

M

A

O

Key:
O – Consultation on Options (Reg 18)
D – Consultation on Draft Plan (Reg 18)
P- Publication of Proposed Submission Plan (Reg 19)
S- Submission of Plan to Secretary of State (Reg 22)
E – Commencement of Examination (Reg 24)
A – Adoption (Reg 26

D

P

S

E

A

A

M

J

J

A

S

Page 158

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

APPENDIX 2 – REMAINING NORTHAMPTON LOCAL PLAN SAVED POLICIES
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provided for the saving of policies in
adopted Local Plans for a period of 3 years from the commencement of Section 38 of the Act
(which was on 28 September 2004). Policies in plans approved or adopted at that date
expired on 27 September 2007 unless the Secretary of State extended them beyond that
date, by direction. The remaining policies are known as “saved” policies. The intention is that
as new local plans are prepared saved policies will be replaced. In the case of the former
Northampton Borough area some Saved Policies have already been replaced as a result of
the adoption of the Northampton Central Area Action Plan and the West Northamptonshire
Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1). The list below shows the remaining Northampton
Local Plan saved policies. All of the saved policies will be replaced when the Northampton
Local Plan Part 2 is adopted.
Note
An asterisk * next to the Policy Number indicates that the 1997 Northampton Local Plan Policy
Applies Outside Central Area Action Plan Boundary. In all other cases 1997 Northampton
Local Plan Policy applies as originally.
List of Remaining Northampton Local Plan Saved Policies
Policy
Number
E7
E9 *

Policy Name/ Description

Notes

Skyline development
Locally important landscape areas

E20 *

New development (design)

E26 *

Conservation Areas: development and
advertisements

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policies 4
and 29.
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy
1.
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.

E28

Use of upper floor shops and other
commercial premises
Shopping environment: new or
replacement shop fronts

Part of Development Plan

Advertisements: in conservation areas
Advertisement hoardings:
express consent
Other housing development:
backland development
Other housing development:
commercial property in primarily
residential areas

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan

E29 *

E30 *

E35
E36
H10
H11 *

Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policies 1
and 13.
Shop front: external security protection
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.

Page 159

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

H14 *

Residential development, open space
and children’s play facilities

Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 4.

H16
H17
H18
H21
H23
H24
H26

Housing for the elderly
Housing for people with disabilities
Extensions
Conversion to flats
Conversion to flats
Conversion to flats
Conversion to flats – floors above
shops
Hostels
Residential institutions
Multi-occupation with a single dwelling
Cumulative effect

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan

H28
H29
H30
H31 *

H35
B5

B6
B7
B8
B9
B10
B11
B14 *
B17 *

B19 *

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan.
Part replaced by CAAP Policy 16.

Childcare facilities
Part of Development Plan
Development policies for proposed
Part of Development Plan
business areas: Brackmills, Milton Ham
and Pineham
Support services
Part of Development Plan
Brackmills: height considerations
Part of Development Plan
Northampton Cattlemarket
Part of Development Plan
Pineham and Milton Ham: landscaping
Part of Development Plan
Zone
Pineham and Milton Ham
Part of Development Plan
Milton Ham: height considerations
Part of Development Plan
Development for non-business uses in
Part of Development Plan.
business areas
Replaced by CAAP Policy 15.
Use of land for open storage, salvage
Part of Development Plan.
and recycling
Part Replaced by CAAP Policies 1
and 15.
Existing business premises in primarily
Part of Development Plan.
residential area
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.

B20
B22 *

Working from home
Small businesses: up to 200 sq.m

B23 *

Repair and maintenance of vehicles

B31 *

Environmental impact of business
development: new locality

B32

Environmental impact of business
development: amelioration

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policies 1,
10 and 11.
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policies 1,
10 and 11.
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.
Part of Development Plan

Page 160

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

B33

T11 *

Environmental impact of business
development: hazardous
development
Commercial uses in residential areas

T12 *

Development requiring servicing

T14 *

Public transport – rail corridors

Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 8.

T16 *

Taxi services

Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.

T22 *

Provision for people with a disability

Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.

R9

Part of Development Plan

R15 *

Districts and local centres: change of
use from shops
Shopping facilities/ local centre in
major residential development
Car showrooms

R16
R17 *

Retail sales from petrol filling stations
Retailing from industrial premises

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 11.

L2 *

Community use of existing schools
and colleges

Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 4.

L10
L12

Bradlaugh Fields
Motor sports and motorised water
sports
Local community facilities
Allotment gardens
Alternative use of allotment land
Leisure proposals: site specific

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan

R11

L13
L24
L25
L26 *

D4
D6
D9

D12

Crow Lane (north): business or leisure
Delapre Abbey: office and conference
centre
M1 Junction 15a/ A43: suitable for
single development with high standard
of building design within a landscaped
setting
Land north west of Kings Heath

Part of Development Plan

Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policies 1,
10 and 36.
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 36.

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 1.

Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan.
Part Replaced by CAAP Policy 4.
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan
Part of Development Plan

Part of Development Plan

Page 161

West Northamptonshire Local Development Scheme – September 2021

D13

D16
D17 *

D20

Part of Development Plan
Overstone Scout camping ground (off
Billing Lane): residential or public
house/ hotel
St Edmund’s Hospital: development
Part of Development Plan
guidelines given
Southbridge area and power
Part of Development Plan.
station site,
Part Replaced by CAAP Policies 27
Nunn Mills: residential, business and
and 28.
leisure
Tweed Road (Pioneer Aggregates):
development guidelines given

Part of Development Plan

Page 162

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Respondent
Andrew Bodman

Comments
I have read the document concerning the
Consultation on a Statement of Community
Involvement for the West Northamptonshire
Strategic Plan. Reference has been made to the
national context. However within that section
there is no reference to the proposed changes
to the current planning system which were
published on 6th August 2020.
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations
/changes-to-the-current-planning-system

Suggested Response
Comments noted. The Government has
consulted on proposed changes to the
planning system, but there is no time scale for
the implementation of any changes. It is
necessary to have an SCI in place to set out
the Council's approach in the interim. If and
when a new planning system is brought into
being, a new SCI would need to be prepared, if
it continues to be part of the new system. A
note to this effect will be added to the review
section.

Suggested Action
5 Review
Add new paragraph

The comments relating to housing numbers
and location are a matter to be considered in
the plan itself, not the SCI.

No change

I recognise that these proposed changes have
not yet been approved by the UK Government
and I personally don’t agree with them.
Nonetheless, if approved, they represent a
significant change to the current planning
system and the current housing targets. It is my
understanding of these new proposals that
local councils will have far less influence on the
decision making of whether particular housing
proposals are approved or not.
I note that the effect on housing targets in this
locality (if approved) will be as follows:
Daventry District 679 target increase
South Northants 245 target increase
Northampton North 190 target decrease
Northampton South 209 target decrease

Page 163

That would give a net increase of 525 houses
for the West Northamptonshire Unitary
Authority.

5.1.3 In the autumn of
2020 the Government
consulted on proposals for
a new plan making
system. If it is decided to
bring that, or another new
planning system into
place, that maintains a
requirement for an SCI, a
new SCI will be prepared
and consulted upon
before being adopted by
the Council.

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C

I acknowledge that local authorities’ influence
will likely be diminished in future. However,
with what remaining influence that you have, I
hope that you will realise that people who
choose to live in rural areas frequently do so as
they prefer less densely populated areas.
Therefore, it would be desirable if the
additional housing was to be focussed on
towns such as Northampton, Daventry,
Towcester and Brackley. It is such towns which
have the greater infrastructure and the greater
employment opportunities.

These spatial matters are for the plan itself,
rather than the SCI

I trust that the next stage of the West
Comments noted
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan will reflect the
changes to the UK Planning System, if
approved.

No change

No change

Page 164

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Boughton Parish Council
(Jayne Bunting)

Boughton Parish Council have requested that I
write to you in respect of the above
consultation.

Page 165

Boughton Parish Council would like to
Agree that it is important to reach the general
underline the importance of a robust and
public with any consultation, the SCI sets out
comprehensive statement of community
how it is intended this will be achieved.
involvement that underpins a real and sincere
desire to engage with the community. This
should include reaching members of the
general public who, as yet, may not have heard
of the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan or
do not presently understand its importance but
who will be impacted by it, nonetheless.

No change

Section 3.3 references advertising and social
media. It talks of using Facebook and Twitter
“where possible”. Why “where possible”? The
Parish Council does not understand what
barrier there could be to doing this. Huge
swathes of the population get their news
online and via social media, bypassing local
newspapers. Advertising of the consultation
and related events should reflect this. Further,
it is important that social media campaigns aim
to reach a wide audience, including those who
do not follow DDC and related accounts.
Advertising on platforms, such as Twitter and
Facebook, is inexpensive and should be
employed to reach as wide an audience as
possible. Other platforms, such as those used
more by younger residents, should also be
considered. The situation regarding Covid 19

Internet and Social Media
(Page 10):
Delete ‘Where possible
and appropriate’ from
second sentence.

Agree that the SCI should be more definitive
about the use of social media. Regarding
other social media, it is agreed that forms in
addition to Twitter and Facebook could be
used. The SCI already acknowledges this, by
saying 'social media such as...'.(para 3.3.1)

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
further underlines the importance of reaching
the community virtually.
Section 3.3 also discusses questionnaires and
surveys. The Parish Council would like
reassurance that any such exercises will be
open and provide sufficient scope for views to
be expressed clearly and not simply be tick-box
exercises that lead respondents to give very
general answers that perhaps do not reflect
accurately or sensitively enough their views.

Questionnaires are a useful way of gathering
responses to consultations but agree that they
should not be the only form or constrain how
someone wants to respond.

Surveys and
questionnaire (Page 10):
Add to end of sentence,
‘…but these will be used
in an open way so as not
to constrain how people
respond.’

Page 166

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Highways England
(Martin Seldon)

Thank you for consulting Highways England on
the Draft Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI) for the West
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan (WNSP). We
understand that the WSNP is being developed
by the West Northamptonshire Joint Planning
Unit (WNJPU) which consists of Daventry
District, South Northamptonshire and
Northampton Borough Councils. We note that
the document sets out the proposed approach
that the Councils will take to engage with
stakeholders and the public in the preparation
of the WNSP.
Highways England has been appointed by the
Secretary of State for Transport as strategic
highway company under the provisions of the
Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the highway
authority, traffic authority and street authority
for the Strategic Road Network (SRN). It is our
role to maintain the safe and efficient
operation of the SRN whilst acting as a delivery
partner to national economic growth. In
relation to West Northamptonshire our
principle interest is safeguarding the operation
of the M1, M40 and M45 Motorways and the
A5, A14, A43 and A45 Trunk Roads which route
through the area.

Page 167

We note that it is acknowledged within the
document that the Councils are legally required
to consult specific bodies in accordance with
The Town and Country Planning (Local

Comments noted

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, which
identifies Highways England (a strategic
highways company) as a specific consultation
body and we welcome this.
Highways England has produced a document
titled ‘The Strategic Road Network: Planning for
the Future’ which is a guide to working with
Highways England on planning matters and can
be used as reference point for the WNJPU. The
document can be found in the following
location:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/syst
em/uploads/attachment_data/file/461023/N1
50227__Highways_England_Planning_Document_FINA
L-lo.pdf
We have no further comments to provide other
than to welcome the range of media that the
Councils will use to engage with the public
which will help to ensure that the entire crosssection of the local population has the
opportunity to be involved in the planning
process.

Page 168

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Network Rail (Diane
Clarke)

Network Rail is a statutory consultee for any
planning applications within 10 metres of
relevant railway land (as the Rail Infrastructure
Managers for the railway, set out in Article 16
of the Development Management Procedure
Order) and for any development likely to result
in a material increase in the volume or a
material change in the character of traffic using
a level crossing over a railway (as the Rail
Network Operators, set out in Schedule 4 (J) of
the Development Management Procedure
Order).
Network Rail is also a statutory undertaker
responsible for maintaining and operating the
railway infrastructure and associated estate. It
owns, operates and develops the main rail
network. Network Rail aims to protect and
enhance the railway infrastructure, therefore
any proposed development which is in close
proximity to the railway line or could
potentially affect Network Rail’s specific land
interests will need to be carefully considered.
All planning policy consultations and planning
application notifications should be issued to
the following email address only:
TownPlanningLNW@networkrail.co.uk

Page 169

Hard copy letters should not be issued going
forward.

Comments noted. Network Rail is identified
as a statutory consultee in box 1 on page 11 of
the SCI.

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Roland Puleston Jones

Consulting the public is essential.

Comments noted

No change

Geoff Pullin

Awful lot of words, but looks to continue
previous practice which is fine whatever 10DS
currently think.
On behalf of Buckingham Canal Society, we
welcome the SCI re the WNSP

Comments noted

No change

The Trust is on the database and will be
consulted.

No change

Buckingham Canal
Society (Terry Cavender)

Along with Canal and River Trust, we would like
to be put on the consultee list for all aspects
relating to the Ouse Valley corridor upstream
from Cosgrove to the county boundary and
including the historic line of the original canal
Through Cosgrove, Old Stratford, Deanshanger,
Wicken up to the county boundary
Buckingham Canal Society (BCS)
BCS was founded in January 1992. It is a
Registered Charity number 1156662 and is a
Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO). It
was formerly Registered Charity number
1072924 which was an unincorporated
charitable trust. The principle aims of the
Society remain unchanged by this transition
from one charity model to the other. The
transition of members and assets to the CIO
was formally completed on 1st August 2014. It
is affiliated to the Inland Waterways
Association and has members all over the UK.

Page 170

The Society’s objectives are as follows:
• To promote the restoration of the Old

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Stratford and Buckingham Arms of the Grand
Union Canal to good and navigable order and
to promote the maintenance and improvement
of the Waterway for the benefit of the public.
• To promote the fullest use of the Waterway
by all forms of water borne traffic and for all
forms of water-related commercial, local
amenity, tourist and recreational activity for
the public benefit.
• To promote the education of the public in the
history and use of the canals and waterways
and Buckingham Canal in particular.

Page 171

The Buckingham Canal Society would like to see
the canal re-opened, using the original line
wherever possible. The restoration of the canal
would bring new life, new recreational
opportunities and new environmentallyfriendly businesses to the countryside and
towns between Cosgrove and Buckingham.
Restoration projects elsewhere in the UK have
overcome much greater obstacles than any
found on the line of the Buckingham Canal. The
Society recognises that restoration is a longterm project which will involve major
investment but when the canal is restored it
will bring considerable benefits to the areas
through which the restored canal passes. To
this end two project sections have been
rewatered in Buckinghamshire and work is
ongoing at Cosgrove to rewater a mile of canal
there

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Brixworth Parish Council
(Peter Rowbotham)
Crick Parish Council
(Emma Parish)
Brixworth
Neighbourhood Plan
Steering Group (Michael
Parsons)
Mr John Hunt

Northants Police
(Sharon Henley)

Page 172

The Brixworth Parish Council is supportive of
the content of the Community Involvement
Statement.
We have examined the consultation paper and
are content with the approach.
I believe that the proposed document is sound
and balanced. It gives weight to the existing
Local and made Neighbourhood Plans and
commits to properly structured community
consultation.
It seems unnecessarily complicated. While I
appreciate that all legislation must be complied
with, I think a more simple summary of when
and how consultees can comment and upon
the particular matters which might affect them
in a practical way, might be more useful and
attract a better response. Many residents
struggle to keep up with the changes
necessitated by the new unitary authorities and
listing more committees, consultations about
consultations etc, only causes confusion or lack
of interest. A reference to the detail of
legislation and committees etc could be added
to a summary so that those wishing to delve
deeper can do so.
Northants Police are satisfied with the
consultation arrangements as described. As a
specific consultation body our involvement as a
planning consultee across all three planning
authorities has historically been very
satisfactory and this document gives no cause
to suggest this will be any different in the

Comments noted

No change

Comments noted

No change

Comments noted

No change

The document is concise and contains
diagrams which explain key features in an
easy to read format. The council will provide
further information about how to respond at
each stage of consultation.

No change

Comments noted

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
future under the West Northants Unitary
Council.
Colin Rabjohn

Page 173

1 - Given that the WNSP could have severe
implications for some residents in the county, I
think that it might be appropriate to delay the
next consultation until the Covid 19 crisis has
passed and/or we have a vaccine. We cannot
even guarantee that libraries etc will be open
to the public. Currently it would be impossible
to hold exhibitions or hold public meetings
and/or to consult with neighbours. At present,
any information sharing would need to be online and this could significantly hinder the
general understanding of what is being
proposed.

1 - concerns about undertaking consultation
activity during the pandemic are understood,
nevertheless it is important that planning
activity continues to ensure policies are kept
up to date. The SCI notes that suitable
adjustments need to be put in place to ensure
the public is aware of consultation activity and
can access documents, this is dealt with in
section 4.

2 - In the document the words "where
appropriate" appear a bit too often. Who
decides what's appropriate? I think you need to
decide up front exactly what you are going to
do and let us comment on that

2 – ‘where appropriate’ is used on a number
of occasions (and note it is proposed to
remove one of these), because it is not
possible at this stage to be precise about what
will happen at all stages of plan making. The
Council will determine what is 'appropriate' in
each case.

3 - In section 3.5.4 you say that that the next
draft will be written in plain English. I very
much doubt that this will be the case.
Unfortunately, the public sector has a lexicon
which is complete gobbledegook to the rest of
us. Just because it makes sense to you, it
doesn't follow that it makes sense to your

3 – every attempt will be made to write the
plan in plain English, however the nature of
the plan, and plan making process, is such that
some technical language is unavoidable. The
SCI notes that summary versions will be made
available.

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C

Mike Skidmore

Historic England (Emilie
Carr)

readership. I urge you to think very carefully
about what you are writing and avoid
abbreviations and references that mean
absolutely nothing to members of the general
public. Please write as though you work for
"The Sun". I trust that the purpose is to
INFORM the community, not to confuse it.
This document is littered with council-speak
such that the campaign for plain English would
have a field-day.
Aside from that it’s a completely pointless
exercise since, as far as members of the public
are concerned, the respective councils have a
long track record of completely ignoring the
weight of public opinion in planning
applications.
Thank you for consulting Historic England on
the Draft Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI) for West Northamptonshire.
As the Government’s adviser on the historic
environment Historic England is keen to ensure
that the protection of the historic environment
is fully taken into account at all stages and
levels of the local planning process.

Page 174

We support the general aims and approach to
the draft Statement of Community
Involvement. We welcome the
acknowledgement of Historic England as a
statutory consultee under duty to co-operate
at paragraph 3.2.16 and as a specific
consultation body with respect to Local Plans at

See response above re plain English.

No change

Public opinion is not completely ignored in
determining planning applications. The
Council will take account of all duly made
comments and weigh them in the balance
with other planning considerations, as they
are required to do in law.
Comments noted. The Council will engage
informally with Historic England where that
would be of benefit.

No change

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Box 1.
We would welcome consultation at an informal
level, in addition to the requirements of the
legislation, where issues may benefit from our
early involvement.
We hope that the above comments are of
assistance. If you would like any clarification or
would like to discuss the above please do not
hesitate to contact me.

Badby Parish Council
(Frances Williams)

Evenley Parish Council
(Cathy Knott)

Page 175

Farthinghoe Parish
Council (Mick Morris)

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you
wish to discuss any of these comments.
We are pleased to see that parish councils will
continue to be a key part of the consultation
process and will continue to be notified
directly. We would also be keen to take
advantage of any opportunity for the parish
council meeting to receive a direct briefing by a
member of the unitary council, at an
appropriate point in the process.
Evenley Parish Council met on Monday and
would like to submit the following response to
the plan:
Please consider different ways (other than
libraries) for members of the public without
internet access, to be able to take part in
consultations; possibly via village shops and
community halls.
Farthinghoe Parish Council is in agreement with
this draft Statement of Community

Comments noted

No change

Agree that it would be helpful to identify
other deposit points.

3.5.2 Add sentence to
end:
The council will also seek
to identify other suitable
deposit points such as
shops and community
halls.

Comments noted

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C

Dave Trill
Susan Bennett

Old Stratford Parish
Council (Anthony
Pateman)
Steve Summers

Bernard Knight

Involvement foe the West Northamptonshire
Community Plan
OK so far.
The strategic plan should include sheltered
housing developments of a high standard that
would appeal to older people with or without
health needs to move from larger properties to
properties with some support if required,
whether leasehold or to rent. This would
encourage the housing market for all age
groups in council or privately owned or rented
properties.
I think that the draft Statement of Community
Involvement is a full and comprehensive
Statement.
Appears comprehensive and appropriate.
The groups in section 3.1.3 are, quite rightly,
particularly important to consult with, as are
the lists in Box 2 & 3 on page 12.
Reading the documents am I right in assuming
that we will have three plans now?
Why not merge them to create one simple
document.

Comments noted
No change
These comments relate to the content of the
No change
plan rather than the SCI. Would encourage
respondent to make comments at plan making
stage.

Page 176

Comments noted

No change

Comments noted

No change

There would be three plans in some areas and
four in others namely:
 WN Strategic Plan
 any policies in the current Core Strategy
(2014) that are not replaced by the
Strategic plan
 Part 2 plans for each of the districts that
have merged to become WNC
 Neighbourhood plans (for some parts of
the area).
There are considered to be benefits of having
a tiered approach. The part 1 plans deal with
strategic matters such as the scale and broad

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
location of development, and then more
detailed matters dealt with in the part 2 plan.
Neighbourhood plans provide an opportunity
for local communities to produce their own
plans.

Caroline Trotter

Further to the publishing of the SCI for West
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan (September
2020), I would like to make the following
comments and objections before the deadline
on Thursday 12th November.

Page 177

1. In the SCI, it states “The existing SCIs for the
three districts will remain in place until such
time as they are reviewed. It is anticipated that
the West Northamptonshire authority will, in
due course, produce a single SCI for the whole
area covering all planning processes” - if this is
the case, would it not be appropriate for all
proposed developments that will have a long
term impact on the district, to be halted until
such time as there is a comprehensive review
of the three Strategic Plans to ensure the
overall future plans dovetail, reducing the
likelihood of a disastrous planning decision
being made e.g. the proposed Tiffield
Employment Park (AL3) - it is here that the
traffic modelling on behalf of IM Properties is
totally inaccurate as any local resident will
testify.

1- this consultation relates to the way
communities are consulted on plans, it is not a
plan in itself, therefore it will not have any
impact on existing commitments.

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C

2. In July 2020 SNC adopted the South
Northamptonshire Local Plan - I understand the
consultation period ran for 6 weeks 20th Feb
2020 to 3rd April 2020, you will note that over
a week of the consultation fell during
Lockdown, perhaps the decision to adopt the
SN Local Plan (2) should have been delayed
until the pandemic was under control as many
of the decisions taken may be inappropriate in
the new post pandemic era. It’s also worth
noting that the 6 week consultation period was
curtailed as all public places where the Local
Plan could be viewed had closed. I would
therefore state that there was NOT a statutory
six week consultation period!

Page 178

3. To return to the proposed Tiffield
Employment Park, not only is the traffic
modelling suspect but the plan itself is riddled
with weaknesses e.g. there is a surfeit of
warehousing in the local area, some of which I
understand has been empty or unsold for many
months/years - Brackley, Silverstone Business
Park, Tove Valley Business Park, Pury Hill
Business Park, Brackmills, Grange Park not to
mention the vast areas due for development
alongside the M1 from Junctions 19 to 14. The
proposed pedestrian crossing across A43
between the new Tiffield roundabout and the
Tove roundabout will not only cause further
traffic problems but it’s positioning will not
encourage its use by pedestrians/cyclists/horse

2- comments noted.

3 these comments relate to a specific proposal
rather than the SCI.

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
riders possibly resulting in lethal ‘dashes’
across the A43.
4. Employment - I understand that the SN Local
Plan suggests the requirement for local
employment to encourage those living in the
area to work locally rather than commute out.
However if we look at the cost of housing in the
SNC area, those seeking employment will be
too highly skilled to work in distribution units.
Building these warehousing units will merely
encourage commuting inwards thus defeating
the object of the Local Plan.

4 - these comments relate to a specific
proposal rather than the SCI.

5. Focusing on AL1 Woolgrowers, developing
this piece of land will further clog up the traffic
on A5/A43 both important arterial roads. This
in turn will have a serious impact on the local
minor roads and villages.

5 - these comments relate to a specific
proposal rather than the SCI.

6. This will also apply to AL2, Bell Plantation
6 - these comments relate to a specific
proposal rather than the SCI.

Page 179

7. Much of the proposed SN Strategic Plan
incorporates the existence of the Towcester
Relief Road which is now referred to as the
“Estate Relief Road” from which obviously,
once it’s eventually built, will merely provide
access to A43 for the Wood Burcote estate
properties. The lack of a Towcester Relief Road
must demonstrate that the ‘traffic modelling’ is
now out of date and therefore irrelevant.
Please see page 4 of Montagu Evans

7 - these comments relate to a specific
planning matter rather than the SCI.

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Independent Assessment on behalf of IM
Properties.
8. From a residential property development
point of view, the village of Greens Norton is
threatened with two large housing
development sites, these will not only impact
on the local road system but also increase the
chance of flooding and put the aged sewage
system under immense strain.

8 - these comments relate to a specific
planning matter rather than the SCI.

I could go on for pages with my objections but
suffice it to say - a review of the Local Plan is
paramount if detrimental planning decisions
are to be prevented. Once built there is no
going back!

Maidwell with
Draughton Parish
Council

Thank you for your time and I look forward to
receiving your comments.
Whilst it was agreed that the consultation
seemed very comprehensive, concern was
expressed that, because of much more
digitalisation owing to the current situation,
this could disenfranchise some of the
population, who may not have computers or a
good, reliable broadband, and it was therefore
felt important that face-to-face consultations
as previously held in libraries/village halls etc
were carried out.

Comments noted, the SCI recognises
(paragraph 3.1.5) that whilst digitalisation is
an efficient way of communicating for many, it
is not a suitable tool for some and it is
important to take reasonable steps to ensure
that sections of the community that do not
have internet access are involved.

No change

Page 180

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Mr Fry - Barratt Homes

No comment to make. The Statement of
community involvement, however appears as
more of a scoping of options to enable the SCI
to be drawn.

Harriet Notley

I would like to see the British Horse Society
consulted in the strategic plan. Horse riders
and owners are all too often overlooked but
Rights of Way that are safe not only provide
off-road access for horse riders but walkers and
cyclists too.
As Living Streets Northampton we are a local
group concerned with making Northampton's
roads safer for cyclists and walkers. We would
like to be involved in any consultation process
involving the development of Northampton's
cycling and walking infrastructure.
This is part of a creeping exercise in reducing
involvement and participation as it gets tied up
in terminology and things the public get more
and more remote from.

LivingStreetsNorthampt
on (Eluned Lewis-Nichol)

Rupert Knowles

The moment in the planning process that the
public understands is the final one: the one
when a piece of unsuitable and unpopular
development is imminent on their doorstep.
Time must be allowed for locals to discuss and
marshal objections at this stage if necessary.
The Localism Act (2011) contained key
initiatives:

Page 181

1. Neighbourhood Planning: that enables

Noted. The SCI is in its full form, for the
purposes of the Strategic Plan. As noted at
paragraph 1.5.1, the existing SCIs will remain
in place for planning matters outside of the
Strategic Plan.
The British Horse Society is on the database
and will be consulted.

No Change

Living Streets is on the database and will be
consulted.

No change

The intention of the SCI is to set out
mechanisms to engage with the public and
stakeholders, not to reduce involvement.

No change

Involvement in the plan making process
enables the public to engage far earlier than
when development is imminent. The SCI sets
out how this can happen.

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
communities to write their own plans to shape
development within their neighbourhood.
2. The Duty to Cooperate: the Council is
required to cooperate with other authorities,
statutory bodies and organisations when
producing Local Development Documents.
3. Consultation before applying for planning
permission: a requirement for planning
applicants to consult local communities before
applying for planning permission
It is the last of these that really allows local
communities to get involved and it is this stage
that this government is trying to remove on the
pretext that planning disputes are holding up
house building. There is planning permission
extant for a million new homes and the hold-up
is with developers sitting on their assets, not
with the planning process.

Harborough District
Council (Joanna
Ellershaw)

West Northants needs to publicise the truth
and not baffle the public with eyewash!
Plain English and easy to follow, no other
comments.

This SCI does not deal with consultation on
planning applications, this is dealt with in each
of the respective SCIs produced bythe districts
that merged to form West Northamptonshire.
Paragraph 5.1.2 states that it is anticipated
that these will be reviewed to set out how WN
council will undertake such consultations.

No change

Comments noted

No change

Page 182

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Country Land and
Business Association CLA (Alison Provis)

I write on behalf of the Country Land and
Business Association (CLA) in my capacity as
Regional Surveyor for the CLA East region,
which includes Northamptonshire.
We would like to comment on this Draft
Statement of Community Involvement for the
West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan. The CLA
represents some 30,000 members in England
and Wales, and is the leading authority on the
rural economy. Our members both live and
work in rural areas, operating a wide variety of
enterprises, and in the East of England, the CLA
represents nearly 5,000 landowners and rural
businesses.
The CLA supports the proposals set out in this
Draft Statement of Community Involvement
and welcomes the Council's desire to consult
members of the public. The CLA advocates the
early engagement of landowners, farmers and
rural businesses in future proposals associated
with the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan
to ensure collaborative relationships, regular
communication channels and expected ways of
working are established from the outset and
relevant information and local knowledge is
passed between parties as early as possible to
facilitate a proactive, collaborative approach to
the Strategic Plan.

Page 183

The CLA welcomes the methods through which
the Council plan to publicise the plan, as set out

Comments noted

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
in section 3.3. In respect of any in-person event
being held e.g. Public Exhibitions and Meetings
and Workshops/Meetings, it is important that
the locations for these are considered carefully
and include venues suitable for rural
communities to access, and that the events are
not focussed on urban areas.

The Council would think carefully about
locations for any meetings to ensure they
were in rural as well as urban locations.

No change

Notwithstanding this, Covid-19 has meant faceto-face events are currently not possible, in
which case it is important that a sufficient
number of online events are held at varying
times throughout the day to communicate
information with may have otherwise have
been relayed at a face-to-face event.

Noted. The SCI sets out the need to make
adjustments for ‘Extraordinary Circumstances’
which would include Covid 19 in section 3.8.

No change

The CLA would like to be kept informed of work
for the West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan
going forward so please add the CLA to your list
of General Consultation Bodies

The CLA is on the database and will be
consulted.

Page 184

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Towcester Town Council
(Elizabeth Cox)

East Northamptonshire
Council (Anne Dicks)

A commitment is made within the statement
on plans to engage with groups which are not
adequately represented. It is clear that many
groups remain unaware of consultations on
proposals that might affect them and, as a
result, have missed out on the opportunity to
respond.
Towcester Town Council would welcome the
inclusion of evidence within the consultation
which outlines the steps undertaken to engage
with these groups.
This is a rather brief document, to supplement
the West Northants authorities’ existing SCIs.
As it will form an important part of a suite of
documents, we would suggest that the existing
separate statements be appended to this
document.
We note:
• Sections on the Statement of Common
Ground and Neighbourhood Plan support are
not included in the document.

Page 185

• Two of the districts in the adjoining proposed
North Northants unitary authority are not listed
in the Duty to Cooperate section: East
Northamptonshire and Corby, although these
would be represented through the North
Northamptonshire Joint Planning and Delivery
Unit in any event.
• As Covid-19 is likely to be with us for some
time and it is acknowledged that this document
will be an interim one; until the new West

The SCI sets out, in section 3.3, how it is
intended that local communities would
become aware of consultations, this includes
the use of social media and informing
town/parish councils who can use their
networks to cascade information.

No change

Section 3.7 sets out that a report will be
prepared setting out what consultation
activities have been undertaken.

No change

The existing SCIs are referred to in this SCI,
there is no need to append them, but they will
be readily linked on the website.

Neighbourhood plan support is beyond the
scope of this SCI.

Noted, it is highly unlikely that there would be
any duty to co-operate matters with East
Northamptonshire and Corby.

The pandemic is not dealt with in a footnote
but is dealt with in a full section dealing with
‘Extraordinary Circumstances’.

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Northants authority produces a replacement
SCI, we would suggest that the pandemic
should have a more prominent headline status,
rather than a footnote to this document.

Page 186

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Thames Water Utilities
Ltd (Thames Water)

Thank you for consulting Thames Water on the
above document. Thames Water is the
statutory water and sewage undertake for the
area and is hence a “specific consultation body”
in accordance with the Town & Country
Planning (Local Development) Regulations
2012.
General Comments
New developments have the potential to
increase the requirements for water and
wastewaterinfrastructure. Thames Water will
deliver any necessary network reinforcement
works required to support new development
which will be funded by the Infrastructure
Charge. However, the timescales for delivery of
new infrastructure can be significant. In order
to ensure that development is aligned with any
necessary water and/or wastewater
infrastructure upgrades necessary to support
the development, and to minimise the need for
phasing conditions to be
sought on planning approvals to prevent the
occupation of development ahead of the
delivery of any necessary network
reinforcement works, developers are
encouraged to discuss their proposals and
infrastructure requirements with Thames
Water at an early stage.

Page 187

As such we would welcome inclusion of text
within the SCI encouraging applicants to seek

The comments relate to planning application
matters, these are dealt with in the existing
SCI’s

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
preapplication advice from Thames Water to
discuss water and wastewater infrastructure
requirements ahead of the submission of any
application. Further information for developers
and land promoters on pre-planning enquiries
can be found at:
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/preplanning.
A copy of this link could be included in the SCI
or on the local authorities website on the
preapplication page to encourage developers
to utilise Thames Waters pre-application
service.
Encouraging developers to engage with Thames
Water would accord with Paragraph 40 of the
NPPF which states that local authorities should,
where they think this would be beneficial,
encourage any applicants who are not already
required to do so by law to engage with the
local community and, where relevant, with
statutory and non-statutory consultees, before
submitting their applications.
We trust the above is satisfactory, but please
do not hesitate to contact us if you have any
queries.

Page 188

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Friends of Northampton
Castle (Marie Dickie
OBE)

Page 189

The 16 page document is a useful outline of the
who and when of consultation around the
production of WN Strategic Plan. Friends of
Northampton Castle would like to be included
on your data- base for all further stages. We
have the following concerns:

The Friends of Northampton are on the
Council’s database and will be consulted.

there is no specific reference to the need to
include local history groups among your
consultees, yet these are groups with a strong
stakeholder interest in planning developments.

The SCI identifies those bodies where there is
specific requirement to consult, in boxes 1 and
2 (pages 11 and 12) , and acknowledges that
other consultees should be consulted; this
would include local history groups – these
would be included in box 3 on page 11.

there is reference to the need to make extra
efforts to consult with young, elderly and
BAME groups but no reference to the likely
underrepresentation, in planning consultation,
of economically disadvantaged
neighbourhoods.

The list in paragraph 3.1.3 is a non-exhaustive
list, but agree that economically
disadvantaged neighbourhoods can be added.

3.1.3 add
‘economically
disadvantaged
neighbourhoods’ after
‘young’

the emphasis on limiting the number and scale
of face to face, public meetings will impact
more on the above groups where they are
unskilled in planning matters.

The SCI does not have an emphasis on limiting
the number of public meetings.

No change

there is a reference to the inclusion of
Neighbourhood Plan groups but the
assumption seems to be that these will be
predominantly, Parish Council led. This is not
entirely the case, particularly in urban
Northampton.

The SCI does not have a presumption that
Neighbourhood plan groups will be parish
council led.

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
there is no consideration given to the more
innovative styles of consultation eg planning
for real exercises. The credibility and
sustainability of the consultation process would
benefit by being less paper based.
Thank you for the opportunity to comment.

The SCI contains various references to
exploring the best ways of engaging:
 At paragraph 3.1.3 it refers to exploring the
best way of consulting and liaising
 At paragraph 3.1.5 it refers to exploring new
methods of communication and
engagement
 At 3.3.1 it refers to workshops/meetings.

No change

Page 190

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Louise Croft

Further to your email of 29th September I
would be grateful if my comments regarding
the Strategic Plan can be included, in advance
of the deadline at 5pm on 12th November : The Strategic Plan needs far more joined-up
thinking for it to be successful. Currently it is a
series of unrelated proposals without due
consideration for the area as a whole and the
impact for those of us who currently live here.
I am particularly concerned regarding the
proposed development of Towcester,
specifically Local Plan AL1, AL2 and AL3, which
in turn adversely affects the nearby villages. I
would urge the Planners to reject the IMP
proposal forAL3, the consequences of which
will be:
TRAFFIC

Page 191

a. Increased traffic will use the villages and
hamlets close to the A5 and A43 as rat-runs to
avoid the inevitable hold ups at the existing
and proposed roundabouts.
b. AL3 and the proposed Hulcote roundabout
will turn Northampton Road into a link road
between central Towcester and the A43. The
safety argument is false as it will merely shift
danger from the A43 to the pedestrians and
cyclists using the Northampton Road.
c. The proposals by IMP for AL3 will lead to tail
backs on the A5 as far as the racecourse and up

Noted, the comments made in this response
relate to specific planning schemes or matters
that are not dealt with in the SCI.

No change

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
to the Towcester roundabout given the current
configuration of the Saracen’s Head crossroads
does not allow for the simultaneous flow of
continuous and turning vehicles. This will be
worsened during rush hours as this is the
nearest junction to Sponne school. If IMP
proposes to change the pedestrian controlled
lights to become time controlled, it will
encourage impatient school children to jaywalk
through slow moving traffic.
d. Lead to hold ups between the Towcester
roundabout and the proposed Hulcote
roundabout (as per the existing stretch of A43
between McDonalds and Towcester). IMP is
pitching this development on the basis that it
will provide up to 1,500 ‘local’ jobs (which is
disputable). If that is the case, and those
workers are walking or cycling to work
(unlikely) there will be a constant flow of
pedestrians/cyclists activating the controlled
crossing on the A43 and waiting in the central
reservation. How can this be desirable or safe?
Alternatively, If they use cars to access AL3
(much more probable) this will add significantly
to the traffic in and around Towcester with the
attendant light/noise and air pollution.

Page 192

ECONOMIC NEED
This needs to be assessed and agreed for
Northamptonshire as a whole county, not as
piecemeal allocations. It does not make sense
to build an industrial park such as AL3 in green
fields near to Towcester, when there is already

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
availability of similar developments (either built
or in the process of being so) between
Brackley/Silverstone/Collingtree/Grange Park
and Panattoni Park, the huge Northampton
Gateway, not to mention Brackmills,
Wellingborough, DIRFT and other sites flanking
the M1 corridor to junction 19. Individual
Councils risk being lured into permitting such
developments by the promise of increased rate
revenue, regardless of whether those units are
occupied or not. Once built they cannot be
undone.
HOUSING
Regarding new housing, I ask that greater
priority is given to infrastructure and
particularly risk of flooding and sewage
treatment before further swathes of new
homes are built in the Towcester area.
It therefore makes sense that until the two new
Unitary Councils have been established, and
the UK has successfully recovered from the
threat of Covid, any such ‘grand schemes’ are
put on hold and reassessed to ensure they are
relevant, cohesive and beneficial for the years
ahead. Indeed, there has never been a greater
need for ‘strategic’ to mean exactly that.
Please could you acknowledge receipt?

Page 193

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
Radstone Parish
Meeting (Andy Smith)

Northamptonshire
County Association of
Local Councils (Danny
Moody)

Following review of the draft Statement of
Community Involvement (SCI) I can find no
specific reference to Parish Meetings. Although
I am sure it is intended to ensure Parish
Meeting inclusion, it may appropriate to make
specific reference.
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to
the consultation on the draft Statement of
Community Involvement for the West
Northamptonshire Strategic Plan.
Having read and reviewed the draft SCI,
Northants CALC supports its overall aims and
objectives and specifically the way the process
will operate.
I note that the proposed consultation period
for each stage is six weeks. Noting that some
parish councils meet only once every two
months, I wonder if it would be possible to give
prior notice that a consultation period is
coming up. For example, if two to three weeks’
notice could be given of the start of the next
consultation phase then it would allow councils
to put the item on their next meeting’s agenda,
whilst still keeping the formal consultation
period to six weeks.

The section headed 'Town/Parish Councils…'
on page 10 is intended to equally apply to
Parish Meetings, but accept that this is not
entirely clear. This will be rectified.

Add footnote (page10)
'All references to parish
councils includes parish
meetings’.

Agree that it is helpful to provide advance
notice to parish councils, this is covered in
section 3.3 on page 10 where it states that
'Where possible, Town/Parish Councils will be
given advance notice of forthcoming
consultation periods...'.

No change

Page 194

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
The British Horse Society
(Wendy Bannerman)

I have read the consultation document and
would like to request notification about future
consultations on the Strategic Plan and
associated documents.

The Horse Society is on the Council’s
database and will therefore be notified of
consultations.

No change

Comments noted. The Fire Service will be
consulted on each stage of the plan
preparation process. If there are any
proposals that directly affect their estate, the
Council will engage directly with the Fire
Service.

No change

The British Horse Society has 1886 members
across Northants and volunteers locally
advocating the consideration of equestrian
access in any development plans. Membership
is diverse in terms of protected characteristics.
There are horse owners in addition to our
membership numbers and it is worth noting
that nationally the equestrian sector
contributes £4.7 billion to the economy. In
addition to monetary value, equestrian activity
is included in the definition of Active Travel (Rt
Hon Jesse Norman MP) and has physical and
mental health benefits.

Northamptonshire Fire
and Rescue (Julie Oliver)

I look forward to the pending consultation.
Afternoon and apologises for the latest of the
reply. The below comment has been made by
Barry Mullan Area Manager of Business
Services.

Page 195

“NFRS would like to participate and support the
development of the WNSP. If there are any
areas within the plan that pertain to the Fire
Service or the delivery of our Services to the
community, can you advise the
Northamptonshire Fire & Rescue Service ,
accordingly”

West Northamptonshire Strategic Plan: Spatial Options Consultation and Statement of Community Involvement and West Northamptonshire Local
Development Scheme – Appendix C
The Ramblers,
Northamptonshire Area
(David Craddock)

Thank you for forwarding me the Draft SCI and I Comments noted
am responding on behalf of The Ramblers,
Northamptonshire Area, and can confirm that
my Association has no comments to make on
the document.

No Change

Page 196

Agenda Item 12

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder For Environment, Transport, Highways And Waste:
Councillor Phil Larratt
Report Title

A422 Farthinghoe Bypass

Report Author

Chris Wragg – Transportation & Development Manager
Chris.wragg@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West MO
West S151
Other Director/SME
Communications Lead

Catherine Whitehead
James Smith
Stuart Timmiss
Becky Hutson

26th August 2021
26th August 2021
26th August 2021
6th August 2021

Legal
Finance

Debbie Carter-Hughes
Antony Russell

9th August 2021
19th August 2021

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Route Options
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

To update Cabinet on the progress made with developing proposals for an A422 Farthinghoe
Bypass to include results from a consultation exercise held in 2020, possible interim solutions
and timescales for future funding opportunities.

Page 197

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

Consultation on four northern route options for the A422 Farthinghoe Bypass was undertaken
between 6 November 2020 and 3 January 2021. 87% of those who responded felt a bypass was
necessary and 65% supported a northern route. There was a clear preference for Northern Route
V1/Orange over the other three options presented. The detailed comments raised issues,
particularly around landscape and fog which need considering in more detail before it is
appropriate to recommend a preferred route to Cabinet. Assuming a decision on a preferred
route before the end of 2021, the earliest opening date for the scheme is estimated to be mid2028.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet receive the results of the recent consultation on the A422
Farthinghoe Bypass and agree the timescales for further work

4.

Reason for Recommendations
 To progress the delivery of the A422 Farthinghoe Bypass, which is a priority scheme for the
Council.
 The recommendation reflects the results of the consultation and scheme assessment work
and the need to examine the points raised in the detailed consultation comments in more
detail.
 The timescales for further work are based on the processes to be followed to gain statutory
and funding approval for a major highway scheme.

5.

Report Background

5.1

The village of Farthinghoe (population 413, 2011 census) is located on the A422 between Banbury and
Brackley.

5.2

In the 1980s, in anticipation of the forthcoming opening of the M40, the former County Council developed
a policy of upgrading the A422 to provide a high-quality route for traffic from the M40 towards Milton
Keynes. Middleton Cheney was bypassed in 1991 and a southern bypass for Brackley was opened in 1992.
Improvements, jointly with Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire County Councils, improved the A421 to
continue the upgrade towards Milton Keynes.

5.3

Plans were developed to provide a bypass for Farthinghoe, but difficulties in determining an appropriate
route which enjoyed public support, at a time when Government funding for new road construction was
being significantly reduced, led to the scheme being discontinued.

5.4

This has left Farthinghoe as the only village on the A422/A421 between the M40 and Milton Keynes
without a bypass. In the subsequent period the local community has continued to campaign for a bypass.
Although current traffic flows of some 11,000 vehicles per day (7.5% HGV) are lower than those
experienced by some other villages in West Northamptonshire, there is a pinch-point in the village which
prevents two large vehicles passing, and this frequently leads to vehicles mounting the footways, which
has resulted in recorded accidents between vehicles and collisions with residential boundaries.

Page 198

5.5

Local concerns have been heightened by the potential for significant growth at Banbury in the period 2014
to 2031, as proposed in the adopted Cherwell Local Plan. This includes proposals for 7,106 new houses
and a strategic employment located allocation located east of Banbury adjacent to the M40 and the west
Northamptonshire border. Inevitably, this level of development will increase current traffic flows on the
A422 through Farthinghoe.

5.6

There is also concern that the substantial volume of HS2 construction traffic forecast to use the B4525,
which broadly parallels the A422 between the M40 and A43, will lead to much of the traffic from that
route switching to the A422 for an extended period.

5.7

In November 2016, following consultation on northern and southern route options, the County Council
Cabinet agreed that the A422 Farthinghoe Bypass should be added to the County Council’s priority list of
major road schemes and that a northern route should form the basis of further work to develop the
scheme.

6.

2020 northern route options

6.1

Following the identification of funding to progress the scheme by the former County Council and
South Northamptonshire Council, further work to develop four northern route options was
undertaken in 2020.

6.2

A plan showing the four northern route options, with the 2016 southern route included for
comparison, can be found at Appendix A.

6.3

A Scheme Assessment Report provided a technical overview of the routes. The desktop
environmental impact assessment showed that the impacts of the four northern routes were
very close:
 Northern Routes V0 and V1 scored best on Landscape impacts
 Northern Route V1 scored worse than the other routes on Materials Waste impacts
 Northern Route V3 scored best on Road Drainage – Groundwater Impact
 Northern Route V0 scored worst on Road Drainage Flood Risk/Surface Water impacts
Overall Northern Routes V0 and V3 scored slightly better than routes V1 and V2.

6.4

The
Scheme
Assessment
Report
can
be
found
on
the
website
at
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/northamptonshire-highways/majorhighway-projects/Pages/a422-farthinghoe-bypass-consultation.aspx

7.

Consultation results

7.1

Consultation on four northern route options was undertaken between 6 November 2020 and 3
January 2021. The intention was to designate a preferred route which would then be the basis of
further work to develop the scheme. Owing to coronavirus restrictions, the consultation was
hosted on-line with two webinars being held. A total of 400 leaflets were distributed to the village
and surrounding area, and 430 responses were received.

7.2

The first consultation question asked whether Farthinghoe needed a bypass:
 87% supported a bypass
 11% did not support a bypass

Page 199



2% did not know

7.3

The second question asked about preference for a northern or southern route:
 65% supported a northern bypass
 13% supported a southern bypass
 10% did not support a bypass
 12% did not know

7.4

The next question asked about support for the specific northern route options which has been
presented:
Strongly Support Neither support
Object
Strongly
Don’t
Support
nor object
Object
Know
Northern Route
10%
20%
22%
19%
24%
5%
V0/Blue
Northern Route
48%
16%
12%
6%
12%
5%
V1/Orange
Northern Route
18%
27%
25%
9%
16%
5%
V2/Purple
Northern Route
18%
24%
24%
9%
20%
6%
V3/Magenta

7.5

These results show clear support for a bypass and for a northern route over a southern route. Of
the four options presented for consultation, there was a clear preference for Northern Route
V1/Orange over the other three.

7.6

The full Consultation Report will be published on the Council website once an accessible version
has been created, but in the meantime is available on request.

8.

Next steps

8.1

While the consultation demonstrated clear support for Northern Route V1, the detailed
comments raised issues, particularly around landscape and fog which need considering in more
detail before it is appropriate to recommend a preferred route to Cabinet. The designation of a
preferred route represents a significant stage in the development of a major road scheme as it
allows a focus on a single route as the basis of more detailed work.

8.2

Essentially, there are three processes which are then followed in taking a major road scheme
forward. The design of the scheme develops as these processes are followed.

8.3

The first element concerns the statutory process to prepare a planning application, with the most
significant work being the environmental assessment. Following the receipt of planning
approval, it is then necessary to secure the land required for the scheme either by negotiation or
through a Compulsory Purchase Order. If any sections of existing highway are to be closed off as
part of the scheme, it is also necessary to seek a Side Roads Order. If objections to the
Compulsory Purchase Order or Side Roads Order cannot be resolved, a public inquiry is required.
All three elements of this process may involve an independent inquiry or judgement which will

Page 200

have the risk of being refused. Only once we have carried out the initial work will the overall
risks of this be understood.
8.4

In parallel with the statutory processes, it is necessary to obtain funding for the scheme. The
likely funding source is Government funding, which requires the preparation, submission and
acceptance of a series of business cases in accordance with the Department for Transport’s
methodologies. Without the funding in place an application for a Compulsory Purchase Order
will not be successful.

8.5

Finally, it is necessary to appoint a contractor to construct the scheme. While Early Contractor
Involvement or Design & Build are usually preferred, so that the contractor inputs to the design
of the scheme, the appointment to construct the scheme is not made until all statutory powers
and funding are in place and a final cost for the scheme has been agreed.

8.6

Assuming a decision on a preferred route before the end of 2021, the earliest dates at which the
scheme can be expected to progress are as follows:
Late 2022
Mid 2023
Early 2024
Mid 2024
Early 2026
Mid 2026
Mid 2028

Submit Strategic Outline Business Case
Complete Preliminary Design
Submission of planning application and Outline Business Case
Planning permission granted and Cabinet decision to progress scheme
Confirmation of Compulsory Purchase Order and Side Roads Order (if
required); completion of detailed design
Approval of Full Business Case; Cabinet decision to award construction
contract
Earliest opening date for scheme.

8.7

However, the timescales for submissions of business cases and securing funding would be
dependent on there being a suitable funding round open at the appropriate time.

9.

Interim Measures

9.1

As this report highlights the overall timescales to construct the bypass are significant with a
number of steps and issues to be resolved before any certainty can be provided to the residents,
many of them outside the control of the Council. This unfortunately leaves a challenging situation
for the residents and users of the road for at least the next 6 – 7 years.

9.2

In order to assist with this the Council will prepare a plan which will identify possible interim
measures that will alleviate the safety issues and concerns at the pinch point where it is difficult,
if not impossible for large vehicles to cross. It is proposed that traffic lights be positioned on this
road, reducing traffic to one lane and therefore removing the particular safety concern that has
been identified. This however does not reduce the growing number of vehicles going through
the village and hence the need for a bypass remains.

9.3

It is proposed that an initial proposal is drafted and further consultation take place with the Parish
Council and residents prior to developing a more detailed business case and costings.

Page 201

10.

Implications (including financial implications)

10.1

Resources and Financial

10.1.1 There are no resource or financial implications directly arising from this report, as the current
work to prepare a design for the scheme is funded from £1.65m which has previously been
committed to the scheme (£250k Community Infrastructure Levy from South Northamptonshire
Council and £1.4m accumulated Section 278 balances by the County Council). Of this funding,
£231k has been spent to the end of June 2021.
10.1.2 Further funding will be needed in due course to progress the planning application and Outline
Business Case, and to continue work through to construction. Further details of funding required
will be included in a future cabinet report. As mentioned in section 7 of this report, it is
anticipated that a bid for Government would be necessary to fund the construction costs for the
scheme, although some funding rounds do require a local contribution. Currently the Levelling
Up Fund which includes the opportunity to bring forward road schemes is being considered
however this will be further reviewed following development of the business case and
consideration whether this proposal meets the bidding criteria at that time.
10.1.3 The designation of a preferred route by a resolution of the Council, which is expected to be the
subject of a further Cabinet report before the end of 2021, would open the way for blight claims
to be submitted to the authority from those whose land would be acquired for the chosen route
if they are able to show that, after appropriate marketing, they are unable to sell otherwise than
at a substantially reduced values as a result of the scheme. If a blight claim is successful then
there will be a financial impact on the authority, although much of this impact can be mitigated
by subsequent sale of the property.
10.2

Legal

10.2.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report, although as mentioned in section
7 above it is likely that Compulsory Purchase and Side Roads Orders will be required in due
course. These Orders require significant work and take time to confirm (especially if a public
inquiry is required) and therefore this must be taken into account when considering the
timescales for scheme delivery. More information will be available on this when a preferred
route is designated.
10.2.2 As noted in section 10.1.3, a formal resolution to adopt a preferred route may, at that stage,
open the authority to blight claims because land identified in that resolution would then fall into
the categories of blighted land set out in Schedule 13 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1991.
. A successful blight claim is not automatic and the Council is able to reject claims where the
required evidence has not been provided by service of a counter-notice. Once again, this does
not become a concern for the Council until a preferred route has been adopted by resolution.
10.3

Risk

10.3.1 There are no significant risks directly arising from the recommendations in this report.

Page 202

10.3.2 As noted in section 10.1.3 above, designation of a preferred route, which is expected to be the
subject of a further Cabinet report before the end of 2021, opens the way for blight claims to be
submitted the authority from those near the route who are unable to sell their property as a
result of the plans for the route. If a blight claim is successful then there will be a financial impact
on the authority, although much of this impact can be mitigated by subsequent sale of the
property.
10.3.3 It should also be noted that submitting a bid for funding at an early stage of scheme development
can expose the Council to financial risk if costs subsequently rise, and it is not possible to bid for
additional funding. It is recommended that a bid for funding should only be submitted before
the planning application and Outlines Business Case have been prepared, and the scheme design
has been developed to at least that stage, if there is flexibility to increase the amount of funding
sought as more information on costs becomes available.
10.4

Consultation

10.4.1 Consultation is dealt with in section 6 of this report.
10.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

10.5.1 Farthinghoe Bypass has not been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
10.6

Climate Impact

10.6.1 The Scheme Assessment Report predicts that construction phase of each of the proposed options
is predicted to generate adverse effects by causing an increase in greenhouse gas emissions.
During the operational phase of the Proposed Scheme, each option is predicted to create
beneficial effects by reducing operational emissions compared to the baseline.
10.7

Community Impact

10.7.1 The scheme is expected to have an overall beneficial impact on the community of Farthinghoe
by removing traffic from the centre of the village. However, there will be an adverse impact for
those near to the bypass.

11.

Background Papers

11.1

Scheme Assessment Report
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/northamptonshire-highways/majorhighway-projects/Pages/a422-farthinghoe-bypass-consultation.aspx.

Page 203

This page is intentionally left blank

A422 Farthinghoe Bypass – Appendix A

Page 205

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14 September 2021
Portfolio Holder for Community Safety and Engagement, and Regulatory
Services – Councillor David Smith
Report Title

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22

Report Author

Ed Cooke, Environmental Health Manager: Health Improvement
(Daventry), edward.cooke@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West MO
West S151

Other Director/SME
Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Catherine Whitehead
James Smith on behalf of
Martin Henry confirmed by
Martin Henry
Stuart Timmiss
Craig Forsyth

20 August 2021
19 August 2021
24 August 2021
24 August 2021
23 August 2021

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22
Appendix B – Food & Feed Standards Service Plan 2021-22
Appendix C – Spray Paint Enforcement Plan 2021-22
Appendix D – Tobacco Enforcement Plan 2021-22

Page 207

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To bring the statutory plans required to be produced by Regulatory Services before West
Northamptonshire Council (WNC) as required by legislation and in accordance with the
requirements of the Food Standards Agency. These plans are Food Safety and Food & Feed
Standards Service Plans and the Spray Paint and Tobacco Enforcement Plans.

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

The Food Standards Agency (FSA) issues statutory instructions to local authorities, including the
requirement for councils to produce service plans for food safety and food and feed standards.
Both plans are shown at appendix A and B respectively.

2.2

In addition to stating the service aims and objectives, the plans detail the demands on the service
and how it will be delivered throughout 2021/22. The demands and delivery have been, and to a
greater or lesser extent continue to be, adversely affected by Environmental Health and Trading
Standards input into the COVID-19 response.

2.3

Under s32 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005, the local weights and
measures authority is required to consider the extent to which it is appropriate to carry out a
programme of enforcement of section 54 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003, which prohibits
the sale of aerosol paint containers to people under 16.

2.4

The Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 requires the council to
annually consider and carry out an appropriate programme of enforcement action relating to
age-restricted tobacco controls.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet:
a) Approve the Food Safety Service Plan for the year 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022
b) Approve the Food and Feed Standards Service Plan for the year 1 April 2021 to 31
March 2022
c) Approve the Spray Paint Enforcement Plan for 2021-22
d) Approve the Tobacco Enforcement Plan for 2021-22.

4.

Reasons for Recommendations.
The recommendations are necessary to meet with the requirements of the Food Standards
Agency and relevant legislative requirements.

Page 208

5.

Report Background

5.1

This report presents the inaugural West Northamptonshire Council’s Food Safety and Food and Feed
Standards Service Plans along with the Spray Paint Enforcement Plan and the Tobacco Enforcement Plan.

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

It was not possible to produce the final versions of these plans until after 31 March 2021 because
they require reports on the achievement of the previous year's plans and data for next year,
which were not available until after the year-end. Its production in a timely manner has been
further hindered by Environmental Health’s and Trading Standards’ extensive input into the local
COVID-19 response causing delays in many areas of ‘business as usual’.

6.2

The key requirements common to all regulatory services plans are:















They must be agreed by elected members
Documented policies and procedures must be provided, controlled and reviewed
including enforcement policies
Officers must be properly qualified and authorised
Facilities and equipment must be made available
There must be capacity to fully investigate complaints and/or outbreaks of food poisoning
There must be liaison with primary authorities
There must be provision for advice and training for businesses
Databases of information must be maintained, and records kept
Inter-authority auditing and benchmarking must be carried out
There must be liaison with other authorities
There must be a procedure to deal with complaints about officers
Premises must be inspected at the nationally determined frequencies
There must be procedures and capacity to deal with food safety incidents
Foodstuffs must be sampled in accordance with central government guidance.

6.3

The plans shown at appendix A, B, C and D detail the proposed implementation of these elements
for WNC.

6.4

Local Authorities need to follow a firmly defined process in developing their food safety and food
and feed standards service plans. The FSA is very specific in what it expects to be included in an
annual service plan and that does not allow for legitimate departure from their Food Law Code
of Practice (COP).

6.5

Nevertheless, the Food Standards Agency sought Government approval, early on in the COVID19 pandemic, to depart from the COP, and has constantly directed councils to balance the need
to ensure that food and feed is safe and of the standards required, against the need for COVID
security. They have recently issued a ‘recovery roadmap’ which is accounted for in the appended
plans over the coming years to address the backlog of inspections caused by the pandemic.

Page 209

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 The services identified within the service plans will be met from existing approved
budgets/resources.
7.2

Legal

7.2.1 The council is required to meet the statutory requirements detailed in the service plans (Section
6 of the Food Safety Act 1990, section 32 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act
2005 and the requirements of the Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act
1991).
7.3

Risk

7.3.1 There are no significant risks arising from the proposed recommendations in this report.
7.4

Consultation

7.4.1 No consultation with the public and/or agencies/interested parties was necessary.
7.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.5.1 None.
7.6

Climate Impact

7.6.1 None.
7.7

Community Impact

7.7.1 None.
8.

Background Papers

8.1

None.

Page 210

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

Food Safety Service
Plan 2021-22

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 211

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

Document Version Control
Author (Post holder title): Ed Cooke, Environmental Health Manager: Health Improvement
(Daventry)
Type of document: Service Plan
Version Number: 1.0
Document File Name: FS Service Plan 2021 22 v1.0.docx
Issue date: 30 July 2021
Approval date and by who (CMT / committee): Cabinet 14 September 2021
Document held by (name/section): Ed Cooke, Regulatory Services
For internal publication only or external also: To be published on the West Northamptonshire
Council Website
Document stored on Council website or Intranet: Council website
Next review date: Annual Plan

Change History
Issue
0.1 - Draft
1.0 – Final draft
1.1 Final

Date
6 July 2021
30 July 2021
23 August 2021

Comments
Issued for internal consultation
Feedback received and incorporated from internal consultees
Incorporating formatting and style amendments following
consultation with communications team
NB: Draft versions 0.1 - final published versions 1.0

Consultees
Internal
e.g. Individual(s) / Group / Section
Ruth Austen
Liz McCarthy
Louise Faulkner
Stuart Wheeldon

External
e.g. Stakeholders / Partners /Organisation(s)
None

Distribution List
Internal
e.g. Individual(s) / Group / Section
Ruth Austen
Liz McCarthy
Louise Faulkner
Stuart Wheeldon

External
e.g. Stakeholders / Partners /Organisation(s)
None

Links to other documents
Document
None

Link

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 212

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

Document

Link

Contents
Section
1.0 Foreword
2.0 Service aims and objectives
3.0 Background
4.0 Demands on the Food Safety Service
5.0 Food Safety Service Delivery 2021/22
6.0 General Service Issues
Appendix 1: Food Safety Service Performance
Measures

Page
4
5
6
10
12
17
19

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 213

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

1.0 Foreword

1.0.1 The following plan outlines how West Northamptonshire Council’s (WNC) Regulatory Services intends
to deliver and improve its food safety services from 1 April 2021 through to 31 March 2022.
1.0.2 It is the inaugural Food Safety Service Plan for the council and has been designed in order to enable
effective performance monitoring of the service and to facilitate continuous improvement. An
inevitable delay in the planning process has arisen from the necessary COVID-19 response.
1.0.3 Regulatory Services sits within the Place, Economy and Environment Directorate and also delivers
services in the following areas:







Trading Standards
Building Control
Occupational Health and Safety
Licensing
Primary Authority and Business Support
Environmental Protection and Environmental Crime

And provides oversight of the Emergency Planning and Traveller Unit services hosted by North
Northamptonshire Council.
1.0.4 The following plan covers Food Safety as required by the Food Standards Agency. In many cases,
however, the services are intrinsically linked, and service provision will often be cross-pollinated in
order to maximise effectiveness and efficiency. The food safety performance indicators are included
at Appendix 1.
1.0.5 The food safety service is actively involved in harmonization throughout the council transition
process. Although adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the service is progressing well with
COVID recovery to fully restore its services and adapting to new ways of working.
Ruth Austen
Assistant Director Regulatory Services

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 214

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

2.0 Service aims and objectives
2.1 Aims and objectives
2.1.1 The




food safety service aims to:
assist the achievement of corporate objectives;
conduct its business in a consistent, fair, and transparent manner;
target the service in terms of risk to health and even-handedness, so serving to provide a ‘level
playing field’ for local businesses; and
 satisfy consumer expectations of good standards in the district.

2.1.2 It intends to achieve these aims by the following means:
 The use of robust performance and quality management to improve the quality of services;
 The use of new technology to improve efficiency and customer access to services by using,
where practicable, the contact centre;
 Access to services can be made via the contact centre, website, telephone or e-mail in addition
to traditional means;
 Utilisation of the latest innovations in technical equipment where possible to lead to improved
service; and
 Working with external and internal service areas partnerships.

2.2 Links to corporate objectives and priorities

2.2.1 The council has a comprehensive service improvement and performance management process. The
Food Safety Service Plan feed into the following areas of the Council’s Corporate Plan 2021-2025 https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/your-council/corporate-plan





Improved Life Chances: Health, Social Care and Families e.g. robust implementation of

the Food Standards Agency's E Coli O157 Guidance; implementation of the Eat Out Eat Well
Award scheme
Thriving Villages and Towns: Place shaping and Homes e.g. provision of food safety
training courses for local businesses/individuals
Economic Development: Growth and Prosperity e.g. provision and development of
Primary Authority and Business Support to local businesses

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 215

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

2.2.2 Through a wealth of interventions including education/training, promotion, enforcement,
audits/inspections, sampling, and consultation, the food safety team aims to continually improve its
services in order to assist the council to achieve its corporate objectives.

3.0 Background
3.1 Profile of the Local Authority: West Northants in Numbers

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 216

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

3.2 Profile of the Local Authority: West Northants by Area

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 217

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

3.3 Executive Leadership Team

3.4 Place, Economy and Environment Directorate

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 218

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

3.5 Regulatory Services (expanded Environmental Health)

4.0 Demands on the Food Safety Service

4.0.1 As of 1 April 2021, West Northamptonshire Council has 3564 categorised local food businesses and,
as of 1 July 2021, there were 542 new food businesses that are awaiting inspection. The risk
category profile is as follows

Area

Daventry
South
Northampton
Total

A

B

Risk Category
C

0
3
2
5

5
16
113
134

103
153
456
712

D

E

Total

New
businesses
awaiting
inspection

341
357
654
1352

506
332
523
1361

955
861
1748
3564

79
123
340
542

4.0.2 Intervention frequency is the minimum that the council is required to carry out in accordance with
the Food Standards Agency Food Law Code of Practice (England).
Food hygiene intervention frequencies
A at least every 6 months
B at least every 12 months
C at least every 18 months
D at least every 2 years
E alternative enforcement strategy
There are 23 EC approved premises that are able to export food beyond the EC as shown in the table
below.

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 219

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

List of approved food premises and type of establishments approved by West
Northamptonshire Council
Approval
number
DX 003
DX 011

Trading Name

Postcode

Scope

Area

Brixworth Foods
OTG Foods Ltd

NN6 9PD
NN6 9RH

Daventry
Daventry

DX 012
DX 016
NM 002

The Clipston Egg Company
E V Cargo Logistics Ltd
Classic Cuisine

LE169TT
NN6 7GX
NN3 6RT

Processing Plant (Meat)
Cold Store Meat Preparation
Establishment
Packing Centre (Egg)
Cold Store
Meat Preparation Establishment Processing Plant (Meat)

NM 005
NM 007

Houghton Hams
TMI Foods Ltd

NN3 6AX
NN5 7US

Processing Plant (Meat)
Meat Preparation Establishment Processing Plant (Meat)

Northampton
Northampton

NM 010
NM 013

Cooked Meat Company Ltd
Union Foods Ltd

NN3 8RJ
NN3 6NN

Processing Plant (Meat)
Meat Preparation Establishment Processing Plant (Meat)

Northampton
Northampton

NM 016
NM 018
NM 020

CC Foods Limited
LTA Foodservices Ltd
Greencore Northampton

NN3 6HY
NN36HY
NN3 1RX

Northampton
Northampton
Northampton

NM 021

Collins Fresh Foods Ltd

NN3 6UR

Cold Store
Cold Store
Processing Plant (Meat) Processing Plant (Dairy) Processing Plant (Egg) Processing
Plant (Fish) Re-Wrapping and
repackaging establishment
Collection Centre (Dairy) Cold
Store Processing Plant (Meat)
Processing Plant (Dairy)

NM 022
NM 025
TW 003

Altis Catering Ltd
Adugs Foods Ltd
Meister Continental Foods Ltd

NN3 6UR
NN48HQ
NN13 7AX

Cold Store
Cold Store
Meat Preparation Establishment Processing Plant (Meat)

Northampton
Northampton
South

TW 007

Echo Foods Ltd

NN7 3DW

Cold Store (Meat Products)

South

TW 009

Fulwell Foods Ltd

NN13 7ES

Towcester

South

TW 010
TW 013
TW 014
TW 015
TW 016

Appletree Products and Services
College Farm (Mr T. Judd)
Garry Penn Ltd
Lime Tree Farming
Smith & Clay Ltd

NN11 6UG
NN13 5SD
OX17 2HJ
NN12 7RZ
NN13 7DP

Processing Plant (Dairy)
Packing Centre (Egg)
Packing Centre (Egg)
Packing Centre (Egg)
Mince Meat Establishment
Meat Preparation Establishment Processing Plant (Meat)

South
South
South
South
South

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Daventry
Daventry
Northampton

Northampton

Page 220

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

5.0 Food Safety Service Delivery 2021/22

5.0.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) principally directs the food safety service delivery through its
framework agreement. The service head is Ruth Austen, Assistant Director Regulatory Services. The
lead food safety officers responsible for the three areas are:




Daventry: Ed Cooke, Environmental Health Manager: Health Improvement, E:
Edward.Cooke@westnorthants.gov.uk
South: Stuart Wheeldon, Health and Environmental Protection Manager E:
Stuart.Wheeldon@westnorthants.gov.uk
Northampton: Liz McCarthy, Senior Environmental Health Officer (Food and Safety) E:
Elizabeth.McCarthy@westnorthants.gov.uk

5.0.2 All members within the regulatory services team who have food safety responsibilities shall have
ready access to Food Standards Agency information together with relevant legal encyclopaedias.

5.1 Food Premises: Hygiene Inspections

5.1.1 West Northamptonshire Council follows the priority rating system identified in the FSA Food Law
Code of Practice (England).
5.1.2 Interventions consist of, inter alia, questioning the food business operator and employees to discover
their knowledge of food hazards and ability to control them. In addition to assessing relevant
documentation, Officers will also physically inspect the food premises, including food items, and
observe food handling practices and procedures.
Inspection profile for the year beginning 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 – including the
backlog of inspections pre 1 April 2021

Area

Daventry
Daventry –
Backlog (pre
1 April 2021)
South
South Backlog (pre
1 April 2021)
Northampton
Northampton
- Backlog
(pre 1 April
2021)
Total

A
0
0

Interventions scheduled
B
C
D
2
37
175
2
54
110

E
77
191

Total
291
357

5
1

14
1

63
38

162
90

108
4

352
134

1
0

24
56

150
169

260
324

203
220

638
769

7

99

511

1121

803

2541

5.1.3 Category A premises are those that pose the highest risk; this may be because of the nature of the
activities and/or poor operating conditions. The minimum intervention frequency for the different
categories of premises is given below. Food businesses receive interventions more than this where
required. The Council uses proprietary software (Northgate M3 Public Protection) for logging and
tracking all interventions.
West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 221

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

5.1.4 Revisions in the Code of Practice enable Local Authorities to deal with low risk premises (Category E)
by means other than an inspection. Regulatory services intend to utilise alternative inspection
strategies to deal with these premises throughout the year.
5.1.5 Revisits are made to food premises where there are concerns about food safety identified during a
primary visit.
5.1.6 Hygiene improvement notices will be issued if work detailed on a previous intervention report has not
been completed or if there are serious concerns about food safety during a primary visit. The legal
notices assist to ensure that improvements are made within a reasonable timescale.
5.1.7 Hygiene emergency prohibition notices are used where there is an imminent risk to health. This
would normally lead to immediate closure of the premises. Reasons for taking this action could
include the discovery of pest infestations, the absence of water, or very poor control of food hazards
and/or cleaning. A prosecution may follow against the business involved.
5.1.8 The outcome of routine food hygiene inspections will be displayed on the Food Standards Agency
(FSA) Food Hygiene Rating website (http://ratings.food.gov.uk/) and window stickers issued to food
business operators in accordance with the National FSA Food Hygiene Rating scheme.
5.1.9 The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant adverse impact on the council’s ability to carry out the
food safety service throughout 2020-2021. As with many other council’s, food safety officer capacity
was redeployed to respond effectively to the pandemic. The Food Standards Agency recognised this
and has provided direction to Local Food Authorities throughout; essentially leading to the focus on
the very highest risk food safety interventions whilst deferring planned interventions. The FSA Board
has recently agreed a Local Authority Recovery Roadmap which provides direction on re-starting the
regulatory delivery system in line with the Food Law Code of Practice for the highest risk
establishments while providing greater flexibility for lower risk establishments.
5.1.10 The Recovery Roadmap takes account of the following points:








Numbers of ‘new’ food businesses have significantly increased and, although some may never
have started trading and others will have ceased trading, the risks associated with them remain
largely unknown.
Some existing businesses may have changed hands while others may start up to capitalise on
potential additional trade from staycations etc. this year.
Existing businesses will gradually be re-opening, many after prolonged closure, as restrictions
on businesses in the hospitality sector on eating onsite are lifted, while others will continue to
diversify activities to adapt to ongoing changes in the market.
The highest risk establishments – which represent a relatively small proportion of the total
number of establishments – may have missed one, two or, in a very small number of cases,
three planned interventions.
Local authority resources have been – and in many cases still are – diverted during the
pandemic to activities related to reducing the spread of COVID-19.
Local authorities are anecdotally reporting that significant resource is currently being used for
non-statutory, but important, wider government priorities such as export certification.
Local authorities are also anecdotally reporting that in some cases hygiene standards have
reduced since the onset of the pandemic.

5.1.11 The following illustrates the FSA expectations and timescales included within the Recovery
Roadmap.
West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 222

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

5.1.12 The Lead Food Officers for the three areas shall continue to work collectively in order to ensure that
FSA expectations are met and exceeded if resources allow.

5.2 Support to Businesses

5.2.1 The council shall provide appropriate and competent advice/support, through a variety of different
means, to local businesses and residents, within its resource constraints. Much of the advice is made
available through the council website - www.westnorthants.gov.uk. Some charged discretionary
enhanced support services are offered.
5.2.2 Food safety/hygiene advice shall be routinely given as part of an intervention and is complimented by
the use of mail shots, national/local campaigns and promotional activities when required. Advice is
also given out upon request when food business registration may well not be required e.g. pop-up
food outlets.

5.3 Food Sampling
5.3.1 Food sampling is an integral part of the food hygiene intervention process.
5.3.2 Microbiological food sampling is carried out to meet 4 main objectives:





To determine the current state of food safety in the West Northamptonshire area as part of a
structured sampling programme;
To improve the effectiveness of food hygiene interventions;
To investigate suspect cases of food poisoning where a link with a local business or food is
suspected, and
To investigate complaints about food.

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 223

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

5.3.3 The formal food sampling plan links with the European Commission and the Public Health England
Regional sampling plan as well as taking account of local/county trends and needs.

Area

Number of microbiological samples
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
126
83
46
0
25
103
41
75
0
27
0
0
151
213
87
75

Daventry
South
Northampton
Total

5.4 Infectious Disease Control
5.4.1 General practitioners across the area report suspected cases of food poisoning to the Consultant for
Communicable Disease Control (CCDC) at Public Health England. The local medical microbiological
laboratories also advise the CCDC of positive results for food poisoning and food/water related illness.
In turn, the regulatory services team are advised so that they can carry out investigations to discover
the source of infection.
5.4.2 Documented procedures are available for the management of the investigations of outbreaks of food
borne infectious disease. The procedures were developed and are regularly reviewed with the CCDC
and other regional local authorities.

Area

Daventry
South
Northampton
Total

Number of individual investigated cases
(informal and formally notified)
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
163
93*
77
19
231
110
60
29
145
166
145
189
539
276
282
237

5.5 Food Safety Incidents
5.5.1 The Food Standards Agency declares National food safety incidents from time to time and notifies
food authorities of these by means of a ‘Food Alert’ procedure. Some notifications require directed
action, whereas others are for information only. The council ensures that all directed action is carried
out.
Number of National Food Alerts received
(issued to all Local Authorities, so all three areas
received the same number of Food Alerts)

2017/18
158

2018/19
186

2019/20
164

2020/21
129

*

Although surveillance continues, Public Health England ceased notifying East Midlands local authorities of individual
cases of Campylobacter in July 2018 due to there being little benefit in following up such cases. This has led to a
marked reduction in this trend from previous years. Nevertheless, local authorities will be informed of significant
exceedances or clusters.

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 224

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

5.6 Liaison with other Organisations
5.6.1 The Council is a member of the Northamptonshire food liaison group. The group aims to:
 Act as a forum to provide consistency of enforcement;
 Act as a facilitator for benchmarking activities, and
 Provide exercises to facilitate consistency.
5.6.2 Other links include:
 Public Health England (East Midlands)
 Building and development control service teams (regarding any development within the District);
 Care Quality Commission (regarding residential care home);
 Office for Standards in Education (regarding school and nursery provision), and
 Police and fire authority (regarding licensing matters).

5.7 Promotion and Education
5.7.1 Regulatory services will contribute to the national ‘Food Safety Week’. Activities are based around
raising public awareness of food safety and hygiene issues.
5.7.2 As a registered training centre, the council offers a range of both taught and e-learning food safety
course.

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 225

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 226

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

6.0 General Service Issues
6.1 Resources
2021/22
budget
Daventry
Staffing
Transport
Supplies and
services
Income
Net Expenditure

Area

£96,642
£5,655
£5,874
-£3,196
£104,975

South
Staffing
£154,537
Transport
£3250
Supplies and
£3850
services
Income
-£8000
Net Expenditure
£153,637
Northampton
Staffing
£188,175
Transport
£2,891
Supplies and
£3,722
services
Income
-£1,980
Net Expenditure
£192,808
Total Net
£451,420
Expenditure

6.2 Staffing Allocation
6.2.1 (Senior) environmental health officers have holistic responsibilities for food safety, occupational
health and safety and health improvement. This approach facilitates a broad approach to the
protection of the health of the public within the area.
6.2.2 Much of the food safety team consists of environmental health practitioners and is complimented by
specialist officers and regulatory support officers. All environmental health officers possess a BSc or
MSc in Environmental Health and are Chartered Practitioners.
6.2.3 The following table details the Full Time Equivalent (FTE) required to provide the services outlined in
this service plan. Unexpected demands on the service, such as vacancies, complex legal cases or the
requirement to ensure virulent organisms (e.g. Escherichia coli O157) are adequately controlled, have
illustrated that lesser-risk interventions may well suffer. Services will be re-prioritised to high-risk
based interventions accordingly.
West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 227

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

Area
Daventry

Food Safety Establishment
1.75 FTE
Environmental Health Manager
(Senior) Environmental Health Officer
Higher Food and Safety Officer
Health Improvement Technical Officer

South

0.25 FTE
0.5 FTE
0.75 FTE
0.25 FTE

3.16 FTE
Health and Environmental Protection Manager 0.3FTE
Environmental Health Officer
1.5FTE
Technical Officer
0.9 FTE
Regulatory Support Officer
0.46 FTE

Northampton

3.5 FTE
Environmental Health Manager
(Senior) Environmental Health Officer
(Senior) Food and Safety Officer

Total

0.25 FTE
1.75 FTE
1.5 FTE

8.41 FTE

6.3 Enforcement Policies

6.3.1 An enforcement policy (the Policy) is in place to cover all environmental health functions. It sets out
the general principles and approach that the Council will follow when considering enforcement action.
6.3.2 The policy takes account of the Regulators’ Code (the Code) published by the Better Regulation
Delivery Office of the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills. The Code is underpinned by
the statutory principles of good regulation, which provide that regulatory activities should be carried
out in a way, which is transparent, accountable, proportionate and consistent and should be targeted
only at cases in which action is needed.

6.4 Staff Development Plan

6.4.1 Every year development discussions shall be held with all members of staff and in light of the service
plan objectives, action plans are drawn up for each individual. Action plans detail the training and
development needs of the individual to meet service requirements.
6.4.2 Staff will cascade training received, as appropriate, to increase the knowledge base of colleagues.
6.4.3 Staff will carry out Continued Professional Development in order to help maintain their competence.

6.5 Quality Assessments

6.5.1 Documented procedures help to ensure that the services provided by the regulatory services team
are subject to continual improvement.
6.5.2 Published service standards are monitored on a regular basis.

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 228

Regulatory Services Statutory Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix A
Plans 2021-22

6.6 Review against service objectives

6.6.1 This service plan pulls together significant information about the council’s food safety service
activities.
6.6.2 Performance indicators and service objectives shall be reviewed on a monthly basis through one 2
ones between the service managers responsible for the food safety service and the Assistant Director
regulatory services.

Appendix 1: Food Safety Service Performance Measures
1. % of food establishments in the area which are broadly compliant with food hygiene law –
Target: 95%
2. % of establishments rated Category A, B and less than broadly compliant Category C and D that
have received an onsite intervention – Target: 80%
3. % of new businesses prioritised as high risk that have received an onsite intervention – Target:
80%
4. % increase in income from discretionary enhanced support services – Target: 25%

West Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-22

Page 229

This page is intentionally left blank

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

West Northamptonshire Council Trading Standards

FOOD and FEED STANDARDS ENFORCEMENT SERVICE PLAN 2021/22
INTRODUCTION
This Plan outlines how the Trading Standards Service carries out its statutory duties to enforce
standards for food and animal feeding stuffs. This includes monitoring the composition, labelling,
claims, and descriptions relating to foodstuffs for human consumption, materials and articles in
contact with food, and feeding stuffs for livestock and pets.
This has been prepared in accordance with the Food Safety Act 1990 Framework Agreement 1(April
2010) published by the Food Standards Agency (FSA). In this plan ‘food’ should be read as meaning
food for human consumption and ‘feed’ means animal feeding stuffs.
As a result of available resources within the trading standards service, a risk assessed basis
(utilising the National Trading Standards Intelligence Operating Model) has been applied to its
responsibilities as the service is unable to meet all the demands placed upon it across its wide
remit. This service plan does not meet the requirements set out in the Food and Feed Codes of
Practice (England). Where indicated, the plan should be read in conjunction with the trading
standards service plan 2021/22 [SP].
1.

SERVICE AIMS AND PRIORITIES

1.1

The service’s aims and priorities are reviewed annually and may be found in the trading
standards service plan. The main aim of the service is to, as far as possible within allocated
resources to ensure a safe and fair trading environment in West Northamptonshire. The key
priority is to protect our communities, particularly those that are most vulnerable, from rogue
trading.

1.2

Corporate objectives and plans
https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/your-council/corporate-plan
Food standards work contributes to the council’s priorities by protecting people, by helping
reputable businesses to meet their responsibilities and enabling them to flourish, by tackling
those who flout the law or act irresponsibly to make communities safer, by helping the market
place to operate fairly and competitively, enabling consumers, including children, to make
informed choices about the food they eat to enable them to stay healthy and safe, and by
health promotion activity.

2.

BACKGROUND

2.1

Profile of the West Northamptonshire
West Northamptonshire Council is a new unitary council which, from 1st April 2021, has
taken over the provision of local public service provision from the aggregated councils of
Northampton, Daventry & South Northamptonshire, and from the disaggregated
Northamptonshire County Council.

Page 231

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

The West Northamptonshire Council trading standards service was created from half the
disaggregated Northamptonshire County Council trading standards service.
2.2

Organisational Structure
The food and feed enforcement responsibilities are managed within the trading standards
service of the council’s regulatory services division; see structure chart at Annex 4.
The service now has 13 staff (11.8 full time equivalent). Three enforcement staff (including
one contractor) are currently competent and actively involved in food enforcement. One
member of staff is competent and actively involved in feed enforcement.

2.3

Scope
Food and feed standards work is only part of the statutory responsibilities enforced by the
trading standards service (see list of legislation enforced Annex 3 and the SP). Work is
combined with other activities for efficiency and effectiveness.
Statutory public analyst services are provided by Public Analyst Scientific Services Ltd.

2.4

Demands on the food and feed service
The premises risk rating scheme utilised is the revised National Trading Standards Board
agreed risk scheme.
The Service maintains a database of all businesses identified as affected by trading
standards legislation.

Food Standards Inspection Premises
High Risk2
Upper Medium Risk
Lower Medium Risk
Low. Risk
Total premises subject to Food Standards Risk

Animal Feed Premises
Livestock and arable farms and other businesses in
the feed chain
Registered Establishments 3
Approvals
Livestock farms

As at April
2021
premises1
12
106
2972
334
3424

As at April
2021
premises1
1576

568
0
1281

Notes
1
2

Numbers will vary throughout the year as the system is updated.
Risk assessment has been based on the version published by National Trading Standards Board
2013.

Page 232

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B
3.

The numbers include livestock and arable farms, manufacturers, food businesses supplying surplus
food for animal feed, and transporters.
Farms register with this service if they request, such as when audited by a Food Assurance Scheme,
and farms are registered directly by the service where they are identified as unregistered on
inspection/complaint/enquiry.

2.5

Regulation Policy
The service’s enforcement policy is published on the service website.
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/business-and-economy/trading-standards/support-forbusiness/Documents/Trading%20Standards%20Enforcement%20Policy.pdf

3.

Service delivery
Interventions at food and feed establishments

3.1 The authority’s
policy on
interventions

Interventions are in the main visits to businesses for the purpose of
inspection and/or sampling of the business to check compliance
(frequently encompassing other trading standards legislation that applies
including fair trading, age restricted sales, metrology). Recognising the
continuity of the food chain it is necessary to consider aspects of animal
health and welfare, primary production of food, animal feed, surplus food
and animal by-products and food standards that apply to a food or feed
business. We work with businesses, offering business advice and
primary authority partnerships to assist businesses to improve or
maintain their compliance. Intelligence, including complaints, is
prioritised for an appropriate response including retaining as intelligence.
Businesses are risk assessed according to the method incorporated into
the dedicated database, Civica’s Authority. This is currently modelled on
a risk assessment process designed by the National Trading Standards
Board. Premises may have their risk rating raised or lowered according
to the assessment of confidence in the business management, which is
assessed following inspection or contravention.
This year’s plan is outlined in Annex 1.
Food and animal feed standards enforcement is an integral part of the
service and therefore it is not possible to accurately detail financial
expenditure for it.

3.2 Food and feed The Citizens Advice Consumer Service is the initial point of contact for
complaints and most consumer complaints and enquiries on trading standards matters.
enquiries
Appropriate complaints are referred to the service where they are
prioritised and may be investigated. We are therefore critically reliant on
the availability of that service, and their competence, to identify the
nature of the complaint so that it may be correctly prioritised according to
our complaint grading policy. The complaint grading policy has been
revised to reflect the reduced resources available and will focus on those
matters causing most risk and harm.
Therefore, food and feed issues affecting the safety of consumers are
prioritised over other food and feed complaints.
Complaints about food will be dealt with in accordance with the Trading
Standards Service Enforcement Policy.

Page 233

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

The Food Safety Act 1990 Code of Practice directs which complaints are
more appropriately dealt with by food safety officers in the environmental
health service of West Northamptonshire Council regulatory services.
There is a local memorandum of understanding with the environmental
health services of West and North Northamptonshire regulatory services
to ensure consumer complaints are dealt with appropriately and
efficiently.
3.3 Home Authority Primary Authority Scheme
Principle and
It is Service policy to comply with the requirements of the Primary
Primary
Authority scheme where we are the enforcing authority.
Authority
We have delegated authority to enter into Primary Authority partnerships
Scheme
under the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008. The service
offers primary authority agreements to eligible businesses, and charges
for business advice that extends beyond basic signposting and
identification of legal duties. Basic advice is provided to start up and
small businesses without charge. The demand is likely to be around 200
enquiries for business advice across the service. The applicable fees are
published on our website.
http://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/tradingstandards
The Service does not act as home authority for those businesses who do
not wish to enter into a Primary Authority Partnership, however the
service will provide advice and guidance on a cost-recovery basis. Any
referring authorities with issues concerning non-primary authority
businesses are asked to contact the business directly, conclude their
own investigations and notify the outcome to this service for intelligence
purposes. The intelligence may be used on inspection or other regulatory
intervention with the business.
3.4 Advice to
Business

The service provides advice to business through inspections, visits,
telephone enquiries, occasional mailshots, press releases, the website,
and occasional talks.
Contact is maintained with the business community by liaising with
business organisations.
Where appropriate businesses, especially start-up businesses are
directed for self-help advice via the Business Companion website, pages
on www.gov.uk and the FSA website. More complex issues are dealt with
by officers under the business advice policy.
The service has contacts with the trade support network ‘Made in
Northamptonshire’ and SEMLEP Growth Hub. It is recognised that some
changes in legislation are appropriate for a business seminar approach.

3.5 Food and Feed A survey programme is being prepared for 2021-22 for food and feed.
Sampling
There is a budget of £12,000 for all sampling and analysis across WNC
trading standards. This budget will be prioritised on a risk assessed basis
across all the service’s responsibilities. Samples are submitted to the
appointed Public and Agricultural Analyst laboratories and occasionally to
other test houses where necessary.
3.6 Food and Feed Contraventions of food standards legislation are assessed using the
investigations National Trading Standards Intelligence Operating Model tasking process

Page 234

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

that considers appropriateness of enforcement action in accordance with
relevant policies. Resource commitments for food standards
investigations vary according to the nature and complexity of
infringements detected.
3.7 Food and Feed Food alerts are received through the FSA Smarter Communications
Safety
interface, which is accessible to all registered food officers, and email
Incidents
contacts from the Food Standards Agency. These are monitored by
relevant staff. Relevant alerts requiring action are responded to. The
authority liaises with other local authorities, trading standards and
environmental health to co-ordinate responses to alerts that relate to food
standards, including publicity and communication with traders, as
required and as practicable.
3.8 Liaison with
Other
Organisations

The Service is a member of Trading Standards East Midlands (TSEM)
which coordinates work on food standards, feed and agriculture
enforcement across the region where it is appropriate to do so. The
service also has access to a national ‘Knowledge Hub’ website for
specialist officers related to food labelling and feed matters. Regular
contacts are maintained with the North & West Northamptonshire food
liaison group, where the seven ex-district council EHOs co-ordinate
enforcement of food hygiene and food standards. The trading standards
manager attends the WNC regulatory services mangers group.
Where appropriate, liaison takes place with DEFRA, the FSA, DoH, and
the Animal and Plant Health Agency regarding enforcement of animal
health and welfare controls and other relevant bodies as appropriate.

3.9 Food and Feed
Safety and
Standards
promotional
work, and other
non-official
controls
interventions

The service maintains website links to sources of advice and has
previously produced additional guidance, when appropriate, for
businesses and consumers as can be found on our website:
www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/TSBusiness-support
The primary source of business guidance is supplied by CTSI through
the Business Companion website https://www.businesscompanion.info/
Businesses are directed to Business Companion as well as government
websites such as the Food Standards Agency and www.gov.uk to
provide consistent guidance.
Media releases will be used to promote food standards issues where
appropriate. It is service policy to inform the local media of all legal
proceedings taken by the service to assist in education of businesses
and consumers and to act as a deterrent to those who may act
irresponsibly or flout the law.
Where appropriate we will seek to liaise with colleagues within West
Northamptonshire Council in relation to public health issues relating to
food and feed.

Page 235

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

4.

Resources

4.1 Financial
Allocation

4.2 Staffing
Allocation

Overall resources allocated to the trading standards service are detailed
in the service plan. Food and animal feed standards enforcement is an
integral part of the service and therefore it is not possible to accurately
detail financial expenditure for it. It is estimated that approximately 20%
of operational activities will be dedicated to food standards work
although this may continue to be affected by business closures due to
Covid-19.
One permanent enforcement staff member is currently actively involved
in food and feed enforcement although she is not purely dedicated to
food standards enforcement. This officer holds appropriate
qualifications and experience, meeting the requirements of Food Safety
Act 1990 Code of Practice for food standards and feed enforcement. In
addition, a short/medium-term external contracted officer has been
employed. From time to time, other qualified officers from within the
Service and North Northamptonshire (mutual aid) also contribute to
enforcement activities. All enforcement officers within the service are
required to undertake a range of trading standards obligations some
proportion of which could include food and/or agriculture if suitably
trained.
One new enforcement officer is currently undertaking the CTSI CPCF
and will be undertaking either the food or feed module from September
2021. Longer term, there is also 1 RCO apprentice who will go on to
complete the CPCF too, again completing either the food or feed
element. There are also 2 vacant posts, an AO and an RCO Apprentice
which we will recruit to as soon as permitted.
Any business, regardless of business sector, that shows an intentional,
reckless, or repeated disregard for the principles of fair or safe trading
will be tackled as a matter of priority, where resources allow.
The revised FSA Code relating to inspection and business risking will be
taken into account when planning activities within the resources
available.

4.3 Staff
Development Plan

5.

All officers have an annual appraisal with their line manager that
identifies their training and development needs. “Refresher” training will
be provided for any staff returning to food standards enforcement work.
Training will also be given to take account of any new legislation. The
Food and Feed Codes of Practice specify revised continuing
professional development and training: at least 10 hours relevant to food
standards and safety and 10 hours’ professional practice; and 10 hours
relevant to feed standards and safety during 2021/22.

Quality Assessment

Page 236

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

5.1 Quality
assessment and
internal monitoring

6.

Procedures relating to all operational activities, including food and
feed enforcement will be reviewed as appropriate during 2021/22 as
part of the ongoing transformation of local government services in
West Northamptonshire.

Review

6.1 Review against
the Service Plan

A review of food standards enforcement for 2020/21
[Northamptonshire County Council] is attached as Annex 2.

6.2 Identification of
any Variation from
the Service Plan

There have been variations from the 2020/21 plan primarily as a result
of the Covid-19 Pandemic. Variation has been in line with the
prevailing version of National guidance ‘COVID-19 Local Authority
Enforcement Q&A’ issued by the FSA throughout the year.

6.3 Areas of
Improvement

The newly created council is embarking on a challenge to transform
services in the medium/long term. There are strict financial limitations
in which it can work.

Page 237

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Annex 1
FOOD AND FEED STANDARDS INTERVENTION PROGRAMME 2021/22
All High Risk businesses will receive an intervention visit or where appropriate some other kind of
contact.
We will carry out a limited programme of food standards inspections and conduct limited sampling
surveys taking into account resource availability, and service priorities. Complaints and referrals
from the public and other authorities and intelligence received from the Food Standards Agency and
other sources assist in identifying areas of work as well as the previous history of compliance.
Limited surveys of particular food business sectors will be conducted to assess compliance with the
results being considered as to appropriate further action.
There will be additional consequences not only for the service locally and nationally but the county
and country as a whole from the effects of lockdown resulting from a global pandemic of Covid-19.
The magnitude of the easing of controls will continue to be felt. This includes an impact on all
planned and unplanned interventions as well as an impact on ongoing and future investigations and
prosecutions due to the closure of the courts.
Business sectors
Food

Activity

Target Numbers of
Premises 2021/22

Annual intervention due

100%

Food Standards (FS) Planned visits –
Total
FS Planned - High Risk
FS Planned - Upper Medium Risk

Biennial intervention due As appropriate in line with
FSA Covid-19 recovery
Targeted activities across business
Intervention by survey
period
sectors.
inspection or sampling
Retail – including National chains (having (visits; mailshot to
Work will be tasked based
regard to Primary Authority) and other
others) across business on risk assessment and
UM risked businesses
types
available resources at the
relevant time.

FS Planned – Lower Medium and Low
Risk

FS Revisits

FS responsive – inspections and other
interventions to assess Food Standards
compliance

Intervention by survey,
sampling particularly
regarding allergen
information intelligence
from complaints. Use of
mailshot if appropriate.

Work will be tasked based
on risk assessment and
available resources at the
relevant time.

As appropriate
Conducted following
complaint, intelligence,
visits prompted by other
regulatory activities etc.

Work will be tasked based
on risk assessment and
available resources at the
relevant time.

Page 238

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Feed visits
Target –
FSA contracted
Manufacturers (A01-8 and R1-4)

0

Co-product (R12)

1

Importer

0

Stores (R9)

1

Distributor (R1-3, R5)

0

Transporter (R8)

0

On farm mixer (R10 and 11)

1

Pet Food Manufacturer (R6)

1

Supplier of surplus food (R7)

6

Food Hygiene at Primary Production
Livestock Farm (R13)

4

Arable Farm (R14)

1

Farm visits for feed hygiene and/or food primary production may be combined with visits for animal
health and welfare complaints or enquiries.
Sampling Activity

Target

Food samples (products submitted for analysis/report)

£3000 budget allocation

Feeding stuffs samples

3

As appropriate

1. Inspections prompted by application for registration under a code that requires Annex II HACCP
to be in place. The need for a visit will be assessed individually.
2. The value given is an estimated target; actual numbers of such businesses that should be
registered under the feed categories are undetermined.
3. Samples may be taken in response to complaints and investigations.
Work is continuing to improve database accuracy for food and feed premises.

Page 239

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Annex 2
REVIEW OF FOOD AND FEED SAFETY AND STANDARDS WORK 2020/21
[Northamptonshire County Council]
Business sectors
Food

Activity

Food Standards (FS) Planned
visits – Total
FS Planned - High Risk
Annual intervention due
FS Planned - Upper Medium
Risk
(From a total of 146 premises Biennial intervention due
currently)
Targeted activities across
business sectors.
Retail – including National
chains (having regard to
Primary Authority) and other
UM risked businesses
FS Planned – Lower Medium
and Low Risk

Intervention by survey
inspection or sampling
(visits; mailshot to others)
across business types

Intervention by survey,
sampling particularly
regarding allergen
information intelligence
from complaints. Use of
mailshot if appropriate.
FS responsive – inspections
Conducted following
and other interventions to
complaint, intelligence,
assess Food Standards
visits prompted by other
compliance
regulatory activities etc.
Labelling reviews,
interpretation advice,
Primary Authority and
advice on developing
business advice
legislation, advertising
practice, complaints and
incidents.
Food
Food and Feed-related
Consumer
complaints
Referred from partners
Feed
*Includes updating of food premises database.

Target Numbers
of Premises
2020/21

Actual

100 (7)

71.4% (5)

100%

100% (76)

Work based on risk
assessment and
available
resources.

Work based on risk 134*
assessment and
available
resources.

Work based on risk 3
assessment and
available
resources.
BA food 26
BA feed 9
PA food 37
PA feed 6

102
57
41
20

Page 240

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Feed visits
Target –
FSA contracted

Actual

Manufacturers (A01-8 and R1-4)

0

0

Co-product (R12)

10

8

Importer

0

0

Stores (R9)

1

1

Distributor (R1-3, R5)

0

0

Transporter (R8)

0

0

On farm mixer (R10 and 11)

2

2

Pet Food Manufacturer (R6)

2

2

Supplier of surplus food (R7)

8

6

Livestock Farm (R13)

6

5

Arable Farm (R14)

1

1

Food Hygiene at Primary Production

Farm visits for feed hygiene and/or food primary production may be combined with visits for animal
health and welfare complaints or enquiries.

Sampling Activity

Target

Actual

Food samples (products
submitted for analysis/report)

14

Feeding stuffs samples

3

Surveys conducted:
Survey

TOTAL
SAMPLES

RESULT
TYPES
Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory

None undertaken due to Covid-19

1. Food Standards Summary 2020/21 [Northamptonshire County Council]
Background: Staffing
Following previous cuts, a bid was made to reinvest in the trading standards service during 2020. 8
jobs were advertised in total, for both experienced and new officers. Of the officers applying for the
2 senior authorised posts, 3 of the 5 were food qualified. 2 senior authorised posts were appointed
to, 1 of which was food qualified. Of the 2 authorised officers appointed, only 1 was experienced but
not food qualified. During a 2nd round of recruitment for an authorised officer, there was only 1 non-

Page 241

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

food qualified applicant, who was appointed. To increase capacity, we have secured and retained 2
contract officers who are food qualified. New officers will be required to undertake the food module
as part of their qualification.
Background: Local Government Re-organisation
This has been undertaken in the last 12 months while the Covid-19 pandemic has been ongoing.
The County Trading Standards Service has been disaggregated across North and West
Northamptonshire unitary councils. Management focus has been to ensure that both new services
transitioned as a safe and legal authority on vesting day. This also impacted on officers delivering
food controls to a lesser extent. The process of transformation will now be undertaken in the next
12- 24months resulting in trading standards becoming part of the new regulatory services.
Background: Brexit
The impact of the EU exit has not yet been felt by the service. There are still dates which may
impact on the smaller teams going forward into 2021/22 but they are not as yet quantifiable.
Background: Covid-19 outbreak and Intervention visits
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the need for routine food standards inspections was evaluated in
light of prevailing FSA Guidance as it developed throughout the year.
The prioritisation advised by FSA was found to be very much in line with our own vigilant
management of scarce resources following service cutbacks in recent years.

Issues dealt with in 2020/21 included:
Formal investigations concluded
 Op Nightingale – a prosecution resulting from a complaint of an allergic reaction to a
takeaway meal requested to be peanut free; sentencing was postponed until November 2020
due to the COVID-19 national lockdown. The company and director pleaded guilty at the first
hearing. The Company was fined £10,000 and the Director received a 4 months’ custodial
sentence, suspended for 24 months, with 40 hours’ community service to be completed
within 12 months. Costs of £5,500 were awarded. The case received local media coverage
which was picked up and shared by the campaign group ‘Allergy Action’.
 Op Aldaniti – Company & director signed a Simple Caution in June 2020 [due to a
recognition of the issues and instigation of more robust controls] having sold takeaway meal
requested to be egg-free but found to contain egg during an allergen project undertaken by
the service in late 2019.
 Incident 365955 – a serious allergen incident involving a schoolchild with multiple allergen
diet requirements during a lunchtime in November 2020. The investigation closed in April
2021 inconclusive beyond all reasonable doubt as to the cause or the offender.
Formal investigations in progress
Two investigations are continuing, both relate to Food businesses in North Northamptonshire:
 Op Australia an investigation resulting from the allergen project work after business advice
had been given previously. Milk was found to be present in a meal requested to be milk-free.
The Company are pleading not guilty, and the case is scheduled to be heard in February
2022.
 Incident 369416 investigation resulting from a complaint of an allergic reaction to a takeaway
meal requested to be milk-free in March 2021.
Food Alerts for Action

Page 242

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Only one was received [Ref: FSA-FAFA-01-2021] during the year and any action necessary was
taken.

Supporting businesses
This Service operates the Primary Authority Partnership Scheme. Northamptonshire County Council
have 21 food PA Partnerships.
 37 requests for advice for food and 6 for feed were completed in 2020/21
 26 requests for food and 9 for feed were completed from business requesting non PA
business advice.
Officers working from home during the pandemic were able to allocate more time to reviewing the
trading standards premise database and updating it with information from food business operator’s
registrations from all areas of the county, clearing the backlog of over 600 outstanding registrations.

1. Feed Summary
Feed hygiene, together with hygiene requirements in the primary production of food, continue to be
the focus of animal feed interventions. It is closely related to farm animal health and welfare
complaints and they are often considered together. The pandemic brought a slow start to the
planned inspections. In-line with the Food Standards Agency guidelines and the County Councils
risk assessments, visits were carried out remotely which was a new way of working for all. A
number of the visits required a focussed follow up onsite visit and remain to be completed in
2021/2022. The requests for registration dipped slightly as there were fewer inspections carried out
by the assurance schemes (which often prompt registrations). There was however a slight increase
of small pet food manufacturers and some businesses requiring registration as a result of EU Exit.

Page 243

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Annex 3
LEGISLATION ENFORCED
West Northamptonshire Council has a statutory duty to enforce the majority of consumer protection
and fair trading legislation. Additional legislation is enforced where it contributes to achieving the
aims and objectives of the Service and Unitary Council. The Service enforces over 70 Acts of
Parliament, over 1000 associated Regulations and Orders, and a substantial range of directly
applicable EC regulations under the European Communities Act 1972.
Accommodation Agencies Act 1953
Administration of Justice Act 1970
Agriculture Act 1970
Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968
Agricultural Produce (Gradings and Marking) Acts 1928 and 1931
Animal Health Act 1981
Animal Health Act 2002
Animal Welfare Act 2006
Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003
Business Names Act 1985
Cancer Act 1939
Children and Families Act 2014 (in respect of Sections 91 to 94 only)
Children and Young Persons Act 1933
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991
Clean Air Act 1993
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005
Climate Change Act 2008 (in respect of Single Use Carrier Bag charges only)
Companies Act 2006
Consumer Credit Acts 1974 and 2006
Consumer Protection Act 1987
Consumer Rights Act 2015
Control of Pollution Act 1974
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988
Criminal Justice Act 1988 (in respect of sales of knives to young people)
Development of Tourism Act 1969
Dogs Act 1906
Education Reform Act 1988
Energy Act 1976
Energy Conservation Act 1981
Enterprise Act 2002
Estate Agents Act 1979
Explosives Acts 1875.
Explosives (Age of Purchase etc.) Act 1976
Fair Trading Act 1973
Farm and Garden Chemicals Act 1967
Fireworks Act 2003
Food Act 1984
Food and Environment Protection Act 1985
Food Safety Act 1990
Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981
Fraud Act 2006

Page 244

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Hallmarking Act 1973
Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 (relating to explosives, petroleum and the classification,
packaging and labelling of dangerous substances)
Housing Act 2004
Insurance Brokers (Registration) Act 1977
Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985
Knives Act 1997
Licensing Act 1964
Licensing Act 2003
London Olympic Games and Paralympic Games Act 2006
Medicines Act 1968
Malicious Communications Act 1988
Motor Cycle Noise Act 1987
Motor Vehicles (Safety Equipment for Children) Act 1991
National Lottery etc. Act 1993
Offensive Weapons Act 1996
Olympic Symbol etc. (Protection) Act 1995
Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925
Petroleum (Consolidation) Act 1928
Petroleum (Transfer of Licences) Act 1936
Prices Act 1974.
Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
Protection from Harassment Act 1997
Protection of Animals Act 1911
Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961
Road Traffic Act 1988
Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972
Solicitors Act 1974
Telecommunications Act 1984
Theft Acts 1968 and 1978
Timeshare Act 1992
Tobacco Advertising and Promotion Act 2002
Trade Descriptions Acts 1968
Trade Marks Act 1994
Unsolicited Goods and Services Acts 1971 and 1975
Video Recordings Acts 1984 and 1993
Weights and Measures Act 1985
Any orders or Regulations or other instruments (whether dated before or after the date of execution
of this delegation) i) made thereunder or ii) having effect by virtue of the European Communities Act
1972 (where such orders or Regulations specify the Unitary Council as having an enforcement duty
(including references to a feed authority, food authority and local weights and measures authority))
Any offence under legislation, or at common law, which is of a similar nature including offences of
aiding, abetting, counselling and procuring, incitement, conspiracy, perverting the course of justice,
criminal attempts, assisting or encouraging another person to commit an offence or participation in a
crime.

Page 245

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix B

Annex 4

Page 246

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix C

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL TRADING STANDARDS SERVICE
2021-22 Plan regarding Enforcement of Section 54 of the Anti-Social Behaviour
Act 2003 - Sale of aerosol spray paints to under 16s
Introduction
Section 32 of the Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 places a duty on the
local weights & measures authority (Trading Standards Service) to consider, at least once
in every period of twelve months, the extent to which it is appropriate for the authority to
carry out in their area a programme of enforcement action in relation to section 54 of the
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (which prohibits the sale of aerosol paint containers to a
person under the age of sixteen) and to the extent that they consider it appropriate to do
so, carry out such a programme.
Background
Graffiti is the gateway to a plethora of other problems – anti-social behaviour and
criminality – and brings with it a huge social cost.
Nationwide, the bill to the council tax payer for the removal of graffiti is £1 billion a year.
The bill to clear up graffiti on the London Underground alone amounts to £10 million a
year.
Locally, the bill to clean up Northamptonshire each year runs into hundreds of thousands
of pounds.
Where you find graffiti you invariably find neglect – it occurs in an area which isn't cared
for or it occurs in an area where members of the public feel uncared for and so feel it is
not worth reporting. Where you find graffiti you invariably find anti-social behaviour issues
like littering, street drinking and drug use. And you also invariably find other examples of
criminal damage, like glass broken in bus shelters or other petty vandalism.
2020-21
Following the trend of previous years, the Service has not received any complaints
alleging the sale of spray paints to children under 16. Therefore, no test purchasing
exercises were arranged.
2021-22
West Northamptonshire council trading standards service will:
 Respond to any complaints alleging the sale of spray paints to under 16s by advising
retailers of their legal responsibilities and good practice to not sell spray paints to
young people under the age of 16.

Page 247

 Liaise with Northamptonshire Police to gain intelligence around under age sales of
spray paints and where appropriate work with relevant partners to reduce the
incidence of graffiti within West Northamptonshire.
 Carry out test purchasing exercises using volunteer underage test purchasers in
response to any complaints or local intelligence.
 Investigate and take appropriate enforcement action in respect of offences under
Section 54 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 in accordance with our prosecution
policy.
 Make available a retailer training pack covering all age restricted products.
 Where appropriate make use of the media to publicise relevant issues.
 Continue to promote PASS accredited proof of age cards to retailers and also the use
of the ‘Challenge 25’ scheme, whereby businesses are advised to ask for PASS
accredited proof of age if the purchaser looks under 25.

Enforcement background
Graffiti is usually regarded as criminal damage under section 1(1) of the Criminal Damage
Act 1971. Councils may issue a fixed penalty notice to deal with an offence under section
1(1) “which involves only the painting or writing on, or the soiling, marking or other
defacing of, any property by whatever means” (Section 43 of the Anti-Social Behaviour
Act 2003). Section 1 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003 extends the definition of prohibited
articles under section 1 of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) so that it
includes articles made, adapted or intended for use in causing criminal damage. It does
this by amending the list of offences in section 1(8) of PACE to include offences under
section 1 of the Criminal Damage Act 1971. The effect is to give police officers power to
stop and search where they have reasonable suspicion that a person is carrying, for
example, a spray paint can which they intend to use in producing graffiti.

Page 248

Regulatory Services Statutory Plans 2021-22 – Appendix D

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL TRADING STANDARDS
SERVICE
TOBACCO ENFORCEMENT PROGRAMME 2021-22

Introduction
The Children & Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 requires
the council to annually consider and carry out an appropriate programme of
enforcement action relating to age-restricted tobacco controls.
The council, through its trading standards service, has a number of
responsibilities with regard to tobacco enforcement including:


Under age sales



Supply of counterfeit and illicit tobacco



Advertising and promotion

The Tobacco Control Plan for England was published in July 2017:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towards-a-smoke-freegeneration-tobacco-control-plan-for-england
This includes a commitment to reduce the number of 15 year olds who regularly
smoke from 8 percent to 3 percent or less by the end of 2022.
The latest figures from 2018 report that 5 percent of 15 year olds smoke
regularly.
This should be read in conjunction with the Tobacco Control Plan delivery plan
2017 – 2022 published in July 2018:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/714365/tobacco-control-delivery-plan-2017-to-2022.pdf
For smoking prevalence amongst 15 year olds in Northamptonshire, 8.7% are
current smokers with 6.2% being regular smokers (latest WAY survey data
2014/15). These are on a par with the England averages. The highest estimated
prevalence of regular smokers in West Northamptonshire is in Daventry.
For Nicotine Inhaling Products, the latest national figures for underage usage
(tried at least once) is 25% compared to the 16% for cigarettes, although regular
use in the underage is apparently rare.

Report on activities 2020-21
From 1/4/2020 to 31/3/2021, this Service received 4 complaints concerning 4
different premises alleging the sale of cigarettes to persons under the age of

Page 249

18. One of the complaints received also alleged the sale of illicit cigarettes from
the premises. The level of complaints received has significantly reduced over
the past 10 years, having dropped again from 11 complaints received the
previous year, however this likely to be due to the continuing effect of the Covid
pandemic.
The service didn’t receive any complaints alleging the sale of nicotine inhaling
products to persons under the age of 18.
The four complaints were followed up by advisory letters to the businesses
concerned.
In the same period, the service did not carry out any underage test purchasing
exercises due to the national restrictions in place because of the worldwide
pandemic.
Prosecutions
No prosecutions were completed in the period of 2020-21.
Programme for 2021-22
West Northamptonshire council trading standards service will:
 Ensure appropriate resources are targeted at the enforcement of legislation
regulating the sale of tobacco and nicotine inhaling products to under 18s.
 Respond to all complaints alleging the sale of tobacco and nicotine inhaling
products to under 18s by advising retailers of their legal responsibilities and
good practice achieve compliance.
 Monitor the display of statutory notices, the restrictions on the display for
sale of tobacco products, the plain packaging requirements and the labelling
of tobacco products.
 Using an intelligence led approach, carry out test purchasing exercises of
tobacco and nicotine inhaling products using volunteer underage test
purchasers.
 Investigate and take appropriate enforcement action in respect of offences
relating to the protection of children from consuming tobacco products and
nicotine inhaling products in accordance with our enforcement policy.
 Make available a retailer training pack covering all age restricted products
on WNC website.
 Continue to promote PASS accredited proof of age cards to retailers and
use the ‘Challenge 25’ scheme, whereby businesses are advised to ask for
PASS accredited proof of age if the purchaser looks under 25.
 Where appropriate make use of the media to publicise relevant issues
 Monitor the availability of illegal tobacco to underage young people & share
relevant intelligence with other enforcement agencies eg HMRC.
 Work in partnership with Public Health, HMRC and national/regional trading
standards to raise the profile of tobacco reduction initiatives and achieve
relevant outcomes.

Page 250

 Consider any available funding streams to promote tobacco work within
West Northamptonshire
 Support any national or East Midlands regional tobacco control projects.
 Complete the annual National Trading Standards Tobacco Survey.

Page 251

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14TH SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder for Environment, Transport, Transport, Highways
& Waste – Councillor Phil Larratt
Report Title

Hellidon Conservation area, Spratton Conservation area, Article
4(1) Directions for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore,
Everdon, Little Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford
(2021).

Report Author

Rhian Morgan, Heritage Policy Officer,
Rhian.Morgan@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West MO (for West
and joint papers)
West S151 (for West
and joint papers)
Other Director/SME

Catherine Whitehead

Pending approval

Martin Henry

Approval email on 24.8.21

Craig ForsythCommunications

Approval email on 20.8.21

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Hellidon Written Responses
Appendix B – Hellidon Survey Responses
Appendix C – Spratton Written Responses
Appendix D – Spratton Survey Responses
Appendix E – Supplementary information to be place in Section 6, Spratton CAAMP.
Appendix F - Hellidon and Spratton Conservation area Boundary Maps
Appendix G – Hellidon and Spratton Candidates for the Local list
Appendix H – Draft Hellidon Article 4(1) Direction
Appendix I – Draft Spratton Article 4(1) Direction

Page 253

Appendix J - Draft Article 4(1) Directions for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore,
Everdon, Little Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford
Appendices available from Democratic Services on request
Addendum to Appendix C – Consultation Response from George and Jennepher Matts

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To consider the responses to the consultation exercise on the draft Hellidon
conservation area appraisal and management plan and draft Spratton conservation
area appraisal and management plan and proposed changes to the appraisals and
further steps to implement the outcomes.

1.2

This report also seeks permission to make and consult upon the article 4(1)
directions appended at appendix J for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore,
Everdon, Little Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford (2021).

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

Hellidon and Spratton Conservation Areas
The report contains background information on the process of reviewing the Hellidon
conservation area and proposing a new conservation area, the Spratton conservation
area. The report also provides a summary of the proposals for both of the conservation
areas and the responses received during the consultations. It gives details relating to
the proposed candidates for the Local list in Hellidon and Spratton, and the process of
making and consulting upon the draft Hellidon article 4(1) direction and draft Spratton
article 4(1) direction. Appendices A and B contain the full consultation responses
relating to the Hellidon conservation area, as well as officer responses and the details
of any resulting changes to the appraisal or boundary. Appendices C and D contain the
full consultation responses relating to the Spratton conservation area, as well as
officer responses and the details of any resulting changes to the appraisal or boundary.
The proposed revised boundary for the Hellidon conservation area and the newly
proposed conservation area boundary in Spratton are shown at appendix F, and
candidates for the Local list in Hellidon and Spratton at appendix G. The draft Hellidon
article 4(1) direction at appendix H, and the draft Spratton article 4(1) direction at
appendix I.

2.2

Article 4(1) Directions for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore, Everdon, Little
Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford (2021)
As part of the ongoing programme of conservation area reviews in the former
Daventry District geographic area, article 4(1) directions have been proposed to be put
in place in the said conservation areas. This report contains the background

Page 254

information to that process in Section 5, and also the draft article 4(1) directions in
appendix J.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet/Committee:
a) Endorses that the conservation area boundaries as set out in appendix E be
designated as conservation areas.
b) Endorses that the proposed changes to the Hellidon conservation area appraisal
and management plan and Spratton conservation area appraisal and
management plan in response to representations, as set out in appendices A to D
be approved.
c) Endorses that further minor editorial changes be made to the Hellidon
conservation area appraisal and management plan and Spratton conservation
area appraisal and management plan including to reflect the fact that the
documents will be in their final adopted form.
d) Endorses that the conservation area appraisal and management plans for
Hellidon and Spratton be adopted as a supplementary planning documents.
e) Endorses the local list entries for Hellidon and Spratton set out in appendix F.
f) Endorses that article 4(1) directions for Hellidon and Spratton, in accordance with
the proposals in the conservation area appraisal and management plans, be
made subject to consultation (appendices G and H).
g) agree to “make” the article 4(1) directions contained at appendix J.
h) agree to consult upon the article 4(1) directions contained at appendix J.

4.

Reason for Recommendations (NOTE: this section is mandatory and must be
completed)

4.1

Hellidon and Spratton Conservation Areas
This course of action will put measures in place to help safeguard the heritage of
Hellidon and Spratton.

4.2

Article 4(1) Directions for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore, Everdon, Little
Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford (2021)
The introduction of article 4(1) directions within conservation areas allows the
council to manage change within historic areas on a case-by-case basis through the
planning system. If the article 4(1) directions are made and confirmed it will
therefore help to preserve and enhance the character and appearance of
conservation areas. Consultation is required as part of the legal process for making
and confirming article 4(1) directions.

Page 255

5.

Report Background
Hellidon Conservation area

5.1

The council has a statutory duty under the 1990 Planning (Listed Building and
Conservation Areas) Act to review its conservation areas and to designate
conservation areas where they meet appraisal criteria. At its meeting on 28th May
2020, Daventry District Council’s Strategy Group resolved that consultation should
take place on the draft conservation area appraisal and management plan for
Hellidon. The consultation is now complete.

5.2

The proposals at Hellidon suggested including the Old Barley Mow, Manor House
Farm, the walled garden plot of Hellidon Grange, and the areas of archaeological
earthworks to the north west of Leam Farm and those to the north of Priors Marston
Road and west of Berry Lane.

5.3

The proposals also identified four candidates for the local list, all being situated in
the proposed conservation area, and proposals for an article 4(1) direction.
Spratton Conservation area

5.4

At its meeting on 4th March 2021, Daventry District Council’s Strategy Group resolved
that consultation should take place on the draft conservation area appraisal and
management plan for Spratton. The consultation is now complete.

5.5

The proposals at Spratton suggested designating a conservation area covering
Church Road, most of Yew Tree Lane, part of Brixworth Road, the east side of High
Street, Manor Road and School Road.

5.6

The proposals also identified seventeen candidates for the local list, all being
situated in the proposed conservation area, and proposals for an article 4(1)
direction.
Article 4(1) Directions for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore, Everdon, Little
Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford (2021)

5.7

Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
requires local authorities to review existing conservation areas and make new
designations from time to time. West Northamptonshire Council is in the process of
undertaking reviews of its existing conservation areas, and designating new
conservation areas where appropriate in the Daventry geographic area. Conservation
areas are designated to protect local heritage, and certain permitted development
rights are removed within conservation areas to facilitate this objective. However,
not all permitted development rights are removed through designation. Article 4(1)
directions are used where it is deemed expedient to remove further permitted

Page 256

development rights, often in conservation areas. Article 4(1) of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 makes
provision for local planning authorities to issue directions to remove specific
permitted development rights. These are often used as a planning tool to protect the
character and appearance of conservation areas. They allow the council to remove
specific permitted development rights in order to protect particular features, the loss
or alteration of which could have a negative impact upon the character and
appearance of the conservation area.
5.8

As part of the ongoing conservation area programme in the Daventry District
geographic area, article 4(1) directions have been explored to help preserve and
enhance the character of historic places within West Northamptonshire in the areas
stipulated above.

5.9

Article 4(1) directions can be made with “immediate” or “non-immediate” effect.
The former come into force immediately alongside consultation, meaning that
planning permission is required for the development stipulated within the direction,
whereas non-immediate directions do not come into force until confirmed by
council, after a period of consultation. The directions in this report have previously
been consulted upon as non-immediate directions, and were due to come into force
on 28th September 2021. Due to difficulties aligning with committee dates, it has not
been possible to confirm the directions in time, and so a further consultation is
required to make and confirm the directions, and to put them in place. The
directions relating to this report are therefore proposed to be made with
“immediate” effect, taking into consideration that a consultation has already been
undertaken once, and that there are no changes to the directions as a result.

6.

Issues and Choices
Hellidon and Spratton Conservation Areas

6.1

Conservation area status and an adopted appraisal and management plan, which has
the status of a supplementary planning document (SPD), adds weight to the
consideration of non-designated heritage assets in decision making. It also provides
detail for applicants and decision makers on the special interest of the conservation
area as a designated heritage asset. The proposed conservation area boundaries for
Hellidon and Spratton and the appraisal and management plans have been produced
with the aim of providing proportionate and effective means of protecting the
special architectural and historic interest of Hellidon and Spratton for the benefit of
present and future generations.

6.2

The alternative options would be not to endorse the designation of the conservation
area boundaries and the adoption of the Hellidon conservation area appraisal and
management plan and Spratton conservation area appraisal and management plan

Page 257

as a supplementary planning documents, not to endorse the candidates for the local
list, and not to ‘make’ the article 4(1) directions.
6.3

Not endorsing the boundary designations, the adoption of the appraisal and
management plans, not endorsing the candidates for the local list, and not ‘making’
the proposed article 4(1) directions would leave the council without valuable tools
with which to protect and enhance the special architectural and historic interest of
these villages.
Article 4(1) Directions for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore, Everdon, Little
Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford (2021)

6.4

Article 4(1) directions have been proposed for the conservation areas at Flore,
Weedon, Little Everdon, Everdon, Staverton, Welford, Pitsford and Kilsby.

6.5

The article 4(1) directions proposed would cover dwelling houses only, and will not
be made on listed buildings. The exclusion of listed buildings is due to the fact that
these properties have their own, comprehensive consent system which requires
consent for most changes.

6.6

Article 4(1) directions can be made with immediate or non-immediate effect, as
stated above in section 5. The directions proposed within the conservation area
appraisals are proposed to be immediate. The process of putting such an article 4(1)
direction in place is as follows:
(1) An article 4(1) direction is drafted, setting out the specific permitted development
rights which are proposed to be removed, and detailing the properties at which these
restrictions apply. This is accompanied by plans and a list identifying the properties.
(2) The direction is then ‘made’. Notice is served on the relevant stakeholders and
consultation takes place. Being and “immediate” direction, the article 4(1) direction
comes into force on the same day as notification of consultation is served to
householders and the Secretary of State.
(3) When the consultation period has elapsed all of the comments are considered. Any
changes to the article 4(1) direction considered appropriate in the light of the
consultation responses, would be recommended in a report to Cabinet.
(4) The direction can then be modified, if necessary, and in order to stay in place the
direction must be ‘confirmed’ by the council within six months of coming into force.
The direction can only be confirmed between 28 days and 6 months once notice has
been served. Once confirmed the direction is then put in place in perpetuity.

Page 258

6.7

It is proposed that a six-week consultation be undertaken, this time making the
directions “immediate”.

6.8

As the directions are proposed to be immediate, this means that if they are made
they come into force on the agreed date when notice is served on the affected
households. This would mean that planning permission would be required for any
works for which permitted development rights have been removed as stipulated
within the directions.

6.9

Not “making” and “confirming” the article 4(1) directions would leave the council
without valuable tools with which to preserve and enhance the special architectural
and historic interest of these villages.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 Adopting the appraisals and designating the revised conservation area boundary for
Hellidon and new conservation area boundary for Spratton involves certain
processes. This can be accommodated within existing resources.
7.1.2

Designating the conservation areas, adopting the appraisal and management plans
and making an article 4(1) directions would have no material financial effects. Minor
costs for placing adverts in the London Gazette and a local newspaper will be
covered from existing budgets.

7.2

Legal

7.2.1 Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) are defined by the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The detailed requirements for SPDs and their
adoption are provided by the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012.
7.2.2 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation areas) Act 1990 imposes a duty on
local authorities to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.
7.2.3 Directions under Article 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development)(England) Order 2015 (No. 596) require planning permission to be
obtained for works which would otherwise be permitted development.

Page 259

7.3

Risk

7.3.1 There are no material risks foreseen in the endorsement of the conservation area
designations, adoption of the appraisal and management plans or the making of the
article 4(1) directions.
7.3.2 Not endorsing the conservation area designations, adoption of the appraisal and
management plans and the making of the article 4(1) directions would be likely to
weaken protection for heritage Hellidon and Spratton and thus increase the risk of
heritage loss.
7.4

Consultation
Hellidon Conservation area Consultation

7.4.1 The Hellidon conservation area appraisal and management plan consultation
document was subject to a formal six-week public consultation which began on 23rd
November 2020 and ended on 18th January 2021. This followed an initial exhibition
held on 21st November 2019. Due to the circumstances surrounding the Covid-19
pandemic it was not considered that a physical public meeting could be safely held
during the consultation. Instead, a virtual public meeting was held on 14 th December
2020. This was attended by five individuals. The meeting was recorded and made
available on YouTube and has subsequently been viewed eighteen times.
7.4.2 Nine responses to the consultation were received. They made written
representations either via the online survey or email or a combination of these.
Appendices A and B set out the responses received and the proposed resulting
actions. There was general support for the proposals, including support from the
Parish Meeting. One respondent objected to the inclusion of Leam House on the
Local list, and one respondent objected to the proposals to include Manor House
Farm, the field west of Berry Lane and the field north of Manor House Farm in the
conservation area. Two respondents requested that the area shown as OS3 in the
Open Space Analysis be identified as making a “significant” rather than a “moderate”
contribution to the character of the conservation area.
7.4.3 The draft appraisal included initial proposals for an article 4(1) direction in section
10.2. Two respondents directly stated support for the removal of permitted
development rights, and one objected not citing any specific reason. There are no
suggested changes as a result of the consultation exercise and it is suggested that an
article 4(1) direction be prepared for the proposed restrictions set out in the draft
appraisal.
Spratton Conservation area Consultation

Page 260

7.4.4 The Spratton conservation area appraisal and management plan consultation
document was subject to a formal six-week public consultation which began on 15th
March and ended on 26th April 2021. This followed an initial online exhibition held
on January 7th 2021. Due to the circumstances surrounding the Covid-19 pandemic it
was not considered that a physical public meeting could be safely held during the
consultation. Instead, a virtual public meeting was held on 1 st April. This was
attended by 23 individuals, 2 who were members of the parish council and 21 who
were members of the general public. The meeting was recorded and made available
on YouTube and was subsequently viewed 8 times during the consultation period.
7.4.5 Responses to the consultation were received from Anglian Water and 23 individuals.
They made written representations either via the online survey or email or a
combination of these. Appendices A, B and C set out the responses received and the
proposed resulting actions. There was some support for the proposed conservation
area and two respondents suggested additional buildings be added to the local list,
which were assessed and subsequently two were found to meet the criteria for
inclusion. There were also several requests for changes to the boundary. Three
respondents requested that the proposed boundary be changed to exclude their
properties in Yew Tree Lane and Brampton Row. Four respondents had concerns
about the costs of applying for planning permission for those types of development
where permitted development rights would be removed. Historic England did not
seek any changes.
7.4.6 The draft appraisal included initial proposals for an article 4(1) direction in section
10.2. Three respondents objected to the article 4(1) direction proposals due to the
cost of submitting a planning application. The types of development for which
permitted development rights would be removed are those which would normally
be undertaken by householders on an occasional basis, for example, replacement of
windows. Therefore, it is considered that the costs of submitting a planning
application would not be prohibitive. There are no suggested changes as a result of
the consultation exercise and it is suggested that an article 4(1) direction be
prepared for the proposed restrictions set out in the draft appraisal.
Article 4(1) Directions Consultation (Hellidon and Spratton)
7.4.7 As noted in the appraisal a separate consultation exercise is beneficial before an
article 4(1) direction has effect. The process for this type of article 4(1) direction
requires that they be ‘made’ and then consulted on. Only if an article 4(1) direction is
confirmed does it have legal effect. Following consultation the matter would be
brought back to cabinet for the direction to be confirmed or not.
Article 4(1) Directions for conservation areas at Weedon Bec, Flore, Everdon, Little
Everdon, Staverton, Kilsby, Welford and Pitsford (2021)

Page 261

7.4.8 As each conservation area appraisal has been prepared, potential candidates for
Article 4 Directions have been identified. These candidates have been consulted upon
as part of the consultation on the appraisal, this enabled the public to have an early
opportunity to become more familiar with Article 4 Directions and the specific
proposals identified through the appraisals. Any comments on these proposals have
been formally reported to and considered by the former Daventry District Council
(DDC). In the case of the Article 4s the subject of this report, DDC’s Strategy Group
considered reports on the Conservation Area Appraisal consultations and then, at its
meeting on 10th September 2020, and 28th May 2020 in the case of Welford, resolved
to further consult on the proposed Article 4 directions. The grouping which is the
subject of this report was consulted on following an initial tranche of Directions
confirmed in February 2020.
7.4.9 This consultation is now complete, but as noted above in paragraph 5.3 a further
consultation is required due to difficulties with committee alignment.
7.4.10 The Directions to be consulted upon are in no way different to those previously given
permission for consultation on 10th September 2020. The only change is that they
are now “immediate” rather than “non-immediate”. This has some procedural
differences noted above at paragraphs 6.3-6.5.
7.4.11 Consultation on the immediate Article 4 Directions requires that all the affected
properties are notified, as well as the Secretary of State. Site notices should also be
put up in no fewer than two locations relating to the Direction, and there must be
publicity via local advertisement.
7.4.12 The Consultation period must be no shorter than 21 days from the notice given, and
in this case it is recommended that a six-week consultation be undertaken during
which time members of the public can put their views forward.
7.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.5.1 No further comments from Overview and Scrutiny.
7.6

Climate Impact

7.6.1 The designation of the conservation area and adoption of the appraisal and
management plans as supplementary planning documents are unlikely to have a
negative impact on the climate.
7.7

Community Impact

7.7.1 It is unlikely that the adoption of these documents would have any material effect on
crime or disorder.

Page 262

7.7.2 It is unlikely that the making or confirmation of Article 4 Directions would have any
material effect on crime or disorder.
7.7.3 The proposed course of action should not have any perceptible differential impact
on people with protected characteristics.
7.7.4 Endorsing the designation of the conservation area boundary and the adoption of
the Hellidon conservation area appraisal and management plan and Spratton
conservation area appraisal and management plan as SPDs would assist in
conserving the historic character of the village and contribute to preserving the
character of places which make up West Northamptonshire. As such, it would
support the well-being of residents and those who work in or visit Hellidon and
Spratton and the wider area.
8

Background Papers
-

-

-

Department of Communities and Local Government (2019) National Planning Policy
Framework
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation areas) Act 1990
The Town and Country Planning (Permitted Development and Miscellaneous
Amendments) (England) Regulations 2020
Daventry District Council Strategy Group 4th March 2021 - Permission for
consultation on draft Spratton Conservation area appraisal and management plan
and proposed boundary.
Daventry District Council Strategy Group 28th May 2020 - Permission for
consultation on draft Hellidon Conservation area appraisal and management plan
and proposed boundary changes.
Daventry District Council Strategy Group 10th September 2020- Permission to
consult on Draft Article 4 Directions for conservation Areas at Flore, Weedon,
Everdon, Little Everdon, Staverton, Welford, Pitsford and Kilsby

Page 263

Page 264

Agenda Item 15

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14TH SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder Environment, Transport, Highways & Waste – Councillor
Phil Larratt
Report Title

Innovative Flood Resilience Project

Report Author

Ruth Burnham, Senior Flood and Water Officer
ruth.burnham@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
MO

Catherine Whitehead

31 August 2021

S151

Martin Henry

25 August 2021

Assistant Director
Assets & Environment

Simon Bowers

26 August 2021

Executive Director
Place, Economy and
Environment
Communications

Stuart Timmiss

26 August 2021

Sent to Communications

List of Appendices
None
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

This report outlines the Northamptonshire Innovative Flood Resilience Project, which will bring
in approximately £6.2m of grant funding into West Northamptonshire and North
Northamptonshire over the next five and a half years to support delivery of innovative flood
resilience measures.

Page 265

1.2

The purpose of this report is to seek the necessary approvals to deliver the Northamptonshire
Innovative Flood Resilience Project. This includes approving the use of the ringfenced grant
funding and making all necessary appointments, including the project team and contractors.

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

In its 2020 Budget, the government announced a £200 million fund for the Flood and Coastal
Resilience Innovation Programme (FCRIP), to help meet the government’s aims on flooding and
coastal erosion. The programme will allocate £150 million to 25 local areas between 1 April 2021
and 31 March 2027, with each area receiving around £6 million. With this funding, projects will
demonstrate how practical innovative actions can work to improve resilience to flooding and
coastal erosion in their areas.

2.2

This report outlines how the FCRIP will deliver innovative flood resilience measures across two
catchments in Northamptonshire, including the Wootton Brook catchment in West
Northamptonshire. The programme is fully funded by a £6.2m Environment Agency capital grant
and is led by WNC.

2.3

The report sets out the proposed measures to be delivered in order to improve the flood
resilience of the communities in each of the catchments. These will work at three levels:
catchment, community and property. Together, these offer a real opportunity to improve the
lives of residents and viability of businesses currently at risk of flooding. The programme will also
create learning which can be used in other at-risk communities in West Northamptonshire and
indeed nationally.

2.4

Work has already commenced in order to secure approval for the studies and baseline work need
to inform the Outline Business Case, which is required to confirm the full grant amount required
to deliver the proposed measures. A project team is required in order to manage the project
partners and contractors, and to deliver the project. The team would include a programme
manager, project manager and project officer, as well as a project executive from existing staff.

2.5

The nature of the programme means that the risks to WNC should be low, and the benefits
considerable. In addition to the direct benefits, continuing with the programme would help
develop WNC’s credibility as a trusted partner of the Environment Agency and other relevant
bodies.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

Cabinet is asked to:
a) Note the work to date on securing £6.2m of Flood and Coastal Resilience Innovation
Programme grant allocation for West Northamptonshire and North Northamptonshire, and
the next steps required to progress the project.
b) Approve the use of the ring-fenced Flood and Coastal Resilience Innovation Programme
grant funding of £6.2m to deliver innovative flood resilience measures across the two
catchments, one in each of West Northamptonshire and North Northamptonshire, as set
out in the report.

Page 266

4.
4.1

Reason for Recommendations
The recommendations proposed align closely with the objectives established in the WNC
Corporate Plan 2021-2025.

4.2

The recommendations proposed align with the Northamptonshire Local Flood Risk Management
Strategy and will see the significant improvement in flood resilience of communities in two
priority catchments, with learning to be applied to future flood risk management work across
both councils.

4.3

The recommended course of action is in line with the objectives, outputs and benefits expected
from the Flood and Coastal Risk Innovation Programme (FCRIP), to develop and test new
approaches to improving flood resilience.

4.4

The recommendations above are required to progress the flood resilience measures as submitted
to the FCRIP.

5.

Report Background

Flood and Coastal Risk Innovation Programme (FCRIP)
5.1

In the 2020 Budget, the Government announced a £200 million fund for innovative projects to
help communities be more resilient to flooding and coastal change. This fund provides a valuable
opportunity to develop and test new and emerging approaches and ambitions set out in the
Government’s Policy Statement and National Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy.
The aim is to fund 25 projects that can use this funding to show how practical innovative actions
can work in combination to improve resilience to flooding and coastal erosion.

5.2

In March 2021, Defra announced that the former Northamptonshire County Council was
successful in its bid to the fund. The project, now being led by WNC on behalf of itself and North
Northamptonshire Council (NNC), will see two areas in Northamptonshire benefit from improved
flood resilience. The catchments to be addressed are Harpers Brook in North Northamptonshire
and Wootton Brook in West Northamptonshire.

5.3

Working with partners, NCC put in an expression of interest (EOI) for the money into Defra in
January 2021 with the two new unitary authorities taking the project forward. The project team
is working closely with Defra and the Environment Agency during this funded development stage
to develop the EOI into a detailed project plan. Once finalised and approved, it is anticipated the
final grant will be in the region of £6.2 million, with the project delivered over the next five and
a half years with the communities and project partners.

Harpers Brook and Wootton Brook Catchments
5.4

The two catchments on which the project will be centred (Harpers Brook and Wootton Brook)
were selected due to the number of flood incidents reported and the combined sources of flood
risk. In the past, it has been more difficult to secure funding for flood alleviation measures due
to the viability of previous schemes.

Page 267

5.5

The Harpers Brook area, in North Northamptonshire, includes the communities of Brigstock,
Lowick, Sudborough, Stanion and South Corby, and the Wootton Brook area, in West
Northamptonshire, includes Collingtree, Wootton, West and East Hunsbury, Hunsbury Meadows
and Hackleton. Within each of these catchments, there are approximately 500 properties
(residential and non-residential) currently at risk of flooding, with many more likely to become
at risk with the impacts of climate change. Since 2012 (when detailed records commenced), there
have been 358 reports of flood incidents across the two catchments, affecting both properties
and infrastructure. Of these, 237 were for the Wootton Brook and 121 were for Harpers Brook.

Project Aims and Objectives
5.6

The overall aim of the project is to engage with landowners, communities and individuals
throughout these two catchments, at three different spatial scales (catchment, community and
property), to deliver a series of interventions to improve resilience against flooding from multiple
sources; and to evaluate how effectively these measures work in combination with each other.

5.7

CATCHMENT SCALE: Work with landowners and farmers in the upstream areas of these
catchments to implement nature-based solutions
 Building on learning from previous catchment management work and utilising existing
groups, undertake landowner/farmer engagement through the Local Nature Partnership,
Catchment Partnership and catchment sensitive farmers to help advise on and deliver
resilience actions.
 Utilise existing natural flood management mapping and modelling, and local habitat
opportunity / natural capital mapping, to evidence most effective and viable nature-based
measures throughout the catchment area to support additional ecosystem services.
 Trial an innovative funding mechanism, similar to environmental land management
schemes (ELMS), via the existing Northamptonshire Landscape Enterprise Networks
approach, to fund nature-based solutions via landowner engagement, collaboration,
reverse auctions and local delivery to support flood risk management and other ecosystem
services.

5.8

COMMUNITY SCALE: Work with the key communities that are at risk and have flooded a
number of times over the past several years
 Building on innovative work of the Northamptonshire Community Resilience Pathfinder
project, provide a series of interventions to enhance community flood resilience to
residential, SMEs and community infrastructure assets including engagement, flood risk
mitigation investigations, flood warden training and community flood plans.
 Explore legal opportunities for parish councils and flood wardens to close roads during
times of flooding.
 Provide emergency response flood resilience stores to communities.
 Set up a surface water and groundwater flood warning system for the catchments and
explore proxy warnings of flooding on ordinary watercourse, to help support community
preparedness.
 Carry out live exercises of the community flood plans and deployment of community
resilience flood stores through the multi-agency flood plan and Local Resilience Forum, to
ensure they are robust and built into the regional emergency response.

Page 268

5.9

PROPERTY SCALE: Work with individuals and properties within these communities.
 Utilise the newly created property flood resilience (PFR) Mobile Demonstration Vehicle and
Flood Demonstration Property at HR Wallingford to support innovative engagement with
communities to help increase the uptake of PFR.
 Implement the findings of the Ox-Cam PFR Pathfinder project (which was led by NCC), to
deliver property flood resilience measures to those people and property most vulnerable to
flooding and climate change and seek to align delivery with energy efficiency measures.
 Train specialist officers to embed opportunistic PFR into renovations/improvements as part
of building control processes or planning applications.

5.10

ALL SPATIAL SCALES: Evaluate the costs and benefits of the project and develop an integrated
resilience framework to be shared nationally
 Seek opportunities to trial international approaches and incorporate learning including from
the Institute for Water Resources of the United States Army Corps of Engineers, following
on from work they have done on community flood resilience and engagement with
communities following Hurricane Katrina, and other major floods.
 Evaluate and produce a framework to assess how resilience measures interact and work
collectively together at different spatial scales to help improve overall holistic resilience to a
community, and the costs and benefits of these.

5.11

These objectives will be delivered via the five work packages below:






Work Package 1: Project governance and reporting.
Work Package 2: Catchment scale natural resilience.
Work Package 3: Community resilience and preparedness.
Work Package 4: Individual and property resilience.
Work Package 5: Project Evaluation and Framework.

Year 1 Work Programme and Funding
5.12

On announcement of the successful EOI in March 2021, the project was given until mid-July 2021
to prepare an application to secure funding to undertake the studies required to support the
Outline Business Case (OBC) for the project. The OBC must be submitted by the end of March
2022.

5.13

The FCERM7 form was successfully submitted in July 2021. The FCERM7 applied for funding for
initial studies (including engagement) that will define the resilience actions to be promoted in
the final five years of the project. It also informs what and how evidence will be captured in the
spatial resilience framework. The output of the initial studies will inform the Outline Business
Case (OBC). The FCERM7 covers all work and estimated foreseeable costs to the end of March
2022.

5.14

Initial work plans are set out below, by work package. Note: (Stretch) indicates stretch target to
try to achieve before April 2022, these may carry over past OBC phase.

5.15

Work Package 1 (WP1): Project governance and reporting
Page 269
 Establish project governance and steering group (including readiness assessment report).







Develop procurement strategy, prepare scopes & tender, award year 1 work, prepare scope
for years 2-6.
Establish baseline for evaluation of project success.
Establish strategic engagement / communication plan (including public relations plan).
Employ programme and project manager (as council staff) to manage the project.
Coordinate inputs to the OBC.

5.16

Work Package 2 (WP2): Catchment scale natural resilience
 Consolidate/establish relationships in Harpers and Wootton Brook catchments, build initial
awareness and establish landowner agreement templates.
 Carry out stakeholder mapping.
 Agree permitting approach with Environment Agency, WNC, NNC and Natural England for
natural flood management measures (stretch).
 Employ land advisor to lead delivery.
 Data capture and land use modelling to inform proposals and undertake demand analysis.
 Identify a preferred trading platform.
 Develop a delivery plan for five years that will inform the OBC.

5.17

Work Package 3 (WP3): Community resilience and preparedness
 Consolidate/establish relationships in Harpers and Wootton Brook communities
(approximately 12 communities), build initial awareness through engagement events and
assess level of interest.
 Investigate other ways of engaging (including review lessons learnt from hurricane Katrina).
 Carry out initial maintenance and mitigations plans for selected communities.
 Identify and train flood wardens (stretch).
 Support communities writing their flood plans (stretch).
 Explore road closure legislation (what can local communities do legally) (stretch).
 Develop a delivery plan for five years that will inform the OBC.

5.18

Work Package 4 (WP4): Individual and property resilience
 Support Work Package 3 (WP3) at community engagement events.
 Training: identify individuals to train on PFR (including planning officers).
 Develop/ trial property level flood alerts system (identify communities, obtain data, trial
mobile app) (app trial is a stretch target).
 Property Flood Resilience (PFR): identify community to trial PFR scheme, carry out PFR
surveys, identify location to trial community flood product (e.g. flood stop/flood fence).
 Investigate opportunities to align PFR with energy saving measures and collaborate with
CIWEM PFR flood compliance platform (stretch).
 Develop a delivery plan for last five years that will inform the OBC.

5.19

Work Package 5 (WP5): Project Evaluation and Framework
 Establish baseline integrated hydraulic model (pluvial (rain), fluvial (river), groundwater).
 Carry out initial assessment of hydraulic model and potential mitigation measures under
two climate change scenarios.
 Provide consequence hazards maps (output from modelling).
 Develop evaluation framework to assess the resilience of different mitigation measures.
Page 270




Provide economic inputs for the OBC.
Set out what modelling will be required and what evaluation data will be collated in the last
five years to inform the OBC.

5.20

There is overlap between all work packages. All works packages are committed to working
together. There would be a high-level engagement plan to inform all work packages, and resolved
conflicts where these arise. There would be monthly working/steering group meetings to update
all on progress and risk, as well as ad hoc conversations between work packages as required. In
particular work packages 3 and 4 would work closely to align engagement and deliverables at
community level. All work packages will contribute to the delivery plan for years 2-6.

5.21

The total value of the initial application was £870k to fund Year 1 work. This was approved by the
FCRIP Team in August 2021, so grant funding has now been secured to progress with year 1 work
to develop the OBC for the project.
Project Team, Project Partners and Professional Appointments

5.22

The EOI set out the proposed project team deemed necessary to deliver the above aims and
objectives, alongside the project partners and contractors. The proposed project team consists
of the following roles:





Project Executive
Programme Manager
Project Manager
Project Officer

5.23

At present, no formal appointments have been made, or contracts agreed upon, to deliver the
project. To date, the successful delivery of the project to date has been achieved by temporary
measures as outlined below.

5.24

A temporary project manager, an employee of WSP consultants, was secured via the existing
Northamptonshire Highways Contract. This role is funded by £40k of initial funding provided by
Defra at the commencement of the project in April 2021, to cover interim costs up to production
of the FCERM7 application. Use of this existing contract was the best available option for short
term initiation of the project given the quick turnaround expected by the Programme team and
the lack of internal resources. However, the initial grant will only cover the project manager costs
up until the end of October 2021.

5.25

The temporary Project Manager is currently being supported a NNC Project Manager
approximately one day per week. He is expected to take up the Programme Manager role within
the project team full time in October 2021 once his current fixed-term contract delivering the OxCam Property Flood Resilience Project closes.

5.26

The Project Executive role is being delivered by the Senior Flood and Water Officer of WNC,
approximately two days per week. It is expected that, once a project team is recruited, this level
of resource will drop to one day per week for the duration of the project. Therefore, appropriate
capacity needs to be secured within the West Northamptonshire Flood and Water Service.
Page 271

5.27

External appointments may be required to fulfil the posts of Project Manager and Project Officer,
as the skills, qualifications and experience required by the project team to undertake this
innovative project may not be found in house at either WNC or NNC, with the exception of those
identified above.

5.28

A number of partners agreed to support the EOI and are already delivering elements of work for
the project at risk until agreements/contracts can be finalised. These partners are:













HR Wallingford.
River Nene Regional Park (Nene Valley Catchment Partnership host).
Anglian Water Services.
Environment Agency (Northamptonshire and Lincolnshire Area).
Northamptonshire Local Nature Partnership (LNP) – members include Wildlife Trust BCN,
Natural England, University of Northampton, National Farmers Union, Country and Business
Land Association, Woodland Trust, Northants ACRE, Rockingham Forest Trust, Nene Park
Trust.
Northamptonshire Local Resilience Forum – members include Fire and Rescue, Police,
Voluntary Emergency Groups, and the Environment Agency.
Mary Dhonau Associates.
Institute for Water Resources of the United States Army Corps of Engineers.
GJB Consultancy – Oxford Ltd.
3Keel.
Cambridge Institute of Sustainability Leadership.

5.29

The project itself, as set out in the EOI, was designed with the input of the partners who were
able to set out innovations they could deliver through the project. Therefore, it is considered that
the success of the EOI was in significant part due to the input of those partners.

5.30

The nature of the process has required working with partners prior to formal procurements
taking place. This means it is possible that in some cases waivers from the Council’s Contract
Procedure Rules will be needed. If this is the case, the normal processes would be followed. In
doing so, it would be necessary to ensure public procurement law is respected.

5.31

In addition to the above project team and project partners, the following external appointments
are considered necessary:




Project Evaluators to baseline current responses to flood resilience and evaluate the
effectiveness of the measures implemented through the project. The cost of this
appointment is expected to be in the region of £54k over the duration of the project. The
appointment is required imminently in order to undertake baseline surveys of all
communities prior to any significant engagement taking place.
PR company to support the significant amount of public engagement required in order to
successfully deliver the project. Cost of this appointment is expected to be in the region of
£136k over the duration of the project. The appointment is required imminently in order to
support commencement of engagement with the communities involved.

Page 272



Engineering consultancy to prepare community mitigation and maintenance reports, which
set out the details and condition of communities’ flood-related infrastructure and make
recommendations for improvement. Cost of this appointment is expected to be in the
region of £40k over the duration of the project. The appointment is required imminently in
order to provide baseline data.

5.32

A robust procurement strategy would be applied to these appointments, to ensure the best value
for money as well as compliance with relevant legislation.

5.33

A project-level steering group has been created to have strategic oversight of the project aims
and outcomes and will provide financial, quality and equality assurance for the project, to ensure
funds are spent transparently and effectively throughout the lifetime of the project.

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

The choices available to the Council are considered to be:
 Endorse the project;
 Propose amendments to the project; or
 Not endorse the project.

6.2

The aims and objectives of the project have been carefully scoped through the EOI process, to
not only meet the FCRIP requirements, but to ensure that long term delivery of flood risk
management in West Northamptonshire (and North Northamptonshire) can be improved.

6.3

Whilst there are some resourcing implications, there is no budgetary requirement on the Council,
and therefore not endorsing the project is unlikely to achieve more positive results with the
limited resources available to the Council without this grant funding.

6.4

Not endorsing the project would also require WNC to withdraw from the programme, which
would likely have negative repercussions on the Council with any future bids for flood-related
funding.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.2

The project budget is currently set out as follows:
Project budget
Staffing (fixed term contracts)

Total, £k
760

External consultant costs (project partners)

1,288

Construction and delivery of resilience measures

3,640

Risk contingency

353

Inflation

162

Total project budget

6,203

Page 273

7.3

All capital funding is via the FCRIP grant fund. The project has been assessed against the criteria
relating to project viability and deliverability (via EOI process), and accepted on the programme,
so full funding up to the values presented above is secured in principle. Year 1 funds have already
been approved, and OBC approval is expected in April 2022 to fully secure funding for years 2-6.

7.4

It is expected that there will be financial contributions from third party organisations towards the
catchment scale capital works, which will serve to extend the coverage of measures provided,
thereby improving the outcomes of the project. However, project success is not dependent on
securing this funding.

7.5

Resourcing of the project team (fixed term contracts for Programme Manager, Project Manager
and Project Officer) is funded by the capital grant. The limited resourcing implications of the
Project Executive role will need to be considered as part of a review of the Flood and Water
Management Service.

7.6

In the long term, it is expected that the learning from this innovation project will bring significant
improvements to the way flood risk is managed by the Council, with possible future revenue and
capital resource efficiencies.

7.7

It is not anticipated that WNC will take on responsibility (and therefore financial implications) for
any assets delivered through the project, except where these fall within WNC land ownership.
The long-term implications would be considered prior to committing to delivering these specific
assets.

7.8

Legal

7.9

There are no specific legal implications identified. The project lies clearly within the scope of the
Council’s powers and duties both specifically and generally. Legal advice will be required to
ensure all due process is followed and procurements are undertaken in a correct and compliant
way throughout the duration of the project term.

7.10

Risk

7.11

As an externally funded innovation programme, the financial risks on WNC are limited – at this
time there are no specific expectations on delivery of the project except submission of an
appropriate OBC in March 2022 as set out in section 5.

7.12

However, delaying or cutting activity on the project at this point would be likely to result in
significant reputational and political risks:



If the project is not delivered in a timely fashion, this would weaken the Council’s position
to leverage future funding from Government. There would also be reputational damage
with the public with the project already having been promoted in the key communities.
As a new authority, the Council is under increased scrutiny from Government and the public
and if the project is not delivered efficiently then this could harm the Council’s perception
to these audiences.
Page 274

7.13

A project risk register is being developed and monitored to manage the project-specific risks. At
present, the top five risks to delivering the OBC are considered to be:
Risk
1. Procuring partners and
specialists in time to deliver
inputs to the OBC
2. Uncoordinated consultation
leads to poor relations with
partners and or communities
3. Council, partners or suppliers
do not have resource to
meet deliverables
4. Duplication or conflict of
solutions

5. Do not have robust
economic case to inform
OBC.

Mitigation
Discussions with WNC Procurement team have
commenced. Where possible, prepare agreements/tender
work during August and September.
A strategic engagement plan will be developed and
proactively managed by the project manager.
Establish programme with key deliverables and review
progress with work package (WP) leads minimum monthly
at steering group meetings.
Share WP tasks and outputs across all workstreams and
with partners. Establish project communications plan that
sets key touch points and minimum communication
between individual WPs.
Work with HR Wallingford, WP leads, Viridian, EA
innovation team and OBC author to clarify minimum
acceptable economic case for OBC. Include requirements
in program deliverables.

7.14

Consultation

7.15

No formal consultation has been required to date, although the Council’s successful EOI has been
widely advertised amongst those communities that will directly benefit from the project.

7.16

The project itself is centred around engagement. As set out above, one of the initial activities is
to a stablish strategic engagement / communication plan, which will include a public relations
plan.

7.17

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny
None to date.

7.18

Climate Impact

7.19

At this point, it is unclear whether any of the specific measures to be delivered will meet the
requirements to undertake environmental impact assessment (EIA). An allowance has been
made for a basic environment assessment to inform the OBC. When work package 2 (catchment
resilience) has identified what natural flood management measures they propose, an
environmental specialist will review the proposals and prepare a technical note on what is
required (e.g. scoping, full EIA, ecological survey, and so on). This technical note will also inform
the OBC. If required environmental surveys will be carried out in year 2.

Page 275

7.20

Reducing the impacts of climate change on flood risk and resilience is key to the project and
included in the project objectives. The types of measure proposed should minimise adverse
climate impacts and may well offer opportunities to improve environmental performance
including reducing carbon emissions or capturing carbon.

7.21

Community Impact

7.22

The focus of the project is to provide benefit to communities within the two catchment areas.
Through the significant community engagement proposed throughout the project, the
communities will have opportunity to influence the scope of works to provide maximum positive
impact.

7.23

Communications

7.24

The WNC and NNC Communications teams would be engaged throughout the project to ensure
that the strategic engagement / communication plan (including public relations) is appropriate.

8.

Background Papers

8.1

None.

Page 276

Agenda Item 16
Item no: 16

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th September 2021
Cllr Malcolm Longley – Cabinet Member for Finance
Report Title

Disposal of land at Wantage Farm for new secondary school

Report Author

James Aldridge, Group Asset Manager
James.Aldridge@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
MO
S151
Other Director/SME

Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Catherine Whitehead
Martin Henry
Simon Bowers – Assistant
Director Assets and Capital
Stuart Timmiss – Executive
Director Place, Economy &
Environment
Becky Hutson –
Communications & Marketing
Manager

6 September 2021
6 September 2021
9 September 2021
9 September 2021

6 September 2021

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Consultation Document

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

This report sets out the results of consultation into a proposed disposal of land at Wantage Farm,
Moulton, Northampton for the purposes of a new free secondary school. It considers the results

Page 277

and seeks authority to enter into an Agreement for Lease (AfL) which would result in grant of a
125-year lease to the academy trust subject to planning permission being granted.
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

There is a significant need for secondary school places in northern Northampton. Practically, this
needs to be addressed through the provision of a new school no later than the 2023/24 academic
year (that is, by September 2023). Unless a planning application is made in the near future, and
construction work commences next year, it is unlikely a new school will be available in time.

2.2

The DfE is willing to fund the £25 million cost of constructing the new school. This is a result of a
successful bid by the Northampton School for Boys (NSB) Trust. (For clarity, the school will be
coeducational.) Consultation by the trust found strong support for a new school. The new school
would be managed by NSB Trust. NSB is an ‘Outstanding’ school with great vision, values and
quality, with appreciation of working within a community

2.3

The DfE has evaluated potential sites and concluded this is the most suitable and viable.

2.4

Whilst entering into an AfL had previously been approved by NCC, as WNC is a new council fresh
consideration and a fresh decision on the matter is required.

2.5

As requested by Members at the July Cabinet meeting, a fresh consultation has been carried out.
This was designed to ensure Cabinet was fully informed when it took its decision. The results of
that consultation are that there is recognition of a need for a new school, but most local people
who responded did not feel Wantage Farm was the right site. However, the reasons given, such
as traffic, are ones best tested through the planning application process.

2.6

The proposed Cabinet decision would in no way impact on the consideration of the proposed
planning application. That would provide a forum where issues such as transport and the impacts
on the local area would be resolved.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

That Cabinet authorises the Assistant Director Assets and Environment to enter into an
Agreement for Lease which would commit the Council to granting a 125-year lease for the
construction, and ongoing use, of the site for new secondary school at Wantage Farm, Moulton,
Northampton, as set out in the report.

4.

Reason for Recommendations

4.1

There is a significant need for secondary school places in northern Northampton. Meeting that
need through expansion of existing schools is unlikely to provide sufficient suitable capacity.
Therefore a new school is required. The Council has a statutory duty to ensure the provision of
sufficient school places for pupils from its area.
Page 278

4.2

The Government via the Department for Education (DfE) and Education & Skills Funding Agency
(ESFA) is willing to fund a new free secondary school which will meet that need. This would be
operated by the NSB Trust, which operates the ‘Outstanding’ Northampton School for Boys.

4.3

Consideration of options has identified land owned by the Council at Wantage Farm as the most
credible site for the new school. No other viable or more suitable sites have been identified,
despite examination.

4.4

The DfE will only invest in the new school if it has secure title to the land, by way of an AfL which
would, if planning permission is granted, result in the grant of a 125-year lease to the academy
trust.

4.5

The Council has consulted on the proposed disposal. The consultation has identified recognition
of the need for a new school, alongside majority opposition to this site. The reasons given by
respondents have been carefully considered and none were found that would justify not
proceeding. In particular, many objections relate to matters more appropriately tested by the
planning system.

4.6

If the Council did not enter into the AfL it would still need to provide the school places. This would
probably result in the same site being used, but at the Council’s cost. This is estimated at £25
million.

5.

Report Background

5.1

This report deals with matters arising under the life of Northamptonshire County Council (NCC)
as local education authority, and since 1st April 2021 WNC (having taken on that role). Where
‘Council’ is used it refers to either, as appropriate for the time in question.

5.2

It has been identified that there is likely to be a shortage of secondary school places in West
Northamptonshire in coming years. The consultation document attached to this report as
Appendix A sets out a full analysis of the demand for secondary school places in the wider
Northampton area in forthcoming academic years. There is a forecast deficit of secondary school
places, and the delivery of new housing development will exacerbate this issue.

5.3

For the reasons set out in Appendix A it is highly unlikely that WNC will be able to provide
sufficient temporary ‘bulge’ capacity at existing schools in the area after the 2022/23 academic
year. This would mean WNC would fail in its statutory obligation of providing a sufficiency of
school places from the 2023/24 academic year onwards in the Northampton area.

5.4

A free school was approved by the DfE for north of Northampton which would address this as
well as assisting with general pressures on secondary places in this area. The approved bid came
from the NSB Trust, which operates the ‘Outstanding’ Northampton School for Boys.

Page 279

5.5

As is normal, the ESFA then conducted a site search for land on which to construct the school.
This site search included various pieces of land owned by the Council, including its strategic
development land at Wantage Farm. This site was found to be the most suitable by the DfE and
it has accordingly undertaken feasibility work prior to submitting a planning application.

5.6

Wantage Farm had been retained by the Council on the basis that there was medium to long
term development potential, although it is currently not allocated for development. Any
proposals for the site would need to follow a suitable planning process and would be subject to
the consultation and assessment that are associated with that process.

5.7

Given the level of due diligence that needed to be completed on the site, the Council granted a
licence to the DfE allowing it to undertake surveys and ground investigation works to assess the
viability of the site and to inform their possible future planning application.

5.8

Given the level of cost involved, the DfE required the Council to enter into an AfL committing the
Council to granting a 125-year lease to the academy trust once planning permission had been
obtained and the building constructed. The AfL was approved by an NCC Cabinet Member
decision in March 2021 but there was insufficient time prior to vesting day for this decision to be
implemented. A new decision was therefore required.

5.9

At Cabinet in July 2021 Members requested that further public consultation take place before a
decision was taken on the disposal. The nature of, and responses to, that consultation are set out
in section 7.4 below. In summary, whilst there is clearly local opposition to the scheme, it is far
from universal. More importantly, none of the reasons given for opposing this site for the new
school are considered sufficient to over-ride the need to provide school spaces, or are matters
properly resolved through the planning process.

5.10

Authority is therefore sought to enter into an AfL with the DfE for a new 125-year lease on the
site for the provision of a new secondary school as set out in this report. While the lease would
be conditional on the delivery of the secondary school, by entering in to such an agreement WNC
would be committed to granting the 125-year lease once the various conditions are met. The
lease would be at a peppercorn (no rent or premium charged).

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

As identified above, there will be a shortage of secondary school places in Northampton in future
years. On this basis, the Council previously offered some of its development land to secure the
investment from the DfE in the new school. While WNC could take the decision not to offer the
land, by doing so it would likely lose the investment in the school and would be at significant risk
of failing to meet its statutory obligation to provide enough secondary school places.

6.2

While various sites were considered by the DfE, the Wantage Farm site was deemed to be the
most suitable and viable.

6.3

By making the proposed decision, WNC would agree to grant a 125-year lease on the relevant
part of this site and would no longer be able to generate any future development proceeds from

Page 280

it. As discussed earlier, the site is not currently allocated for development and therefore the
future planning status cannot be determined with any degree of certainty at this stage.
6.4

The site in question extends to around 10ha (24 acres) and was last used for agricultural
purposes. It is not currently possible to accurately assess the future development potential of the
site, not least as ground conditions, highway implications, and acceptable site densities are
unknown. However, if the site were to secure residential planning permission, then it is possible
that site could command a value of around £10 million. There is significant risk attached to this
assumption at present. It may however be considered a reasonable upper bound.

6.5

This potential loss of financial receipt needs to be considered against the £25 million estimated
build cost of the secondary school which would have to be funded by WNC if the current proposal
was not to proceed. Additionally, when considering sites for new secondary schools it is likely
that WNC would have needed to look at land within its own portfolio before approaching the
market. It is therefore likely that if WNC needed to build the secondary school itself, that
Wantage Farm would have been identified as the most viable solution. Alternatively, the Council
would have to purchase land, at cost.

6.6

Even if an alternative site in the vicinity of Northampton was available and purchased, the nature
of the area means that many of the same concerns raised about this proposed development
would also arise.

6.7

Therefore it is considered that none of the concerns raised by residents or other stakeholders
would justify not proceeding with the proposed AfL.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 As discussed in more detail at 6.4 and 6.5 above, the site was being held as a future strategic
development site but is not currently designated for development. While WNC would be giving
up future development land, its potential, and the timescale for any development is unknown.
By not moving forward, WNC would not have sufficient school places and may need to wholly
fund an alternative solution.
7.1.2 The Council could develop a new school on the land but would have to fund the total cost. This
proposal secures investment from the DfE to construct the new school. Having to fund the
construction of a new school would require the Council to source around £25m of capital funding
which it currently has not budgeted for. It would also still lose the land value or pay to purchase
alternative land.
7.2

Legal

7.2.1 While WNC is not under a statutory obligation to transfer or grant a lease of the site, the
proposed agreement for lease is necessary to secure the agreement of DfE to make the
investment and construct the school on the site.

Page 281

7.2.2 Under Section 123(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council cannot dispose of land by
freehold or leasehold of more than seven years’ duration at less than the best consideration
reasonably obtainable (called in this report “best price”) without the consent of the Secretary of
State. Consent for disposals at up to £2m million less than best price is given by the General
Disposal Consent (England) 2003 if the Council considers the disposal would benefit the social,
economic or environmental well-being of the area. In this case, it would clearly be reasonable for
the Council to consider that the disposal would benefit the social well-being of the area by
enabling young people to have secondary education readily available to them. If it is concluded
that the under-value exceeds the £2m permitted by the General Consent specific consent would
be sought.
7.3

Risk

7.3.1 If the Council enters into the agreement for lease the risks of delivery would lie with the DfE. It
would have to obtain planning permission and other consents, procure a building contractor and
manage the process to completion. There is therefore little risk to the Council from entering into
the AfL.
7.3.2 As highlighted previously, the principal risk surrounds not making the decision to enter into the
AfL. Without this commitment, the DfE would not proceed with the investment and WNC would
be at risk of not being able to fulfil its statutory obligation to provide sufficient school places. In
addition to this, WNC would be left with a requirement to fund the development of the new
school at an estimated cost of £25m which it has currently not budgeted for.
7.4

Consultation

7.4.1 As requested at July Cabinet, a period of consultation on the proposal to dispose of the Wantage
Farm site to the Department of Education (DfE) for the provision of a new secondary free school
to serve Northampton was conducted between 4th August and 3rd September 2021.
7.4.2 The consultation used the following approaches to allow stakeholders to respond:
Consultees
Local MPs, ward councillors and parish councils
All residents of Moulton Parish, Overstone
Parish, and Moulton Leys and Southfields estates
(5,020 dwellings)
All other stakeholders

Contact Mechanism
Direct email
Direct mail-out to all residences located
within these areas
Press releases and promoted via WNC
social media channels

7.4.3 In each case people could respond with an email, letter or by completing an online questionnaire.
7.4.4 The consultation document on this subject is provided as Appendix A to this report. The
document provided details relating to:


The current and historical demand for school places in the wider Northampton area.
Page 282






7.5

An examination of why existing schools within the area cannot be extended further.
The future demand for school places in the wider Northampton area.
The future impact of new housing development on the demand for secondary school
places.
Details relating to alternative sites for a new secondary school that have been explored.
Details relating to the central government delivered free school programme.

Analysis

7.5.1 At the point the period of consultation concluded on 3 rd September 2021, 688 responses had
been received, broken down as follows:




660 online questionnaires
34 written responses by emails or letter
18 comments on the Council’s social media channels, of which 3 resulted in further
replies.

7.5.2 The number of responses received to this consultation represents a response rate of 13.7% of
the 5,020 dwellings contacted directly, although some responses will have been from people
other than those residents.
7.5.3 The stakeholders that responded to the online consultation and their interest are categorised
within the table below. Stakeholders were able to state more than one category of interest, so
the figures contained exceed the total number of respondents.
Number of
responses

Percentage of
respondents

A local resident
527
A parent / guardian of a secondary school pupil
181
A young person currently of school age
16
A provider of services to secondary schools
3
A voluntary, community/charitable organisation
5
A West Northamptonshire Councillor
2
A town or parish councillor / council
9
An educational professional
49
Community / residents’ organisation
1
Other
16
Of the 660 responses to the consultation, 659 responded to this question.

80.0%
27.5%
2.4%
0.5%
0.8%
0.3%
1.4%
7.4%
0.2%
2.4%

7.5.4 The consultation document and online questionnaire focussed on a number of key themes and
questions, these are identified and the responses received to each question/theme are detailed
below.

Page 283

Q. Do you agree with our assessment that there is a need for more secondary school PLACES in
Northampton?
Of the 660 responses to the online consultation, 635 responded to this question.

Number of
responses
Yes
No
Maybe
Don't know
Total

Percentage of
responses
472
56
65
42
635

74.3%
8.8%
10.2%
6.6%
100.0%

Q. We think that a new secondary school is needed in Northampton. Do you agree that a new
secondary SCHOOL is needed in Northampton?
Of the 660 responses to the online consultation, 635 responded to this question.

Number of
responses
Yes

452

Percentage of
responses
71.2%

Page 284

Number of
responses
No
Maybe
Don't know
Total

Percentage of
responses
60
83
40
635

9.5%
13.1%
6.3%
100.0%

Q. Assuming that a new secondary school is needed in Northampton, to what extent do you agree or
disagree that the proposed site of Thorpeville, Moulton is suitable?
Of the 660 responses to the online consultation, 585 responded to this question. Please note ‘Other’
includes: Don't know (6 responses), I have no opinion (4) and Not applicable (3).

Number of
responses
Strongly agree
Tend to agree
Neither agree/disagree
Tend to disagree
Strongly disagree
Other
Total

170
85
28
47
242
13
585

Percentages of
responses
29.1%
14.5%
4.8%
8.0%
41.4%
2.2%
100.0%

7.5.5 Responses received to the consultation clearly emphasise that respondents agreed with WNC’s
assessment that an increased number of school places are required to serve Northampton (74%)
and also that there was a need for a new secondary school in the town (71%).
7.5.6 However, responses in respect of questions relating to whether or not stakeholders believed
Wantage Farm to be the right location for a new school were mixed. 49% of respondents ‘tended’
or ‘strongly’ disagreed that Wantage Farm was a suitable site for a new secondary school, whilst
just under 44% of respondent ‘tended’ or ‘strongly’ agreed that that the site was suitable.

Page 285

7.5.7 The online questionnaire itself generated a total of 935 comments. Whilst some respondents
expressed their support many raised objections, as summarised in section 7.6.
7.5.8 The 34 written responses in the form of letters and emails are not included in the numerical
analysis above. Of these, 29 expressed general opposition and 5 expressed general support. The
vast majority of concerns were regarding traffic congestion and road safety. These was followed
by concerns over the impact on the local environment and wildlife. Several respondents also
proposed alternative sites.
7.5.9 As noted above, the Council’s social media channels generated 18 comments, from which 3
comments posted resulted in further replies. Comments received (again, not included in the
numerical analysis above) mostly mirrored those made by other respondents.
7.6

Consideration of objections

7.6.1 The objections and other comments received fall into a small number of themes. These are
summarised here, and comments made in relation to each theme.
7.6.2 Highways, volume of traffic and congestion issues
The substance to these objections can be summarised as follows:
a) Volume of traffic in local area/impact upon the ‘old A43’.
b) The new school would increase traffic through Moulton village which is already
congested at peak times.
c) The village already experiences heavy traffic volumes due to the existing education
provisions located within it.
d) Increased traffic control measures would be required to allow any students attending
the school from the Overstone Leys development to safely walk to school.
Each of the issues listed above would be tested through the planning application process, which
would include assessment of traffic impacts and test whether or not the road network in the area
could accommodate the number of journeys that are likely to be generated by the proposed
school. Planning permission would not be granted until testing exercises of the local road
network have been conducted and it has been shown that the local network could satisfactorily
accommodate the journeys.
Specifically on item (d), there does not appear to be any reason that additional crossings of the
‘new’ A43 could not be provided, if it was established these were required.
Under the proposed terms, if planning permission was not obtained the lease would not be
granted. The Council would then be free to decide what to use the site for. Of course, that all
local residents and any other interested stakeholders will have the ability to respond to and
inform the planning process by responding to that consultation once it has been launched.

Page 286

Concerns were also raised by several people about the potential impact of the school on public
footpaths DD2 and DD16, which effectively form the boundary of the site. It is intended these
are retained or, if preferable, relocated to the far side of the field boundaries. The view from the
footpaths would of course change, but their essential function would remain.
7.6.3 Loss of green space and environmental issues
The substance of these objections can be summarised as follows:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Building on this site would mean the loss of the only green space in Moulton.
Impact upon dog walkers that utilise the site or the adjoining Crowfield nature reserve.
Impact upon new and existing wild and plant life at Crowfield nature reserve.
Increased pollution.

In considering these issues it should be noted that there is no lawful access to the site for walking
or public recreation. Some informal use has developed, but it is not intended this would continue
in any event. For clarity, the Crowfield nature reserve is not part of the proposed school site.
Each of the issues listed above would be tested through the planning application process, which
would include assessment and testing of the environmental impact of the proposed new school.
Any planning permission could include planning conditions to require measures be taken that
would mitigate the environmental impact the school would have. If on balance the view was that
the adverse environmental impacts would be too great, then planning would not be granted.
Under the proposed terms, if planning permission was not obtained the lease would not be
granted. The Council would then be free to decide what to use the site for.
7.6.4 Location
The substance to these objections can be summarised as follows:
a) Brownfield sites in other locations should be considered, such as former middle school
sites or the ‘Old Station Yard’ Brixworth.
b) The school is being built in Moulton, a village that is already served by a primary,
secondary and further education provision.
c) There has been too much development in Moulton already.
A significant number of alternative sites have been considered for the location of a new
secondary school within the wider Northampton area by both the Council and the Department
for Education, none of which were identified as being either viable at or more viable than the
proposed site at Wantage Farm. There are no remaining Northampton middle school sites
available for this use (the last remaining site was Parklands Middle School, which has been sold).
Brixworth is not a location that could practically or sustainably serve to meet demand from both
an area of basic need demand (Northampton town), and nor is it in the immediate vicinity of
large scale new housing development. None of the sites suggested in consultation responses
were viable alternatives to the land at Wantage Farm.
Page 287

Whilst it is acknowledged that there are other education provisions located in close proximity to
the proposed new school site, this is not an uncommon situation in growing areas. There are
other areas around Northampton with a larger number of provisions that are co-located. For
example, St Gregory’s and The Arbours Primary Schools, Weston Favell Academy and
Northampton College are all located within 800m of each other. In any event, the mere number
of educational institutions in proximity is not material. What matters is whether they would meet
demand (and it is the view of WNC school place planning and of the DfE that this site would) and
whether they would create unacceptable traffic or other environmental issues (which is a matter
the planning process will establish).
The development of Moulton has followed from the need for housing in the area of
Northampton. The provision of a school at this location might be considered beneficial in that
regard, as it would prevent this site coming forward for housing and retain a large area of open
land between Moulton and the adjacent parts of Northampton.
7.7

Consultation conclusions

7.7.1 Further consultation was requested by Members with a view to canvassing the opinion of local
residents and all other interested stakeholders on the proposal to make the Wantage Farm site
available to the DfE for the provision of a new secondary school, to ensure that a fully informed
decision was able to be made in respect of this proposal.
7.7.2 The need for new secondary capacity in the area to be addressed through the provision of a new
secondary school is clear and was supported by the response received to the consultation (over
two-thirds agreement that a new school is required).
7.7.3 This need is also supported by the approval of the free school submitted by the Northampton
School for Boys Charitable Trust by the DfE under the Wave 14 free schools programme. One of
the key criteria for approval of a Wave 14 free school bid was that it would serve an area need
for school places.
7.7.4 Objections to the proposal received as part of the consultation centre on one of a small number
of themes, namely highways, congestion and volume of traffic concerns, loss of green space and
environmental concerns and that the Wantage Farm site is not the right location for the school.
7.7.5 Each of these themes of objection would be considered as part of the planning application
process to which all interested stakeholders would be able to respond and make their views
known. The planning application process would consider objections and may result, as it judged
to reflect the planning balance, a decision to approve or reject, and if approval is given conditions
may be imposed to manage any adverse impacts.
7.7.6 It is therefore recommended that Cabinet approve this proposal to make the Wantage Farm site
available to the DfE on 125-year lease, with AfL containing a condition that the grant of lease
would be dependent on planning approval being granted. The AfL would also contain other
relevant provisions to protect the parties’ interests. Minor changes to the boundary may be made
if necessary to enable the development or protect the Council’s interests.
Page 288

7.8

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.8.1 None.
7.9

Climate Impact

7.9.1 Locating sufficient school capacity in Northampton should help reduce the need for motorised
travel, particularly over long distances.
7.10

Community Impact

7.10.1 By agreeing to this recommendation WNC would be able to support the provision of additional
school places in Northampton to meet the projected demand. This would ensure that WNC
would be able to offer secondary education places to the local community.
7.10.2 The provision of a new secondary school that would provide sufficient secondary school places
in the wider Northampton area would have a positive community impact upon the school-age
population of this area and their families. The responses received during the consultation make
it clear that the provision of a new secondary school on the Wantage Farm site is perceived by
some to be a negative impact. However, on balance it is considered the impact would be positive.
7.11

Communications

7.11.1 As noted above, the Council has directly communicating with residents and stakeholders about
the proposed disposal. Once a decision is taken residents and stakeholders would be informed
of the position. If the decision is to approve entering into the AfL, it would be explained that the
Council would consult on a planning application, leading in due course to a planning decision. If
planning permission is granted the Council would work alongside the DfE/ESFA and the Trust to
explain the programme of work leading to the opening of the school.
8.

Background Papers

8.1

Cabinet Report – July 2021 Cabinet Meeting

Page 289

This page is intentionally left blank

West Northamptonshire Council
One Angel Square
4 Angel Street, Northampton
NN1 1ED
0300 126 7000
www.westnorthants.gov.uk

Name
Address line 1
Address line 2
Postcode
4th August 2021
Have your say on proposals to provide land for a new secondary free school in your area
Dear Resident
We are writing to you to let you know that West Northamptonshire Council is proposing to provide
land in your area to the Department of Education for a new secondary free school to serve
Northampton – and we would like to hear your views on this.
The land we are proposing to provide to
the DfE is located to the west of
Thorpeville, Moulton, known as ‘Wantage
Farm’ – please see the location pictured
right and the proposed site outlined in
red.
The Council has a legal obligation to
ensure there are enough school places
for children across West Northants, and
supplying land to the DfE is an
opportunity to help meet the increasing
demand for places in your area via a new
school, at no cost to the Council.
It’s really important we hear your views
on this proposal so that we can ensure
they are considered before any decision
is made on this proposal. Please find
enclosed more information, including details on the current and future demands and capacity for
school places in Northampton and surrounding areas which we hope will provide you with further
background when considering your feedback.
We would encourage you to have your say by completing our questionnaire online at
https://westnorthants.citizenspace.com or alternatively emailing or writing to us (see Page 8
for contact details). The deadline for receiving feedback is midnight on Friday, 3 September 2021
and the proposal will be considered at the Council’s Cabinet meeting on 14 September.
Thank you in advance for your feedback and we look forward to hearing from you.
Yours faithfully
Cllr Malcolm Longley

Cabinet Member, Finance
West Northamptonshire Council

Page 291

P roposal to provide land to the w est of Thorpeville, M oulton,
know n as ‘W antage Farm ’, to the Departm ent for Education for a
new secondary free school to serve Northam pton
Why is a new secondary school required for Northampton?
West Northamptonshire Council (WNC) has a legal obligation to provide enough school places in all
areas of West Northants. The demand for secondary school places in Northampton town and the
surrounding areas represents the biggest threat to WNC’s ability to deliver this and the aim of this
proposal is towards addressing that.
In September 2016, two new free schools opened within Northampton town (Northampton
International Academy and Wootton Park Free School), providing an additional 420 places to those
available in the year of entry (Year 7) and 2,100 new secondary places in total.
The extra capacity provided by these new schools meant the combined Published Admission
Number (PAN) – the number of students that schools will take per year group – of all schools in
Northampton equated to 2,550 per year group.

What is the current capacity of school places in the area?
By this 2019/20 academic year, the demand for secondary school places in the area had risen by
such an extent that all new and existing capacity had been consumed – this meant the previous
local education authority (Northamptonshire County Council, since replaced by WNC) needed to
provide temporary extra capacity at existing schools to meet the demand from this academic year
onwards, in the amounts shown below;
•
•
•

2019/20 academic year: 260 extra places across 7 existing schools within the town;
2020/21 academic year: 271 extra places across 9 existing schools within the town and
surrounding areas;
2021/22 academic year: 271 extra places across 9 existing schools within the town and
surrounding areas;

Total: 802 additional secondary school places in three academic years. As illustrated above, NCC
and WNC have been required to add the equivalent of a large secondary school’s worth of
additional extra capacity across existing schools in the area, in the forthcoming and previous two
academic years to meet demand in the wider Northampton area.

Why can’t we keep this additional capacity at the existing schools instead
of having a new one?
This additional capacity has been delivered at a capital cost of around £4m and this model is not
sustainable due to the following considerations:
a) The physical space available within existing schools: Due to the large amounts of
extra capacity that has been provided previously, the majority of schools in the area have
reached or are approaching the maximum number of students that can physically and safely
be accommodated on site, without the requirement for large-scale and permanent
extensions i.e. a new 8 classroom teaching block at an approximate cost of £4m per school.
b) Schools’ ability to effectively deliver the curriculum to students: The large amounts
of extra capacity previously provided will prohibit schools taking further extra capacity, as
2

Page 292

the increased number of students attending them place an increased pressure on curriculum
specific areas of individual schools i.e. a school would be unable to timetable a sufficient
number of science lessons for students attending the school as the existing Science facilities
at that school were not built to accommodate the increased number of students now
attending. At this point, a school’s ability to effectively deliver the Science curriculum to
students is compromised. At this point, the Local Authority would not request that school to
provide any further extra capacity.
c) Financial: WNC does not have sufficient capital funding to continue providing small
extensions and other works to make it possible for existing schools to take extra capacity.
The greater the amount of extra capacity already added dictates that further and more
extensive projects are required to allow existing schools to continue to take an increased
number of students and these projects become more expensive to deliver. WNC will be
required to pay a premium for any future projects to add extra capacity within the area
moving forward.
Each of these considerations demonstrate the clear need for a new secondary school to serve the
wider Northampton area.

What is the current and projected demand for secondary school places in
Northampton?
The table below details the number of students that have been allocated a place at a wider
Northampton area secondary school for a Year 7 place starting in September 2021:
Y7 PAN
2021/22

School
Abbeyfield School
Kingsthorpe College
Malcolm Arnold Academy
Northampton Academy
Northampton International Academy
Northampton School for Boys
Northampton School for Girls
The Duston School
Thomas Becket Catholic School
Weston Favell Academy
Wootton Park School
Campion School
Caroline Chisholm School
Elizabeth Woodville School (North Campus)
Guilsborough Academy
Moulton School & Science College

Allocated
places Sept 21

Total
surplus Y7
places

3896

64* places or
1.6%

240
270
240
330
300
215
290
270
180
270
180
240
279
150
238
240
3932

*The number of surplus places is greater than a PAN vs Allocated comparison as some area schools
have been required to take over their individual PAN as a result of successful appeals for school
places.
3

Page 293

The Department for Education (DfE) recommend that between 5-10% of the total amount of
capacity within a given area is retained as surplus, to allow for the ‘in year' movement of students.
In the 21/22 academic year the level of Year 7 capacity within the wider Northampton area is
forecast to equate to 1.6% and will provide a challenge in terms of the allocation of school places to
any student moving into the area from September 21 onwards.
Where do pupils live?
NN1

7.6%

NN5

16.8%

NN2

12.1%

NN6

7.9%

NN3

28.5%

NN7

6.3%

NN4

18.3%

Other

2.5%

*Average figures for the entire Year 7 intake for wider Northampton area schools for 19/20, 20/21
and 21/22 academic years.
The proposed new school site at Wantage Farm, Moulton is located within the NN3
postcode area, the area in which almost 30% of students that have (or will) start
secondary school in the last 3 years reside.
In addition to this, the Wantage Farm site is also located within an acceptable travelling distance of
large parts of both the NN2 and NN6 postcode areas. When considered together, these postcode
areas have accounted for nearly for nearly half the total demand for Year 7 places over the last
three academic years. Whilst it could also be argued that a new secondary school is required to
serve the NN4 and NN5 areas, it is clear that the largest proportion of current demand is located in
close proximity to the site of the proposed new school at Wantage Farm, Moulton.

In which year groups are we forecast to have a future shortage of
secondary school places?
The table below indicates the number of students that are forecast to attend a ‘Wider Northampton
area’ secondary school in forthcoming academic years. Areas highlighted show where there is a
forecast deficit of secondary school places in the area.
Area

School
Year

P AN *

Year
7

Year
8

Year
9

Year
10

Year
11

Year
12

Year
13

Total
Roll
11-16

Total
Secondary
Roll

Wider
N'pton

2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27

3771
3782
3577
3577
3577
3577
3577

3672
3710
3656
3702
3691
3646
3604

3675
3672
3710
3656
3702
3691
3646

3473
3672
3669
3707
3653
3699
3688

3287
3430
3629
3626
3664
3610
3656

3187
3260
3403
3602
3599
3637
3583

1500
1449
1459
1493
1549
1551
1585

1364
1301
1313
1320
1350
1397
1400

17294
17744
18067
18293
18309
18283
18177

20158
20494
20841
21108
21210
21233
21164

* PAN (Published Admission Number) - the number of students that schools will take per year group

**Please note, the projections for Elizabeth Woodville (North Campus) do not feature in the projections above. The school
is located over two campuses, the second of which is located in Deanshanger. It is not possible to split the pupil projection
forecasts of each campus and therefore the projections have not been included above. This has resulted in a disparity of
150 places in the PAN figures featured in the ‘Demand’ tables in this document.

4

Page 294

WNC’s pupil projection forecasts are based upon the number of pupils currently attending primary
school within the area and three-year trend data only. They do not take into account the anticipated
pupil yield that will be generated by new housing development, as such the forecasts detailed
above can be considered to be conservative.
The pupil projection forecasts shown above clearly demonstrate that the trend of a deficit of Year 7
places will continue and although Year 7 numbers appear to peak in the 2024/25 academic year and
decrease thereafter, it is anticipated that this decreasing number of students starting at
Northampton secondary school will be offset by new students that move into the area as a result of
new housing development and that the only method of meeting the forecast demand for secondary
school places is via the provision of a new secondary school to serve the area.

How are new housing developments having an impact on school places?
Housing trajectory figures provided by WNC’s Growth Team, which monitors housing development
in all areas of West Northamptonshire indicate that 21,784 new homes either have approval for or
are planned for delivery in the wider Northampton area in the future. Of these planned, 779 have
already been delivered and it is forecast that a further 7,704 homes will be built in the period
ending 2026/27.
The anticipated pupil yield from this level of new housing development is in excess of 1,500 new
secondary aged students during this period.
Whilst there is no accurate manner to quantify and determine exactly when these new secondary
students will impact upon these pupil projection forecasts, within the next five years it is anticipated
that approximately 300 additional students per year group will be residing in the town and can be
added to the figures provided above.
When considered with the existing forecast deficit of secondary school capacity within the wider
Northampton area, the impact of new housing clearly indicates that there will be a need for not one
additional secondary school to serve the town (to meet existing basic need demand), but that a
further secondary school will also be required to ensure that WNC will continue to be able to
provide a sufficiency of secondary school places in the area, towards the end of the period ending
2026/27.
3,500 of the planned new homes will be located upon the Overstone Leys Sustainable Urban
Extension (SUE), 200 houses have already been delivered in this location with a further 850
completions expected in the period ending 26/27. The proposed new free school at Wantage Farm
would be ideally located to help meet the demand arising for secondary school places from this
housing development in particular.

What alternative sites have been considered for the new school?
Extensive and exhaustive site searches have been completed on a regular basis by WNC and NCC in
recent years to identify viable secondary school sites. The Wantage Farm site, is the only location
that has been identified that meets the following considerations and is the only viable site at which
a new secondary school could be delivered at the current time.
•
•
•

The topography and layout of the site does not significantly increase construction costs and
mean value for money considerations cannot be achieved;
The site allows for construction of a school and outdoor space that will meet Building
Bulletin 103 area guidelines;
It is located close to areas of demand with viable walking routes and other transport links.
5

Page 295

The table below shows the others sites that have been explored for the new school and whether
these are viable:
Site
Manor Farm, Moulton

Details
Site levels meant that constructing a school on this site
would not have been financially viable

Viable
No

Houghton Gate, Land
adjacent to the A428 at
The Lakes, Northampton

Partially located on a flood plain, significant ecological
issues (would have been on the flight path of migrating
birds) means planning approval would have been unlikely

No

The former site of Great
Houghton Preparatory
School

Site too small and not village location not close enough to
area of demand

No

Land adjacent to A4500,
Upton, Northampton

Site offered by Homes England. Too small and bisected
by A4500. Site would of represented huge health and
safety and safeguarding risks

No

Former Coca Cola
Factory, Brackmills,
Northampton

No walking route from areas of demand and Highways
issues relating to traffic would have been a possible
planning issue. Asking price for site did not represent
value for money.

No

Dallington Grange SUE,
Northampton

Site to be provided as part of S106 contribution to WNC
for secondary education. Requires infrastructure to be
delivered before site can be accessed and unlikely to be
ready to until 2025/26. Site not available to meet current
demand. Proposed site for secondary school required
2026.

Not at
current
time

John Dryden House,
Northampton

Sold to provide funding for construction of One Angel
Square. Provision of outdoor space would have been
problematic and location not ideal in terms of access.

No

Land adjacent to
Bedford Road,
Northampton

Land provided to University of Northampton as new UoN
site.

No

Former Radio
Northampton Building,
Abington Street,
Northampton

Site considered as possible annex site to existing school
to provide additional capacity. No outdoor space and
conversion costs would not have represented value for
money.

No

Albion House, Victoria
Promenade,
Northampton

Site considered as possible annex site to existing school
to provide additional capacity. No outdoor space and
Highways issues would have likely prevented planning
approval

No

Land located opposite
County Crematorium,
Hunsbury, Northampton
Former Factory Unit,
Moulton Park,
Northampton

Site too small for new school and western boundary
comprised of train track. Site not appropriate for
education use.
Refurbishment of former warehouse was not financially
viable. Highways issues may have precluded planning
approval being granted on busy Industrial Estate. No
outdoor space.

6

No

No

Page 296

What are the Government’s guidelines for locating a new school?
Building Bulletin 103, the DfE guidance document that provides the area guidelines for new school
buildings, dictates that an 8 form of entry (240 places per year group/1200 places in total) school
(the proposed size when full of the Northampton School) should be between 8 and 10 hectares in
size.
This size of site provides sufficient space for all teaching and ancillary areas to meet minimum space
requirements as well as providing sufficient playing field space for this number of students.
Sites are required to be as level as possible and be free of contamination or any other land issue
that may impact upon construction of a new school or its future operation.
Sites are also required to be located within a reasonable distance of the area which it will serve with
good transport links and walking routes available where possible.
These requirements make it increasing difficult to identify sites that are suitable for use as a
secondary school site, particularly in more densely populated areas. This has been evidenced
previously in Northampton by the conversion of former Post Office Sorting Office on the Barrack
Road into what is now, Northampton International Academy.

How has the bid for the free school in Northampton been submitted and
what role does the Council and Government play in this?
All local authorities are effectively a third party to the Department for Education (DfE) delivered free
school programme, in which Academy Trusts submit bids to open new schools directly to the DfE.
Local authorities can influence the process via the provision of demographic information relating to
the demand for new schools and by stimulating bids for areas in which new schools are required.
All free school bids are submitted in (usually annual) ‘waves’ and all bids are then assessed by the
DfE on their own merits. Successful bids are those that demonstrate the Trust in question will
deliver an outstanding education to students that attend the school, there is an existing basic need
demand in the area in which the school is proposed to open, there is a site available for the
proposed new school (Wave 14 criterion only).
The Northampton School bid submitted by the Northampton School for Boys Trust met each of
these criteria and was therefore declared successful and progressed to the ‘pre-opening’ stage of
the process.

How would the free school be funded?
As part of the free school programme, the DfE will fund all new schools that are delivered via this
mechanism. Whilst there is an expectation that any local authority will pass-port any Section 106
developer contributions to assist in this purpose the DfE will provide any further funding required.
WNC is due to receive £5.9m from the developer of the Overstone Leys SUE and the DfE will
provide the rest of funding for the new school which will cost in the region of £25m.
For the avoidance of doubt, there are no funding streams available to WNC, or previously via the
former county council, that could have been utilised for the delivery of the proposed new school
and to meet a funding deficit of approximately £19m.
Providing the site at Wantage Farm as a location for the proposed new school is not only a key
factor in securing £25m worth of investment into education in West Northamptonshire, but also to
7

Page 297

help ensure that WNC can continue to meet its statutory duties in respect of providing a sufficiency
of school places.

How can I have my say on the proposals?
West Northamptonshire Council is seeking your views on the proposal to provide land at Wantage
Farm, Moulton, to the DfE to provide a new, secondary free school to meet the demand for
secondary school places in Northampton.
Public consultation is taking place between 4 August 2021 and midnight on 3
September 2021.
All views submitted during this period of consultation will be given full consideration as part of the
decision making process by WNC, ahead of a decision being made at WNC’s Cabinet meeting
scheduled for 14th September 2021.
You can give your views by completing our online questionnaire at
https://westnorthants.citizenspace.com
Alternatively, you can submit your comments:
By email: SchoolAdmissionsConsultation.NCC@northnorthants.gov.uk
By post:
c/o Chris Wickens
School Place Planning & School Admissions
West Northamptonshire Council
One Angel Square
4 Angel Street
Northampton
NN1 1ED

8

Page 298

Agenda Item 17

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14TH SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder for Finance – Councillor Malcolm Longley
Report Title

Re-procurement of facilities management contracts

Report Authors

Jason Chambers, Facilities Manager
jason.chambers@westnorthants.gov.uk
Colin Barrett, Strategic Estates Manager
colin.barrett@westnorthants.gov.uk

MO

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
Catherine Whitehead
31 August 2021

S151

Martin Henry

31 August 2021

Other Director/SME

Simon Bowers – Assistant
Director Assets and
Environment
Stuart Timmiss – Executive
Director Place, Economy &
Environment

26 August 2021

26 August 2021

Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

List of Appendices
None.

Page 299

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

This report seeks authority from Cabinet to re-procure several facilities management service
contracts.

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

As a result of local government reform (LGR) in Northamptonshire from the 1st of April 2021,
Northampton Borough Council, Daventry District Council, South Northamptonshire District
Council and Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) were abolished and West
Northamptonshire Council (WNC) was created. Each of the predecessor councils had
arrangements for provision of hard (building maintenance, including plant and equipment) and
soft (services such as cleaning and catering) facilities management services. Many of these
contracts, particularly those let by NCC, are expiring and replacement arrangements for service
provision are needed.

2.2

Whilst the Council has options including insourcing and use of entities controlled by the Council
(either alone or with others), at this point it is suggested a pragmatic approach would be to let
three year contracts with an optional one-year extension. These contracts would be for
specialist areas of work (e.g. security), but aggregated over the Council’s estate. This is
considered to represent the best mix of scale and scope, and should maximise value for money
achieved, whilst also supporting social value.

2.3

The contracts would, where applicable, include options to incorporate services currently
provided by other contractors or in-house. Decisions on whether to use those options would be
taken separately. These would include consideration of any staffing issues, including TUPE.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet:

3.1.1 Approves the re-procurement of the facilities management service and maintenance contracts
as set out in the report.
4.

Reason for recommendations:






To ensure that the Council complies with statutory and regulatory duties.
To ensure that Council properties are safe and fit for use.
Maximising cost-effectiveness.
To minimise depreciation of Council assets
Provide customers and staff of the Council with buildings which are fit for purpose and
welcoming.

Page 300

5.

Report Background

5.1

The Council currently provides facilities management and maintenance activity via predecessor
councils’ contractors. Some of these contracts have been extended to allow for the reprocurement of activity to cover all WNC’s estate. These arrangements will expire soon and
should not be extended further, or where extensions are essential these should be minimised.

5.2

The requirement for the re-procurement of facilities management service contracts are as shown
in the table below. The values shown are for maximised use of three year contracts with an
optional one year extension.
Contract
Cleaning services

Desired start
date
st
1 April 2022

Security services

1st April 2022

Electrical testing,
servicing and
replacement
Heating and
Mechanical
installation
inspection, servicing
and replacement
Specialist
maintenance
individual contracts
for i.e. lifting
equipment, PAT
testing etc.
Water hygiene
testing, servicing and
replacement
Building fabric
repairs, maintenance
and replacement
Drainage and sewage

1st October 2021

All, unless
applicable

not

2.80

1st April 2022

All, unless
applicable

not

1.50

1st April 2022

All, unless
applicable

not

2.50

1st April 2022

All, unless
applicable

not

0.60

1st April 2022

All, unless
applicable

not

4.50

1st April 2022

All, unless
applicable

not

0.35

Total
5.3

No of Properties
47

Estimated total
value, £m
2.70

50

1.60

16.55

The predecessor councils delivered inspection, repair, maintenance, and soft facilities
management via a range of models including bundled, total and singular activities. Having
reviewed the options it recommended to source activities individually as this provides local and
specialist suppliers with greater opportunity to bid for work whilst ensuring that there is
sufficient open market competition. This should maximise value for money.

Page 301

5.4

Managing a number of individual contracts would increase contract management commitments
but this is offset by ensuring value for money via the open market, and avoiding the overheads
an intermediate contractor would levy on a bundled contract. Thus is it likely to result in the
most economically advantageous position being achieved.

5.5

The current contracts provide services to a varying number of properties dependant on the
service as shown in the table. The contracts have previously provided services to the NCC
portfolio, which have now been split between WNC and North Northamptonshire Council. The
numbers shown in the table are for WNC, including former district and borough properties,
where applicable.

5.6

The cleaning services requirement does not currently include the full WNC requirement as
there is currently a mixed approach of both outsourced and in-house service delivery. The
contract will allow for sites to be added or removed and will provide the opportunity to include
the current in-house services if, following feasibility study, it is found it is appropriate to do so.

5.7

The proposed approach to supporting local enterprise and social value is to: (i) set minimum
response times which necessitate local resourcing, (ii) exclude travel costs from the contracts
which necessitate local resourcing, (iii) use the Social Value Act within the procurement and the
tender evaluation to seek local investment such as apprenticeships, and (iv) consider the cost
implications of the supplier’s management within the tender evaluation.

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

The Council has a range of options in the provision of these services. As the Council’s approach
to sourcing develops it may be appropriate to make other proposals. However, at present there
is a need to promptly secure re-provision of services and in that context the approach set out
above is recommended. Options which could be considered include the following:

6.1.1 Insourcing of the service. Insourcing decisions are often made to obtain control of a critical
production or competency; conversely outsourcing decisions are often made to reduce ‘noncore’ in-house operations and to reduce some costs, typically by taking advantage of specialist
providers, the ability of supplies to aggregate demand and thus produce economies of scale,
competitive market forces, and by reducing employment costs. Insourcing can make sense in
some cases, notably where the Council has sufficient demand to sustain a level of staffing and
expertise in the services in question, and when quality of outsourced provision hard to control.
However, the existing contracts for these services have generally operated well, and insourcing
would be likely also create significant new costs associated with pension liabilities.
6.1.2 Disaggregation of the contracts into small lots. The current procurement strategy relies on
aggregating all specific service contracts requirements into single contracts with single
specialist suppliers for each field. This is in order to attract the greatest commercial interest
from the market and obtain additional value and/or reduce cost through efficiency of scale, and
minimise the administrative burden on the Council. This approach has previously attracted
significant market interest and has provided exceptionally competitive rates. A disaggregation
would increase the time and processes requirement for administration of the contracts and is

Page 302

likely to increase the contract costs too, particularly for small remote sites. It is considered it
strikes the right balance between the different levels of packaging services.
6.1.3 Aggregation of the contracts into one or a small number of multi-service contracts. To deliver
such an aggregated service is likely to require the principal provider to let a number of subcontracts for specialisms. As outlined above, it is considered that the proposed set of contracts
enables specialist suppliers to bid, without the overheads which come from having a large
entity seeking to co-ordinate the units actually providing services. The division into specialist
areas also increases the potential for bids from small and medium businesses (‘SMEs’) and local
suppliers.
6.1.4 Use of a Council-owned or jointly-owned entity (e.g. West Northamptonshire Norse Limited).
These are traditionally known as Teckal companies, after the exemption in public procurement
law which allows direct awards to entities controlled by a body such as the Council. This falls
somewhere between the insourcing and outsourcing options, having benefits such as on
pension liabilities and potential for profit generations from third parties, but without the
competitive pressure of a procurement. It would take time and staff resource the Council does
not currently have to pursue this approach at this time. It is intended that it would be
considered during the life of the contracts proposed to be procured.
7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 Other than National Living Wage and inflationary increases there should be no increase in
spending commitments. The services are ones the Council requires, and the approach is
intended to secure value for money in receiving them.
7.1.2 Where it is not possible to align all current services e.g. cleaning, there may be future
opportunities for savings through economies of scale by bringing the full West
Northamptonshire service requirement into individual service contracts during the term of the
contract awarded.
7.2

Legal

7.2.1 Maintaining buildings in a fit state assists the Council in complying with its duties under the
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and other legislation.
7.2.2 In the event that it was decided in the future to use options in the contracts to be let to outsource
one or more services currently provided in house, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of
Employment) Regulations 2006 (‘TUPE’) would apply.
7.2.3 Due to the value of the contracts, the procurements will generally be subject to the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015 (or potentially UK-specific public procurement law if this is
introduced in time). The Council’s procurement team and lawyers will be engaged in ensuring
that procurement law is followed in this respect.

Page 303

7.2.4 It may be necessary to extend, by variation, some existing contracts to bring them into alignment
with the start dates which can be achieved for the new contracts. If required, waivers of the
procurement rules would be sought under the applicable Constitutional provisions to enable this.
7.3

Risk

7.3.1 The risk of insufficient interest resulting in gaps in service provision and/or poor value for money
is addressed by the packaging strategy outlined in the report.
7.3.2 The potential impact on staff where it is possible that services would be outsourced in the future
would be managed by stressing that no decision has been taken at this time, and if outsourcing
is considered the process would involve staff consultation.
7.4

Consultation

7.4.1 No specific consultation has been undertaken. This is not considered necessary as the proposed
procurements are essentially repeats of previous procurements using a similar structure.
7.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.5.1 None.
7.6

Climate Impact

7.6.1 The Corporate Plan for 2021-2025 sets out 6 Priorities. In Priority 1, Green and Clean, the plan
states that “We will become the most environmentally friendly Council that residents have ever
had, with a clear ambition to become carbon neutral by 2030.” In order to achieve this, contract
specifications and tender submission requirements will address climate issues.
7.7

Community Impact

7.7.1 The approach to supporting local enterprise and social value is set out in 5.7 above. This
combined approach should maximise community benefit from the procurement.
8.

Background Papers

8.1

None

Page 304

Agenda Item 18

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14TH SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder for Economic Development, Town Centre Regeneration
and Growth – Councillor Lizzy Bowen
Report Title
Report Author

Extension of 78 Derngate Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum –
Northampton Towns Fund
Deven Efde
Regeneration Programmes Manager
Deven.efde@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
Monitoring Officer

Catherine Whitehead

31/08/21

S151 Officer

Martin Henry

31/08/21

Other Director/SME

Stuart Timmiss

31/08/21

Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Craig Forsyth

31/08/21

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Northampton Town Investment Plan
Appendix B – 78 Derngate Business Case
Appendix C – 78 Derngate Appraisal Report
Appendix D – Draft Grant Funding Agreement

Page 305

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

This report requests approval of the business case for the Extension of 78 Derngate (Charles
Rennie Mackintosh Museum) project to allow the funding to be drawn down from
Northampton’s Towns Fund grant allocation.

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

The Towns Fund is part of the Government’s plan for levelling up the UK economy. Towns across
England will work with the Government to address growth constraints and to ensure there is a
course of recovery from the impact of COVID-19. The overarching aims of the Towns Fund are to
drive the sustainable economic regeneration of towns to deliver the long term economic and
productivity growth.

2.2

In September 2019, Northampton was one of the 101 places invited to develop proposals for a
Town Deal, as part of the £3.6 billion Towns Fund. In December 2020, led by the Northampton
Forward Board, Northampton submitted a Town Investment Plan (TIP) to Government setting
out ten project proposals to deliver long term sustainable economic growth in Northampton.

2.3

In March 2021, Northampton was offered a Town Deal of a value of £24.9 million with a set of
draft heads of terms, which have subsequently been signed, and are subject to conditions that
need to be met to access the funding.

2.4

For each Towns Fund project, an HM Treasury-compliant business case needs to be developed
and go through a local assurance framework. This process was signed off in the 13 July Towns
Fund cabinet report.

2.5

The Extension of 78 Derngate project is the first Towns Fund project to come forward. This
Cabinet report seeks approval of the business case to draw down on £400,000 of funding to
enable project delivery.

2.6

The Extension of 78 Derngate project will enable the extension of the Charles Rennie Mackintosh
Museum and the conversion of part of the site to create a new functional garden.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:
a) Approves the business case for the Extension of 78 Derngate project, in order to draw down on
£400,000 of Towns Funding.
b) Delegates authority to the Head of Major Projects and Regeneration to finalise the Grant
Funding Agreement with 78 Derngate Trust.

4.

Reason for Recommendations

4.1

The recommendation is being made so the regeneration of Northampton Town Centre can begin
Page 306
with the delivery of the TIP.

5.

Report Background

5.1

In September 2019, the Government announced the initial 101 places invited to develop Town
Deal proposals as part of the £3.6 billion Towns Fund. The purpose of the Towns Fund is to drive
the sustainable economic regeneration of towns to deliver long term economic and productivity
growth. It focuses around the three streams of urban regeneration, land use planning and
infrastructure, and skills and enterprise.

5.2

Northampton was included among these initial 101 places and in December 2020 Northampton’s
TIP was submitted to Government and subsequently succeeded in being awarded £25 million.

5.3

The submission was overseen by the Northampton Forward Board. Northampton Forward is an
informal partnership with the primary role of coordinating and driving forwards integrated
regeneration and growth within Northampton, including Northampton town centre. The board
consists of West Northamptonshire Council (WNC), South East Midlands Local Enterprise
Partnership (SEMLEP), The University of Northampton, Private Sector Representatives,
Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire Chamber of Commerce, Royal and Derngate,
Community Representatives, Northampton Town Centre Business Improvement District and
other partner organizations as needed.

5.4

The projects submitted as part of the TIP have a total ask of £25 million. The final list of projects
are as follows:











Town Centre Public Realm
41- 45 Abington Street
35 -39 Abington Street
Marefair Heritage Gateway
Four Waterside
24 Guildhall Road Art Centre
78 Derngate Extension: The Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum
Emporium Way
St Peters and the Old Black Lion
Skills and Social Enterprise Fund

5.5

The ten-year vision will strengthen Northampton’s position at the centre of the OxfordCambridge Arc by providing modern spaces for creative businesses to capitalise on the town’s
manufacturing and entrepreneurial passion.

5.6

It will also:


Build on the rich heritage and cultural offers to rejuvenate the town centre so it once
again represents the aspirations of its residents

Page 307





5.7

Create high-quality housing, digital infrastructure and open spaces, enabling
communities to grow and flourish to meet economic, health and wellbeing, and
environmental challenge
Improve access to skills and training while promoting first-rate higher and further
education opportunities.

The funding for individual Towns Fund projects will be subject to a local assurance framework.
This process was approved in the 13 July Towns Fund cabinet report. The process is detailed
below:
Business Case Development
Business cases should be developed to meet the assurance requirements of the accountable
body and be HM Treasury compliant.
Independent Appraisal
An organisation, separate from the council and the business case development process, will
undertake an appraisal for each business case ahead of submission for approval. WNC has
appointed Hatch Ltd to undertake these assessments.
Northampton Forward Oversight and Delivery Group
This is a sub-group of the Northampton Forward Board and is made up of the following
organisations:





WNC
SEMLEP
University of Northampton
Northampton Town Centre BID

The role of this group is to assess, provide challenge to and share best practice on the appraisal
of the Towns Fund business cases, prior to their submission to the Northampton Forward Board
for sign off.
Northampton Forward Board
Northampton Forward is the Northampton Town Deal Board and has the primary role of
coordinating and driving forward the integrated regeneration and growth within Northampton,
including Northampton Town Centre.
As the Town Deal Board, it is responsible for signing of each stage of the TIP and Town Deal.
West Northamptonshire Cabinet
West Northamptonshire Council is the accountable body for the Northampton Town Deal. Once
all business cases have been developed and approved by the Northampton Forward Board,
they will go to Cabinet for final sign off. Once Cabinet has approved the business cases, a
project summary document will go to Government to draw down on the funds to start the
delivery.

Page 308

5.8

The extension of 78 Derngate is the first Towns Fund project to go through this process.

5.9

The business case was independently appraised by Hatch Ltd at the end of July 2021 and
subsequently approved by the Northampton Forward Oversight and Delivery Group on11
August. The Northampton Forward Board then approved the business case on 25 August 2021.

5.10

The extension of 78 Derngate project will enable an extension of the Charles Rennie
Mackintosh Museum and the conversion of part of the site to create a new Learning Garden.
This will provide for an improved visitor experience within Northampton and build on a brand
that is well known as an iconic historic visitor attraction, as part of a growing Cultural Quarter
which will increase footfall in the town encouraging economic growth. A new publicly accessible
outdoor space was a priority from the public consultation undertaken as part of the TIP
process.

5.11

The extension will allow a greater occupancy of the building following COVID-19, improving the
sustainability of the museum, while also allowing it to diversify the activities that are offered
from the site and allow for an expansion of the retail and restaurant and space for corporate
hire. This will generate increased income and deliver outputs including increased commercial
floorspace, the creation of new direct jobs, additional volunteer roles in the community and
assist businesses, as well as provide a Learning Garden for further educational purposes, widen
the visitor demographic and provide improved independent disabled access to the visitor
centre.

5.12

In 2018, Northampton Borough Council provided £200,000 of match funding to the museum (to
match the funds that the Trust had received through their own fundraising), recognizing the
important role that it plays in the cultural quarter of the town centre. The money was given to
aid in the museum’s development for the project to be able to get to this stage and has been
used to fund the design and feasibility, planning permission and the tender process with
remaining monies put towards the capital works.

5.13

The business case (appendix B) is split into five sections, these are summarised below.
Strategic Case
Introduction
This strategic case sets out the rationale for the proposed investment in 78 Derngate, to make
the case for change and to demonstrate how it provides strategic fit.
The £400,00 Towns Fund investment into 78 Derngate, will provide:



Increased commercial floor space, exhibition space and improved retail area.
A new extended ‘Learning Garden’.

Page 309








New flexible use spaces for corporate hire and weddings.
Greater storage areas and better archive space
Improved independent disabled access
The release of new visitor areas in 78 Derngate and replace areas in need of urgent
repair.
A larger reception for managing groups
A new tearoom which will increase the capacity of the restaurant.

The increase in facilities and size will mean that 78 Derngate can diversify its offer by being
more attractive to larger groups, attracting and accommodating greater visitor numbers which
in turn will generate an increased income. It becomes a much more viable venue for corporate
events enhancing the attractiveness of the town for employers, and as a possible venue for
smaller wedding groups. The 78 Derngate Trust (the Trust) already provides educational visits
for schools and higher education, but again capacity is an issue. The larger space will afford
more flexibility and allow for more students to visit.
The Trust has been recognised by the Arts Council England to be eligible for accredited museum
status. The facilities provided by the project will better enable the Trust to achieve
accreditation.
Case for Change
Since 78 Derngate was first restored and opened to the public, the Trust has made a small
operating profit without recourse to public revenue funding. However, this profit does not
cover the cost of depreciation and renewal. The Trust bases its budget on attracting 7,500
paying visitors a year but generally manages about 8,000 with 9,000 in a good year prior to
COVID-19. This does not include people who use the free facilities or come only to use The
Dining Room. During 2017 a crack started to appear in one of the panes of an existing glass
wall at the rear of 82 Derngate due to the materials expanding at different rates when heated
by the sun. The cost of replacing the damaged pane was estimated to be £30,000. Since then, a
second pane has similarly cracked, and the cracks are spreading.
Because the principal attraction, and the reason for the museum’s existence, is a small terraced
Georgian house, it is only possible to have groups of up to eight on guided tours with six given a
superior experience for visitors. This is, and always will be, a major constraint on visitor
numbers. Larger groups could be accommodated if there was more space to and entertain the
residual numbers as each sub-group is given a tour.
Meanwhile, the Trust would like to widen the visitor demographic to make an attraction
welcoming to all and has applied to the National Lottery Heritage Fund to fund a project to do
this principally by working with schools, supplementary schools, and youth groups. However,

Page 310

this will still be constrained by space as mentioned above. In addition, independent disabled
access will be achieved with this project.
Vision and Objectives
The Trust exists to preserve, and make available to the public, the heritage that is 78 Derngate,
a Georgian terraced house remodeled and with interior design by Charles Rennie Mackintosh.
It further, celebrates the contribution of Mackintosh’s client Wenman Joseph Bassett-Lowke to
industrial design and modernism and seeks to use the story of these two men’s achievements
to encourage future generations of designers.
The vision of this project in smart objectives is as follows:




To provide flexible additional space that will provide the Trust with the opportunity to
increase its range of activities and increase its income and thus widening participation,
increasing audiences, and securing a sustainable future by June 2022
To create an enlarged garden, open to the public, that reflects the work of Charles Rennie
Mackintosh and incorporates the work of young local designers by spring 2023.

Economic Case
The purpose of the economic dimension of the business case is to identify the proposal that
delivers best public value to society, including wider social and environmental effects.
The economic case reveals a positive benefit cost ratio (BCR) of 2.6, which is based on benefits
which are broadly conservative and with the Trust optimistic that the funds will deliver more
benefits.
The Preferred Option – Redevelopment of 78 Derngate
This option focuses on addressing the opportunities that will enhance 78 Derngate’s ability to
attract a greater number of visitors and play an important educational role. This option will
improve the commercial standing and increase the building’s contribution to Northampton
town centre.
Specific improvements:
 Increased commercial floor space
 New visitor areas
 Increased exhibition space
 Improved retail area
 A new tearoom which will increase the capacity of the restaurant
 A new extended Learning Garden will be added to enhance learning facilities
 A new flexible use space for corporate hire and weddings
 Independent disabled access

Page 311



Renovate areas in need of urgent repair.

Delivery of the project will generate benefits of £1,191,050 in additional GVA, and support 24
jobs within 78 Derngate over a ten-year period from as set in detail in appendix B.
Sales
The preferred option will assist the Trust in generating additional income to secure 78 Derngate
for the longer term. Income forecasts have been developed by using previous years
performance. Further work has been done to consult with other local heritage attractions such
as Delapre Abbey to understand the potential for conferencing, events and weddings. This has
enabled the Trust to build a pragmatic and conservative income generation profile. The Trust is
confident that once the project has been delivered, a total income of £54,000 per annum will
be achieved.
The sales benefits have been calculated on two elements, these being:
o Museum and Dining Room sales
o Commercial sales in relation to letting space
Through the modelling a ten-year GVA increase has been forecast at £551,000.
Education
The additional space and the Learning Garden present opportunities to provide educational
activities. This will generate £286,855 in GVA benefits over the ten-year period. The benefits
appraisal also includes a total of 91 businesses being supported by the Trust. This support will
be provided to other cultural sector operations. Calculations have been based on a
conservative £1875 per business using a benchmark from
https://www.experian.co.uk/blogs/latest-thinking/small-business.
The analysis of costs has identified that the project will deliver a Net Present Social Value of
£1,056,718 over a ten-year period.
Financial Case
The financial case assesses the affordability of the investment, identifying cost, revenue, and
funding sources, with the level of detail should be proportionate to the size of the project.

Page 312

Funding Sources
Type
Public sector
Public sector
Private sector
Fund raising
Bounce Back Loan

Source
Towns Fund
Northampton Borough
Council
Charitable trusts
Internal resources
Lloyds Bank

Total Amount
£400,000
£200,000
£80,000
£195,000
£43,000

Sensitivity Assessment
If visitor figures were to drop by 1000 per annum (14% fall), this would still enable the
operation to continue adapt within a year. Prior to COVID-19 typical visitor numbers averaged
between 8500 and 9500 paying visitors. This could increase net profit per annum by £12k to
£20k. Should the growth ambitions of 78 Derngate be realized and visitor numbers increase by
10% this would produce additional revenue of around £8k to £16k.
Risks
The project’s major financial risk is related to the health of the general economy with COVID19. Although visitor demand for 78 Derngate tends to remain consistent regardless of the price
for admission, it is more sensitive to downturns in growth which were experienced in 2007/8 at
the time of the banking crisis. There is always the risk of the enterprise failing completely,
which is always factored into any plans so as to ensure the survival of the house even if it were
not to operate from the visitor centre. Therefore, any changes to 82 Derngate would ensure its
commercial viability as a building.
A construction programme of nine to 12 months means that the museum may need to close to
visitors, affecting income. The project will be fast tracked for funding and delivery and can be
phased to enable the disruption and impact to be kept to a minimum.
The current risk of price rises and supply of materials in the construction industry and any
impact of programme delays will be managed by a single contractor tender with a JCT Standard
Building Contract and associated over run penalties.
The council does not have a direct financial link with the Trust and the success or otherwise of
this investment will not ultimately impact on the council finances unless they specifically make
a decision to fund the Trust. Therefore, the risk profile for the council is minimal.
Commercial Case
The commercial case covers the commercial feasibility, contractual issues and high-level
approach and the procurement strategy and key risks, including risk transfer strategy and
Page 313
mitigation plans and any constraints. This section sets out how it is intended to procure an

extension to the present visitor centre, extend the garden to the rear of the property and how
these will enhance the viability, sustainability and profitability of 78 Derngate for the future.
Commercial Deliverability
Roughly a third of turnover is generated from a selling area of 12 m2. The atrium extension with
triple the floorspace for retail, increase the gallery size and force visitors to walk through the
retail area, increasing retail sales and income.
The retail space will not be exclusively for this purpose but designed with mobile retail stands
to allow for flexibility as will the gallery space at the first-floor level. The terrace will also
increase in size significantly allowing for more people to enjoy outdoor dining should the
weather permit, private events and weddings and corporate hire. At basement level the space
will enable the relocation of existing stock and provide for addition storage. All this will enable
greater sales and more flexible use of space for the hire of the facility, which from previous
recorded interest and a two-year waiting list for gallery space is known to be in demand,
maximising opportunity for increased income. With new units for craft makers coming on
stream such as the Vulcan Works space in Northampton, 78 Derngate can be offered as an
outlet for their products, directly assisting businesses in the town. In addition, discussions have
been held with registrars about demand for unusual wedding venues. These discussions to
assess demand and suitability continue.
Procurement Strategy
The architect, as leader of the design team, was appointed through competition. All other
members of the design team have been appointed through recommendation and subject to a
satisfactory fee agreement. In most cases more than one practice has been asked to quote for
the work.
There is one known risk that is being addressed. The design has been based on Pilkington’s
Planar structural glass. The Trust is attempting to get prices for alternatives from Germany,
Italy and Switzerland. It has also asked a UK based structural glass supplier that gets glass from
a range of manufacturers for a price and lead times for glass to satisfy the project’s
requirements. Any information gleaned from this process will be shared with the successful
tenderer.
Subsidy Control
An independent legal opinion has been provided with respects to subsidy control.
Given that the £400,000 can properly be divided up between the various aspects of the project,
such that the support towards the museum works are separated from “commercial” areas, we
believe that the support is lawfully within the subsidy control regime.
Management Case

Page 314

The management case assesses the deliverability of the investment, identifying timescales and
project responsibilities, building on the delivery plan outlined in the TIP for the 78 Derngate
scheme and proportionate to the size of the project. It also identifies the key stakeholders and
include a strategy and plan laying out a programme of stakeholder engagement activities that
will help deliver the project.
Organisation and Governance
The project management of the extension will be undertaken by the 78 Derngate Trust and
their appointed consultant team. The team have a demonstrable track record of delivering
capital projects of a similar value.
The project team is made up of trustees, architects, quantity surveyors, structural engineers,
mechanical and electrical engineers and construction contractors.
West Northamptonshire Council will oversee the delivery of all Towns Fund projects and
manage the programme of activity.
WNC’s projects team has a strong and demonstrable track record in delivering major,
transformational projects. The council has put in place the arrangements for successful delivery
of the interventions, including: a robust governance structure, risk and change management
plan, and a system for monitoring and evaluating post-delivery benefits.
The Northampton Forward Board acts as the programme delivery board and the Town Deal
board for West Northants.
The council will have a dedicated internal team to oversee and monitor the project, this will
include:




Project Sponsor
Client Project Manager
Programme Manager

Monitoring and Oversight
WNC is the accountable body for the project. As the accountable body WNC will be responsible
for discharging all obligations with The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG). WNC will be responsible for overseeing the financial management and
accountability monitoring of the project.
Regular monitoring will be undertaken, and the project team will comply with all requests from
the council for information regarding the progress of the project. This will include a project
monitoring form which is required quarterly. The monitoring form will record information on

Page 315

expenditure and the progress being made towards delivery of the outputs as well as risk
management and communication plans.
A full evaluation of the project will be carried out once completed to inform lessons learn as
well as presenting the output information to Government.
Representatives from the council and Government will have the right to inspect the project and
all information.
As part of the Towns Fund contribution, a grant funding agreement will be issued to the Trust
from the council. This will set out the terms and conditions of the grant funding, including
monitoring and oversight, review and payment milestones. Quarterly project updates will also
be required which will be reviewed by the council’s Capital and Assets Board and the
Northampton Forward Board, performance of the project will be monitored against the
milestones set out in the grant funding agreement. The grant funding agreement can be found
in appendix D.
5.14

The business case has been independently appraised to assess its viability and value for money.
The overall rating of the business case is green and has been recommended to proceed, the
comments from the assessor are detailed below.
Strategic Case
The strategic case for the project is clearly articulated and presents strong rationale for
investment in the context of the wider towns fund programme.
Economic Case
This case provides confidence that the scheme will deliver value for money.
Financial Case
The complete funding package is in place and written confirmation has been provided.
Assumptions underpinning any cost estimates have been clearly articulated. The project looks to
provide ongoing financial sustainability and sensitivity testing has been undertaken linked to
project risks.
Commercial Case
Procurement arrangements for consultants are appropriate. The only major risk is securing the
specialised glass for the windows. Mitigation measures using other contractors are already in
place. Costs should fall on to the contractors. Legal advice has been taken and the project falls
within subsidy control guidelines.
Management Case
Clear governance and management procedures are in place and have been set out. Key
participants, roles, accountability, and responsibilities are in place. Project timeline milestones
have been added and are realistic. Clear methodology in place for the realisation of benefits and
Page 316
how they will be monetised have been included.

5.14

The grant payment to the 78 Derngate Trust will be formalised through a grant funding
agreement. The grant will be paid in several instalments subject to satisfactory progress being
made in meeting the agreed milestones and outputs. A draft agreement is included in the
appendix with a funding and milestone schedule. The grant funding agreement will be finalised
and signed off following approval of this report.

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

To approve the drawdown of the funding for the project as described in this report.

6.2

To not approve the funding for this project will mean that the project will not be able to take
place as the project is reliant on the Towns Fund. This would mean that the funding allocated by
Government will be lost and not be used for the regeneration of Northampton town centre.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.2

WNC is the accountable body for the Towns Fund grant and will be passporting £400,000 to the
Trust from the Towns Fund. The funds will be governed by a grant funding agreement between
WNC and the Trust and will be paid on the completions of milestones laid out in the agreement.

7.3

The £200,000 match funding requirement from WNC identified above relates to historical spend
by Northampton Borough Council. WNC will not be required to make a financial contribution to
this project and any risk associated with delivery and achievement of milestones lies with the
Trust.

7.4

WNC’s responsibility is the administration and monitoring of the grant funding. As such there
are no finance implications arising from this proposal.

7.5

Government have informed the Council that they will be forward funding 5% of total allocations
to local authorities to allow for spend to start sooner on projects. This 5% is expected to be with
the Council in early September. Due to the short programme of this project, it is expected that
the £400,00 allocation will come out of the forward funding lot.

7.6

Legal

7.6.1 As detailed in the Cabinet report entitled “Northampton Towns Fund” dated 13 July 2021,
Cabinet are required, on being satisfied that all of the assurance processes identified in that
report have been complied with by the Council (i.e. analysis of quality data and best practice,
assessment of Value for Money and pre approval of Business Case by identified bodies), to
approve the business case in order to release funds allocated to support the project.
7.6.2
It is noted at paragraph 3.1-(b) above, that the council will need to enter into a grant funding
agreement, the provisions of which are unknown at present. It is to be recommended that on
receipt of the grant funding agreement legal advice and support should be obtained. Page 317

7.7

Risk

7.7.1 If the Towns Fund projects are not delivered, there will be significant financial, reputational and
political risks for both the council and 78 Derngate Trust.





Financial risks: if the projects are not delivered within time and deadlines are not met, the
council risks losing external funding and faces increased costs within projects through not
being able to undertake appropriate due diligence.
Reputational risks: if the programme of work is not delivered timely, then it weakens the
council’s position to leverage funding from Government. And other external funders in the
future. There would also be a reputational hit with the public with many of these schemes
already heavily promoted.
Political risks: as a new authority, the council are under increased scrutiny from Government
and the public and if the projects are not delivered efficiently or efficiently then this can
seriously harm the council’s perception to these audiences.

7.8

Each project will have a project board established, with a wide range of representatives from the
council. A project specific risk register will be developed and regularly monitored by the project
board.

7.9

Consultation
The development of the TIP was guided by community and stakeholder consultation. The TIP
builds on the initial consultation work undertaken to inform the development of the Town
Centre Masterplan which seeks to address many of the challenges outlined in the TIP. The
consultation exercise for the masterplan informed the early development of the project
longlist.

6.6

Online Consultation
Online consultations on the potential TIP proposals were held in September 2020 to determine
the community’s priorities for investment, gain feedback and opinions on a range of proposed
investment areas and determine the challenges/opportunities for the town.

6.7

Approximately 434 individuals replied to the questionnaire creating a total of 1,495 pieces of
project level feedback. The responses were evenly split between males and females. 18% of
respondents were aged under 35 and 15% were over 65.

6.8

Overall, the majority of responses were positive about how beneficial the projects would be to
improve the town centre. The main challenges highlighted were a lack of quality goods offered
in the town centre, poor appearance of the town centre and competition with other areas. The
main opportunities were bringing disused buildings/public space back into use and improving
the public realm. The initial survey was followed by more detailed questioning of a web
community across three days.
Page 318

6.9

This builds on more than two years of consultation completed on the ground and through all
media channels. The online consultation completed for the Town Centre Masterplan in 2019
informed the development of the longlist of projects developed for this TIP.

6.10

Key local priorities identified at that stage include the restoration and upkeep of historic
buildings, improving the quality of retail, the quality of public realm and greenspace in
enhancing the town centre, pedestrianization In the town centre, and the potential to
accommodate new homes.

6.11

Consultation Workshops
A series of consultation workshops were completed in October 2020 focusing on urban
regeneration; deprivation and inequality; and business, enterprise and skills. Approximately 150
stakeholders were approached to take part in the workshops. Workshops were attended by key
stakeholders in Northampton including local businesses, social enterprises (Northampton Social
Enterprise Town), community safety teams, Digital Northampton, NN Contemporary Arts and
University of Northampton.

6.12

Engagement with private sector bodies aided understanding of growth barriers and helped to
ensure the plan remains responsive in uncertain times. Engagement with public sector and
community organisations highlighted how social enterprises can be incorporated into projects.

6.13

The consultations produced a number of themes for the TIP including re-energising cultural and
historic assets, diversifying the housing offer to match the needs of the community, make the
town centre feel safer and upgrade/improve management of key public spaces.

6.14

The TIP consultation findings can be found in the appendices.

6.15

A stakeholder engagement plan has been developed to accompany Northampton’s TIP. This
document sets out our commitment to develop ongoing relationships with key stakeholders to
ensure implementation of the TIP remains responsive to the overarching needs of the town.

7.10

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.10.1 N/A
7.11

Climate Impact

6.14.1 The council will undertake environmental impact assessments in line with the Towns Fund
guidance and the stage two business cases will look at the climate and environmental impact as
part of their development.

Page 319

7.12

Community Impact

6.14.2 The council will undertake programme-wide level impact assessments, relevant project-level
impact assessment and equality and impact assessments when required.
6.14.3 Significant consultation with the public has taken place, with many of these projects delivering
assets which will benefit the community
7.13

Communications

7.13.1 A publicity agreement with the 78 Derngate Trust will be required to ensure WNC’s involvement
and contribution is reasonably reflected in any output
8.

Background Papers

8.1

Towns Fund Cabinet Report – Tuesday 13th July 2021.

Page 320

Northampton
Town Investment Plan

Discover
our town’s
potential

Page 321

Northampton

2

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

1

Town Investment Plan

Contents

Foreword
Statement from Leaders of the West Northamptonshire Councils

2
3

Executive Summary
Investment Programme

5
10

Context and Analysis
Introducing Northampton
Issues and Opportunities for Northampton

13
14
17

Strategy
Our Shared Vision for Northampton
Investment Proposals
Prioritisation Process
A Foundation to Build on for the Future
Investment Rationale
Alignment to Wider Activity
Spatial Strategy
Role of the Community and Stakeholder Consultation
Partner Commitments

29
30
34
46
48
51
54
57
60
64

Engagement and Delivery
Role of the Community and Stakeholder Consultation
Partner Commitments
Project Overview and Delivery Plan
Programme Delivery

59
60
64
66
91

Appendices
(Please see attached documents)

Page 322

Appendix 1: Letters of Support
Appendix 2: Proforma Section 2 Project Summaries
Appendix 3: COVID 19 Impact Report
Appendix 4: Evidence of Need Report
Appendix 5: Stakeholder Engagement Plan

Northampton

Town Investment Plan

2

Foreword

The Northampton Forward Board are delighted
to submit our Town Investment Plan. The plan
will rejuvenate the town, strengthen its position
as a thriving centre for our residents, visitors, and
businesses, to crucially serve Northamptonshire as
an integral hub of the wider Oxford-Cambridge Arc.
Our Board is made up of local businesses, education
providers, community groups and local government,
which has carefully guided the development of our
Town Investment Plan. Working with businesses
and the local community, we have identified a
programme of transformational investment that
builds on the successes of our recent town projects
and complements our wider priorities in the key
development area of West Northamptonshire
and the Arc.
2020 has been a year of considerable challenge
and the social and economic landscape remains
uncertain. Northampton faces specific challenges
relating to the vibrancy of our town centre,
inequality within our communities, and the need
to significantly improve the conditions for all
our businesses – both large and small. There is a
Business skills gap currently restraining growth and
an urgent need to attract further entrepreneurship
into our town to make it an attractive place to live,
work and invest.
However, there are many opportunities for growth
in Northampton. The historically important town
benefits from excellent connections to the whole
of the country, has a rich history of enterprise that
is maintained to this day, and is home to a number
of major employers. The town has a proud and
prestigious history in the manufacture of footwear
and is home to several world renowned modern
shoe brands.

Page 323

From Market Square to the Cultural Quarter, our
town is also home to unique cultural and heritage
assets that we believe can help to re-establish it as
a major destination. The town has proven its ability
to deliver with major complimentary investments
already taking place including the Northampton
Museum and Art Gallery, The Vulcan Works,
and Northampton Station projects.

Northampton

Town Investment Plan

3

Statement from Leaders of the
West Northamptonshire Councils

Our Town Investment Plan will accelerate the
delivery our 2030 Vision to ensure Northampton
meets its full potential as a thriving, innovative
and attractive business destination at the centre
of the Oxford Cambridge Arc. We firmly believe
that our plan provides the value proposition
that will transform the town and deliver
a roadmap for future investment and growth.
As a board, we are very proud to have collectively
delivered this exciting Town Investment plan, which
is ambitious and bold. With the necessary support
from government, we believe that we will be able
to deliver our core objectives for the town and
secure a brilliant future for Northampton.
The Northampton Forward Board

Cllr Jonathan Nunn, Chair
Northampton Borough Council

Martin Mason, Vice Chair
Trickers

Andrew Lewer, MBE MP
Member of Parliament for
Northampton South

Tim Hadland
Northampton Borough Council

Brendan Bruder
Northampton Business
Improvement District

Hilary Chipping
South East Midlands Local
Enterprise Partnership

Mick Stamper
Northamptonshire Police

Matt Golby
Northamptonshire
County Council

Jo Gordon
Royal and Derngate

Jane Bunce
University of Northampton

James Roberts
Grosvenor Shopping
Centre

Laura Graham
LiftNN

As leaders of the four councils coming together
to form the new West Northamptonshire Council
area, we are all fully behind the vision set out
in the Northampton Town Investment Plan.
As the largest economic centre within the county
of Northamptonshire, Northampton plays an
important strategic role in the wider OxfordCambridge Arc area.
Amongst our ambitions for the new West
Northamptonshire council, is the importance
that we feel must be placed on Regeneration
and Place-making, and so our pursuing the
developments set out within the following plan
will help us ensure that Northampton realises
its full potential to the benefit of the wider area.
Like many large town and city centres across
the country, Northampton has seen the impact
of shifting consumer behaviour which has been
enormously accelerated by Covid-19, but these
plans embrace the town’s heritage, including
historic buildings and cultural assets, as key
parts of its offer, making it fit for the next
phase of its life.

Our support for these proposals and plans will assist
in the recovery process, and aid a speedy evolution
to a town that addresses and meets changed, modern
needs, providing future economic opportunities
through the delivery of modern workspaces, and
transforming public areas to those which residents
can be proud of.
All of the projects included within the Northampton
Town Investment Plan are vital pieces of the jigsaw
of activity needed to revitalise the town, and to
ensure that it not only recovers, but thrives.

Cllr Ian McCord
Leader South
Northamptonshire Council,
Leader West Northants
Shadow Authority

Cllr Jonathan Nunn
Leader Northampton Borough
Council, Deputy Leader West
Northants Shadow Authority

Cllr Richard Auger
Leader Daventry District
Council, Executive Member
West Northants Shadow
Authority

Cllr Matthew Golby
Leader of Northamptonshire
County Council, Executive
Member West Northants
Shadow Authority

1

Northampton

4

Page 324

4

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

Executive
Summary

Northampton

6

Town Investment Plan

Executive Summary

The Northampton Town Investment Plan (TIP)
sets out our ambitious plan to deliver:
•

15,600 sqm of new and refurbished commercial
floorspace (including shared workspace)
24,900 sqm of new public spaces
2,300 sqm of new or expanded cultural
and heritage venues, including new space
for skills facilities
Remediation and enabling works for key
sites in the town centre to enable new public
spaces, new mixed-use urban quarters, and
commercial facilities.

•
•
•

Successful delivery of these outputs and the
wider impacts associated with the TIP investments
will help us achieve our 10-year vision to:

Northampton

7

Town Investment Plan

Cross Cutting Principles of Investment
1.
A vibrant heart
to the town centre
A rejuvenated town centre
that better serves our
communities and businesses

2.
Building on our outstanding
cultural and heritage assets
Celebrating Northampton’s
heritage and culture to create
a town that reflects its proud
history and modern aspirations

3.
Inclusive Economic Growth
Prioritising investment to meet
the needs of our diverse and
multicultural communities

4.
Enhancing the town’s
green spaces and adopting
low carbon principles
Celebrating the town’s natural
environment and ensuring
sustainability and the low
carbon agenda is central
to all investment

Our vision is supported by:
•

•

Four cross-cutting Investment Principles
to ensure that the TIP investments directly
address the needs of our businesses and
communities and that the future growth
of the town will contribute to national
social and economic priorities.
Ten Strategic Objectives link the town’s
opportunities and challenges to tangible
measures of success.

Northampton’s Town Investment Plan has been
designed from the ground-up. Drawing on the
Towns Fund Guidance, our Vision builds on our
existing priorities. It reflects the latest evidence on
the key issues and objectives facing Northampton,
including the social and economic implications
of Covid-19.
In developing the Vision and supporting
Investment Principles and Strategic Objectives,
we have also consulted local communities and
stakeholders to ensure that the TIP genuinely
reflects local priorities.

TIP Strategic Objectives:
Objective. 1

Objective. 2

Objective. 3

Objective. 4

Objective. 5

Objective. 6

Objective. 7

Objective. 8

Objective. 9

Objective. 10

To drive the regeneration of Northampton’s
town centre and improve residents and visitors
experience, bolstering daytime activity and
encouraging increased footfall and spend.
Transform the heart of the town by investing in
high-quality and attractive public realm that
reflects the ambition and pride of Northampton.

Our 10 Year Vision
Build – on our rich heritage and cultural offers
to rejuvenate the town centre so it once again
represents the aspirations of its residents.

Create – high-quality housing, digital
infrastructure and open spaces that will
enable our communities to grow and
flourish to meet economic, health and
wellbeing and environmental challenges.

Improve – access to skills and training
while promoting first-rate higher and
further education opportunities.

Page 325

Strengthen – Northampton’s position at
the centre of the Oxford-Cambridge Arc
by providing modern spaces for creative
businesses to capitalise on the town’s
manufacturing and entrepreneurial passion.

To re-energise and breathe new life into heritage
assets and redundant buildings.

To drive resilience and growth by supporting a
diverse business base and providing improved
access to skills and quality jobs.

To address deprivation and inequalities by
investing in and supporting assets within the
town centre to improve the vitality, health and
wellbeing of the local community.

To instil pride and a strong sense of identity and
belonging to create a cohesive and welcoming
community where residents feel connected,
involved and empowered.
To provide a distinctive town centre experience by
investing in cultural and leisure uses.

To invest in flexible commercial space to
encourage businesses back into the town centre
and ensure that Northampton is a compelling
business environment.
To adopt an approach which reflects the
aspirations of the community to deliver welldesigned and functional spaces to help tackle
crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour.
To ensure the principle of clean growth is at the
heart of everything we do.

Developing our Vision

Page 326

TIP Vision and
Objectives

Existing Priorities, Evidence and
Consultation

Towns Fund Guidance

Underpinned by Town Investment Plan Guidance
Community Consultation

Investment Themes

Grass roots project development
Community insight and priorities

Urban Regeneration, Connectivity and Skills / Enterprise
Recovery from COVID-19
Green Recovery

Strategic Documents and
Planning Consultations

September 2020
Online Public Consultations

•

•

•

Northampton Local Plan Part 2
June 2020
Northampton Town Centre
Masterplan Sept 2019 – based on
over 600 consultation responses

•
•

Feedback on initial project
longlist
Feedback sought on the issues
and opportunities for the town
centre
1,495 consultation responses

Workshop Consultations

#My Town Analysis

•

•

•
•

Four Workshops covering:
Urban Regeneration, Business,
Enterprise and skills, Deprivation
and Inequality
150 invited to participate
27 attendees

•
•

Feedback on the needs and
opportunities in the town
Feedback on initial project ideas
160 responses

Our Shared Vision for Northampton

Cross Cutting Principles of Investment

Strategic Objectives

A509

10

Town Investment Plan

11

Town Investment Plan

Northampton Town Centre
Semilong

Abington

Bar
r

ack

Investment Programme

Northampton

R d.

Northampton

n St.

Grafto

rs

S t.

d.

ton

kR
Yor

ing
Ab

i
St G

S
les’

t.

St
P

et

er
’s

Ch e

De
rn
g

yne
W

Gold St.
Bridge St.

St James Rd.

t

alk

Greyfria

Horse Market

•
•

Spring Boroughs

.

•
•
•

Town Centre Public Realm
41-45 Abington Street
35-39 Abington Street
Marefair Heritage Gateway
Four Waterside
24 Guildhall Road Arts Centre
Extension of 78 Derngate –
The Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum
Emporium Way
St Peter’s and the Old Black Lion
Skills and Social Enterprise
Development Fund
Market Square
Waterloo House

’s Rd
d r ew

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

un

St An

To deliver our 10 Year Vision, we are seeking
£37.2 million from the Towns Fund for the
following 12 projects. This will unlock a further
£170 million in match funding and dependent
private sector investment:

Mo

H or
se M
ar k
et

Spencer Bridge Rd.

at
e

Cultural
Quarter

Vi c

W

ay

om
a Pr

tor

Be

e
end

df

Beckets Park

e
Bridg

Towcester Rd.

t
Stree

en
rN

e
Riv

Key

Canal

Northampton
Borough Council

Northampton
General Hospital

Mounts Baths

University of
Northampton

Roads
High Street
Rivers/Brooks/
Canals

Cotton End

A508

Train Line Far Cotton

Grand Union

Northampton
Train Station

e

Park

Market
Delapre

Museum

Grosvenor
Shopping
Centre

Gallery
NCC Offices

Cinema

Page 327

Library
Parks/Green
Spaces

Bus Interchange

Church

Theatre

or
dR

d.

2

Northampton

12

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

Context and
Analysis

Page 328

Northampton

14

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

15

Introducing Northampton

Northampton is the county town of
Northamptonshire, located in the East Midlands.
Strategically located midway between London
and Birmingham, it has significant potential
to drive the growth of the wider region.

Oxford-Cambridge Arc

Leeds

M6

With a proud history of manufacturing and craft,
focused on leather and shoemaking, Northampton is
now the largest town in England. With a population
of 225,100 (in 2018) it is also the largest area
shortlisted for the Towns Fund.

Town Investment Plan

M62

Hull

Manchester
Sheffield
M6

Oxford-Cambridge Arc
Northampton is situated centrally in the globally significant
Oxford-Cambridge Arc, a strategic focus of investment for both
government and the private sector. In partnership with national
government, the Arc can double its economic output by 2050
to over £200bn. This Town Investment Plan will ensure that
Northampton can maximise its potential contribution to the Arc.

M1

Nottingham

EMA

Norwich

M6

Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone
Many of our larger employers are located at the 120-hectare
Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone. The potential to retain
and reinvest business rates associated with the Enterprise Zone
over the next 18 years provides a significant opportunity to
support further expansion to meet the needs of Northampton’s
current and future businesses.

Enterprise Parks
There are prospering industrial and enterprise parks
surrounding the town, including the Brackmills and Moulton Park
industrial estates. These attract employment across a variety
of sectors, including construction, logistics, wholesale and
professional services.

Natural Environment
The town is situated on the River Nene and surrounded by the
Northampton countryside. Northampton has a network of
prestigious and award winning parks including Abington Park,
Beckets Park, Hunsbury Hill, the Racecourse, Upton Country
Park and the Wetland Special Protection Area, all within walking
distance of the town centre.

Heritage and Cultural Assets
Northampton is a market town established in the Middle Ages
with the construction of Northampton Castle. The town’s Market
Square is one of Britain’s largest and most historic, dating
back to 1235, and the area is surrounded by architecturally
significant buildings linked to past industry. Historically,
Northampton has been as a major centre of shoemaking and
leather manufacturing. Since WW1 this has dramatically shifted,
although the town still boasts a large cluster of the finest shoe
manufacturers in the world.

Food and Drink
Food and drink sellers, independent retail and innovative social
enterprise are the foundation of the Town Centre economy with
a focus on the Grosvenor Centre, St Giles’ Street, Wellingborough
Road and the area surrounding the Market Square.

Peterborough

4
A1

High Performance Engineering and Advanced Manufacturing
Northampton is recognised by the South East Midlands Local
Enterprise Partnership (SEMLEP) as one of the key economic
contributors to the region, pursuing high-growth strategies in
the automotive sector, high-performance engineering, logistics
and advanced manufacturing.

Birmingham

BHX

1
M

Employers
Northampton is home to the headquarters of a range
of large employers such as Barclaycard, Carlsberg,
Avon, Cosworth, Travis Perkins, and several members
of the Midlands Aerospace Alliance.

Northampton

Cambridge

A1 (M)

40
M

Oxford

M11

Milton Keynes
LTN

STN

1
M

Reading

London

LHR
M23

M
3

Bristol

4
M

Page 329

The Town is home to exceptional anchor institutions
The University of Northampton and St Andrew’s Hospital are
major employers and anchor institutions. The University’s new
£330 million Waterside Campus provides a new engineering
building, creative hub and student accommodation in the
centre of Northampton. Northampton College is one of the
largest Further Education (FE) colleges in the South Midlands,
with two campuses in the town. Moulton FE College is also
located to the north of Northampton.

M
5

Transport Links
Northampton benefits from exceptional transport connectivity:
The M1 connects Northampton with London and the North. The
West Coast Main Line (WCML) provides direct rail services to
London Euston, Birmingham and Crewe and HS2 will provide
an opportunity to improve WCML services to Northampton.
Northampton is located 34 miles from Luton airport and 39 miles
from Birmingham International airport.

Southampton

Brighton

Northampton

16

Town Investment Plan

Northampton’s Evolution
1.

3.

5.

A potted history
of manufacturing
By the end of the 18th
century, Northampton had
become a major centre
of footwear and leather
manufacturing. It has been
reported that by the early
1800’s a third of all the
town’s male workers were
shoemakers.

Industrialisation
drives expansion
By 1900, industry grew
rapidly, and the emergence
of factories spilt outside
the original town walls
increasing Northampton’s
footprint. This physical
growth coincided with
a large population
increase and the delivery
of council housing that
was built largely to the
east, north and south of
the town. This includes
Abington, Far Cotton,
Kingsley, Kingsthorpe and
Dallington – areas which
were incorporated within
the borough’s boundaries
in 1901.

Designation as a New Town
and arrival of the M1
These events were
fundamental to the
evolution of Northampton
as a town.

4.

Business Innovation
Today Northampton
is home to high-value
businesses operating in
advanced manufacturing
and high-performance
engineering. SEMLEP identify
Northampton as a cluster
of businesses and assets
associated with ‘future of
mobility’ and ‘clean growth
industries’, within a wider
network spanning the
Oxford-Cambridge Arc.

2.

Connectivity
spurring trade
The River Nene was
navigable from King’s Lynn
to Northampton in 1762
through the investment
of Nene Navigation
Company, allowing cheap
transportation of coal and
other goods to the town.
However, by 1815, the Grand
Union Canal reached the
town, joining the River Nene,
giving the town a direct link
to the Midlands coalfields,
Birmingham, Manchester
and London.

Decline in the shoe industry
In the 1920s and
30s Northampton’s
specialisation in
shoe manufacturing is
threatened as the global
industry falls into decline
after WW1.

Northampton

17

Issues and Opportunities
for Northampton

Alongside the town’s considerable strengths, there
are a number of challenges constraining growth
and limiting the town’s contribution to the wider
region. Addressing these will provide considerable
opportunities for Northampton and the key issues
are considered in turn1.

1. 	Evidence of the key challenges and opportunities is
primarily taken from: Northampton Evidence of Need
Report (Hatch, August 2020) and Impact of Covid-19
on Northampton (Hatch, November 2020). Both are
provided as appendices to this report.

6.

Town Investment Plan

The Town Investment Plan has been prepared in the
context of the global pandemic. This has accelerated
trends in our town centres and high streets across
the country, however there is evidence to suggest
that Northampton has been one of the hardest hit
parts of the county. In addition to the closure of
further high profile retailers, Northampton has seen
some of the highest increases in unemployment and
the proportion of the workforce furloughed. These
issues are considered in greater detail below. They
reinforce the need to redefine the role of our town
centre and create the high quality employment
opportunities more resilient to external shocks
and support long-term sustainable growth of
Northampton.

Page 330

Northampton

18

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

Issues and Opportunities
for Northampton

Challenge 1: Creating a Vibrant
and Welcoming Town Centre

Northampton town centre is in decline. It is
failing to meet the needs of residents and businesses
and is not keeping pace with other regional town
centres and retail destinations, including Milton
Keynes and Rushden Lakes. Vacancy rates in
the primary shopping area are 15%, and the town
has seen a year-on-year decline in footfall of 14%.
The loss of major national retailers has left large
vacant premises that have no viable alternative
uses creating large disjointed and inactive areas.
The importance of high quality amenities to highvalue employers, particularly professional services
firms, is well established. The weakness of the
town centre is a major barrier to Northampton
re-establishing itself as a regionally significant
business hub within the Oxford-Cambridge Arc.
The decline of the town centre is also one of the
primary concerns of our residents, evidenced
through our community consultation. A high
proportion of respondents within 20 minutes-walk
of the town visited the town less than once a month
(34%) and many described the town centre as
‘scruffy’ with vacant units, and high levels of crime
and homelessness. The lack of a quality retail offer
and town centre attractions, plus competition
from other areas are the key reasons why residents
are not making better use of their town.
However, residents recognised the potential for
Northampton to re-establish itself by building on
its rich history, beautiful architecture and artisan
culture. Northampton can be a real destination
within the region, building on a good night-time
economy offer and creating events spaces within
the public realm. Residents feel Northampton can
become a modern thriving market town.

Page 331

Covid-19 has accelerated many of the
long-term negative trends affecting high streets
across the UK, including Northampton. The need
to strengthen and diversify the town centre is
more important than ever.
2. 	Northampton #MyTowns Portal

“Showcase Northampton’s culture
and heritage to attract people to
come to the town. Looking to nearby
towns and cities like Stratford, Warwick,
Leicester and Oxford – move away
from mainstream shops and parks to
places people want to visit for culture,
leisure and novelty. Northampton has
a lot to offer – shoe history, heritage
sites and country homes, all currently
in my opinion, poorly showcased.
It would be wonderful to see
Northampton vibrant with people
enjoying the town and put it on the
tourist map. Money will naturally
follow for improvements elsewhere.” 2
According to the Office for National Statistics in
May 2020 Northampton was ranked 3rd highest
nationally for total received government support
(Job retention scheme, self-employment scheme
and claimant count). On claimant count alone
Northampton had the second largest increase in
claimant count between March and April 2020,
according to Office of National Statistics.
Between January and September Northampton
experienced a 160% increase in claimant count,
compared to 119% in the East Midlands and 127%
across England. By August 2020, 63% of eligible
businesses have taken up the self-employment
support scheme, compared to 59% in East
Midlands and 60% across the UK.
However, there are also a number of recent trends
that may present opportunities for longer-term
investment in the town including:
•
•

A shift to local spend - greater local spend from
people within the town and suburban areas
A reduction in out-commuting, creating
the potential to retain skills in the local
labour market and generate new uses
in the town centre.

19

Town Investment Plan

Northampton’s town
centre is failing to meet the
needs of our residents and
businesses and is a major
barrier to the sustainable
growth of the town
% Change in claimant count
January – September 2020
200

100

160%

119%

127%

0
Northampton

East Midlands

Northampton town centre and its surrounding
areas are not effectively serving the town.
Retail and visitor trade is being lost to other
areas and the town is not currently providing
the range of amenities attractive to business.
We will build on the investments completed to
date to create a town that meets the needs of
our residents and businesses. Key intervention
areas will include:
•

Enabling the redevelopment and
reactivation of key sites that remain
vacant and have no alternative viable
use. These will become vibrant new
commercial and residential hubs that
support the heart of the town centre.

•

Enhancing the town’s cultural offer
through targeted investments in the
cultural quarter. Supporting the growth
of our important community and cultural
assets to encourage residents and visitors
back into the town

•

Significantly enhancing the town’s
public realm to improve accessibility,
connectivity and create new public
spaces.

England

Claimant Count per 1,000 working age
residents, January 2020 and September 2020
January
September

80

73

60

57

40
20

28

0
Northampton

66

26
East Midlands

29
England

Northampton

20

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

21

Challenge 2: Providing the Conditions
for Business to Flourish

Northampton
currently performs
exceptionally well in terms
of business start-ups, but
struggles to scale up firms
and secure business
survival

Town Investment Plan

5-Year Survival Rate (%)
50

A critical mass of business starts

Last year there were 1,800 new businesses formed
in Northampton3. This is a significant opportunity,
with start-ups generating employment opportunities
in the town and contributing to economic dynamism
through innovation and competition.
Exceptional start up performance

As shown in the graph below, Northampton excels
in generating start-up businesses, compared to the
wider Oxford to Cambridge Arc.
Business Start Ups, as a Active Businesses (%)

45
40
35
30

42%
36%

25
20

20
15

15

10

17%

5

13%

10

13%

0
Northampton

5

1,800

New businesses started in
Northampton in 2019.

Page 332

Recent and ongoing investments at the
University and Further Education colleges
will help bolster the entrepreneurial
potential of Northampton and improve
the work readiness of our residents. Recent
investments such as the Vulcan Works
SME HUB will help to nurture creative
businesses through affordable and
flexible workspace and create hubs
where entrepreneurs can share ideas,
identify mutually beneficial opportunities,
and collaborate.

The TIP will support inclusive economic
growth through investment in the Cultural
Quarter – expanding the provision of
accessible workspace and skills support
for new cultural businesses – and creating
new modern and flexible workspace at
Waterloo House and within the Waterside
Enterprise Zone. We will also work closely
with partners, including SEMLEP’s Growth
Hub to ensure that businesses receive the
necessary ongoing support for growth.

New mixed-use communities, enabled
by TIP investment, will provide co-working
space accessible to entrepreneurs and
new businesses, as well as those adapting
to post-Covid-19 working practices.
Investment in skills development and
social enterprise will also ensure that our
entrepreneurs are better equipped to
build successful and thriving enterprises.

England

Under-representation of high growth companies

0
Northampton

O2C Corridor

England

Northampton is struggling to nurture
this start up activity

However, as indicated by the 5-year survival rate,
the start-up rate is not translating into long-term
survival. This represents a significant loss of
entrepreneurial and economic capacity for the town.

Northampton is home to many innovative and
successful businesses. However, in 2020 there
were no formally designated scale-up (high
growth) companies located in Northampton4.
These rapidly growing firms, in terms of jobs and
turnover, accelerate local economic growth and are
estimated to account for 20% of national economic
growth5. There are a range of factors that create
the conditions to attract and nurture scale-up
businesses including:
•
•
•
•
•

High quality amenity offer
The provision of high-quality workspace
Excellent transport and digital connectivity
Access to skills
Access to finance

There is a clear alignment between the requirements
of scale-up businesses and the priorities of our TIP.

3. ONS, Business Demography, 2019
4. Scale Up Institute, 2020
5.	Octopus Investments (2015). “High Growth Small Business Report
2015. How Britain’s Fastest Growing Smaller Companies Can be
a Force for Regional Revival.” http://www.scaleupinstitute.org.uk/
wp-content/uploads/2016/05/HGSB-report-2015.pdf

Northampton

22

Challenge 3: Securing High Quality Workspaces
Suitable for post Covid-19 Employment
Low levels of high-grade office stock

As illustrated in the graphs below, Northampton is
characterised by an aging and poorly provisioned
office stock, with only 3% categorised as high-quality
(A-B) – half the national rate of 6%. This is also
true for town centre accommodation, where Centre
for Cities categorises 11% of office stock as high
quality, compared to 25% nationally.

C Grade Stock (%)

97%

60

94%

40
20
0
Northampton

England

A-B Grade Stock (%)
8
6
2
0

3%
Northampton

Poor range of employment spaces

23

Town Investment Plan

Office rental values in Northampton are significantly
lower than the national average – only £11 per
square foot in 2019 compared to the national
average of £27.
Despite low values office vacancy
remains stubbornly high

Whilst vacancies have declined over the past decade,
office vacancy rates in the town centre remain 20%
higher than the national average (at 5.6% compared
to 4.6% across England), suggesting that the
available floorspace is not meeting the demands
of modern employers.

The lower quality stock leads to lower rents,
in turn discouraging speculative development
by the private sector and limiting investment in
office accommodation. However, there is evidence
of latent demand for space – research by Lambert
Smith Hampton finds that letting transactions
in Northampton have plateaued in recent years
primarily because of the lack of Grade A office
space, not due to a lack of interest from businesses.
The inability to coordinate high quality investment
in office accommodation in the town underpins
one of the primary market failures constraining
economic growth of the town.

A lack of high-quality
office stock and town centre
vibrancy means rental
values remain low

Future of Office Employment

10

4

Northampton

This translates into trailing office rental values

Vicious Cycle preventing Regeneration

100
80

Town Investment Plan

6%
England

Office accommodation accounts for approximately
a quarter of all employment floorspace in the town.
This shortfall, when compared to nearby towns such
as Milton Keynes, will reduce the town’s perception
as an employment destination and will limit the
town’s flexibility and resilience as office-based
employment adapts to the legacy of Covid-19.

The legacy of Covid-19 is not certain, but it is clear
that there will be a permanent impact on ways
of working. Northampton provides an affordable
location well connected to London and Birmingham.
A transition to a hub and spoke model of office
accommodation will increase demand, if met
by high quality and flexible accommodation that
can meet a range of modern business needs.
Amenity Offer

In addition to the quality and availability of office
space, the strongest performing firms will locate
in places that are accessible and attractive to
their workforce. This is particularly important for
professional services, with employers prioritising
places that provide high quality amenities. While
Northampton benefits from strong connectivity,
the current amenity offer – particularly within the
town centre – will further disincentivise investment
and reduce the town’s competitiveness over time.

Existing investments within the Waterside
Enterprise Zone are improving the overall
quality of commercial accommodation
available in Northampton. The TIP will help
accelerate this delivery by supporting the
development of Four Waterside.

Page 333

Building on existing investment in the
Cultural Quarter, we will also improve
the availability of high quality and
affordable accommodation available to
sole-traders, micro and small businesses.
Waterloo House will provide much needed
commercial space in the town centre.

Investment in Northampton’s public
realm will improve perceptions of the
town as a place to invest and work.
Enabling of new mixed-use developments
within the town centre will strengthen the
urban core – improving its attractiveness
for businesses and their employees. The
resulting developments will incorporate
their own commercial spaces and
provide affordable accommodation
for Northampton’s future workforce.

Northampton

24

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

25

Challenge 4: Supporting Our Growth
by Delivering Housing

Housing need is a challenge that is set to increase

Northampton is currently not delivering
the amount and quality of housing it needs

According to the latest Land Supply Assessment for
Northampton (2019), the town is not delivering the
housing it needs to sustain its growing population.
Over the past eight years, the town has delivered
around 5,700 homes – 2,400 short of what the
town requires.

The under-supply
of housing is contributing
to local deprivation that is
stifling the town’s growth
aspirations

Northampton Housing Delivery
against Need (2011-2019)

8,157

6

5,728

4

2

0

-2,429

-2

-4
Housing Need
Required to meet
Northampton’s Need

Page 334

The departure of large retailers has
accelerated the decline of the town centre
and is contributing to crime, antisocial
behaviour, and affects the attractiveness
of the town as a place to visit and
do business. Enabling investment in
Northampton’s strategic sites will support
Northampton’s housing need, transform
the town centre, support retail, and food
and beverage businesses, and encourage
further investment in the town.

Housing
Delivered

The annual housing requirement is significantly
higher than what has been delivered in recent years.
Key barriers to the delivery of strategic sites have
been identified as site readiness and viability.
The Council, in partnership with Daventry and
South Northamptonshire, has plans for an urban
extension and is in the process of investing in
enabling infrastructure, such as the Northampton
North West Relief Road. However, strategic sites in
central Northampton also provide opportunities to
meet this need and create a diverse array of housing.
The importance of housing is clearly recognised by
Northampton’s communities and is reflected in the
consultation responses that called for investment
in a range of housing types and densities including
affordable family accommodation.

10

8

Town Investment Plan

Deficit

By ensuring that these developments
accommodate a mix of uses, they will
directly contribute to the community,
create amenity and improve the
commercial outlook.

6. 	Northampton Borough Council Towns Fund Consultation
Research Findings, Turquoise Thinking (October 2020)

“All of the above (projects) rely
on footfall, so an increased mix
of quality affordable residential
accommodation will make a real
difference. For every £1 spent locally
in a small business, 60p stays in the
community, so the more we can do
to encourage this change, the more
small businesses will feel encouraged
to come back and trade in the town,
making Northampton a “market”
town to be proud of.” 6
The link between new residential-led developments
in the town centre and the economic sustainability
of Northampton is also well understood. Enabling
the development of strategic sites in the town centre
will strengthen the retail core, and reinvigorate
key locations in the town centre. By re-introducing
walking connections and active frontages on major
thoroughfares, it will also help reduced perceived
and actual crime and antisocial behaviour.

Northampton

Challenge 5:
Creating a Town Centre that
Benefits all of our Communities
Several neighbourhoods within and close
to the town centre have relatively high
levels of deprivation 7

There are also other deprived areas notably to
the north of New Dunston in the west and around
Riverside in the east. While there are many factors
influencing deprivation, supporting a diverse
and growing employment base will help improve
opportunities for all of our residents.
Unemployment is a key
challenge across Northampton

Despite the high number of jobs and major
employers located in Northampton, around 5%
of the working age population are unemployed.
This is higher than both the regional average (3.8%)
and national average (4.0%). Northampton has been
particularly badly hit by Covid-19, with the claimant
count increasing by 160% between January and
September 2020, compared to 127% nationally.
Northampton has also seen a higher proportion
of its workforce furloughed compared to other areas
(258 employees per 1,000 working age residents
in August, compared to 230 across England).
Northampton Areas of Significant Deprivation
(Top 30% Nationally). 8

26

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

27

Town Investment Plan

Limited access to housing is a key driver
of local deprivation

Housing and services, alongside crime,
is a particular challenge for Northampton,
where two-thirds of neighbourhoods are ranked
as being among the most deprived nationally.
There is an opportunity to make the town
centre more inclusive for all communities

The online consultation held in September 2020
found that residents wanted the town centre to
be open to everyone. Those that live more than
20 minutes away from Northampton town centre
put a large importance on walking and cycling
routes, signposting and wayfinding in order
to boost the number of town centre visitors.
There was also an identified need to deliver
a greater diversity of uses for all residents
(including the young and elderly), placing
importance on the provision of community
centres, activities and community spaces. There
is an opportunity to champion these uses in the
delivery of new residential neighbourhoods and
ensure developments are connected to the wider
urban fabric through sustainable travel methods.

7.	Classified as being in the top 10% most deprived nationally,
based on the ONS Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2019
8.	Source: ONS, 2019. Reproduced by Hatch. The shading covers
all buildings within each Lower Super Output Area – including
non-residential buildings.

There is an
opportunity for the town
centre to improve the lives
of all communities across
Northampton

Number and Percentage of Neighbourhoods
in top 20% most deprived nationally

Housing and Services (87/133)

65%

Crime (86/133)

65%

Page 335

Education and Skills (15/133)

11%

Health (11/133)

8%

Income (9/133)

7%

Living Environment (6/133)

5%

Employment (7/133)

5%

“The town needs to be a place for
everyone, including the young
and elderly. There therefore needs
to be provision for both in the
form of youth centres / activities /
community spaces”

In developing our Transport Strategy for
Northampton we will complement the TIP and
wider investments and improve connectivity
and accessibility across the town. The
TIP will also make a direct contribution to
these challenges through the public realm
investments which will improve accessibility
and connectivity across the town centre
and surrounding areas. Investment in coworking and flexible workspaces, as well
as commercial space more generally, will
expand the opportunities available to our
residents. We will directly support community
inclusion and engagement through
investment in community facilities in the town
and the development of a Skills and Social
Enterprise Development Fund, which will
expand the reach of the TIP investments.

3

Northampton

28

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

Strategy

Page 336

Northampton

30

Town Investment Plan

Our Shared Vision
for Northampton

The Northampton Investment Plan responds
to the challenges facing Northampton and sets
out how we will position the town as a cultural,
community and economic centre serving the
wider region over the next ten years. It is
guided by our Vision as shown below.
The TIP builds on the priorities established by
the Town Centre Masterplan and the extensive
stakeholder consultation and engagement that has
taken place over the past two years. In developing
our shared vision we sought feedback from the
community, business, stakeholder groups and
the Northampton Forward Board.

Our Vision sets out how successful Town’s Fund
investment in Northampton has the potential to
unlock and complement our wider priorities and
aspirations for the town. It is underpinned by:
•

Four cross-cutting Investment Principles
which will guide the TIP investments –
ensuring that they directly address the
needs of our businesses and communities,
and that future growth will align to national
social and economic priorities.

•

Ten Strategic Objectives, which link the
town’s opportunities and challenges to
tangible measures of success.

The 10 Strategic Objectives each contribute to at
least one of the Principles of Investment. By making
a balanced contribution to these principles, the
TIP will support our overarching priorities and
the deliver our Shared Vision for Northampton.

Northampton

31

Cross Cutting Principles of Investment
1.
A vibrant heart
to the town centre
A rejuvenated town centre
that better serves our
communities and businesses

2.
Building on our outstanding
cultural and heritage assets
Celebrating Northampton’s
heritage and culture to create
a town that reflects its proud
history and modern aspirations

3.
Inclusive Economic Growth
Prioritising investment to meet
the needs of our diverse and
multicultural communities

4.
Enhancing the town’s
green spaces and adopting
low carbon principles
Celebrating the town’s natural
environment and ensuring
sustainability and the low
carbon agenda is central
to all investment

TIP Strategic Objectives:
Objective. 1

Objective. 2

Objective. 3

Objective. 4

Objective. 5

Objective. 6

Objective. 7

Objective. 8

Objective. 9

Objective. 10

To drive the regeneration of Northampton’s
town centre and improve residents and visitors
experience, bolstering daytime activity and
encouraging increased footfall and spend.
Transform the heart of the town by investing in
high-quality and attractive public realm that
reflects the ambition and pride of Northampton.

Our 10 Year Vision
Build – on our rich heritage and cultural offers
to rejuvenate the town centre so it once again
represents the aspirations of its residents.

Create – high-quality housing, digital
infrastructure and open spaces that will
enable our communities to grow and
flourish to meet economic, health and
wellbeing and environmental challenges.

Improve – access to skills and training
while promoting first-rate higher and
further education opportunities.

Page 337

Strengthen – Northampton’s position at
the centre of the Oxford-Cambridge Arc
by providing modern spaces for creative
businesses to capitalise on the town’s
manufacturing and entrepreneurial passion.

Town Investment Plan

To re-energise and breathe new life into heritage
assets and redundant buildings.

To drive resilience and growth by supporting a
diverse business base and providing improved
access to skills and quality jobs.

To address deprivation and inequalities by
investing in and supporting assets within the
town centre to improve the vitality, health and
wellbeing of the local community.

To instil pride and a strong sense of identity and
belonging to create a cohesive and welcoming
community where residents feel connected,
involved and empowered.
To provide a distinctive town centre experience by
investing in cultural and leisure uses.

To invest in flexible commercial space to
encourage businesses back into the town centre
and ensure that Northampton is a compelling
business environment.
To adopt an approach which reflects the
aspirations of the community to deliver welldesigned and functional spaces to help tackle
crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour.
To ensure the principle of clean growth is at the
heart of everything we do.

Northampton

32

Town Investment Plan

Strategic Investments and Cross Cutting
Principles of Investment

Cross Cutting Principles of Investment
Vibrant Heart to
the Town Centre

1. Town Centre Regen

2. Community

3. Public Realm

Strategic Objectives

4. Cultural and Leisure

5. Heritage Assets and Redundant Buildings

6. Flexible Commercial Workspace

7. Diverse Business Base

8. Well Designed Spaces Addressing
Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour

9. Deprivation and Inequality

Page 338

10. Clean Growth

Building our Outstanding
Cultural and Heritage
Assets

Inclusive
Economic Growth

Enhancing the Towns
Green Space and Adopting
Low Carbon Principles

Northampton

34

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

35

Town Investment Plan

Investment Proposals

We are seeking £37.2 million from the Towns Fund,
which will unlock £170 million in match funding
and dependent private sector investment to support
the delivery of:
•
•
•
•

15,600 sqm of new and refurbished commercial
floorspace (including shared workspace)
24,900 sqm of new public spaces
2,300 sqm of new or expanded cultural
and leisure venues, including new space
for skills facilities
Remediation and enabling works for key
sites in the town centre to create new public
spaces, new mixed-use urban quarters,
and commercial facilities.

The following 12 projects have been prioritised for
the Town Investment Plan and together provide a
comprehensive package of investment that will:
•
•

•

Deliver our Vision and Strategic Objectives
Align to the priorities of the Towns Fund –
including a contribution to Urban
Regeneration, Skills and Enterprise
Infrastructure, and Connectivity
Complement our wider investment
prioritises and support the transformation
of Northampton

Further information on each project, including
strategic alignment and delivery programme
is provided in Part 3 of this TIP.

Two of the projects (Market Square and Waterloo
House, with a combined value of £12.2 million)
were included in Northampton’s submission to the
Future High Street Fund. They are also included in
our TIP as they are considered essential to achieving
our vision for the town and score highly against our
strategic objectives. However, if the full amount of
FHSF sought is awarded to Northampton our total
investment ask from the Towns Fund would reduce
to £24.9 million.

Contribution of the TIP to
Our Strategic Objectives

Projects

Objectives
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Town Centre Public Realm
41-45 Abington Street
35-39 Abington Street
Marefair Heritage Gateway
Four Waterside
24 Guildhall Road Arts Centre
Extension of 78 Derngate –
The Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum
Emporium Way
St Peter’s and the Old Black Lion
Skills and Social Enterprise Development Fund
Market Square
Waterloo House
Objectives Key

Achieving
Contributing

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Page 339

 own centre Regen
T
Community
Public Realm
Culture and Leisure
Heritage Assets and
Redundant Buildings
6. Flexible Commercial
Workspace

7. D
 iverse Business Base
8. Well designed Spaces
Addressing Crime and
Anti-Social Behaviour
9. Deprivation and Inequality
10. Clean Growth

Northampton

36

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

1
Marefair Heritage Gateway
Transforming the gateway from the
train station to Northampton Town
Centre, we will provide a new heritage
park that will address negative
perceptions of the town and provide
new amenity space. The investment
will help to unlock a new mixed-use
development providing co-working
and leisure spaces and family homes
to reflect the needs of local residents.

1

2

2

3

Four Waterside
Providing 60,000 sqft of grade A office
space, a new hotel and 90 homes at a
gateway site close to the train station.
Meeting the demands of modern
businesses, the accommodation
will include flexible co-working space
for local SMEs and start-ups.

3

Page 340

St Peter’s and the
Old Black Lion
Providing a new community hub in
a Grade II listed building, it will provide
a venue for volunteering, community
engagement, and skills and training
activities in an area of Northampton
with high deprivation. Commercial
income from a food venue will ensure
the wider site, including the Grade I
listed St Peter’s Church will be
sustainable into the future.

37

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

38

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

39

Town Investment Plan

4
Town Centre Public Realm
Providing improved public realm on
Abington Street, The Drapery, Fish Street
and St Giles’ Street: A major priority from
the public consultation, this investment
will significantly enhance the public
spaces, complementing the investment
proposals at Market Square. Improving
pedestrian access and providing new
seating, signage and tree planting.
It will drive footfall and help address
concerns around crime and safety.

4
5
41-45 Abington Street
Enabling the redevelopment of the
former M&S building – a high profile,
site in the town centre which has
remained vacant since 2018 to the
detriment of the town. TIP investment
will unlock a mixed-use development
which will support the ongoing
regeneration of the town.

6
35-39 Abington Street
Complementing investment at
41-45 Abington Street, TIP investment
will enable the redevelopment of a large
vacant site formerly home to BHS. The
project will support the regeneration
of the town and provide an important
pedestrian link to the future Greyfriars
strategic development site.

6
5

Page 341

Northampton

40

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

41

7
24 Guildhall Road Arts Centre
Building on a GBF funded investment
to relocate NN Contemporary Arts in
the Cultural Quarter. This investment
will support the redevelopment of the
upper floors into a flexible space for
skills development and education
in the creative sectors.

9

8
Extension of 78 Derngate –
The Charles Rennie
Mackintosh Museum
This project will enable an extension
of the Rennie Mackintosh Museum and
the create a new functional garden
for the museum on disused land. It will
provide an improved visitor experience
and build on a brand that is well known
and an iconic visitor attraction.

7

9
Emporium Way
Creating a new pedestrian thoroughfare
between Market Square and the future
Greyfriars development, supporting
enhanced town centre footfall. The
project will also provide stalls for a
Makers Market, complementing other
cultural and creative investments
in the town.

Page 342

8

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

42

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

43

10
Skills and Social Enterprise
Development Fund
A grant fund to ensure that the wider
TIP investment package is inclusive
of Northampton’s diverse communities
and provides much needed support for
the town’s small start-up and growing
social enterprises.

11

11
Market Square
Given its historic role and central
location, investment in the Market
Square is considered to be an essential
catalyst to the wider regeneration of
the town. The Towns Fund will provide
significantly enhanced public realm
and existing stalls will be transformed
to provide a smaller, more attractive
platform for independent traders –
freeing up space for functions, events
and activities, re-establishing its role
as the heart of the town centre.

12
Waterloo House
Redevelopment of an underutilised
building in a key location on the
Market Square into grade A office
space providing co-working
and serviced offices in addition
to active uses (café/restaurant)
on the ground floor.

12

Town Investment Plan

Page 343

Northampton

44

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

45

Town Investment Plan

1

2

3
9

4
11
12

6
5

7

Projects Key
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Page 344

Marefair Heritage Gateway
Four Waterside
St Peter’s and the Old Black Lion
Town Centre Public Realm
41-45 Abington Street
35-39 Abington Street
24 Guildhall Road Arts Centre
Extension of 78 Derngate –
The Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum
9. Emporium Way
10. Skills and Social Enterprise
Development Fund
11. Market Square
12. Waterloo House

8

Northampton

46

Town Investment Plan

Prioritisation Process

Northampton

47

Town Investment Plan

Our Shared Vision for Northampton

Cross Cutting Principles of
Investment
Our investment programme has been identified
following extensive stakeholder consultation,
which has influenced the selection and design of
our proposals – from the initial long list of projects,
to the design of the Vision and Strategic Objectives
that informed the prioritised programme.
22 projects that support our TIP Vision and
Strategic Objectives were included in the longlist.
Another 3 projects were considered, but were
excluded as they were not deliverable within
timescales required for the Towns Fund.

The investment longlist was scored against
the Critical Success Factors (CSFs) to identify
a prioritised programme. This process ensures
that the prioritised programme will make a strong
contribution to our Vision and Strategic Objectives
and align with national priorities, including the
requirements of the Towns Fund. The CSFs have
also been designed to ensure that prioritised projects
can be supported by a robust business case.
Investments not prioritised for the TIP included
projects relating to further investment on the
Enterprise Zone, the redevelopment of strategic
investment sites in the town centre, such as
Greyfriars, pedestrian improvements, and a new
Digital Hub at Northampton Library. These projects
will be considered as pipeline projects that may
mitigate any unexpected risks to the delivery
of the prioritised programme.

Strategic Objectives

Longlist of Investments

•
•

Critical Success Factors

•
•
•
•
•
•

Page 345

Vulcan Works concept visual

Strength of alignment with
Northampton’s Strategic Objectives
Potential for transformative impact
on the town
Clear evidence of market failure
Extent to which the project
regenerates the town centre
Extent to which the project
delivers inclusive growth
Robust delivery plan
Funding leverage
Financial sustainability beyond
Stronger Towns Fund investment

Prioritised Investment Programme

Northampton

48

Town Investment Plan

A Foundation to
Build on for the Future

Our vision for Northampton stretches beyond
the five-year term of the Towns Fund. The package
of investments set out in this Town Investment
Plan will complement existing investments, help
us to tackle our most immediate challenges, and
position the town for long-term sustainable growth.
The investment programme will unlock and enable
future investment and help to secure Northampton’s
vision as a vibrant county town with a central
role in the Oxford-Cambridge Arc.

Getting the right investments in place now
and seizing on the opportunities currently
available will be critical to the longer-term
success of Northampton.

Northampton

Short Term (1-3 years)

The emergence of a town centre that better
serves Northampton’s businesses and residents
•

Early TIP investments will build on the success
of newly delivered investments at Vulcan Works
and Northampton Museum and Art Gallery.

•

New cultural and community venues will help
to diversify the town centre and strengthen
links with local communities.

•

24 Guildhall Road Arts Centre will provide
support for new cultural organisations,
people and businesses through the provision
of workspaces and training facilities.

•

•

Public realm investments in the Market Square
and the wider town centre will drive footfall,
increase visitor dwell time, and help to promote
the town centre as a destination that can
compete with other towns in the region.
Early stage investment in public realm and
new urban quarters will demonstrate the
commitment to Northampton and potential
for transformation.

49

Town Investment Plan

•

An array of flexible business accommodation
across the town will help attract and grow
a diversified business base. A more resilient
business ecosystem will help address local
challenges with business survival.

•

Investment in social enterprise will further
promote the diversity of Northampton’s business
base and improve links with the town’s most
deprived communities.

•

Further strengthening of the town’s cultural offer
will help to improve perceptions of the town and
draw people into Northampton as a destination.

•

The complementary roll-out of city fibre and
Northampton’s Transport Strategy will further
enhance the town as a location for businesses
and visitors.

Long Term (5+ years)

Demonstrating success and providing a platform
for future economic growth.
•

A new vibrant heart and gateway to the town
centre will help to enhance perceptions of
Northampton. A strengthened retail core
will support a higher quality retail and leisure
offer; and an improved business ecosystem
will support business growth and diversification.
Improved land values and commercial rents
will promote further commercial and residential
development. Northampton will be perceived
as a key investment location in the OxfordCambridge Arc, attracting inward investment
and fully contributing more to the region’s
productive capacity.

•

Improved employment opportunities from
retail and services to advanced manufacturing
will create new opportunities for our residents
and promote inclusive economic growth.

•

Building on our outstanding cultural and
heritage assets, Northampton will become
a cultural and heritage attraction and a focal
point in the Oxford-Cambridge arc.

•

The provision of new green and open spaces
across the town and through embedding low
carbon principles in our TIP developments will
demonstrate our commitment to sustainable
economic growth and set the standards for
future delivery.

Medium Term (3-5 years)

A transformed Northampton focused on revitalised
gateways and a core hub around Market Square.
•

New mixed-use urban quarters and commercial
developments in the town centre will promote
a vibrant day and night time economy and
support a strengthened retail core focused
on Market Square.

•

Emporium Way will provide a major investment
in town centre public realm. The makers market
will provide a platform to drive new footfall to
the town centre and support the growth of local
creative businesses.

•

Four Waterside and complementary investments
around the Station Gateway will provide modern
and flexible business accommodation, that
respond to the post Covid-19 challenges and are
attractive to the Arc’s priority sectors – including
professional services, high performance and
advanced manufacturing.

•

Page 346

Four Waterside and complementary investments
around the Station Gateway will provide modern
and flexible business accommodation, that
respond to the post-Covid-19 challenges and are
attractive to the Arc’s priority sectors – including
professional services, high performance and
advanced manufacturing.

Northampton

50

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

51

Town Investment Plan

Investment Rationale

Market Failures

There are a range of market failures constraining
investment in Northampton. Specific assessments
are provided in the project level summaries,
but the primary failures relate to:
Externalities and Coordination Failure

Achievable office rents in Northampton are currently
low relative to the surrounding area, given the poor
fit between available accommodation and modern
business needs. This will disadvantage first-movers
who cannot recoup the wider spill-over benefits
of early stage investment.
In addition schemes targeting community and
heritage assets will support wider community
priorities and add to the cultural offer of the town –
benefiting retailers and food & beverage businesses.
While the operation of these schemes is financially
viable, the high upfront capital cost will limit
investment without public support.
Abnormal Costs

Northampton is a historic town with many
development sites that are difficult to develop and
do not currently provide financially viable private
investment opportunities. For example, strategic
sites in the town centre have remained vacant since
the departure of large retailers and have no realistic
alternative uses in their current form. Development
will require significant remediation work that
is not viable - particularly while potential returns
on investment remain low.

Public Goods

Several investments relating to public realm
and gateways to the town have the qualities
of public goods and are the types of investment
that local authorities would take responsibility
for. In some cases it may be possible to raise
funding from developer contributions. However
whilst development is not forthcoming this
investment will not materialise.
Theory of Change

The Northampton TIP Theory of Change sets
out how our proposals to build on the available
evidence and deliver tangible and measurable
outcomes for the benefit of the town.

Page 347

Northampton

52

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

53

Town Investment Plan

Theory of Change

Investment Context
Northampton has a significant array of assets relating to
connectivity, enterprise, skills, and culture on which future
growth can be built. However, the following issues and
opportunities have been identified as priorities for the
Northampton TIP to address:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

•

Page 348

•
•

•

4

New commercial floorspace
(including shared workspace)
Enhanced public realm
Remediation of disused sites enabling
new homes and commercial space
Upgraded walking infrastructure
New or upgraded community
and cultural facilities
Improved skills and learning facilities
Capacity building with local
social enterprises

Impacts

Inputs
•
•
•

Providing the conditions for our businesses to flourish
Securing high quality workspaces suitable for post
Covid-19 employment
Delivering housing to support our growth
Creating a vibrant and welcoming town centre
Creating a town centre that benefits all of our
communities.

Outputs
•

1

•
•
•
•

5

•

1.
2.

•
•

A higher value and more diversified employment offer,
providing greater opportunities for local residents.
Improved skills levels among Northampton’s Residents.
A strengthened small business and social enterprise
base across the town.

•

•
•
•
•

3

Public realm, culture and
community assets
Town centre gateways
Enabling the redevelopment
of strategic town centre sites
Modern business accommodation
Targeted support for Skills and
Social Enterprise

Measures of Success (Outcomes)

An enhanced connection between
central Northampton and its residents.
A refocused town centre with
A stronger retail and food and beverage core and
New cultural, commercial and residential uses
driving footfall and spend.

£37.2 million Towns Fund
£14 million public sector funding
£169.6 million third sector and
private sector match
Delivery support from the Council
and project stakeholders.

Activities
A series of capital investments covering:
•

2

Improved perceptions of Northampton
by residents, visitors and businesses
Increased business count and
improved business survival rates
Improved land values
Increased number of visitors to arts,
culture and heritage sites
Increased number of trips to the town centre
Increased number of new learners assisted
Increased number of enterprises utilising high quality,
affordable and sustainable commercial spaces
Increased number of start-ups and/or scale-ups
utilising business incubation, acceleration and
co-working spaces

6

Northampton

54

Town Investment Plan

Alignment
to Wider Activity

Northampton

Wider Investment Activity

55

Town Investment Plan

•

An important consideration for the TIP is the extent
to which the proposals build on our recent and
ongoing investments in the town and complement
activity by the Council and our partners.
Town Centre Regeneration

Strategic Alignment

•

Our Town Investment Plan does not exist in
isolation. It aligns with existing strategies which
will help prioritise and direct wider investment
in the town, including:
•

•

•

Northampton Town Centre Masterplan
developed by the Council to build on the
culture, history and heritage of Northampton
and transform the heart of town. This will be
achieved by creating a smaller and stronger
retail core complimented by new residential
development serving the needs of
the community.
Waterside Enterprise Zone Delivery
Strategy – setting out an ambitious plan to
regenerate nearly 120 hectares of brownfield
land along the town’s river front. Since 2011
Enterprise Zone status has helped to transform
a large area of previously under-developed land
in Northampton and has, to date, attracted
£320million of private sector investment. Key
investments include construction of the new
Northampton railway station, the University
of Northampton Waterside Campus, and the
proposed investment at Four Waterside.
Northampton Local Plan 2011-29 – a second
round of consultation was held in September
2020. The plan sets out Northampton’s ambition
to deliver 18,870 new homes by 2029. It
recognises the need to balance the town’s growth
requirements against the need to protect and
enhance the built and natural environment.

•

•

•

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy
2014 sets out the long-term vision and
objectives for the whole of the area covered by
Northamptonshire County Council, Daventry
District, Northampton Borough and South
Northamptonshire Councils.
Northampton Transport Strategy – The Council
are also in the process of developing a Transport
Strategy which will identify further investment
priorities in our transport network, building on
the investments set out in this Investment Plan.
The Council are also implementing their Local
Cycling and Walking Action Plan (2020-31).
The Climate Change Strategy 2020-2023
that establishes a Framework for tackling
the causes and effects of climate change by:
raising awareness of the issues and impacts of
climate change on Northamptonshire; reducing
emissions of greenhouse gases across the
County; and planning for and adapting to the
impacts of climate change.
The Oxford-Cambridge Arc Prospectus sets
out the vision for the Arc to become a global
hub for innovation, and home to exemplary
models of green development that will inspire
communities around the world. Through
strong collaboration, the Arc can enhance
the lives of its residents, increase the global
opportunities for its businesses and improve
the environment for the prosperity of all.

•

Further development at Northampton
Station – to expand and relocate parking
provision at the station and create a new
gateway into Northampton, to be delivered
by Network Rail.

•

One Angel Square – an exciting new public
sector headquarters situated in the middle
of Northampton town centre. The new,
modern building is able to house up to
2,000 professional workers and bring
a minimum of £12 million additional
spend into the town centre economy.

•

•

Northampton Museum and Art Gallery - a major
transformation to create a high profile cultural
attraction for Northamptonshire and the East
Midlands. The project has doubled the size
of the museum, created four new permanent
galleries, and a 400 sqm temporary exhibitions
gallery, capable of hosting major national and
international touring exhibitions.
Northampton Place Marketing Strategy – being
developed to increase future inward investment,
increase tourism and improve local perception /
civic pride. The strategy will complement the
potential initial investment from the TIP and
accelerate funding for other projects highlighted
in the Masterplan.

Skills and Enterprise Infrastructure

Page 349

•

University of Northampton – a £330 million
investment in the relocation of the university to
a new campus on the Waterside Enterprise Zone.

•

Vulcan Works – a £14 million investment,
drawing on SEMLEP Local Growth Fund,
ERDF and contributions from NBC was secured
to refurbish a Grade II listed Factory and create
a new three-storey building comprising 68
lettable units. The units will be a mix of office,
studio and managed workshops aimed at startups and growing businesses in the creative
sector. During its first 10 years of operation,
Vulcan Works is expected to support up to
100 businesses, creating around 300 jobs.

Northampton College has received funding
from LGF, including £3.2 million for a ‘digital
academy’ housed in a purpose-built 1,300
sqm new block. The new facility will focus
on developing and delivering key digital skill
programmes (levels 1-3 and T-Levels) to provide
a strong pipeline of digitally skilled students
able to progress onto Higher Education,
Apprenticeships and into work. The College will
engage with the Digital Institute of Technology
at Bletchley Park at Milton Keynes and employer
partners to develop a new digital curriculum.

Growth and Connectivity

•

City Fibre is the process of rolling out a
£40 million investment in superfast broadband
in Northampton which will benefit the town and
all proposed investment sites, as well as enabling
the deployment of 5G across the town.

•

County Council Transport Investments Northamptonshire County Council is investing
heavily in our transport infrastructure, including
commitments for the A43 Northampton to
Kettering – Phase 3, Northampton EastWest Walking and Cycling Corridor, and the
Greyfriars Bus Punctuality and Traffic Scheme.

•

The draft Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) supports an
ambition for Northampton to become a leading
centre for active travel, which fully embraces
walking and cycling, underpinning plans for
any further expansion of the town. The LCWIP
sets out the cycling and walking improvements
required and identifies short, medium and
longer term measures as part of a network
approach. The key outputs of LCWIP are: a
network plan for walking and cycling which
identifies preferred routes and core walking
zones for further development; a prioritised
programme of infrastructure improvements for
future investment; and a report which sets out
the underlying analysis carried out and provides
a narrative which supports the identified
improvements and network. The TIP proposals
for Northampton Town Centre will support
the proposed improvements in the LCWIP to
promote active travel, connectivity and reduce
carbon emissions.

Northampton

•

•

The recent £1.392m Active Travel Fund award
from the Department of Transport will target
the Billing Road Corridor and provide improved
cycling facilities. The investment demonstrates
support for active travel in the Town that will
tackle climate change, improve air quality
and wellbeing.
Upton Country Park is a green infrastructure
project which compliments the large scale
growth in southwest Northampton. Phase 1
of the country park was delivered in 2008
and included the Elgar Community Centre.
The second phase is now complete with some
additional works taking place at surrounding
entrance points. This includes new footpaths,
cycle paths and leisure areas. The scheme has
been largely funded by Section 106 receipts.

Partner Investment and Support

The Northampton TIP will build on and complement
a range of existing funding programmes, including:
•

Northampton Borough Council (NBC) has
received £1 million accelerated Towns Fund
capital funding for the removal of asbestos
and site remediation. This Towns Fund
application will build upon this initial
investment and allow this project to be
brought forward for development.

•

The Council and NN Gallery have secured
£1.15 million from the Getting Building Fund
(GBF), which will fund Phase 1 of refurbishment
works to 24 Guildhall Road.

•

Enterprise Zone Business Rate Uplift funding
will provide match funding for the investment
proposals at Four Waterside and ongoing
investment for the EZ.

•

LGF investment at Vulcan Works Creative
HUB is ongoing and scheduled for completion
in Spring 2021.

•

We are in the process of seeking Future High
Street Fund for two of the key investments
set out in our Town Investment Plan (Market
Square and Waterloo House). If this bid is
successful, this will reduce our overall ask from
Towns Fund by £12.2 million to £25 million.

56

Town Investment Plan

The Northampton TIP has a range of partners
that are essential to its successful delivery. Detailed
delivery arrangements are provided in Section 2,
but key partners include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Northampton Borough Council
West Northamptonshire Council
Northamptonshire County Council
Northampton Forward
Northampton Digital
University of Northampton
Northampton Social Enterprise Town
NN Contemporary
South East Midlands Local
Enterprise Partnership
Legal and General
Northampton Town Centre
Business Improvement District
Tricker’s
Northamptonshire Chamber of Commerce

Northampton

Spatial Strategy

57

Town Investment Plan
Key
 own Centre
T
Masterplan Boundary
Enterprise Zone Boundary

Page 350

4

Northampton

58

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

Engagement
and Delivery

Page 351

Northampton

60

Town Investment Plan

Role of the Community and
Stakeholder Consultation

The development of the Town Investment Plan
has been guided by community and stakeholder
consultation throughout its development.
The TIP builds on initial consultation work
undertaken to inform the development of the
Northampton Town Centre Masterplan which
seeks to address many of the challenges outlined
in this TIP. The consultation exercise for the
masterplan informed the early development
of the project longlist.
Since the announcement of the Towns Fund, the
following process of engagement and consultation
has been adopted to shape its development.
Northampton Forward Board

The development of the Northampton Town
Investment Plan has been overseen by Northampton
Forward Board, a public / private partnership
board established in early 2019. The Board is
formed of a wide range of partners including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Northampton Borough Council
Northamptonshire County Council
Northants Police
Grosvenor Centre
Northampton Town Centre BID
University of Northampton
Royal and Derngate
LiftNN (Community representative)
South East Midlands Local Enterprise
Partnership (SEMLEP)
Tricker’s
Northamptonshire Chamber
Andrew Lewer MP

Page 352

The Board is responsible for developing the vision
and objectives for the Town Investment Plan. It has
agreed the Critical Success Factors and prioritised
the longlist of projects. Northampton Forward have
also overseen the development of the Future High
Street Fund Bid and Northampton Town Centre
Masterplan, therefore ensuring that all potential
development and funding bids are complimentary
and coherent.

Online Consultations

Online consultations on the potential TIP proposals
were held in September 2020 to determine the
community’s priorities for investment, gain feedback
and opinions on a range of proposed investment
areas and determine the challenges / opportunities
for the town. Approximately 434 individuals replied
to the questionnaire creating a total of 1,495 pieces
of project level feedback. The responses were
evenly split between males and females. 18% of
respondents were aged under-35 and 15% were
over-65.
Overall, the majority of responses were positive
about how beneficial the projects would be to
improve the town centre. The main challenges
highlighted were a lack of quality goods offered
in the town centre, poor appearance of the town
centre and competition with other areas. The main
opportunities were bringing disused buildings /
public space back into use and improving the
public realm. The initial survey was followed by
more detailed questioning of a web community
across three days.
This builds on over two years of consultation
completed on the ground and through all media
channels. The online consultation completed for
the Town Centre Masterplan in 2019 informed the
development of the longlist of projects developed
for this TIP. Key local priorities identified at
that stage include the restoration and upkeep of
historic buildings, improving the quality of retail,
the quality of public realm and greenspace in
enhancing the town centre, pedestrianisation
in the town centre, and the potential to
accommodate new homes.

Northampton

Consultation Workshops

A series of consultation workshops were
completed in October 2020 focusing on Urban
Regeneration; Deprivation and Inequality; and
Business, Enterprise and Skills. Approximately
150 stakeholders were approached to take part
in the workshops. Workshops were attended by
key stakeholders in Northampton including local
businesses, social enterprises (Northampton Social
Enterprise Town), Community Town Safety Teams,
Northampton Digital, Northampton Arts and
University of Northampton.
Engagement with private sector bodies aided
understanding of growth barriers and helped
to ensure the plan remains responsive in
uncertain times.
Engagement with public sector and community
organisations highlighted how social enterprises
can be incorporated into projects.

61

Town Investment Plan

The consultations produced a number of
themes for the Town Investment Plan including
re-energising cultural and historic assets,
diversifying the housing offer to match the
needs of the community, make the town centre
feel safer and upgrade / improve management
of key public spaces.
Stakeholder Engagement Plan

A Stakeholder Engagement Plan has been developed
to accompany the Launch of Northampton’s finalised
Town Investment Plan. This document sets out our
commitment to develop ongoing relationships with
key stakeholders to ensure implementation of the
Town Investment Plan remains responsive to the
overarching needs of the town.

Northampton

62

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

63

Town Investment Plan

Timeline of Stakeholder Engagement

1

2
Establishment
of Northampton
Forward Board

3
Development
of Town Deal Stakeholder
Engagement Plan Including
Stakeholder Mapping

Town
Centre Masterplan
Consultation

6

5

Phase 2 Engagement:
Themed Stakeholder
Workshops and analysis
of #MyTowns portal

4

Feedback:
Initial Objectives and
Project Development

7

Phase 1 Engagement:
Online Survey and Deeper
Stakeholder Engagement

8
Drafting and
testing the Town Deal
Strategic Framework with
the Northampton
Forward Board

9
Finalising
project shortlisting
and development
of project stakeholder
engagement plans and
implementation

Iterative feedback
to inform the draft Town
Investment Plan and
shortlisting of projects

12
Engage stakeholders
in the implementation and
delivery of projects

11

Page 353

Raise awareness
of the final Town Investment
Plan and undertake tailored
project development
engagement to inform
Full Business Cases

10
Secure letters of
support from stakeholder
organisations

Northampton

64

Partner Commitments

As identified above, our Town Investment Plan is
supported by a broad range of partners, including
those that will have a formal role in delivering or
funding the proposed investments. Further detail
on each project is provided in Section 2, but overall,
the Town Investment Plan will be supported
by a match funding from a variety of sources,
set out in the table opposite.

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

65

Town Investment Plan

Match funding from
Northampton Borough Council

Getting Building Fund

£3,735,000

£1,150,000

Enterprise Zone
Business Rate Uplift

National Lottery
Heritage Fund

£7,000,000

£1,850,000

Other Public
and Third Sector

Private Sector
Contributions

£254,000

£155,650,000

Page 354

Northampton

66

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

67

Town Investment Plan

Town Centre
Public Realm

TIP Funding

£4.6 million
Total Funding

£4.6 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

September 2023

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•

Providing high quality civic space to drive
footfall, promote investment and encourage
diversified activity in the town centre.
Building on investment in the Market Square
and complementing the TIP investments
on Abington Street.
A priority investment from the public
consultation to address concerns over
safety, crime and antisocial behaviour.

•
•

Improved perceptions by
residents, businesses and visitors.
Increased number of visitors to arts,
cultural and heritage events and venues.
Increased town centre footfall and spend.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 355

1

2

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

68

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

69

Town Investment Plan

41-45 Abington Street

TIP Funding

£5.5 million
Total Funding

£39 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

Spring 2025

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•

Public investment will enable the
redevelopment of a large, long-term
vacant department store.
Without investment the strategic site will
remain inactive and vacant, exacerbating
public concerns of crime and antisocial
behaviour and reducing the potential
impact of wider TIP investments.
The mixed-use development will regenerate
the town centre, create new employment
opportunities, diversify town centre activity
and help strengthen the retail core – a key
principle of the Town Centre Masterplan.

•
•

•

Perceptions of Northampton by
residence, businesses and visitors.
Increase land values.
Increased number of enterprises
utilising affordable and sustainable
commercial workspaces.
Increased number of start-ups
using co-working space.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 356

1

2

3

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

70

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

71

Town Investment Plan

35-39 Abington Street

TIP Funding

£4.2 million
Total Funding

£30.1 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

March 2026

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•

Public investment will enable the
redevelopment of a large, vacant
department store.
Without investment the strategic site will
remain inactive and vacant, exacerbating
public concerns of crime and antisocial
behaviour, reducing the potential impact
of wider TIP investments.
Mixed-use development will regenerate
the town centre, create new employment
opportunities, diversify town centre activity
and help strengthen the retail core – a key
principle of the Town Centre Masterplan

•
•

•

Perceptions of Northampton by
residents, businesses and visitors.
Increased land value.
Increased number of enterprises
utilising affordable and sustainable
commercial workspaces.
Increased number of start-ups
using co-working space.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 357

1

2

3

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

72

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

73

Town Investment Plan

Marefair Heritage Gateway

TIP Funding

£2 million
Total Funding

£34.5 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

April 2025

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•
•

Public funding will provide a new
park and pedestrian connection at the
strategic gateway site for Northampton
with significant heritage value.
Investment will improve connections
between town centre, the train station,
key employment sites and wider TIP
investments – driving footfall to the
town and improving the desirability
of these locations.
Provision of new open space is a priority
from our community engagement.
Enabled development will incorporate
greater family homes to reflect
community priorities.

•
•

Perceptions of Northampton by
residents, visitor and businesses.
Increased land values.
Increased number of visitors
to heritage sites and venues.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 358

1

3

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

74

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

75

Town Investment Plan

Four Waterside

TIP Funding

£1.5 million
Total Funding

£75 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

June 2026

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•

The project meets an identified need
for high-quality commercial premises
in Northampton.
Redevelopment of a strategically located
vacant plot on the gateway to the town
near the station.
The project will break the cycle of low office
rents constraining commercial development
and help accelerate wider development
on the Enterprise Zone.

•
•
•

Four Waterside Feasibility Study

Improved perceptions of
Northampton by businesses.
Improved land values.
New businesses investing in Northampton.
Improved business count and survival rates.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 359

1

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

3

Northampton

76

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

77

Town Investment Plan

24 Guildhall Road
Arts Centre

TIP Funding

£1.75 million
Total Funding

£3.3 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC in partnership with NN Gallery
Delivery

Summer 2023

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•

Investment will bring a redundant
heritage building back into use as a new
cultural venue and support regeneration
of Northampton Town Centre.
Affordable workspace and training
facilities will provide much needed
support for small and start-up creative
businesses, addressing an identified need.
A priority investment from the
community consultation, investment
will facilitate an expanded cultural
offer across the town centre.

•
•
•
•

•

Improved perceptions of Northampton
by businesses, residents and visitors.
Improved land values.
Increased number of visitors to
cultural and heritage venues.
Increased number of new learners assisted.
Increased number of start-ups and/or
scale-ups utilising business incubation,
acceleration and co-working spaces.
Business count and survival.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 360

1

2

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

78

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

79

Town Investment Plan

Extension of 78 Derngate –
The Charles Rennie Mackintosh
Museum
TIP Funding

£400,000
Total Funding

£800,000
Accountable Body

78 Derngate Trust
Delivery

Spring 2022

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

Extending a key visitor destination in
the town centre. This will expand the
cultural offer in the town – and boosting
footfall and spend.
A new publicly accessible outdoor space
will be created in the town centre, another
priority from the public consultation.
Support the regeneration of the town
by transforming a disused site to the
rear of the museum.

EXTERNAL VIEW FROM THE SIDE GATE
•

•
•

Improved perceptions of Northampton
by visitors, residents and businesses.
Increased number of visitors to cultural
and heritage venues.
Improved land values.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 361

1

2

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

80

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

81

Town Investment Plan

Emporium Way

TIP Funding

£4.2 million
Total Funding

£4.2 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

November 2023

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•

Demolition of a poor and underutilised
building to support the wider regeneration
of Northampton.
Enhance connection between Greyfriars
and Market Square and support the future
development of Greyfriars – a priority
long-term investment for residents.
Makers Market will support local creative
businesses and complement other key
cultural investment in the town.

•
•
•
•

Improved perceptions of Northampton
by residents, visitors and businesses.
Improved wider land values.
Increased number of visitors
to cultural and arts events.
Increased local businesses trading
in town centre.
Increased footfall and expenditure.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 362

1

2

3

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

82

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

83

Town Investment Plan

St Peter’s and
the Old Black Lion

TIP Funding

£315,000
Total Funding

£2.6 million
Accountable Body

Black Lion Heritage
Delivery

June 2023

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•

Provision of a new community hub
within a deprived part of Northampton.
The project will support the regeneration
of two historic listed buildings at a gateway
location close to other TIP investments.
Limited TIP funding can unlock
significant investment for regeneration
of two heritage assets.

•
•
•

Improved perceptions of the
place by residents/visitors.
Improved land values.
Increased number of visitors to arts,
cultural and heritage events and venues.
Increased number of new learners assisted.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 363

1

2

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

84

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

85

Town Investment Plan

Skills and Social
Enterprise Development Fund

TIP Funding

£500,000
Total Funding

£500,000
Accountable Body

Partnership between NBC/WNC
and Northampton Social Enterprise Town
(NSET)
Delivery

April 2025
Rationale

Outcomes

•

•
•
•

•

•

•

Social enterprise support will encourage
and strengthen the local enterprise
base and maximise community impacts.
Skills support will reduce barriers
and improve links between TIP
capital investment and our residents.
The potential contribution of social
enterprise was identified through
our stakeholder contribution.
NSET will help to inform the design
and use of wider investments to
better meet community needs.

Learners assisted.
Increased number of social enterprises.
Greater residents from deprived communities
benefiting from TIP investments.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles
3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Page 364

As a revenue scheme, fewer objectives are directly supported.
However, investment will embed community links and
participation into the wider TIP investments.

10

THE MARKET SQUARE
01 view oF tree avenue anD markets looking north west
Northampton

86

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

87

Town Investment Plan

Market Square

TIP Funding

£8.1 million
Total Funding

£8.1 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

April 2023

NORTHAMPTON MARKET SQUA

9

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•

•
•

Re-establish Market Square as the
heart of Northampton town centre.
Provide high quality civic space to drive
footfall, promote investment and encourage
activity in the town centre.
Complementing and linking wider TIP
investments in the heart of the town centre.
Address concerns over safety, crime and
antisocial behaviour – a major priority
from our public consultation.

•
•

Improved perceptions by residents,
businesses and visitors.
Increased wider land values.
Increased town centre footfall and spend.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 365

1

2

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

88

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

89

Town Investment Plan

Waterloo House

TIP Funding

£4.1 million
Total Funding

£4.1 million
Accountable Body

NBC/WNC
Delivery

Spring 2023

Rationale

Outcomes

•

•

•
•

•

The existing building is in a poor
condition and without investment
will remain under-utilised.
Redevelopment is unviable given
prevailing town centre commercial rents.
The prominent location and improved active
frontages on Market Square will support
wider TIP investments.
High quality commercial and co-working
space in town centre will support local
enterprises to collaborate and grow.

•
•

•

Improved perceptions of
Northampton by businesses.
Improved land values.
Increased number of enterprises
utilising affordable and sustainable
commercial workspaces.
Increased number of start-ups
using co-working space.

Strategic Alignment
Objectives

Investment Principles

Page 366

1

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Northampton

90

Key

The 12 projects together make a strong
contribution to the investment themes
and priorities of the towns fund as
illustrated below.

Town Investment Plan

Northampton

Primary Theme
Secondary Themes

91

Programme Delivery

Programme Management
TIP Themes

Projects
Connectivity

Town Centre Public Realm

41-45 Abington Street

Urban
Regeneration

Arts, Culture
and Heritage

Skills
Infrastructure

Enterprise
Infrastructure

Northampton Borough Council is the accountable
body for this TIP on submission (11th December
2020). On 1st April 2021 the new West
Northamptonshire Council (WNC) will replace
Northampton Borough Council, however the
shadow authority overseeing this transition has
been consulted at key milestones throughout the
preparation of the Town Investment Plan and is
committed to its delivery.
Business Case Development

35-39 Abington Street

Marefair Heritage Gateway

Four Waterside

24 Guildhall Road Arts Centre

Extension of 78 Derngate –
The Charles Rennie Mackintosh
Museum

Emporium Way

St Peter’s and the Old Black Lion

Skills and Social Enterprise
Development Fund

Market Square

Page 367

Waterloo House

Town Investment Plan

Following agreement of Heads of Terms, NBC
via its project management resource will develop
full business cases covering the 12 investments,
acting as the accountable body but working
where necessary in partnership with partners.
Project leads will be responsible for the development
of individual business cases, with an assurance role
played by the Programme Manager. The Programme
Manager will manage this through NBC’s Green
Book-compliant assurance processes. The business
cases will set out:
•

•
•
•
•

The Strategic Case including demonstration
of need and market failure, and alignment
with objectives of the Towns Fund
The Economic Case demonstrating impacts
of the scheme and value for money
The Financial Case demonstrating affordability
The Commercial Case demonstrating
deliverability
The Management Case outlining capability
and management arrangements

The business case development process will draw
on support from external consultants as required.
In parallel, activities to refine the design and options
for projects will continue, as will further community
and stakeholder engagement on the proposals
and options.

9.	https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200033/councillors-andcommittees/1015/borough-secretary-and-monitoring-officer/3

The Critical Success Factors used for the project
prioritisation process has ensured that the TIP
includes projects that have the potential to satisfy
the five cases. In some cases, Business Cases are
complete or underway.
We will work with advisers from the Towns
Fund Hub to confirm the approach for business
case development (for example, the potential to
package up complementary investments into a
single business case) and to provide assurances
that the process adopted is robust and in line
with the requirements of the Towns Fund.
Delivery and Management

The Towns Fund project team has a strong and
demonstrable track record in delivering major,
transformational projects. The Council has put in
place the arrangements for successful delivery of
the interventions, including: a robust governance
structure, risk and change management plan,
and a system for monitoring and evaluating postdelivery benefits. The Town Investment Plan will
be delivered initially by Northampton Borough
Council with support from its partners, and then by
the new West Northamptonshire Council . Members
of the new authority have been involved in the
development of the TIP through the Northampton
Forward Board which will continue to act as the
Programme Delivery Board for the TIP.
This approach is aligned two quality frameworks –
the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance9
which is based on national best practice framework
developed by CIPFA/SOLACE (2007), and our
Performance Management Framework – and
will align with all new Unitary frameworks.

Northampton

92

Town Investment Plan

TIP Investment Profile

Projects

Town Centre Public Realm

41-45 Abington Street

35-39 Abington Street

Marefair Heritage Gateway

Four Waterside

24 Guildhall Road Arts Centre

Extension of 78 Derngate –
The Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum

Emporium Way

St Peter’s and the Old Black Lion

Skills and Social Enterprise Development Fund

Market Square

Page 368

Waterloo House

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Northampton

93

Town Investment Plan

Northampton
Town Investment Plan

Page 369

This page is intentionally left blank

Northampton Town’s Fund Business Case
Extension of 78 Derngate Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum

Appendix List:
Appendix 1 – Northampton Town Investment Plan
Appendix 2 - Architects Brief
Appendix 3 – Planning Permission
Appendix 4 – Pictorial View of the Extension
Appendix 5 – Preliminary Drawing of the Garden Extension
Appendix 6 – Risk Register
Appendix 7 – Letters of Support
Appendix 8 – TIP Consultation Findings
Appendix 9 – TIP Stakeholder Engagement Plan
Appendix 10 – Economic Case Data Pack
Appendix 11 – Project Programme
Appendix 12 – Subsidy Control Advice
Appendix 13 – Management Case Summary Steps

Sign Off:
Martin Henry
Executive Director Finance (S151 Officer)
Anna Earnshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Martin Mason
Chair of Northampton Forward Board

Page 371

1 - Executive summary
1.1 - Introduction and background to Towns Fund
In December 2020, Northampton submitted Northampton’s Town Investment Plan to
Government and was successful in being awarded £25million.
The submission was overseen by the Northampton Forward Board. Northampton Forward is an
informal partnership with the primary role of coordinating and driving forwards the integrated
regeneration and growth within Northampton, including Northampton Town Centre. The Board
consists of West Northamptonshire Council, South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership,
The University of Northampton, Private Sector Representatives, Northamptonshire Police,
Northamptonshire Chamber of Commerce, Royal and Derngate, Community Representatives,
Northampton Town Centre Business Improvement District and other partner organizations as
needed.
The projects submitted as part of the Town Investment Plan have a total ask of £25 million. The
final list of projects are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Town Centre Public Realm
41- 45 Abington Street
35 -39 Abington Street
Marefair Heritage Gateway
Four Waterside
24 Guildhall Road Art Centre
78 Derngate Extension: The Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum
Emporium Way
St Peters and the Old Black Lion
Skills and Social Enterprise Fund

The Town Investment Plan sets out an ambitious plan which will deliver:
•
•
•
•

15,600 sqm of new and refurbished commercial floorspace.
24,900 sqm of new public spaces.
2,300 sqm of new or expanded cultural and heritage venue, including new space for skills
facilities; and
Remediation and enabling works for key sites in the town centre to create new public
spaces, new mixed-use urban quarters, and commercial facilities.

The ten-year vision will strengthen Northampton’s position at the centre of the Oxford-Cambridge
Arc by providing modern spaces for creative businesses to capitalise on the town’s
manufacturing and entrepreneurial passion.
It will also:
•

Build on the rich heritage and cultural offers to rejuvenate the town centre so it once
again represents the aspirations of its residents.

Page 372

•

•

Create high-quality housing, digital infrastructure and open spaces, enabling
communities to grow and flourish to meet economic, health and wellbeing, and
environmental challenge; and
Improve access to skills and training while promoting first-rate higher and further
education opportunities.

1.2 - Description of the Project
The 78 Derngate project will enable an extension of the Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum
and the conversion of part of the site to create a new functional garden. This will provide for an
improved visitor experience within Northampton and build on a brand that is well known as an
iconic historic visitor attraction, as part of a growing Cultural Quarter which will increase footfall in
the town encouraging economic growth. A new publicly accessible outdoor space was a priority
from the public consultation undertook as part of the Town Investment Plan process.
The extension will allow a greater occupancy of the building following COVID-19, improving the
sustainability of the Museum while also allowing it to diversify the activities that are offered from
the site and allow for an expansion of the retail and restaurant and space for corporate hire. This
will generate increased income and deliver outputs including increased commercial floorspace,
the creation of new direct jobs, additional volunteer roles in the community and assist
businesses, as well as provide a learning garden for further educational purposes, widen the
visitor demographic and provide improved independent disabled access to the visitor centre.
The Northampton Town Investment Plan can be found as Appendix 1.

Page 373

2 – STRATEGIC CASE
This strategic case sets out the rationale for the proposed investment in 78 Derngate, as set out
previously in the Town Investment Plan, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Evidence of need
Key policy context
Overall vision and objectives including those specific to the project
Option for investment and how it was identified
How option will help achieve objectives
Key stakeholder groups and business partners
Proposed investment
Outcomes and impacts

2.1 – Introduction
This strategic case sets out the rationale for the investment of £400,000 from the Towns Fund to
enable an extension of the 78 Derngate Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum, based in the heart
of Northampton town centre and in addition, the purchase of an adjoining parcel of land to
provide additional outside space to create a new functional learning garden. This project will
provide an improved visitor experience in Northampton town and build on a brand that is well
known as an iconic historic visitor attraction. The extension, based on clean growth principles,
will allow a greater occupancy of the building, improving the sustainability of the museum while
also allowing it to diversify the activities that are offered from the site, increasing visitor numbers
post COVID 19.
The investment will provide:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Increased commercial floor space, exhibition space and improved retail area.
A new extended ‘learning garden’.
New flexible use spaces for corporate hire and weddings.
Greater storage areas and better archive space.
Improved independent disabled access.
The release of new visitor areas in 78 Derngate and replace areas in need of urgent
repair.
A larger reception for managing groups; and
A new tearoom which will increase the capacity of the restaurant.

The project will be delivered by 78 Derngate Northampton Trust, an independent charity founded
in 1998 to preserve, restore and make available to the public the only house in England
remodelled and designed by the Scottish architect Charles Rennie Mackintosh. The Trust
operate from three adjoining Regency terraced houses.
The increase in facilities and size will mean that 78 Derngate can diversify its offer by being more
attractive to larger groups, attracting and accommodating greater visitor numbers which in turn
will generate an increased income. It becomes a much more viable venue for corporate events
enhancing the attractiveness of the town for employers, and as a possible venue for smaller
wedding groups. The Trust already provides educational visits for schools and higher education,

Page 374

but again capacity is an issue. The larger space will afford more flexibility and allow for more
students to visit.
The Trust has been recognised by the Arts Council to be eligible for accredited museum status.
The facilities provided by the project will better enable the Trust to achieve accreditation.

2.2 – Case for Change
Since 78 Derngate was first restored and opened to the public, the Trust has made a small
operating profit without recourse to public revenue funding. However, this profit does not cover
the cost of depreciation and renewal. The Trust bases its budget on attracting 7,500 paying
visitors a year but generally manages about 8,000 with 9,000 in a good year prior to COVID-19.
This does not include people who use the free facilities or come only to use the Dining Room.
During 2017 a crack started to appear in one of the panes of an existing glass wall at the rear of
82 Derngate due to differential expansion when subjected to solar radiation. The cost of
replacing the damaged pane was estimated to be £30,000. Since then, a second pane has
similarly cracked, and the cracks are spreading.
When the original refurbishment was completed, it was always the plan to have an extension to
the rear of 82 Derngate to provide additional space. This was sacrificed due to lack of funds and
the need to prioritise the refurbishment of 78 Derngate itself. In practical operation since opening
several disadvantages of the current spatial layout have been realised principally the siting of the
shop and the inability to accommodate larger groups.
The shop, although moved recently to facilitate a COVID-19 compliant one-way system, was
small and sited by the reception desk. Incoming visitors were standing with their backs to the
shop when arriving at reception. Neither is the COVID-19 compliant position ideal as it has
reduced gallery space and thus curtailed the size of exhibitions.
Because the principal attraction, and the raison d’être for the museum, is a small terraced
Georgian house, it is only possible to have groups of up to 8 on guided tours with 6 given a
superior experience for visitors. This is, and always will be, a major constraint on visitor numbers.
Larger groups could be accommodated if there was more space to and entertain the residual
numbers as each sub-group is given a tour.
Meanwhile, the Trust would like to widen the visitor demographic to make an attraction
welcoming to all and has applied to the Heritage Fund to fund a project to do this principally by
working with schools, supplementary schools, and youth groups. However, this will still be
constrained by space as mentioned above. In addition, independent disabled access will be
achieved with this project.
The COVID-19 pandemic has led the Trust to consider alternative ways of generating income.
The shop went online before the pandemic and considerable effort has gone into rationalising
stock to facilitate this. Since the pandemic started, as well as implementing the one-way system
referred to above, the Trust has implemented a downloadable audio guide to facilitate self-guided
tours by individuals, households or members of social bubbles and an online booking system.
Work is well advanced in producing a virtual tour that will be on the Trust’s website to be
accessed for a fee.

Page 375

When 78 Derngate was open during the pandemic the practical arrangements put in place to
protect staff, volunteers, and visitors, coupled with reluctance of the prevailing demographic to
venture out led to visitor numbers being severely reduced with no visitors on some days. If these
constraints continue to be necessary, it is assumed visitor numbers will remain low with annual
numbers numbering hundreds rather than thousands.
During the design and planning process, anticipated costs escalated significantly because of
comments by Heritage England. When the trust went to tender even the lowest tender was more
than the money the trust had available. Consideration was given to trying to raise the additional
money from the commercial market. However, this was not possible primarily because any
funder would want to take a charge on building and the interest charges would have a significant
adverse impact on the revenue funding of the museum and thus put its very existence at risk.

2.3 - Policy Alignment
National policy recognises that despite several years of national economic growth the major
benefits have accrued in cities and towns have fared less well. The Towns Fund is designed to
rebalance the economy promoting growth in towns particularly within specific regional growth
plans. The funding is to increase economic growth with a focus on regeneration, improved
transport, better broadband connectivity, skills, and culture.
The 78 Derngate Charles Rennie Mackintosh Museum is a successful cultural destination within
the town that has the potential to expand its reach and more strongly contribute to the wider offer
of the town, complementing other investments celebrating cultural heritage including 24 Guildhall
Road, Emporium Way, and Old Black Lion. This will in turn contribute to the strategic need to
increase footfall in Northampton town centre which, identified in the Northampton Town Centre
Masterplan, has been falling by 14.4% year on year, contributing to the vision of the town
achieving its full potential and economic recovery with shops and businesses post COVID-19.
This project aligns with the South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership (SEMLEP) Local
Industrial Strategy, co-produced with Government, shaping economic policy to support clean
growth to create attractive, well-designed places where people will want to live and work today
and that meet the needs of generations to come.
The project also correlates strongly with the priorities in the West Northamptonshire Council
Corporate plan, to achieve a green and clean environment and wellbeing, thriving towns and
economic development in terms of growth and prosperity. The project aligns with the strategic
objectives of the Town Centre Masterplan in addition as outlined in the table below.
Council Strategic Objective
– TCMP Objectives

Outcome

More attractive retail and social offering leading to increased
footfall and dwell time
Transforming the Heart
Improved commercial space offering boosting business
growth in the Town Centre
Smaller and stronger retail
core

Increased spend within the Town Centre leading to a larger
and more sustainable business rates income stream

Page 376

Improved commercial space offering boosting business
growth in the Town Centre

Creating a residential
community

Increased animation of the Town Centre making it a more
attractive destination for tourists and local population

Culture, history and heritage

Increase tourist/visitor numbers by highlighting the Town’s
heritage/cultural offering

Government has designated the Oxford-Cambridge Arc ‘a globally significant area between
Oxford, Milton Keynes and Cambridge [formed] of five ceremonial counties: Oxfordshire,
Bedfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Northamptonshire and Cambridgeshire to secure sustainable
growth’.
The Northampton Town Investment Plan (TIP) builds on its role within the Oxford-Cambridge Arc
and turns the results of a policy review and extensive public consultation into a plan for
investment that is based on four cross cutting principles for investment and ten objectives.
The principles are:
•
•
•
•

A vibrant heart to the town centre.
Building on outstanding cultural and heritage assets.
Inclusive economic growth; and
Enhancing the town’s green spaces and adopting low-carbon principles.

Bringing heritage buildings back into use was seen as a priority at both the 78 Derngate
stakeholder workshops and the online community consultation. Its larger size will mean that it is
better able to attract larger groups and provide corporate events, increasing the profile of
Northampton. The new garden will provide a well-used open space in the town for visitors to the
museum.
The investment will further contribute in the following ways:
•

•

•

A vibrant heart to the town; providing a strengthened cultural destination in the town and
regenerating a derelict site in the town centre. The lack of town centre attractions plus
competition from other centres is a primary reason provided for the limited use of the
town centre by many of Northampton’s residents.
Celebrating cultural assets; both through the capital investment and ongoing activity of
the museum. Residents recognise that more can be done to build on the town’s rich
cultural assets, creating a town that benefits all communities; and
Enhancing the town’s green spaces through the provision of a new museum garden.
There was an identified need to deliver a greater diversity of uses within the town centre
to better serve Northampton’s residents and visitors. A particular importance was placed
on community centres, activity, and community spaces. Given that 78 Derngate is the
only example of work by Scottish architect and artist Charles Rennie Mackintosh in

Page 377

England all work to enhance the offering and raise its profile will be beneficial to
Northampton.
The project also contributes to the Town Investment Plan objectives and to aims of the 78
Derngate Trust in the following ways:
TIP Objective

How addressed

Town centre regeneration

78 Derngate is at the entrance to the town centre and
the gateway into Northampton’s cultural quarter.

Investment in public realm

The new garden will increase the amount of open
space available to the public which will be open to
visitors to 78 Derngate itself and visitors to the Dining
Room and/or galleries.

Investing in cultural and leisure uses

78 Derngate is a Charles Rennie Mackintosh cultural
and heritage asset that is unique in England.

New life into heritage assets

The two elements of the project will improve visitor
experience of a unique heritage asset. Also being
adjacent to a road junction the build process itself will
attract interest and raise the profile of 78 Derngate.

Addressing deprivation and
inequalities

The additional space will enhance the offering and
enable the Trust to implement its ambition to engage
with schools, supplementary schools, and youth
groups.

Clean growth

The new extension has been designed to clean growth
principles. The glass used in the extension will be
treated to regulate the heat retention and loss. Air
source heat pump technology will be used for the
extension. This will be further enhanced if the
Heritage Fund monies are granted which will enable
the same technology to replace an older heating
system for 78 Derngate itself.

The investment also closely aligns with the 78 Derngate Trusts objectives of:
78 Derngate Trust
78 Derngate Trust Objective
Increased Income

How Addressed

Page 378

The additional space that will be generated, both
internally and in the garden, will allow the trust to put
on more income earning events such as corporate
events, heritage talks, musical performances as well
as greater gallery and shop sales. This increased
income will aid financial recovery post COVID-19.

78 Derngate Trust Objective
Widening Participation

The additional space removes a physical constraint
that reduces the ability to handle larger groups and
thus provides the opportunity to engage with schools
from deprived areas, supplementary schools and
youth groups effectively. Consultation with these
groups will take place once funding is secure and
construction contracts are in place.

2.4 - Vision and Objectives
The Trust exists to preserve, and make available to the public, the heritage that is 78 Derngate, a
Georgian terraced house remodeled and with interior design by Charles Rennie Mackintosh. It
further, celebrates the contribution of Mackintosh’s client Wenman Joseph Bassett-Lowke to
industrial design and modernism and seeks to use the story of these two men’s achievements to
encourage future generations of designers.
The vision of this project in smart objectives is as follows:
•

•

To provide flexible additional space that will provide the Trust with the opportunity to
increase its range of activities and increase its income and thus widening participation,
increasing audiences, and securing a sustainable future by June 2022; and
To create an enlarged garden, open to the public, that reflects the work of Charles
Rennie Mackintosh and incorporates the work of young local designers by Spring 2023.

In addition, the learning garden will provide a stimulating educational environment aimed at
reflecting the design aspects of 78 Derngate and the artistic work of Charles Rennie Macintosh.
It will provide the opportunity to be used for:
•
•
•
•

Outdoor lessons for school groups.
Special events.
Demonstrations by local artist and craft makers; and
Hire for special occasions by groups, corporate entities or individuals either separately or
in conjunction with the museum.

There are four measures of success:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Increased visitor numbers
Increased income
More diverse visitor profile
Greater variety and local arts and crafts makers exhibiting

Page 379

2.5 - The Proposed Investment
Do Nothing Scenario
In a do-nothing scenario the Trust would continue its operations as they currently are without the
additional land or the extension. It is expected that, at best, an ongoing operational profit could
be achieved but
renewal/maintenance of heritage asset would become increasingly difficult. At worst, if the visitor
profile is not diversified incomes would begin to decrease resulting in an unsustainable financial
position.
Do Minimum Scenario
A do minimum scenario would be based on campaigns to attract more visitors. There have been
similar campaigns in the past but have often relied on discounts which makes little difference to
the financial return and none to the visitor profile.
Options Considered
The main option considered before deciding on the extension was to replace the cracked glass
and to continue to operate in line with the do minimum scenario above. The replacement of the
glass would have cost some £60,000 with no prospect of a return on such an investment.
Discussion about the need for renewal led to a discussion of the potential to realise the ambition
of 20 years ago for an enlarged atrium updated to current circumstances. Meanwhile, the Trust
became aware that the additional land, that had originally been part of gardens for the Trust’s
properties and some adjoining properties, was available for purchase.
Description of Project
The project has two parts:
1. The building of an extension providing 675m2 of flexible space. The architect’s brief is in
Appendix 2, the planning permission in Appendix 3, and a pictorial view of the extension
in Appendix 4. Full drawings can be found on the West Northamptonshire Planning
portal under applications N/2019/0878 and N/2019/0881.
2. The purchase of 575m2 of additional land to provide new enlarged and enhanced
gardens. A preliminary drawing of the garden extension is in Appendix 5.
The project is divided into two phases.
•
•

Phase 1, the extension of the atrium enabling the museum to extend its cultural and
educational offering.
Phase 2, a new accessible public open space, parking spaces and landscape garden
area to the rear of the museum. Both phases will run in parallel with staggered start
dates for the construction works.

Phase 1 – Extension to The Museum Atrium

Page 380

This phase has full planning permission and an outline business case. The match funding is
secured, and contractors are engaged.
•
•
•

Appoint contractor – Autumn 2021
Works commence – Autumn 2021
Practical completion – Spring 2022

Phase 2 – New Open Space and Landscape Garden to The Rear
•
•
•
•

Planning permission and listed building consent granted for the new garden – Winter
2021
Assembly of additional land to the rear– Autumn/Winter 2021
Detailed designs to RIBA 4 – Autumn Winter 2021
Procurement of contractor – Winter/Spring 2021/22

Theory of Change
Within the investment context the inputs through the activity will create the outputs which in turn
will have impacts that can be measured.
Investment Context:
•
•

TIP ambition to create a vibrant and welcoming town centre that benefits all
Northampton’s communities by improving cultural provision.
Potential to regenerate a derelict site in the town centre

Inputs:
•
•
•
•
•

£400k Towns Fund
£250k Grant from West Northamptonshire Council
£250k Charitable donations, fundraising and use of reserves
West Northamptonshire Council expertise and time in lieu of Council’s staff
Professional project team appointed by the Trust

Activity:
•

Investment in the expansion of a well-used community asset to expand its offer and
reach by:
o Procurement of a parcel of land
o Building of an extension to the visitor centre at 82 Derngate
o Design and landscaping/planting of garden

Outputs:
•
•
•
•

675m2 of flexible commercial floor space to be used for the shop, restaurant and
Improved independent disabled access.
575m2 of additional landscaped garden to be used by schools and for corporate hire
13% annual increase in visitor numbers (additional 1000 museum visitors, 1250
Dining Room customers and 500 Gallery visits per annum)

Page 381

•
•
•
•

Additional volunteer job roles created
1.5 safeguarded jobs, 2 new direct job roles created and 20 indirect construction jobs
Combined revenue increase of £54K per annum based on an average £20 spend per
head at today’s prices
91 Businesses assisted

Impacts:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Better visitor experience
Wider range of activities
Enhanced ability to generate income
Enhanced ability to increase footfall in Northampton Town Centre and specifically the
Cultural Quarter
Enhanced ability to reach wider audiences
More sustainable financial framework
The remediation of a disused site
Upgraded and expanded cultural facility in the town that will complement wider
investments
Enhanced public realm through the provision of a new museum garden
Increased business resilience post COVID-19

Measures of success:
•
•
•
•

Greater income
Greater variety and local arts and crafts makers exhibiting
More diverse audience and visitor profile
Museum accreditation status

2.6 - Risks, Constraints and Interdependencies
Considering, mitigating, and managing uncertainty are essential elements of the management of
the project in the Management Case and considered in greater detail in the Risk Register –
Appendix 7.
Risk

Tender price too high due to inflationary
pressures in construction industry

Mitigation
Considerable work has been done between
the Trust, its architect and its quantity
surveyor to value engineer the project before
going to tender. In extremis money can be
saved by phasing the garden design and
using the cohort of volunteers to do the
planting. Ensure a fixed price contract is in
place with clear specification that accords
with the project budget. Contingency sum
agreed. Clear and strict project governance.
Variation and contingency controls. QS
overview and scrutiny. Defined Value
Engineering process.

Page 382

Chosen contractor goes into liquidation

As part of the tender evaluation a thorough
assessment will be made of the financial
strength of contractors especially if one
tender is significantly cheaper than the
others.

Supply of key materials

Pilkington have announced that they will stop
making planar glass early in 2022. The
Trust is trying to establish the last date they
will take orders for production. If the current
programme is kept to then the impact should
be minimal. Tenderers were made aware of
this when the tender package was released.
Alternative suppliers to be contacted in
Europe for quotations.

Disruption of new build reduces visitor
numbers short-term

Plans have been drawn up to isolate the
area of the works from the rest of the
museum during the construction phase.
These will be reviewed prior to construction
with the chosen contractor and monitored
and modified as necessary thereafter.

Land price exceeds expectation

A negotiation has taken place that has
brought down the price of the land provided
it is purchased before a long-stop date of
31st July 2021.

Purchase of additional land fails

The Trust is proceeding with the purchase at
risk to avoid this happening. If it does fail, it
may increase build costs due to lack of
storage for contractors but the enlarged
garden, whereas both desirable and
beneficial to the Trust’s operations it is of
secondary importance to the building
extension.

Heritage Fund contribution not realised

There is no adverse impact from the
proposal as outlined in the TIP if this funding
is not realised. If it is realised it will improve
the clean growth element of the project and

Page 383

kick-start the Trust’s programme to widen
participation.

COVID 19 impact on visitor numbers

Planning permission

Ensure the programme for approving the
funding and construction works is managed
affectively and delivered as a Fast-Track
project. Construction works for the extension
and garden could be phased to allow the
museum to open in advance of the garden.
Ensure delivery during the less busy winter
period to re-open for the summer months.
Mitigate risk of low visitor confidence post
COVID-19 with strong marketing strategy.
The garden design is to be revised to
remove the parking area. Change of use will
be sought but detailed planning approval
may not be required (awaiting advice from
WNC Planning). Loss of amenity land cannot
be avoided. Planning to be engaged
throughout. Planning and LBC for the
extension approved.

Conservation area and Listed building
conditions

Early engagement with Planning and
Conservation Department underway. RIBA
3 design development to ensure compliance
and to understand required conditions.
Heritage Impact Assessment to be prepared
to understand key considerations/impacts,
project to be designed according to these
considerations. WNC Conservation
Department to be engaged through informal
communications and planning process. This
has been done for the extension but needs
to be done for the garden extension.

Inclement weather

Suitable contingency for weather delays to
be built into the final agreed programme.

COVD 19 impact on financial viability of 78
Derngate as an organisation

Risk of National Lockdown Restrictions with
a third wave of COVID-19 and general health
of the economy to 78 Derngate being open
to visitors. Payable online tour being
developed in conjunction with online
museum shop. Heritage Fund and Arts
Council grants assisting current finances.
Sservices contracted for a maximum of two-

Page 384

year periods and flexibility in the way
procurement and staff are managed.

There are two major constraints on the project. The first is the extent to which the museum can
continue to operate whilst construction is underway. The second is the time factor in the supply
of key materials. Steel is in short supply, so prices are rising, and look set to do so for some time
into the future. If it is not possible to order the planar glass by September before manufacture
ceases in the UK, this material will need to be sourced from Europe. There are three potential
fixes, redesign, the Trust pre-ordering the glass at risk or importing glass from overseas. None
of these are desirable with each carrying unnecessary risk including considerable cost escalation
and time delay.
There is an interdependency between the purchase of the land and the build of the extension.
The extension site is extremely constrained. If the additional land is purchased at the time
currently planned it will be available to contractors for a storage compound which should reduce,
albeit marginally, contract costs. It would also reduce the potential for contract delays due to
material delivery problems.

2.7 - Stakeholders
Other than the Trust board the following stakeholders have been engaged in the project. Letters
of support can be found in Appendix 7.
Stakeholder

Engagement, Interest and views

Friends of 78

The Friends are an organisation that support the Trust with a
special interest in preserving the Mackintosh heritage. The Trust
provides project updates for each edition of their newsletter. They
are incredibly supportive.

West Northamptonshire
Council

Through their predecessor authority, Northampton Borough
Council, provided match funding early in the generation of the
project. The authority also initiated the consideration of the
project for Towns Fund support.

Northampton Forward

Agreed to include the project in the TIP.

SEMLEP

The South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership have
advised on the Business Case for the Towns Fund support and
guided the strategic objectives.

Charitable funders

Provided early funding when the project was at the concept stage.
The trust sends out periodic updates to these funders.

Page 385

Heritage England

Were consulted early in the design process. One of the most
important consultees in terms of the detailed design. All their
comments were adopted after considerable discussion.

The Project Team

The project team led by the architect were responsible for the
detailed design. As part of this process pre-application meetings
were held with planners and other consultees and changes were
made both before formal application and during the approval
process.

The CRM Society

Formally consulted by the Trust. Supportive of the concept.

The Twentieth Century
Society

Formally consulted by the Trust. Supportive of the concept.

Staff and Volunteers

Staff and volunteers have been involved in ad hoc discussions
throughout the process from initial concept through design and
their ideas have helped inform the steering group’s decision
making. Some have become individual donors to project fund.
There is enthusiastic support.

Visitors

Since the end of 2018 visitors to the museum have been able to
see various iterations of the plans and some visitors have made
small donations. Most comments that have been made have
expressed interest.

Wider public

The scheme has had frequent local coverage in the Chronicle and
Echo and on BBC Radio Northampton and NLive. There has also
been more formal consultation as part of the planning process.
Most comments from the public on the extension were supportive.
There were some adverse comments on the planning application
for the land to be purchased which included some parking.
Residents objected to this. The application was withdrawn, and
the Trust changed its plans to make more garden space.

2.8 - Consultation
The development of the Town Investment Plan was guided by community and stakeholder
consultation. The TIP builds on the initial consultation work undertaken to inform the
development of the Town Centre Masterplan which seeks to address many of the challenges
outlined in the TIP. The consultation exercise for the Masterplan informed the early development
of the project longlist.

Page 386

Online Consultation
Online consultations on the potential TIP proposals were held in September 2020 to determine
the community’s priorities for investment, gain feedback and opinions on a range of proposed
investment areas and determine the challenges / opportunities for the town.
Approximately 434 individuals replied to the questionnaire creating a total of 1,495 pieces of
project level feedback. The responses were evenly split between males and females. 18% of
respondents were aged under 35 and 15% were over-65.
Overall, the majority of responses were positive about how beneficial the projects would be to
improve the town centre. The main challenges highlighted were a lack of quality goods offered in
the town centre, poor appearance of the town centre and competition with other areas. The main
opportunities were bringing disused buildings / public space back into use and improving the
public realm. The initial survey was followed by more detailed questioning of a web community
across three days.
This builds on over two years of consultation completed on the ground and through all media
channels. The online consultation completed for the Town Centre Masterplan in 2019 informed
the development of the longlist of projects developed for this tip.
Key local priorities identified at that stage include the restoration and upkeep of historic buildings,
improving the quality of retail, the quality of public realm and greenspace in enhancing the town
centre, pedestrianization In the town centre, and the potential to accommodate new homes.
Consultation Workshops
A series of consultation workshops were completed in October 2020 focusing on urban
regeneration; deprivation and inequality; and business, enterprise and skills. Approximately 150
stakeholders were approached to take part in the workshops. Workshops were attended by key
stakeholders in Northampton including local businesses, social enterprises (Northampton Social
Enterprise Town), Community Town Safety Teams, Northampton Digital, Northampton Arts and
University of Northampton.
Engagement with private sector bodies aided understanding of growth barriers and helped to
ensure the plan remains responsive in uncertain times.
Engagement with public sector and community organisations highlighted how social enterprises
can be incorporated into projects.
The consultations produced a number of themes for the Town Investment Plan including reenergising cultural and historic assets, diversifying the housing offer to match the needs of the
community, make the town centre feel safer and upgrade / improve management of key public
spaces.
The Town Investment Plan consultation findings can be found in Appendix 8.
Stakeholder Engagement Plan

Page 387

A Stakeholder Engagement Plan has been developed to accompany Northampton’s Town
Investment Plan. This document sets out our commitment to develop ongoing relationships with
key stakeholders to ensure implementation of the Town Investment Plan remains responsive to
the overarching needs of the town.
The Stakeholder Engagement Plan can be found in Appendix 9.

Page 388

3 - ECONOMIC CASE
3.1 – Summary
This project concerns the development of 78 Derngate. 78 Derngate is an important heritage
asset within Northampton Town Centre. The project is seeking investment of £400,000 of Towns
Fund support. Investment would enable the Trust to invest in improvements in the current fabric
of the building and to expand the range of services through the investment. Without the
investment the Trust would be unable to move beyond a ‘fire fighting’ model of existence, this
would put at greater risk the condition of the building and not allow the opportunities, such as the
purchase of adjacent land to be concluded. The Economic case reveals a positive BCR of 2.6,
which is based on benefits which are broadly conservative and with the Trust optimistic that the
funds will deliver more benefits.

3.2 – Introduction
This project has been developed by 78 Derngate. The project is seeing investment of £900,000,
with £400,000 sought from the Towns Fund to enable an extension of the 78 Derngate Charles
Rennie Mackintosh based in the heart of Northampton town centre. The project will be delivered
by 78 Derngate Northampton Trust, an independent charity founded in 1998.
The investment will provide:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Increased commercial floor space, exhibition space and improved retail area;
A new tearoom which will increase the capacity of the restaurant;
A new extended ‘learning garden’;
New flexible use spaces for corporate hire and weddings;
Improved independent disabled access; and
The release of new visitor areas in 78 Derngate and replace areas in need of urgent
repair.

The increase in facilities and size will mean that 78 Derngate can diversify its offer by being more
attractive to larger groups, attracting and accommodating greater visitor numbers which in turn
will generate an increased income. This will enable the facility to be a more viable venue for
corporate events enhancing the attractiveness of the town for employers. The investment will
help the Trust develop its ability to provide increased numbers of educational visits for schools
and higher education. The larger space will afford more flexibility and allow for more students to
visit.
This project will provide for an improved visitor experience in Northampton town centre and build
on a brand that is well known as an iconic historic visitor attraction. The extension, based on
clean growth principles, will allow greater occupancy of the building, improving the sustainability
of the museum while also allowing it to diversify the activities that are offered from the site and
increasing visitor numbers as we emerge from COVID-19.

Page 389

3.3 – Approach to the Economic Case
The Economic Case has been developed using the latest guidance set out in the Green Book
and using advice set out in Towns Fund documents. The economic model used to generate
outcomes and outputs are based on recognised national benchmarks.
In developing the project a number of assumptions and forecasts have been made. Individual
components of deadweight, displacement, leakage and multiplier effects have been looked at to
revisit assumptions about additionality. These have then been taken into the revised CBA
calculations and Business Case. These sensitivities have been identified below.
•

Time period considered: The Green Book States “costs and benefits should be
calculated over the lifetime of the intervention or asset. For many interventions, a time
horizon of 10 years is suitable.”

•

Timing of spend: For all scenarios a planned timing of spend was used, relying on the
assumption of the project being supported in 2021, with construction commencing in
November 2021 and concluding in April 2022.

•

Discounted rate: a standard discount rate of 3.5% per annum has been applied in
calculating future benefits arising from the investment.

•

Deadweight: The reference case accounts for deadweight loss of what would happen in
the absence of intervention.

•

Displacement: The number/proportion of intervention outputs accounted for has been
considered by reduced outputs elsewhere in the target area. As far as the various options
are concerned, it is proposed there is clear evidence that Northampton Town Centre
requires investment, and because of this, have assumed displacement of the reference
case to be 10%.

•

Leakage: With the delivery of project it has been forecast that there is a chance of
leakage due to the fact that there is competition for elements of the project, such as the
Dining Room, as a result it will mean the level of leakage will be relatively small. Because
of this, a factor of 10% has been applied within the economic impact modelling.

•

Substitution: In line with standard approaches to substitution, benchmarks suggest this
is a negligible issue for this type of development;

•

Multiplier Effect: Measures economic impact (jobs, expenditure or income) of an
intervention is multiplied because of knock-on effects within the local economy;
o
o

Reference Case: As far as the reference case is concerned, the multiplier effect
is considered to be zero;
Preferred Case (Option 3: the redevelopment of 78 Derngate): It has been
forecast that the Multiplier Effect will take effect once investment has been made,
which in turn should encourage new private sector investment into the Town
Centre. It is anticipated that the improvements delivered through the Preferred

Page 390

Option will be a further signal of investment in Northampton Town Centre and
that partners are proactive in delivering change.
These factors have now been applied to the various options under consideration and the
CBAs been updated accordingly. It is suggested that the scheme will safeguard jobs
within current operators in the Town Centre, these will be addressed appropriately.
•

Optimism bias: The Green Book guidance has been used to identify a suitable level of
optimism bias. The Green Book states that standard building projects are those which
involve the construction of buildings not requiring special design considerations i.e. most
accommodation projects e.g. offices, living accommodation, general hospitals, prisons,
and airport terminal buildings.
The calculated Optimism bias of 15.3% has subsequently been applied to the model.

3.4 - Options Appraised:
The Trust has identified three options in relation to the project. These are Do Nothing, Do
Minimum and Redevelopment of 78 Derngate. These have been considered by stakeholders and
presented below.
Longlist of Options Appraised
A range of potential solutions to the opportunities and challenges in the Strategic Case were
identified during the option generation process. Initial options included a variety of elements that
will deliver change to 78 Derngate’s commercial offering.
The main option considered before deciding on the extension was to replace the cracked glass
and to continue to operate in line with the do-nothing option above. The replacement of the glass
would have cost some £60,000 with no prospect of a return on such an investment. Discussion
about the need for renewal led to a discussion of the potential to realise the ambition of 20 years
ago for an enlarged atrium updated to current circumstances. Meanwhile, the Trust became
aware that the additional land, that had originally been part of gardens for the Trust’s properties
and some adjoining properties, was available for purchase.
Scheme Name

Description

Option 1 - Do Nothing

The Trust would continue its operations as they currently are
without the additional land or the extension. It is expected that,
at best, an ongoing operational profit could be achieved but
renewal/maintenance of heritage asset would become
increasingly difficult. At worst, if the visitor profile is not changed
incomes would begin to decrease resulting in an unsustainable
financial position.

Option 2 – Repair the
Glass and deliver
Marketing Campaigns

The Do Minimum scenario would be based on campaigns to
attract more visitors. There have been similar campaigns in the
past but have often relied on discounts which makes little

Page 391

difference to the financial return and no difference to the visitor
profile. This option would also see the glass repaired

The main option considered has focused on the potential to
realise the ambition of 20 years for an enlarged atrium, secure
adjacent land to develop the Learning Garden and make
important improvements to layout and fittings that will help
attract greater numbers of visitors to the building.

Option 3 –
Redevelopment of 78
Derngate.

Options Shortlisting
To develop a short list of potential options to appraise, a sifting process was undertaken following
consultation with stakeholders. A simple matrix was used to summarise and present evidence on
options in a clear and consistent format. This matrix utilises a 4-point red/amber/green (RAG)
scoring system for each of the assessment areas, which facilitates the early assessment and
comparison of scheme options. A scoring range was used to establish the influence and effect
each option would have on key core issues, which included Strategic Fit, Benefits optimisation,
Achievability and Affordability. Using these criteria, the various options and resulting scores are
illustrated below. These schemes are considered individually for the purposes of a comparative
assessment; however, the better performing options could be packaged in due course as part of
further evolution of the Scheme should this achieve multiple complementary benefits.

Option 1 - Do
Nothing

Option 2 – Repair
the Glass and
delivery Marketing
campaigns
Option 3 –
Redevelopment of
78 Derngate

0

3.0

5.0

0

2.0

5.0

0

4.0

5.0

Potential Affordability

Potential achievability

Benefits Optimisation

Impact on 78 Derngate
Strategic Fit

Option

5.0

This option does not
help 78 Derngate
address the issues it is
currently facing

5.0

This option would see
low level benefits being
achieved and suboptimal improvements to
the build fabric

5.0

This option provides the
Trust with the
opportunity to improve
the commercial offer of

Page 392

78 Derngate. and
address areas of the
building in need of
renewal.
Options Appraisal – Short List
The purpose of the business case is to establish an intervention option that supports the
commercial and cultural offer 78 Derngate makes to it visitors and tourists and its presence
within Northampton Town Centre. Local partners have progressed discussion on the options and
have agreed that the final preferred option should assist the Trust to make improvements that will
address commercial, educational and social objectives.
•

Option 1: Do nothing (reference case)

Without support from the Towns Fund there would only be limited ability to address 78
Derngate’s opportunities. The project would therefore not proceed. The Trust have the
ambition to deliver the improvements but are unable to invest and welcome Towns Fund.
Without the Town Fund investment, it would not be possible to develop an innovative
integrated programme of solutions, which are designed to improve the performance of 78
Derngate for residents and importantly increase its attractiveness to visitors to the Town.
Without investment through the fund 78 Derngate would be susceptible to further physical
decay and reduce the buildings appeal to visitors. Importantly this would also lead to a
unique national asset becoming less viable as a commercial operation.
•

Option 2: Repair the glass and deliver Marketing Campaigns

This option would involve the Trust undertake a number of local marketing campaigns to
attract more visitors. The Trust have undertaken similar campaigns, however the experience
of doing this points to limited difference being made to the financial return nor visitor profile.
Option 2 is deliverable and affordable. However, it would not resolve any of the issues the
Trust faces, nor would it help the Trust seize any of the opportunities available to 78
Derngate.
•

Option 3: the redevelopment of 78 Derngate

This option focuses on addressing the opportunities that will enhance 78 Derngate’s ability to
attract a greater number of visitors and play an important educational role. This Option will
improve the commercial standing and increase the building’s contribution to Northampton
Town Centre. Specific improvements. The investment will provide increased commercial floor
space, release new visitor areas, increase exhibition space and improve the retail area. The
Trust will be able to introduce a a new tearoom which will increase the capacity of the
restaurant. A new extended ‘Learning Garden’ will be added to enhance learning facilities,
while new flexible use spaces for corporate hire and weddings. Further improvements will be
made to improve independent disabled access and replace areas in need of urgent repair.
The Preferred Case

Page 393

Following options evaluation workshops, local partners and stakeholders quickly discounted
Options 1 and 2, due to the limited impact it would have on 78 Derngate.
Option 1 the reference case was quickly dismissed as ‘doing nothing’ is recognised as not going
to address arrest the issues facing the building and miss the opportunity to improve the
commercial performance.
Option 2 was also dismissed, as based on experience it would not create a long term difference
to the performance of 78 Derngate. Previous experience has found that only limited change
could be achieved. This has led the Trust to explore how a combination of projects could
enhance the building and increase the number of income generation schemes.
Option 3 enables the Trust to address all of the issues and opportunities that have been scoped
out in the Strategic Case. Option 3 will deliver a range of improvements which will enhance both
the facility and make a larger contribution to the operation of Northampton Town Centre. The
Trust has been identifying material and contractors so that delivery can commence once funds
have been confirmed. The project is a low-risk project and the funds will make a significant
difference to the performance of 78 Derngate as a community facility and as a unique historic
environment.
Given this scenario, once the project has been completed, displacement may be higher than the
reference case. For the purposes of modelling, this has been assumed at 5%.
Unintended consequences
The project has been appraised for any beneficial or adverse collateral effects and unintended
consequences. The analysis revealed that the project will not have any negative effect on
individual groups within Northampton, indeed investment will make 78 Derngate more accessible
and more inclusive to disabled
visitors.

3.5 – Appraisal Modelling Assumptions
The following assumptions have been made in modelling;
Benefits Criteria:
The benefits criteria were developed using a range of criteria, the core benefits were calculated
using accepted national benchmarks, triangulated wherever possible with secondary data, to
provide additional robustness.
•

GVA benefits: GVA benefits have been modelled over a 10-year period.

•

Fiscal costs: The fiscal benefits from the project have been calculated – in terms of
PAYE and NI from new jobs. This has been used to offset the public costs to give a net
fiscal cost/benefit over a 10-year period.

•

Build costs: The build costs have been adopted as advised by CS2 Chartered
Surveyors. The costs include an allowance for demolition, preliminaries and
contingencies. Construction costs for the preferred Option stand at £881,000.

Page 394

•

Purchaser’s costs: Purchaser’s costs have been included at £65,000 for the additional
land required to deliver the project.

•

Contingency costs: a contingency of £80,000 has been identified.

•

Professional fees: professional fees of £50,000 have been allocated to delivering the
project.

•

Return on capital employed: The HCA has summarised the different methodologies
and developed some standard benchmarks of their own for selected land and property
interventions. Their work shows the range of gross cost per net job figures expressed in
terms of total gross public sector expenditure against total net additional job outputs.
Net additional jobs are based upon a sub-regional level of analysis.
The review identified the cost per net additional job created or safeguarded range of
£28,700 to £51,000 for regeneration and property development projects with a mid-point
in this range of £39,850. The benchmark range is based on historic evidence. The
figures here reflect the actual outcomes associated with projects and will therefore take
account of possible cost overruns and any shortfall in the delivery of expected outputs.
For the purposes of evaluating the impact of the various options under consideration in
this case, HCA benchmarks have been used, using the low value of £28,700 to
evaluate the preferred case. This value best reflects the current employment market
within Northampton based on research conducted on salary levels available from Job
Centre Plus and wider data available for West Northamptonshire/Northamptonshire.

•

Indirect Jobs created and safeguarded: The HCA has published coefficients for the
number of workers required over one year to deliver £1m of construction investment. As
this focuses on output as opposed to spend, the resulting labour requirements of using
spend will be an approximation. The HCA suggest every £1m of construction
investment will deliver 10 new jobs. The forecast job number is based on national
guidance.

•

Monetised benefits: all benefits have been monetised and that there are no additional
included within the economic appraisal.

•

Disbenefits: there are no disbenefits foreseen as a result of investing in the project.
The project focuses on improving the performance of 78 Derngate which is an asset
within Northampton Town Centre and a key part of its heritage offer.

•

Equality impact: the project and the overall ethos of 78 Derngate is to serve the wider
community irrespective of age, disability or ethnicity. Therefore do not see impact
favouring or negatively impacting one community over all others.

•

Profit: No developers profit has been assumed.

3.6 – Economic Appraisal Report

Page 395

In preparing the Economic Appraisal a Cost Benefits Analysis of Option 2 has been conducted
and the individual project elements which form the wide project.
Preferred Option – Benefits
•

Employment impact

Delivery of Option 2, the Preferred case will generate benefits of £1,191,050 in additional
GVA, and support 24 jobs within 78 Derngate over a 10-year period from as set out below.

•

Sales benefits

The preferred option will assist the Trust in generating additional income to secure 78
Derngate for the longer term. Income forecasts have been developed by using previous
years performance. Further work has been done to consult with other local heritage
attractions such as Delapre Abbey to understand the potential for conferencing, events and
weddings. This has enabled the Trust to build a pragmatic and conservative income
generation profile. The Trust is confident that once the project has been delivered, a total
income of £54,000 per annum will be achieved.
The sales benefits have been calculated on two elements, these being:
o
o

Museum and Dining Room sales
Commercial sales in relation to letting space

Through the modelling a 10-year GVA increase has been forecast at £551,000.

Page 396

•

Education benefits

The additional space and the Learning Garden present opportunities to provide educational
activities. The modelling has used the Greater Manchester Combined Authority Unit Cost
Benefits Analysis model (2019). The benchmark used equates to the NVQ Level 2
Qualification - annual fiscal and economic benefits. This is valued at £515 per learner and is
an appropriate benchmark level for the support 78 Derngate will be able to offer. The model
assumes 75 learners once the investment has been made. This will generate £286,855 in
GVA benefits over the 10-year period. The benefits appraisal also includes a total of 91
businesses being supported by the Trust. This support will be provided to other cultural
sector operations. Calculations have been based on a conservative £1875 per business
using a benchmark from https://www.experian.co.uk/blogs/latest-thinking/small-business.

3.7 – Summary of Impact Appraisal – Key Findings
Appendix 10 shows the the detailed assessment of the Preferred option. The forecasts indicate
that the preferred option would deliver up to £1,718,128 of additional impact by 2030 (after
Deadweight, Displacement, Leakage, Substitution and Multiplier Effects) as 78 Derngate benefits
from investment. Thereby delivering Net Present benefits of £2,151,726 and a Public Value for
Money BCR of 2.6:1.
If the project did not proceed, the Trust would not be able to deliver significant improvement to
the fabric and services of 78 Derngate. Investment through the Towns Fund will provide an
opportunity to create additional services, which would strengthen the Trust and the fortune of this
unique heritage attraction located in Northampton Town Centre. The fund provides the
opportunity to create an environment that can break the current cycle where market led solutions
are unviable and have not therefore been forthcoming. Investment through the Preferred Option
2 will provide a new platform and help effectively reposition 78 Derngate and contribute to a more

Page 397

vibrant Town Centre for residents, visitors and local businesses. The investment will therefore
pave the way for a new future, for 78 Derngate.

3.8 – Analysis of Monetised Costs and Benefits (AMCB)
Total net additional benefits

Preferred Option (NPV, 2021-22
prices)

Benefits for the BCR
Land value uplift (LVU)

£m

Wider LVU

£m

Amenity value

£m

Air quality (if applicable)

£m

Transport benefits (e.g., time savings)

£m

Other applicable and robustly evidenced benefits*

£1,718,128

Total benefits for the BCR (A)

£1,718,128

Costs
Towns Fund/funding (B)

£400,000

Co-funding local authority cost (including
borrowing) (C)

£250,000

Total cost (Towns Fund + Co-funding) (D)

£650,000

Private sector cost (E)

£318,000

BCR calculation formula

2.6:1

The Analysis has identified that the project will deliver a Net Present Social Value of
£1,056,718 over a 10-year period.

Page 398

4 – FINANCIAL CASE
The Financial Case assesses the affordability of the investment, identifying cost, revenue, and
funding sources, with the level of detail should be proportionate to the size of the project.

4.1 – Introduction
This financial case is to assess the affordability of the investment, identifying cost, revenue and
funding sources for the 78 Derngate project extension to the atrium at 82 Derngate and purchase
and development of the land to the south as a garden, with £400,000 of investment from the
Towns Fund and a total project cost of £900,000.

4.2 – Approach to the Financial Case
At an early stage a number of funding options were considered and ruled out, namely
commercial loans (ruled out on cost and possible inability to secure), share capital issue based
on the support of Friends and community (ruled out due to complexity and not a model common
to the charitable sector and hence too much risk), grant from the Heritage Lottery Fund
(dismissed by the Heritage Lottery Fund at the time due to their policy of not funding new build),
grant from the Architectural Heritage fund (possible but also not their core funding programme).
An approach was made to the local council who after a year generously granted a capital sum to
be matched by the Trust. It was decided to do this in a mix of ways including local events, raffles,
donations from individuals and applications to charitable grant giving bodies. The principal drive
was to aim for grants rather than loans and ensure that all funding was in place or pledged prior
to the start of construction, with only fees being spent upfront. Costs were calculated by quantity
surveyors on the basis of architects drawings. As the time frame was short no inflation allowance
was made for the capital expenditure other than a general contingency.
Type
Public Sector
Public Sector
Private Sector
Fund Raising
Bounce Back Loan

Source
Towns Fund
West Northants Council
Charitable Trusts
Internal Resources
Lloyds Bank

Total Amount
£400,000
£250,000
£80,000
£195,000
£43,000

4.3 - Costs
Capital Costs
In June 2020, 78 Derngate went out to tender on the atrium extension and had two main
contenders for the work. Unfortunately the lowest tenderer was above the existing budget which
is one of the reasons for the Towns Fund to close the gap. These prices were acceptable for the
contractors until October 2020. For budgeting the midpoint has been taken between the two
lowest tenderers, identified savings on budget of £25,000 and increased this price by 10% for
building inflation. According to the website costmodelling.com the ‘UK tender price and building
cost indices’ tender prices are considered to rise by 3 to 4% from the second quarter of 2020 to
the second quarter of 2021. The mean average of the tenders was £530k less savings
subsequently identified of £25k equals £505k plus 10% inflation (x3 forecast) £555k plus VAT
equals £666k for the atrium works. The garden works are budgeted at less than £100k. Land

Page 399

acquisition is a known cost at £65k. Most professional fees are known and are budgeted at £50k
(all inclusive of VAT). A contingency of £80k has been budgeted for the project.

4.4 – Funding and Revenues
Source
Towns Fund

Value
£400,000

Public Sector CoFunding
Private Sector CoFunding
Revenue
Bounce Back Loan
Total

£250,000
£275,000
£100,000
£43,000
£1,068,000

Uses
Operating Costs and
Management Fees
Development Costs

Value
£90,000

BBL Interest Paid and
Pricniple

£44,000

£881,000

£1,015,000

As the project is wholly capital in nature, revenues are from the scheme start when the project is
completed. Funding options have been described in the approach to the financial case. It is the
case that all necessary funding has been secured or pledged prior to any construction contract
being committed.
The build time is anticipated to be 12 months or less and as all funding is secured the need to
profile this becomes redundant.
The Bounce Back Loan from Lloyds Bank is drawn down at the start of the project. It is
anticipated that this will remain in place for the duration of the build contract but will then be
repaid in full if it is not required as a contingency.

4.5 - Affordability Assessment
The cash flow forecast assumes a breakeven visitor figure of 7000. Prior to COVID-19 the
method of budgeting was based on a 7500 breakeven. The reason for the fall in the figure is a
change in VAT status from January 2021. The entrance fee is now exempt, effectively increasing
the admission charge. The figures do not reflect inflation. The assumption is that any cost
inflation will be offset by price increases.
The only changes assumed in the forecast are at today’s prices, reflecting the effects of having
the extended atrium and garden, mainly events and gallery and shop on the income side and
staffing on the costs. The forecast does not take into account other income generated for third
parties.

Page 400

Sensitivity Assessment:
If visitor figures were to drop by 1000 per annum (14% fall), this would still enable the operation
to continue and adapt within a year. Prior to COVID-19 typical visitor numbers averaged between
8500 and 9500 paying visitors. This could increase net profit per annum by £12- £20k. Should
the growth ambitions of 78 Derngate be realized and visitor numbers increase by 10% this would
produce additional revenue of around £8k to £16k.
Stakeholders include the 320 members of the Friends who pay an annual subscription and have
regular newsletters about the house and activities. They organize fund raising and social events
to support the Trust. The Local authority has an elected representative on the board and this has

Page 401

so far been a member of the Cabinet. The present Leader is a former board representative of the
Council. 78 Derngate are members of the local BID forum as well as the County Heritage Forum.
There are very good connections with the former Chairman’s family, the Barwells who are
philanthropic, as well as the Trustees of the Constance Travis Trust and the George Cadbury
Trust who take a keen interest in the house and its fortunes.
As there will be no major borrowings, the aim is to pay back the Bounce back loan at the end of
the construction period, subject to no overruns. However, if this were not to be the case, the cost
of servicing the fixed interest loan over the first five years of the cash flow forecast could be
absorbed leaving general reserves level in year 2026 at circa £25200 and 2030 at £63200.
The following considerations have been applied via the Sensitivity Analysis.
•

Discounted rate: a standard discount rate of 3.5% per annum has been applied in
calculating future benefits arising from the investment.

•

Displacement: The number/proportion of intervention outputs accounted for has been
considered by reduced outputs elsewhere in the target area. As far as the various options
are concerned, it is proposed there is clear evidence that Northampton Town Centre
requires investment, and because of this, have assumed displacement of the reference
case to be 10%.

•

Leakage: There is a chance of leakage due to the fact that there is competition for
elements of the project, such as the Dining Room, as a result it will mean the level of
leakage will be relatively small. Because of this, a factor of 10% has been applied within
the economic impact modelling.

•

Substitution: In line with standard approaches to substitution, benchmarks suggest this
is a negligible issue for this type of development.

•

Interest and Indexation Risk: Interest and Indexation Risk has been applied at a rate of
1% to the economic analysis. This recognises the speed of delivery of the project which
will complete in less than a year and with all significant costs contracted within the next
three months.

•

Multiplier Effect: Measures economic impact (jobs, expenditure or income) of an
intervention is multiplied because of knock-on effects within the local economy;
o
o

•

Reference Case: As far as the reference case is concerned, the multiplier effect
is considered to be zero;
Preferred Case (Option 3: the redevelopment of 78 Derngate): It has been
forecast that the Multiplier Effect will take effect once investment has been made,
which in turn should encourage new private sector investment into the Town
Centre. It is anticipated that the improvements delivered through the Preferred
Option will be a further signal of investment in Northampton Town Centre and
that partners are proactive in delivering change.

Optimism bias: The Green Book guidance has been used to identify a suitable level of
optimism bias. The Green Book states that standard building projects are those which
involve the construction of buildings not requiring special design considerations i.e. most

Page 402

accommodation projects e.g. offices, living accommodation, general hospitals, prisons,
and airport terminal buildings.
The calculated Optimism bias of 15.3% has subsequently been applied to the model.
These factors have now been applied to the various options under consideration and the CBAs
been updated accordingly. It is suggested that the scheme will safeguard jobs within current
operators in the Town Centre, these will be addressed appropriately.
Financial Risks
The project’s major financial risk is related to the health of the general economy with COVID-19.
Although visitor demand for 78 Derngate tends to be price inelastic, it is more sensitive to
downturns in growth which were experienced in 2007/8 at the time of the banking crisis. The
organization endeavours not to contract services for more than two-year periods, to ensure
flexibility in the way procurement and staff are managed.
There is always the risk of the enterprise failing completely, which is always factored into any
plans so as to ensure the survival of the house even if it were not to operate from the visitor
centre. Therefore, any changes to 82 Derngate would ensure its commercial viability as a
building.
A construction programme of 9-12 months means that the museum may need to close to visitors,
affecting income. The project will be fast tracked for funding and delivery and can be phased to
enable the disruption and impact to be kept to a minimum.
The current risk of price rises and supply of materials in the construction industry and any impact
of programme delays will be managed by a single contractor tender with a JCT Standard Building
Contract and associated over run penalties.

4.5 - Wider Financial Implications
The Council does not have a direct financial link with the Trust and the success or otherwise of
this investment will not ultimately impact on the Council finances unless they specifically make a
decision to fund the Trust. Therefore, the risk profile for the Council is minimal.
Accounting Treatment and Impacts will be determined by the Charity’s Auditors. The Trust has
already earmarked 2022 for a revaluation of its building assets which will impact on the balance
sheet and ultimately the level of depreciation impacting on the revenue account.
The definitions of capital and revenue items is determined by the framework adopted by the
auditors The financial reporting framework is United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising
Charities SORP - FRS 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland' and applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Page 403

5 – COMMERCIAL CASE
5.1 - Introduction
The commercial case covers the commercial feasibility, contractual issues and high-level
approach and the procurement strategy and key risks, including risk transfer strategy and
mitigation plans and any constraints. This section sets out how it is intended to procure an
extension to the present visitor centre, extend the garden to the rear of the property and how
these will enhance the viability, sustainability and profitability of 78 Derngate for the future.

5.2 – Commercial Deliverability
Roughly a third of turnover is generated from a selling area of 12 m2. From experience of the
past 20 years there is a direct correlation to the number of visitors and the retail sales, and the
same can be said regarding the range of goods displayed and level of sales. In addition, the
layout of the visitor centre influences how much people spend. Typically, attractions have the
shop as the last part of the visitor experience and until now it has not been possible to achieve
this. The atrium extension with triple the floorspace for retail, increase the gallery size and force
visitors to walk through the retail area, increasing retail sales and income.
The retail space will not exclusively for this purpose, but designed with mobile retail stands to
allow for flexibility as will the gallery space at the first floor level. The terrace will also increase in
size significantly allowing for more people to enjoy outdoor dining should the weather permit,
private events and weddings and corporate hire. At basement level the space will enable the
relocation of existing stock and provide for addition storage. All this will enable greater sales and
more flexible use of space for the hire of the facility, which from previous recorded interest and a
two year waiting list for gallery space is known to be in demand, maximising opportunity for
increased income. With new units for craft makers coming on stream such as the Vulcan Works
space in Northampton, 78 Derngate can be offered as an outlet for their products, directly
assisting businesses in the town. In addition, discussions have been held with registrars about
demand for unusual wedding venues. These discussions to assess demand and suitability
continue. From 1st July 2021 the law allows outdoor wedding venues provided there is feasible
plan B in the event of adverse weather conditions. The flexible layout of the additional atrium
space provides such a plan B.
The contract for the build will be to industry standard, draw up by the Quantity Surveyor.
Payments will be on monthly reports from the Quantity Surveyor as to completed work.
The overall project will be steered by the Company Secretary (experience of this twice
previously), with the support of the Chairman of the Trust, a former director of an international
property development and investment company. They will be supported by a volunteer whose
profession is as an architectural technician. The Architect will be responsible for managing the
contractor directly and there will be regular monitoring from the Quantity Surveyor alongside
regular progress meetings during construction.
An inflation contingency has been built into the tender price of £50k and another £80k for the
construction phase to cover unforeseen risk. Insurance will be in place to cover the existing
buildings during construction as will the necessary insurance from the contractors.

Page 404

5.3 – Procurement Strategy
The architect, as leader of the design team, was appointed through competition. All other
members of the design team have been appointed through recommendation and subject to a
satisfactory fee agreement. In most cases more than one practice has been asked to quote for
the work.
The major cost element for the project is construction. A list of potential contractors was drawn
up from recommendations from local contacts within the property industry. Selection criteria was
based on proximity to the museum, track record of successfully completing works with heritage
sensitivity and financial strength.
Each contractor on the list was given the opportunity to express an interest in bidding and offered
an informal visit to the site with no commitment on either side.
Award of the contract will be by formal competitive tendering from a shortlist of four. Given that
tenderers have to do a significant amount of work to put together a proposal it was agreed that a
shortlist of four effected a balance between getting a competitive price and avoiding some
tenderers dropping out.
Tenders will initially be assessed by the architect and the quantity surveyor. They will be
assessed on adherence to the design, realism of the tendered price, proposed programme of
works and financial strength.
The subsequent contract negotiated with the successful bidder will having an appended pricing
schedule. The contractor will issue invoices for stage payments. The quantity surveyor will
check the work done to ensure compliance with said payment schedule. Payments will only be
made upon authorisation by the quantity surveyor.
There are four major risks to the project at this stage:
1. The initial price is too high. If this happens there will need ot be a further value
engineering exercise with the chosen contractor to bring the cost down.
2. Price escalation outwith the project. This can be mitigated through clear and timely
communication in line with the principles of good project management backed up with a
healthy contingency.
3. Poor performance by the contractor. This is rarely entirely the fault of the contractor so
mitigation relies upon good project management and the Trust being a good client.
4. The contractor goes into liquidation. This is mitigated by careful assessment of the
financial strength of the contractor before award of contract.
There is one known risk that is being addressed. The design has been based on Pilkington’s
Planar structural glass. The Trust is attempting to get prices for alternatives from Germany, Italy
and Switzerland. It has also asked a UK based structural glass supplier that gets glass from a
range of manufacturers for a budgetary price and lead times for glass to satisfy the project’s
requirements. Any information gleaned from this process will be shared with the successful
tenderer.
The programme of works can be found in Appendix 11.

Page 405

5.4 – Wider Considerations
There are two wider considerations that may have an impact on the project. The first is COVID19. The best case scenario is that as the vaccination programme is rolled out the disease whilst
endemic reduces in severity for individuals and society, at least within the UK, returns to a prepandemic state. It is likely that this will happen eventually.
The worst case scenario is that as the virus mutates and creates new variants it becomes more
transmissible, more severe and vaccine resistant. Most of the evidence published by the
government suggests something between the two with possible winter restrictions being
necessary but with society largely returning to normal, The contractors have worked throughout
mosto f the pandemic and have become used to adapting working practices to maximise safety
whilst remaining operational.
The second wider impact is the availability of materials. There is evidence of some building
materials running becoming into short supply. This is a result of two things: the scale of the HS2
project sucking up a large volume of materials and suppliers of some materials still trying to catch
up with pent up demand having been unable to manufacture during the first lockdown. This may
affect price and/or programme.
Subsidy Control comments can be found in Appendix 12.

Page 406

6 – MANAGEMENT CASE
6.1 - Introduction
The Management Case assesses the deliverability of the investment, identifying timescales and
project responsibilities, building on the delivery plan outlined in the TIP for the 78 Derngate
scheme and proportionate to the size of the project. It also identifies the key stakeholders and
include a strategy and plan laying out a programme of stakeholder engagement activities that will
help deliver the project.
This project is at an advanced stage in planning so this management case will review how the
project has been managed to date and how it will be managed until completion. The Trust has
appointed a steering group to provide project oversight whilst the day-to-day management of the
project is vested in the professional team led by the Architect using the RIBA Plan of Work
(2020). Stages 1 – 3 are complete. Stage 4, Technical Design, is almost complete with only
some outstanding building control issues to address and the tender process is due to commence.
The RIBA Plan of Work is an industry standard that has been in use for several decades and is
constantly reviewed and periodically revised considering experience gained in practical use.

6.2 – Project Organisation and Governance
The project management of the extension will be undertaken by the 78 Derngate Trust and their
appointed consultant team. The team have a demonstrable track record of delivering capital
projects of a similar value.
The project team is made up of trustees, architects, quantity surveyors, structural engineers,
mechanical and electrical engineers and construction contractors.
The table below shows the key participants, roles, accountability, and responsibilities of each of
the participants to date through to completion of the project.
Participants

Role

Accountability

Responsibility

Trustees

Project
initiators
and
oversight

Overall
accountability and
responsibility for
the Trust’s actions

Overall
accountability and
responsibility for
the Trust’s actions

Steering
group

Client on
behalf of the
Trust

To Trustees

To work with the
design team to
bring the project
to fruition

Resourcing Strategy
The trustees consist of 7
volunteers with a mixture
of skills and backgrounds
ranging from the law to
planning and business.
The Board has one
vacancy at present and is
supported by the
Company Secretary and
House Manager who
attend all quarterly
meetings.
The steering group is
made up of two trustees
(chair of the Trust and
Chair of the Friends
organisation) plus the
company secretary

Page 407

Obtain planning
permission for a
design acceptable
to the Trust and
manage the
construction
phase.
Preparing,
negotiating, and
analysing costs
for tenders and
contracts.
Advising on a
range of legal and
contractual
issues.
Valuing
completed work
and arranging for
payments.
Calculation of
loads and
stresses and
provide input into
the design to
ensure structural
safety and
longevity

Architect
MWK

Lead
Designer

To Trustees via
steering group

Quantity
Surveyor
RLF

Cost
consultant

To the Trust

Structural
Engineer
JPP

Structural
design

To Architect

Mechanical
and electrical
consultant
D&D

Consultant
to design
team

To Architect

Create M&E
specification to be
part of the tender
package

Construction
Contractor

Construction

To Architect and
QS

Build extension
and landscape
garden as
designed

supported by a retired
voluntary
planner/architectural
technician.
The architect is a small
local practice familiar with
the attraction that has
considerable experience
working on heritage sites
and with the public sector
particularly schools.
RLF is a large property
consultancy with offices
throughout the country. A
partner with a wealth of
experience, who has
worked with the Trust
Chair previously, has
been allocated to the
project.

The engineers were
appointed after a tender
competition and were the
engineers who worked on
the previous successful
renovation of 82
Derngate.
The company D&D
consulting were the
recommendation of the
architect to provide an
M&E specification to
reduce uncertainty and
thus strengthen the
tender process.
The trustees have gone to
4 contractors, and have a
reserve, to gain a
competitive price through
tender. Three of the four
are very local to the town
with the other being from
Oxford. All four have
come through
recommendations.

Page 408

Northampton
Forward

Oversight
and support

To West
Northamptonshire
Council and
MHCLG

To ensure the
project meets the
objectives of the
TIP

West Northamptonshire Council
West Northamptonshire Council will oversee the delivery of all Towns Fund projects and manage
the programme of activity.
West Northamptonshire Council’s projects team has a strong and demonstrable track record in
delivering major, transformational projects. The Council has put in place the arrangements for
successful delivery of the interventions, including: a robust governance structure, risk and
change management plan, and a system for monitoring and evaluating post-delivery benefits.
The Northampton Forward Board acts as the Programme Delivery Board and the Town Deal
Board for West Northants.
Northampton Forward is an informal partnership with the primary role of coordinating and driving
forwards the integrated regeneration and growth within Northampton, including Northampton Town
Centre. It acts as the Town Deal Board for Northampton and shall be responsible for establishing
a strategy and delivery framework for the future development to achieve this vision. The delivery
of the regeneration framework shall be carried out by Northampton Forward’s core partners – West
Northamptonshire Council, South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership, The University of
Northampton, Private Sector Representatives, Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire
Chamber of Commerce, Royal and Derngate, Community Representatives, Northampton Town
Centre Business Improvement District and other Partners as and when needed.
The Council will have a dedicated internal team to oversee and monitor the project, this will include:
•
•
•

Project Sponsor
Client Project Manager
Programme Manager

Monitoring and Oversight
West Northants Council is the Accountable Body for the project. As the Accountable Body WNC
will be responsible for discharging all obligations with MHCLG. WNC will be responsible for
overseeing the financial management and accountability monitoring of the project.
Regular monitoring will be undertaken, and the project team will comply with all requests from the
Council for information regarding the progress of the project. This will include a project
monitoring form which is required quarterly. The monitoring form will record information on
expenditure and the progress being made towards delivery of the outputs as well as risk
management and communication plans.
A full evaluation of the project will be carried out once completed to inform lessons learn as well
as presenting the output information to Government.

Page 409

Representatives from the Council and Government will have the right to inspect the project and
all information.
All reporting information will be report into the Council’s Capital and Assets Board which monitors
all capital projects being undertaken. The Northampton Forward Board will also receive the
same updates as the Board responsible for the strategic direction of the regeneration activity in
Northampton and the Town Deal Board.
Trust Governance Responsibilities
In terms of project governance arrangements, the steering group consists of the Chair of the
Trust, the Company Secretary, and a volunteer. The Chair of the trust was formally a director of a
property development company operating internationally. The company secretary was the de
facto clerk of works during the restoration of 78 Derngate and the remodelling of 80 and 82
Derngate. The volunteer is an experienced architectural designer. They have delegated
responsibility to take the client role in the project whilst providing progress reports to trustees.
Any trustee, if concerned, can ask for a particular element to be discussed by all trustees. The
following need formal approval of the trustees:
•
•
•
•
•

The budget for the project.
Appointment of Architect/Lead Designer
The design to be submitted for planning permission.
The chartered surveyor’s valuation of the land to be purchased.
The proposed construction contractor.

The Trust’s Chair and the Company Secretary have frequent informal discussions about
budgetary matters and are responsible for ensuring any other matter that might be of concern to
the trustees is raised with them.
Whereas there is a free flow of information and ideas between the steering group and the design
team all formal instructions from the Trust are conveyed to the Architect by the Company
Secretary.

6.3 - Assurance
The Trust is too small, with only one full time member of staff, to have an internal audit
department so the classic 3-line model is not viable in such circumstances. However, the Trust
has a range of volunteers from a variety of professional backgrounds who are actively involved in
the work of the Trust and frequently make observations, raise concerns, and provide advice
which goes some way to fulfilling such a role albeit informally.
The Trust is a registered charity and a company limited by guarantee as such it must provide
annual reports and audited accounts to both the Charity Commission and Companies House.
As part of the Towns Fund funding, a grant funding agreement will be issued to the Trust from
the Council. This will set out the terms and conditions of the grant funding, including monitoring
and oversight, review and payment milestones. Quarterly project updates will also be required
which will be reviewed by the Council’s Capital and Assets Board and the Northampton Forward
Board, performance of the project will be monitored against the milestones set out in the grant
funding agreement.

Page 410

6.4 – Scope Management
This is covered under Project Organisation and Governance above.

6.5 – Schedule Management
The forward programme is included in Appendix 11.

6.6 – Risk and Opportunities Management
Risk, as related to this project is covered in the Strategic Case and in the detailed Risk Register
included in Appendix 6.
To minimise construction risk, the Trust will go out to tender with four local companies, with a fifth
in reserve.
The initial tender evaluation will be performed by the Quantity Surveyor with input from the
Architect. The to minimise construction risk the Trust expects the tender evaluation to address
the following in addition to legal and contractual issues:
•

•

•

Quality: Does the tenderer have a track record of good quality delivery? Does the
contractor appropriately address the design? How does the tenderer propose managing
the work to minimise disruption to the ongoing operation of the museum and the Dining
Room?
Time: Is the tenderer’s proposed timescale acceptable? If a short time to completion is
proposed, is it realistic? If a longer than expected timescale is proposed, are the reasons
for this fully justified and are acceptable to the Trust?
Price: Is the tenderer, at the time of bidding, likely to be financially viable throughout the
length of the contract? Is the variation between the contractors large? If so, why is this
likely to have happened? Has the tenderer proposed any alternative
approaches/materials/solutions that may bring down the price without adversely affecting
the integrity of the design? Does the trust have the money to enter a contract at the
proposed price? Does any proposed payment schedule meet with the Trust’s anticipated
cash flow?

6.7 – Project Management
In all projects there is a tension between quality, time and cost. The Trust’s approach to Project
Management starts with careful planning of the work to be done and thus manage these
tensions. Now that planning permission has been achieved the bulk of this planning work will be
done by the chosen contractor with the input of the professional team, led by the architect, and
approved by the trust.
To deliver the plan it is imperative that roles and responsibilities are clearly defined and that all
parties understand the scope of their responsibilities and limits to their authority.
Again, the plan will incorporate regular site meetings for coordination and monitoring purposes.
It is inevitable that there will be problems along the way and a clear approach to how they will be
addressed will be included in the detailed planning.

Page 411

The Trust will be looking to that accurate, timely and complete data are available for planning,
performance monitoring and final assessment and that this is clear, open and shared in a timely
manner. The Trust is committed to achieving the aims of the project on time and within budget.
The project is being managed using the RIBA Plan of Work (2020) which describes the key
tasks, processes and information exchanges at different stages of the project. This has eight
stages:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Strategic definition
Preparation and briefing
Concept design
Spatial co-ordination
Technical design
Manufacturing and construction
Handover
Use

Stages 1 – 3 have been completed. Stage 4 is complete except for some building control issues
that need resolution but are expected to be resolved by 4th June 2020. Summary of the elements
at each stage of the plan of work is attached as Appendix 14.

6.8 – Stakeholder Engagement
Stakeholder engagement up until now is summarised in the Strategic Case. When the Trust is
ready to enter a contract and a planned completion date is agreed, the Trust will send a progress
report to all funders.
Engagement with neighbours and nearby residents during the construction phase will be dealt
with jointly with the contractor as part of the Construction Management Plan.

6.9 - Benefits, Monitoring and Evaluation
The project has four measures of success:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Increased visitor numbers.
Increased income.
More diverse visitor profile; and
Greater variety and local arts and crafts makers exhibiting.

The project process thus far has been iterative: proposal, feedback, modification, proposal,
feedback and so on until an agreed design has been approved.
Benefits Realisation Plan (Benefits Register)
Performance
Measure
Increased
number of
visitors to 78
Derngate

Timetable for
Achievement
December
2022 (6 months
post completion
of project)

Method to Review

Lead

Beneficiary

Comparison against
previous years
visitors’ numbers
(prior to COVID)

78
Derngate
Trust

78 Derngate
Trust
Wider Economy

Page 412

Increased
Income to the
Trust

December
2022 (6 months
post completion
of project)
December
2022 (6 months
post completion
of project)

Broader and
more diverse
visitor profile

Greater variety
and local arts
and crafts
makers
exhibiting

August 2023
(12 months
post completion
of project)

Comparison against
previous years cash
flow (prior to COVID)

78
Derngate
Trust

Comparison against
previous years
visitors’ numbers and
profiles (prior to
COVID)
Comparison against
previous years events
bookings and exhibits
(prior to COVID)

78
Derngate
Trust

78 Derngate
Trust
Wider Economy
78 Derngate
Trust
Wider Economy

78
Derngate
Trust

78 Derngate
Trust
Local Small
Business
Local
Population

Improved
footfall
numbers in the
Town Centre

August 2023
(12 months
post completion
of project)

Comparison against
footfall data collected
by the BID and the
Council

WNC

Wider Economy
Local Small
Business
Local
Population
Wider Economy

After the project is completed, the following will be conducted:
•

•
•

A review of the benefits detailed to assess whether they have been achieved. This will
measure the project’s achievements against the baseline and target data. This will be
reviewed 6,12 and 24 months after project completion
A survey assessment with residents, businesses and other key stakeholders to establish
their views on whether success has been delivered
A review of the capital costs to confirm that the capital costs were robust and adhered to

Monitoring and Evaluation Plan
There will be three formal reviews:
1. A formal review of the project performance led by the Architect as part of Stage 6,
Handover, of the RIBA plan of work. This will provide a short report on five elements:
•
•
•
•
•

Design review,
Building visit walkabout,
Feedback from staff and volunteers,
Collation and analysis of energy and water usage,
Thermographic survey

Page 413

2. An after-action review by the steering group to report to the Trustees. This will look at
the delivery of the physical elements of the project and will consider:
•
•
•
•

What was the intended to happen?
What did happen?
What explanations are there for the differences?
What lessons can be learned?

3. An impact evaluation by the Trust of performance against the four measures of success.
This will take place after a full 12 months of operation once the new facilities are in use.
It will use trading year 2019 as a baseline. However, good performance is against the
measures of success, the Trust will consider what other variables might have influenced
the results and what actions can be taken to further improve them.

Page 414

SUMMARY DOCUMENT
General conditions table
TIP improvement condition
Set out TIP improvement conditions as agreed in Heads of Terms

Evidence
Provide evidence of how conditions have been addressed

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
Provide a summary of programme-level PSED analysis

Signature of Town Deal Board Chair and accountable body’s Chief Executive
Officer or S151 Officer

Page 415

Project Summary Table
Project Summary Table
Project name
Business case appraisal
Provide details of how the business case has been appraised

Is this project being fast-tracked?

Total project value (£, million)

Towns Fund funding allocated (£, million):

Outputs
Provide a list of the final projected outputs, they must be clear and quantified

Outcomes
Provide a list of the final projected outcomes, they must be clear and quantified

Cost-benefit projection (for example BCR or NPSV)

Public match funding
Provide the total (£, million) and breakdown of sources

Private match funding
Provide the total (£, million) and breakdown of sources

Nominal Financial profile (£, million)
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Actions taken to address project conditions
Provide details of actions taken to address any conditions that were attached to the project, where the
condition was to provide a delivery plan this should be
inputted in the section below

Page 416

Delivery plan
Including details of:
- partnerships
- timescales
- planning permission and other milestones
- interdependencies
- risks and mitigation measures

Monitoring and evaluation plan*
Provide details on:
- how spending and delivery will be monitored against expected milestones and outputs and
outcomes
- what Key Performance Indicators will be used?
- arrangements for sharing of data
- the levers that are available to address any performance issues
- who will be responsible for evaluating success

Signature of Town Deal Board Chair and accountable body’s Chief Executive Officer or S151 Officer

Page 417

This page is intentionally left blank

1

Page 419

•
•

•

•

•

•

2

Page 420

•

•

•

3

Page 421

•
•
•

•

•

•
•

4

Page 422

•

5

Page 423

•

6

Page 424

•

7

Page 425

This page is intentionally left blank

[West Northamptonshire Council]
The 78 Derngate Northampton Trust
82 Derngate,
Northampton NN1 1UH

<Date>
Dear <NAME>
Towns Fund - Grant offer 2021/22
I am pleased to inform you that, subject to the Specific and General Conditions set out in this
Grant offer letter, West Northamptonshire Council (the Council) will provide you with a Grant
from the Towns Fund provided to the Council. The amount of the Grant offer and the
Specific Conditions in respect of it are set out in Section 1 to this Grant offer letter. The
General Conditions in respect of the Grant offer are set out in Section 2.
1.

Specific Conditions
1.1

The Project:

78, Derngate

1.2
1.3
1.4

Earliest eligible expenditure date
15th September 2021
Total grant offered
£400,000
Eligible costs which the grant may be used to pay for
The 78 Derngate project will comprise an extension of the Charles Rennie
Mackintosh Museum providing 675m2 of flexible space and the purchase of
an adjoining parcel of land of 575m2 to provide additional outside space to
create a new functional learning garden.

1.5
1.6

Total Grant payable in 2021/22 allocation
SUBSIDY CONTROL

£400,000

This funding is made available subject to the grant recipient demonstrating, to
the Council’s satisfaction, that the receipt and use of the funding by the grant
recipient will not amount to an unlawful State Subsidy.
State Subsidy means a financial contribution granted by a public authority or
through State resources in any form whatsoever which confers a benefit on
the recipient, which shall include, but not be limited to, the definition of a
subsidy contained in the Trade and Cooperation Agreement between the
European Union and the European Atomic Energy Community and the
United Kingdom, signed on 30 December 2020, including such amendments
as are agreed between the parties from time to time.
This will, in the first instance, be based on any legal advice provided to the
grant recipient and forwarded to the Council, which the Council will then
consider. The grant recipient will remain responsible for compliance with
State Subsidy control laws, notwithstanding the Council’s acknowledgement
of the grant recipient’s State Subsidy control compliance proposals.

Page 427

The details in the second column of box 1.6 set out the basis on which the
grant recipient considers the funding for the project as defined above either is
not a State Subsidy or, if it is a State Subsidy, is not an unlawful State
Subsidy and the grant recipient must comply with any conditions that reduce
or eliminate the risk that there is a State Subsidy or an unlawful State
Subsidy.
An independent legal opinion has been provided with respects to Subsidy
Control. Their comment is detailed below.
The sum of £400,000 in total is in part to be spent on a range of activities, ie
improving a café and space for third party usage. Insofar as monies are being
spent on those aspects of this facility, this can be regarded as aid to an
enterprise carrying out commercial activities. On the other hand, monies
spent on the core Museum and associated garden itself would fall to be
regarded as part of general infrastructure which is not subject to the Subsidy
Control Regime.
The total sum of £400,000 is over the de minimis level. However, we believe
that it is logical to separate out the monies as follows:
1. (a) for the provision of facilities with a commercial usage, for
example commercial floor space and café – this should
amount to £41,820 and as such will fall within the “de minimis”
exemption; and
2. (b) support to the development of the core areas of the
Museum and garden itself – these monies £358,180 are not
subject to the Subsidy Control Regime as they are in support
of the provision of general infrastructure.
Given the above, provided that the £400,000 can properly be divided up
between the various aspects of the project, such that the support towards the
Museum works are separated from “commercial” areas, we believe that the
support is lawfully within the Subsidy Control Regime as created by the TCA.

The Grant will be paid in <X> instalments subject to satisfactory progress being made in
meeting the agreed milestones and outputs. A Funding and Milestone Schedule is attached
at the Schedule to this letter.
2.

General Conditions

2.1

The Grant offer

2.1.1

The Grant offer may not be used for any expenditure which does not qualify for
assistance under the terms and conditions set out by the Council as the funding
body.

2.1.2

If the total eligible expenditure is less than the Grant offer, or the Grant is used in
breach of paragraph 2.1.1, the Council will reduce the final amount of Grant paid or
require repayment of any Grant already paid.

Page 428

2.1.3

The Grant is only to be spent on the project approved above and on capital items as
part of the above Project within the 2021/22 financial year.

2.2

The Project

2.2.1

The Project should be implemented fairly and without unlawful discrimination and you
should have due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty as set out in the Section
149 of the Equality Act 2010. You must comply with all applicable laws and obtain
and maintain and supply and retain copies of all applicable consents, licenses, and
approvals in implementing the Project.

2.2.2

The Project should be carried out in accordance with the Project business case
proposal submitted to the Council, subject to any variations permitted or required by
the Council, and you need to ensure that you have taken account of State Subsidy
and appropriate procurement legislation. You will also need to ensure that any
necessary approvals are in place. Any changes of greater than 10% of costs,
financial profile or outputs must be agreed by the Council. You should notify the
Council about any likely changes greater than 10% and then seek agreement as
early as practicable.

2.2.3

If you incur any additional expenditure to the original business case in respect of the
Project no additional grant will be payable.

2.3

Payment of Grant

2.3.1

The first instalment of the Grant monies of the total Grant offer for 2021/22 will be
released upon receipt of a signed Funding Agreement or achievement of the first
milestone (whichever is later). Claims and evidence of the achievement of
milestones for release of further payments should be made to the Council as part of
reporting to the progress on the Project and in accordance with the Specific
Conditions. An audit trail of progress against milestones and financial reporting
should be maintained. A governance process to ensure effective project
management must be in place and reported to the Council.

2.3.2

Subsequent instalments of Grant monies will be released to you when you have
demonstrated that you have fulfilled the milestone and output requirements set out in
the Schedule. The evidence will be gathered by the Council using quarterly
monitoring forms and approval of the Grant payments will be considered by the
Council. The Council reserves the right to seek any further information that it deems
necessary to satisfy itself that the funding has been spent appropriately.

2.3.3

The Council can accept no liability in respect of the loss attributable to any delay in
the payment of claims or to any suspension, reduction or cancellation of the Grant.

2.4

Milestones and monitoring

2.4.1

The Grant is dependent on achieving the milestones and outputs by the dates stated
in the Schedule and the Business Case for the Project. If these milestones and
outputs are not achieved in full, the Council may reduce the final amount of the Grant
already paid and/or require repayment of any grant already paid.

Page 429

2.4.2

You may seek to vary milestones or outputs by seeking written consent from the
Council. Variation will only be considered where you have not met (or do not believe
that you will meet) the milestones or outputs as a result of events of circumstances
beyond your reasonable control and you have sought a variation as soon as
reasonably practicable. The Council may discuss varying milestones or outputs with
you, but any oral consent is indicative only, consent will not formally be given other
than in writing and is at the Council’s sole discretion.

2.4.3

Regular monitoring will be undertaken and you must comply with all requests from
the Council and from MHCLG for information regarding the progress of the
Project. This will include a Project monitoring form which is currently required every
quarter. Failure to return the forms by the deadlines may result in loss of and/or
delays to the Grant funding.

2.4.4

The monitoring form will record information on expenditure and the progress being
made towards delivery of the outputs as well as risk management and
communication plans. It will contain a project summary section which may be used
to update the Council’s website and HM Government websites.

2.4.5

You will be required to carry out a full evaluation of the Project once completed and
keep records of outputs achieved until the later of the date when the agreed targets
have been met and 10 years following completion of the project. You must provide
monitoring information as required by the Council and/or MHCLG from time to time
during this period.

2.4.6

You will be required to retain all original documents and an audit trail relating to the
implementation of the Project for a period of 10 years following completion of the
Project.

2.4.7

Representatives from HM Government and the Council shall have the right to inspect
the Project and all information held and you must permit such inspections on the
receipt of reasonable notice. You must also provide copies of any documents they
require. You should invite the Council for site visit inspections at least once during
the duration of the build, as well as on completion.

2.5

Assurance and Compliance

2.5.1

You will be required to confirm that you have complied with State Subsidy control and
procurement requirements.

2.5.2

If you are required to comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the
Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016, you must comply with the relevant Regulations
and with your internal procedures where procuring goods, services or works which
are funded or part funded by a Grant. If you are not required so to comply, you must
confirm with the Council the procedures that you must implement for procurement
and you must comply with these. The Council also asks that in all procurement you
are mindful of using locally based supply chains.

2.5.3

The Council shall not be required to pay part or all of the Grant and may require you
to repay part or all of it, together with any interest at the rate required by law, if the

Page 430

Council considers that payment of the Grant would be, was or is in breach of any law
of the United Kingdom limiting State Subsidy including the European Union (Future
Relationship) Act 2020.
2.6

Freedom of information and confidentiality

2.6.1

Nothing in the Grant offer or this Grant offer letter shall prevent the Council from
disclosing any information which the Council is required (in the Council’s opinion) to
disclose under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and/or the Environmental
Information Regulations 2004 (as each has been amended) and/or under any other
legal and/or regulatory requirement whether or not existing at the date of this Grant
offer.

2.6.2

You must provide the Council with any assistance it reasonably requires if it receives
a request under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and/or the Environmental
Information Regulations 2004 (as each has been amended).

2.6.3

Each party shall keep confidential all confidential information which it has obtained as
a result of your application for a Grant. This will not apply to confidential information
which: is lawfully otherwise obtained; is already in the recipient’s possession; is in the
public domain other than as a breach of this paragraph or is required to be disclosed
by law.

2.7

Publicity

2.7.1

The Council will publish the amount of Grant offered with the name of the recipient
and a brief description of the Project after the acceptance of this Grant offer
letter. This will be available on the Council’s website and you will provide regular
written and photographic evidence to ensure that the Council’s website remains up to
date on your project progress. HM Government may also publish information about
the Project.

2.7.2

If you issue any publicity or make any announcement regarding the Project you will
ensure that the assistance of the Towns Fund and the Council is fully
acknowledged. You must co-operate with any publicity arranged by the
Council. You will supply updated communications plans with monitoring forms.

2.7.3

Any hoardings or display boards will acknowledge the Towns Fund monies and
contain a Council logo in equal prominence and in full colour.

2.7.4

Invites will be sent to the Council for any events or openings for the Project with
sufficient notice to attend. Press releases must be shared with the Council for
events. Any social media about the project must acknowledge the Towns Fund and
the Council.

2.7.5

In all publicity, you must follows the Council’s communications and branding
protocols, policies and procedures and all media must be run past the Council’s
communication lead – Craig Forysth, craig.forsyth@westnorthants.gov.uk

2.8

Withholding Payment or Requirement for Repayment of Grant

Page 431

2.8.1

Without limiting the Council’s other rights and remedies, this paragraph sets out
circumstances in which the Council may decline to pay all or part of the Grant and/or
may require repayment of part or the entire Grant:2.8.1.1 assistance for the Project is received from another institution, government
department, local authority or charitable fund unless this assistance was
taken into account in making this Grant offer,
2.8.1.2 in the Council’s opinion progress on the Project including reaching the
milestones or outputs is not satisfactory, though the Council may (but is not
required to) take into account mitigating circumstances,
2.8.1.3 any information provided on the application for in supporting documentation
or subsequent correspondence is found to be incorrect or incomplete,
2.8.1.4 you are in breach of any term of this Grant offer letter or
2.8.1.5 any financial mismanagement has been identified following investigation.

2.9

Amendments to this Grant offer letter and assignment

2.9.1

No amendment or variation to this Grant offer letter will be effective unless approved
by the Council in writing and then agreed as a contract variation to this document.

2.9.2

The Council may assign and/or novate this Grant agreement or any part of it without
your consent.

2.9.3

You may not assign or novate this Grant agreement or any part of it without the
Council’s prior consent in writing.

2.10

Disposal of assets

2.10.1 You must not dispose of the whole or part of your interest in any capital assets
funded or part funded by the Grant or change their use within [5] years of the
completion of the Project without first obtaining the consent of the Council (at its sole
discretion). Any consent may be conditional.
2.11

Acceptance

2.11.1 This Grant offer can only be accepted by an authorised signatory signing the
enclosed copy letter and returning a PDF copy by e-mail to Deven Efde,
deven.efde@westnorthants.gov.uk within two weeks of this Grant offer letter. If the
acceptance is not received within the indicated timescale, the Grant offer will be
deemed to have lapsed and the Grant offer will be deemed to be withdrawn.
2.11.2 No payments will be made under this Grant offer until the Council has received
written acceptance of it.
If you have any queries regarding Towns Fund and your Project please contact Deven Efde,
devem.efde@westnorthants.gov.uk
Yours sincerely

Page 432

[

]

I confirm that I accept the Grant offer letter.

Authorised signatory…………………………………………………………………………

Name………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Position……………………………………………………………………………………………..

Organisation……………………………………………………………………………………

Date………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Page 433

Annex 1
Schedule 1
Milestone 1
Milestone 2
Milestone 3
Milestone 4

Date & estimated
Payment amount
By 01/10/21
£150,000
By 31/12/2021
£110,000
By 28/02/2022
£100,000
By 30/06/2022
£40,000

Schedule 2 – Outputs

Activity to be completed
Purchase of adjoining parcel of land and the
pre-order of structural glass
Completion of steel frame of extension
Glass and roof completed
Practical completion

Numbers to be achieved By when

Flexible commercial floor
space to be used for the
shop, restaurant
Improved independent
disabled access
Additional landscaped
garden to be used by
schools and for corporate
hire

675m2

575m2

2022

Annual increase in visitor
numbers

13% (additional 1000
museum visitors, 1250
Dining Room customers
and 500 Gallery visits per
annum)
1.5

2023

Safeguarded jobs

2022

2022

New direct job roles created

2

Indirect construction jobs

20

2022

Combined revenue increase £54K per annum based on
an average £20 spend per
head at today’s prices
Businesses assisted

91

Page 434

Agenda Item 19

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14TH SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder for Finance – Councillor Malcolm Longley
Report Title
Report Author

Variation to Agreement to Lease of Stable Block at Delapre
Abbey
James Aldridge, Group Asset Manager
James.Aldridge@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
MO
S151
Other Director

Communications

Catherine Whitehead
Martin Henry
Simon Bowers – Assistant
Director Assets and
Environment
Stuart Timmiss – Executive
Director Place, Economy &
Environment
Sent to Communications

23 August 2021
27 August 2021
26 August 2021

26 August 2021

List of Appendices
None

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

This report seeks authority to vary the terms of an agreement to lease land at Delapre
Abbey, Northampton, to facilitate the restoration and productive use of the 19 th Century
Stable Block.

Page 435

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

Delapre Abbey is an important historic asset in southern Northampton. Along with the
parkland, it is owned by the Council. The Abbey itself is let on a long lease to the Delapre
Abbey Preservation Trust (DAPT). Part of the Abbey complex, but not covered by the
current lease, is the 19th Century Stable Yard.

2.2

The former Northampton Borough Council (NBC) entered into an agreement for lease
(AfL) with the DAPT to allow the Trust to restore and manage the Stable Yard. Due to
Covid-19 DAPT was unable to meet the longstop date in the AfL.

2.3

This report therefore seeks authority from Cabinet to vary the AfL by moving the longstop
date 7th August 2022, making the term of the lease match that of the main lease and
making other minor adjustments.

2.4

It is considered DAPT is best placed to take forward the restoration of the Stable Yard and
put it to worthwhile uses. Doing so should also help DAPT remain viable and thus continue
to secure the future of the Abbey. The risks to the Council of agreeing to the extension
should be low.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

That delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director Assets and Environment to
vary the terms of the agreement for lease between the Council and the Delapre Abbey
Preservation Trust relating to the 19th Century Stable Block, as set out in the report.

4.

Reason for Recommendations

4.1

Agreeing to extend the longstop date in the Agreement for Lease and making the other
changes would:

4.1.1 Maximise the opportunity to see the plan for the Delapre Abbey site implemented, and
also help sustain the Delapre Abbey Preservation Trust, thus securing important public
benefits and community resources.
4.1.2 Make it more likely that public expectations will be fulfilled.
4.1.3 Minimise the risk of costs falling on the Council to restore and manage the 19 th Century
Stable Yard.

Page 436

5.

Report Background

5.1

Delapre Abbey and park were acquired by the former Borough of Northampton in the
1940s. The Abbey building itself was let to Northamptonshire County Council for use as
its archives centre until the 1990s (when that function was relocated to the current
archive office at Wootton Hall Park). Since then there has been a lengthy period of review
and consideration of the future of the important listed Abbey buildings.

5.2

The main Abbey buildings were substantially repaired and renovated in the later part of
the previous decade, the work being funded in part by NBC, in part by English Heritage
and in part by fundraising by the Delapre Abbey Preservation Trust (DAPT). They are now
let to DAPT on a 125-year lease from 30th April 2019. The lease is at a peppercorn and
subject to a landlord rolling break on 12 months’ notice with the lease being outside the
security of tenure provisions of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. WNC remains
responsible for the structure of the property and 50% of the cost of the repair of the
windows with the other repairing liabilities being the responsibility of the Trust. There are
also licence agreements in place to DAPT in respect of the car park, Walled Garden,
Eastern Garden and South Lawn.

5.3

Within the grounds, but outside the areas currently let to DAPT, is a 19 th Century Stable
Block. This is not listed, but is within the conservation area and adds to the setting of the
Abbey. DAPT has approached WNC with a proposal to convert the property. Its current
vision would see the creation either (or potentially a mix) of:


Small creative business studios/workspaces. The units would be developed
commercially to provide a small business complex generating income for the Abbey
through rents, with a focus on creative workplace, with shared exhibition or retailing
areas which are accessible to the public.



Niche retailing with a marketplace, a microbrewery and a café.

5.4

Either use of the 19th Century Stable Block could contribute well to the overall visitor offer
of the Abbey. The Trust is continuing to work on its proposals and business plan. If this
process ultimately produces materially different proposals fresh Member approval would
be sought.

5.5

DAPT previously applied for planning permission (N/2013/0612) for various projects
including the 19th Century Stable Block. Planning permission was given on 30th October
2013. This allowed for various works and “change of use of building to business
studio/workshops (Class B1).”

5.6

While the other projects were completed, work was not commenced on the 19th Century
Stable Block until further investigations were undertaken and a business plan developed.
A planning consultant is currently investigating whether the current planning permission

Page 437

is still valid, or a further permission would be required. If a further planning application is
required, this would be submitted by DAPT at its own cost.
5.7

Agreement was reached with the NBC to enter into an Agreement for Lease on the 7 th
February 2020. This agreement would have required NBC to let the property to the Trust
subject to certain conditions being met by the longstop date of 7th August 2021. These
conditions included:




The tenant having obtained satisfactory planning permission.
The landlord having approved the tenant’s works plans.
The landlord having secured vacant possession of the property.

5.8

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic DAPT has experienced substantial delays in progressing
this project and as such the conditions have not been met by the longstop date.

5.9

It is therefore proposed to agree an extension of the longstop date of the Agreement to
lease by 12 months and to make the lease on the Stable Block to be co-terminus with the
main Abbey lease (which is for 125 years from 30th April 2019) with the other terms
unchanged. The key ones are:





Peppercorn rent.
Tenant to repair and insure (full repairing and insuring lease).
Outside the security of tenure provisions of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 (no
automatic right to renew).
The lease to terminate if the main Abbey lease is terminated.

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

The stable block is no longer needed as stables and is currently unused except for storage.
DAPT has identified how it can be brought back into beneficial use and enhance the visitor
experience at Delapre Abbey. Unless the property is occupied or suitably managed, it is
likely that the condition of the property would deteriorate and result in increased
management cost for WNC.

6.2

WNC could refuse consent to the extension of the longstop date in the agreement to
lease. This is not recommended as it as it would cause uncertainty and discourage DAPT
from proceeding with their plans to bring the premises back into use. The vision for the
19th Century Stable Block is part of DAPT wider vision for Delapre Abbey which would be
adversely impacted if the stables were not developed.

6.3

WNC could also consider whether to develop the site itself. However, no viable alternative
uses other than those proposed by DAPT have been identified. The buildings are in a poor
state of repair and would require substantial capital investment which has not currently

Page 438

been provided for. In addition to this, any future use of the site would need to be
sympathetic to the wider services offered at Delapre Abbey so as not to have a
detrimental impact on overall viability.
6.4

WNC could let the stables as storage, but it is likely the income set against the cost of
maintenance would not make this a financially viable option.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 No income is currently being generated by the Stable Block but the liability for repair
remains with WNC. Completion of the project would mean that DAPT would take on the
management of the property and the responsibility for ongoing repair and maintenance.
In addition, DAPT would look to undertake significant refurbishment works which will not
only enhance the value of the asset but would also enhance the overall visitor experience
of Delapre Abbey.
7.1.2 If the stables continue to be used for storage it is unlikely the income would meet the
repairing liabilities. It is therefore likely that the disposal would be at best price (see
below).
7.1.3 The Agreement for Lease does require the Council to seek to obtain vacant possession. It
is possible, but unlikely, that this would involve material costs.
7.1.4 All the documentation has been drafted and the proposal to alter the terms via a Deed of
Variation should not result in material legal costs.
7.1.5 The property is currently largely vacant and generates no income. It is estimated that the
Market Rent for the property would be negligible and significant capital investment would
be required to achieve this.
7.2

Legal

7.2.1 Generally, the disposal would be authorised under Section 123 of the Local Government
Act 1972. This requires that freehold disposals and all leasehold disposals of seven or
more years in length must be on the best consideration reasonably obtainable (referred
to this in this report as “best price”). However, there is an exemption where the Secretary
of State otherwise approves. Sometimes specific consent is needed, but often the
necessary consent is given by the General Disposal Consent (England) 2003. This gives
consent for disposals at up to £2 million less than the best price where the Council
considers that the disposal will advance the economic, social or environmental well-being
of the area or people in it. In this case, for the reasons given above, the disposal is
probably a best price or if not, is close to it. If there is a need to relay on the General

Page 439

Consent is reasonable for the Council to consider that the proposed use of the property
would contribute to the social and economic wellbeing of both the immediate environs
of the Abbey and also the wider area.
7.2.2 The Council must also comply with the subsidy control provisions of the UK – EU Trade
and Cooperation Agreement, as applied into UK law by Section 29 of the European Union
(Future Relationship) Act 2020. Disposing of assets at less than best price is a form of
subsidy. However, it is considered that this case is not the kind or scale of subsidy likely
to fall under the controls of the Agreement.
7.3

Risk

7.4

Agreeing an extension would carry very little risk to the Council because the Council’s
obligations are, generally, limited to making the property available to DAPT and, as with
the main Abbey lease, possession can be recovered should problems arise in future with
the overall project.

7.5

Not agreeing an extension to the longstop date would create uncertainty and potential
increase costs for both parties. WNC would be required to continue to maintain the
property with little prospect of income to mitigate the costs. The prospective community
benefit would be lost and DAPT would be unable to fulfil its wider vision for the Abbey.

7.6

Consultation

7.6.1 There has been no specific consultation undertaken in relation to this proposal. However,
the restoration and development of the Delapre Abbey site has been the subject to
extensive planning, involving public consultation and engagement.
7.7

Climate Impact

7.7.1 No material impact on climate is anticipated as a result of this decision. Climate
considerations would affect the Trust’s detailed proposals.
7.8

Community Impact

7.8.1 The uses proposed would provide space for small business, create jobs and enhance the
visitor experience at Delapre Abbey. It should therefore have a positive impact on the
community.
8.

Background Papers

8.1.1 None

Page 440

Agenda Item 20

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14 SEPTEMBER 2021
Portfolio Holder for Finance – Councillor Malcolm Longley
Report Title

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022-23

Report Author

Martin Henry, Executive Director, Finance

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
MO
S151
Other Director/SME
Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Geoff Wild
Martin Henry
Martin Henry
Craig Forsyth

19th August 2021
19th August 2021
19th August 2021
6th September 2021

List of Appendices
None
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

This report provides members with an update on the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
(LCTRS) for West Northamptonshire Council (WNC) for the financial year 2021-2022 and asks
members to approve, for consultation purposes only, a LCTRS for the financial year 2022-2023.

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

The LCTRS must be approved and in place by 31 January each year and prior to that the
authority must consult with any precepting authority and any other persons who may have an
interest on any proposed changes to the scheme. The scheme applies to working age claimants
only, as the government prescribes the scheme for those of pension age which provides up to
Page 441
100 per cent support based on the circumstances of the individual.

2.2

Prior to April 2021, each of the predecessor districts and boroughs had different LCTRS offering
different levels of support to working age people. At its meeting on 27 October 2020, the
Shadow Executive Committee agreed to consult on a number of proposals to harmonise the
LCTRS across West Northants.

2.3

At the Shadow Executive Committee meeting on 26 January 2021, members received the
results of the consultation and agreed a LCTRS for the year 2021-2022 based on a minimum
Council Tax contribution that working age claimants must pay of 20 per cent and a number of
small changes to the regulations in order to align the schemes.

2.4

This report provides members with an update on the LCTRS for 2021-2022 and to ask members
to approve, for consultation purposes only, a LCTRS for the year 2022-23.

2.5

Members are asked to consider the content of this report and to endorse the proposal to consult
on the scheme detailed in the report. Members will receive a full report on the results of the
consultation at a future meeting and can then determine the scheme they wish to implement for
2022-23.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet:
a) Notes the contents of this report
b) Approves, for consultation purposes only, the LCTRS outlined in this report for West
Northamptonshire for the year 2022-2023.

4.

Reason for Recommendations
To enable a consultation process to take place on a proposed Local Council Tax Reduction
Scheme for West Northants Council for the financial year 2022-23 and for the final scheme to
be approved and in place by 31 January 2022.

5.

Report Background

5.1

Members will be aware that from April 2013 each Local Authority has been required to determine
a LCTRS, which replaced the national Council Tax Benefit scheme. The scheme applies to working
age claimants only as the government prescribes the scheme (CTRS Prescribed Requirements
Regulations 2012) for those of pension age, which provides up to 100 per cent support based on
the circumstances of the individual.

5.2

Each billing authority has discretion as to their local scheme, including the maximum level of
support available to working age claimants (and therefore the minimum percentage of the bill
they are required to pay) and the eligibility criteria for the scheme.

5.3

From April 2021 and following a full consultation process, members agreed a LCTRS based on a
minimum Council Tax contribution for working age claimants of 20 per cent and some changes

Page 442

to align the previous schemes, which were mostly around mirroring the changes made to DWP
Housing Benefit scheme since 2013. The scheme has now been in place across West
Northamptonshire area since April 2021.
Update on the LCTRS for 2021-2022 and impact on collection of Council Tax
5.4

As at October 2020, across West Northamptonshire there were 21,277 residents in receipt of
Council Tax Reduction, 13,000 of whom were of working age.

5.5

As at June 2021, the total number of people in receipt of LCTRS is 20,627, of whom 12,649 are of
working age. The reduction in the caseload is thought to be as a result of a temporary increase
in numbers during the pandemic and we can see the figures beginning to reduce now as
restrictions lift and people return to work. There is a degree of caution as we may not yet have
felt the full impact of the end of the government’s furlough schemes. The estimated total cost of
the scheme for 2021-2022 is £19.7m. The increase in expenditure is mainly in the Northampton
area where a more advantageous scheme was introduced as schemes harmonised from April
2021.

5.6

Council Tax collection rates are monitored each month and, as at June 2021, the figures for West
Northants are currently 29.02 per cent against a target of 29.70 per cent. Whilst figures are
slightly under target, this is thought to be due to the impact of COVID-19. Active recovery has
now recommenced over all three areas and we are undertaking some pro-active collection work.

5.7

Members also agreed an exceptional hardship fund to support those taxpayers who receive
payments under the LCTRS and still have an amount of Council Tax to pay. The fund is primarily
to assist those of working age who may have been impacted by the changes to LCTRS in 20212022. As at the end of June 2021, 38 applications for support have been received and 12 awards
have been made totalling £1,729. As active recovery has now recommenced it is expected that
demand for this additional support will increase.
LCTR scheme 2022-2023 proposals for consultation
Level of contribution for working age

5.8

Prior to April 2021, each predecessor council had a different level of minimum Council Tax
contribution and, as a result of the harmonisation of LCTRS from April 2021, there were different
levels of impact across the West Northants area. The current level of minimum Council Tax
contribution that working age claimants must pay is 20 per cent of their Council Tax liability.
Modelling has been carried out to show the financial impact of retaining the current 20 per cent
minimum payment scheme. A 1 per cent increase in the minimum payment would result is a
reduction in expenditure of £155,000 (compared to £141,772 in 2021-2022). In light of the ongoing impacts from the COVID pandemic, Members may wish to retain the current level of 20 per
cent minimum contribution. This will also allow the harmonised LCTR scheme to bed in. It should
also be noted that any increase in the minimum contribution required may impact on Council Tax
collection.

Page 443

20% liability reduction

5.9

5.10

5.11

5.12

Total CTRS expenditure Working Age
19,795,139.00
11,064,872.00

Pension age
8,730,265.00

LCTRS regulation changes
As previously stated in this report, the LCTR schemes were aligned from April 2021 to provide
one LCTRS for West Northants area. The new scheme has been monitored during the first quarter
of 2021-2022 and there are two proposed changes to the scheme for the financial year 20222023. The proposal is to consult on the changes set out below:
Care Leaver Support
For the financial year 2021-22, members agreed a Council Tax discount for care leavers and a
local policy was agreed. Under this policy, care leavers are required to apply for LCTRS and can
then apply for an exceptional hardship award to help with any Council Tax payment required.
This additional support is funded from the exceptional hardship pot referred to earlier in this
report. It is estimated that the cost of the current scheme for 2021-22 will be around £80,000.
The proposal is to include this additional support for care leavers up to the age of 25 as part of
the LCTR scheme for 2022-23. The additional cost to the LCTR scheme is estimated to be around
£33,000. The rationale is that this would reduce the complexity for care leavers and also reduce
the administration costs by only having one application process.
War Widow and War Disablement
The current scheme allows for a 100 per cent disregard of War Widows and War Disablement
pensions when calculating entitlement to LCTRS. The proposal is to offer enhanced support to
those of working age in receipt of War Widows and War Disablement pension and who currently
must pay a minimum Council Tax contribution of 20 per cent. This proposal would remove the
minimum contribution and allows LCTRS to be calculated on 100 per cent of Council Tax liability
and means that these claimants could therefore receive up to 100 per cent support. The numbers
of customers impacted by this and the associated costs are relatively low at around 12 taxpayers
and could result in additional expenditure of around £7,000.
Consultation approach
As previously mentioned, there is a requirement to consult with all interested parties on any
changes to the LCTR scheme. The proposal is to begin consultation on the changes highlighted
above with effect from 20 September 2021 and for the consultation to run for a period of four
weeks. Whilst the proposed changes are beneficial, it is recognised that any changes will have an
impact on residents and therefore the consultation process will be as full as possible, and we will
ensure that we reach out to our more vulnerable residents by letter and by working proactively
with partner organisations.

5.13

The consultation will be an online survey and will be open to all residents and stakeholders. The
survey will also be available in other formats and languages upon request. There will also be an
email address and telephone number for any enquiries and/or comments.

5.14

The consultation will be promoted as follows:
 Banners on the Council’s website

Page 444









Internal staff communications
Social media platforms
Press release
Liaison with voluntary sector and with homeless and housing colleagues
Direct emails to preceptors (Police, Fire, Town and Parish Councils)
Letters will be sent to all working age recipients of LCTRS inviting them to take part in the
consultation
The planned timetable for approval of the scheme is set out table below:

Milestone
Proposed scheme for consultation considered by
Cabinet
Consultation on proposed scheme commences
Consultation concludes
Results from consultation to be analysed and
report drafted
Report to Cabinet on outcomes from consultation
and recommending a scheme
Report to full Council to approve LCTRS
Regulations to be drafted
Regulations to be approved

Date
14 September 2021
20 September 2021
16 0ctober 2021
Week commencing 17 October 2021
9 November 2021
2 December 2021
December 2021/January 2022
31 January 2022

6.

Implications (including financial implications)

6.1

Resources and Financial

6.1.1 The cost of the scheme for 2022-23 is estimated to be £19.7m, including Police and Fire, of which
West Northants’s share is estimated to be £15.6m. These figures are before any increase in
Council Tax for 2022-2023. It should be noted that this position may change due to a number of
factors, including the LCTRS caseload numbers and possible changes in LCTRS entitlement for
individuals, as well as the on-going impact of Covid-19. The West Northants budget for 20212022 includes provision for a cost of £16.2m as part of the tax base calculation and therefore the
reduced caseload could lead to a saving of around £0.6m in 2022-2023.
6.1.2 The scheme proposed for consultation will result is a small increase in LCTRS expenditure £40,000
as outlined earlier in this report and this may be funded by the estimated saving highlighted in
6.1.1.
6.2

Legal

6.2.1 The adoption of a Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for West Northants is a legal
requirement and is set out in Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed
Requirements)(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended by the Council Tax Reduction Schemes
(Prescribed Requirements)(England)(Amendment)Regulations 2021).

Page 445

6.2.2 There is legal requirement to consult on any proposed LCTRS under paragraph 3 of Schedule 1A
to the Local Government Finance Act 1991, therefore failure to do so will leave West Northants
Council open to challenge on the scheme that is introduced.
6.3

Risk

6.3.1 No risks identified as a result of this report.
6.4

Consultation

6.4.1 The consultation plans are as outlined in the report.
6.5

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

6.5.1 Not yet considered by committee.
6.6

Climate Impact

6.6.1 No impacts have been identified.
6.7

Community Impact

6.7.1 No specific impacts have been identified at this stage. An equality impact assessment will be
carried out on the new scheme.
7.

Background Papers

7.1

None.

Page 446

Agenda Item 21

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL
CABINET
14th September 2021
Portfolio Holder for Culture, Leisure and Housing – Councillor Adam Brown
Report Title
Report Author

Proposal for capital funding to replace the Library Management
System and associated hardware.
Carl Dorney – Library Service Manager
Carl.Dorney@westnorthants.gov.uk

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
West
West S151
Other Director/SME
Communications
Lead/Head of
Communications

Catherine Whitehead
Martin Henry
Stuart Lackenby
Claire Hughes

19th July 2021
13th July 2021
12th July 2021
20th August 2021

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Financial breakdown and capital costings EXEMPT
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1.

This proposal for the provision of capital funding to replace the Library Management System and
associated hardware across the library estate has combined capital and revenue value of over
£500k for the duration of the full contract so requires a key decision from Cabinet before
progressing.

2.

Executive Summary

1.2.

This report outlines the proposal for capital funding to be used to procure a replacement library
management system contract and replacement equipment associated with the system. It

Page 447

explains the background behind the required replacement, options considered and
recommendations following scrutiny at ELT and Capital and Assets Board.
3.

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet/Committee:
a) Consider and approve the proposal to capital fund the replacement of the Library
Management System and associated hardware.

4.

Reason for Recommendations
 The Library Management System is a key requirement for delivering the statutory library
service
 The current contract must end on 31st March 2022 and cannot be extended. A replacement
must be procured in order to ensure continuity of service.
 The associated equipment for running the Library Management System is now 9 years old
and at end of life. Replacing the equipment now will ensure that it is compatible with the
new system, compatible with West Northants and North Northants IT Roadmaps and future
proofed.

5.

Report Background

5.1

The Library Management System (LMS) is the core system that is used by Northamptonshire Libraries and
Information Service, Community Managed Libraries, North Northants Council and West Northants Council
Customer Services, the Schools Library Service and our traded partner HMP Woodhill with our (and their)
customers. The LMS (Spark) records borrower account information and their transaction data (issues,
renewals, returns and payments). The data gathered also helps to plan the requirements on the library
service going forward. The LMS also plays a crucial role in authentication of users of the online services
that we offer as well as the self-service terminals, public computers and tablets. It also plays a key role in
back office functions including the extraction of management information and Electronic Data
Interchange (for invoicing and payments of library suppliers).
The contract with our current provider ended in March 2021 following an initial 5-year contract and a 3year extension. To ensure continuity of service for vesting day, a short 1-year contract was negotiated
with the current provider to allow time to procure a new system in 2021/22.
We now need to re-procure for a new system and new hardware for all Northamptonshire libraries
including community managed libraries in order to meet procurement requirements and future proof the
library service. This system is an essential system for libraries to function.

5.2

5.3

6.

Issues and Choices

6.1

The Library Management System “Spark” is the current provider’s own product so it is not
possible to retain the product outside of a contract with this provider. It was not possible to get
a further renewal or extension to the contract due to procurement contract rules but due to the
reorganisation of local government in Northamptonshire a short, 1-year contract was arranged
to ensure continuity past vesting day. It was considered best to procure for the new solution in
the year 21/22 in order to ensure we could meet the needs of both the new unitary authorities.
As the potential disaggregation of the library service is not on the transformation programme
Page
until 2022/23 and the current contract must be replaced before then in accordance
with448

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

procurement law, the decision has been taken to procure a single system but to ensure that the
ability to disaggregate into two separate authorities at a later date is possible in any system
procured.
We have been with the current supplier for 9 years now and even though the library management
system market is a niche market place we would be looking to go to tender as technology and
processes will have moved forward and we would like to see what systems offer the best value
for money for an ever changing library service.
Our existing IT hardware PCs, cash drawers, slip printers, RFID pads and barcode scanners are
now 9 years old. The predicted lifespan of this equipment at procurement was 8 – 10 years.
Therefor as part of this tender process we would be looking at replacing all of our IT hardware
through this capital bid.
There would also need to be some software development by our internal IT departments to
ensure that the system is compatible with the council’s network and can be locked down for
Community Managed Libraries and Customer Service staff in order to comply with GDPR.
The Library Management System’s functionality and resilience is reliant on the hardware.
Depending on the spec of the chosen system that is procured, replacement equipment will need
to be compatible and future proofed and for this reason the two items are considered integral
parts of one capital bid.
Though there are S106 receipts in the pipeline for a number of libraries in Northamptonshire, the
S106 Officer Stacey Wylie has confirmed that the stipulations around their use are strictly worded
for each housing project and usually state it can only be used in a specific area and must be used
to enhance rather than maintain or replace something that is already paid for by the council.
Therefor this project would not be considered appropriate for the use of these receipts.

7.

Implications (including financial implications)

7.1

Resources and Financial

7.1.1 There is no revenue budget in the Library service or the Corporate IT to cover the costs associated
with the procurement of a new system or the replacement of the hardware. Capital funding
would be required for the full costs of this project in year 1.
7.1.2 As this is a procurement requiring capital from both North Northants Council and West
Northants Council the WNC, as hosting authority for the Library Service, will carry out the
procurement and NNC will then provide their allocation of the funding to the West.
7.2

The budget for the annual revenue costs of the Library Management System (licenses and hosted
services etc) are currently covered by the corporate IT service and no budget for this sits within
the Library Service. The exception to this are a few maintenance costs that are picked up within
the Library service budget. These annual revenue costs will be fairly apportioned and recharged
by the hosting authority in accordance with the IAA agreement.

7.3

Legal

7.3.1 We will need to work with LGSS legal to ensure that legal safeguards are put in place to protect
the joint ownership of this system. The procurement documents and the contract will reflect

Page 449

this and this will need to be considered by the transformation programme when full
disaggregation of the library service is considered.
7.4

Risk

7.5

If we do not procure a new contract, we will not be able to provide the statutory duty to deliver
a “comprehensive and efficient” library service as required by the Public Libraries and Museums
Act 1964. The Library service has already been subject to Judicial Review in 2018 and is
monitored closely by the DCMS.

7.6

We would not be able to fulfil our obligations to the Community Managed Libraries in accordance
with our service level agreements or our income generating contracts with schools (School
Library Service) or to the Prison Library (HMP Wood Hill). This would lead to reputational damage
as well as the potential loss of contract renewal.

7.7

If we do not replace the physical hardware to run the Library Management System now it will
become defunct within the next year or so. The equipment has not been replaced since 2013 so
will be 9 years old at time of replacement. Set out the main body of the report here, detailing
consideration of the issues and choices that have been considered in formulating the report
recommendations.

7.8

Consultation

7.8.1 N/A
7.9

Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny

7.9.1 The business case for this proposal was considered and approved by the following groups on the
following dates:
Adults, Communities and Wellbeing SLT WNC – June ‘21
Adults, Communities and Wellbeing SLT NNC – June ‘21
Executive Leadership Team WNC – 12/7/21
Strategic Capital Board (NNC) – 5/7/21
Capital and Assets Board (WNC) – 13/7/21
7.10

Climate Impact

7.10.1 I Since the previous procurement in 2013 the number of computer terminals required has
reduced significantly contributing to a reduction in CO2 emissions
7.10.2 Defunct electrical hardware will be recycled via the Council’s WEEE contractor reducing the use
of landfill and CO2 emissions.
7.10.3 The Library Service itself encourages use of e-books and the lending of physical items reducing
the need to provide multiple copies. By re-using the book in this way, often up to 30 individuals
will use the same book rather than buy an individual copy.
Page 450

7.11

Community Impact

7.11.1 The automation of the library service enables staff and volunteers to focus on more complex
enquiries and support vulnerable customers with additional council services such as blue badge
and bus pass applications.
7.12

Communications

7.12.1 None.
8.

Background Papers

8.1

None.

Page 451

This page is intentionally left blank

